Anaemia, Iron-Deficiency and Reducing Transfusion in Cardiac Surgery and A Novel Method for the Measurement of Total Haemoglobin Mass



This thesis is submitted for the degree of Doctor of Medicine (MD)

James Alexander Macrae Yeates B.Sci(Med) MBBS MPH&TM FANZCA PGCME Hughes Hall September 2021

Preface

This thesis my own work and includes methodology and results of various studies and publications, some which were performed individually and others in collaboration. The author's specific contributions to each study and publication are discussed in each chapter but outlined below:

The literature review in chapter 2 was undertaken and written entirely by the author. Chapter 3 describes a risk scoring system which was designed, and analysis performed prior to the authors involvement. The author wrote the draft manuscript for the resultant paper and coordinated the revision process and submission. He also developed the app integration for the score which was subsequently introduced by correspondence. Chapter 4 described the modification of this scoring system to a different population. The author coordinated this process and was involved in the concept, design and analysis and wrote, and coordinated revisions of the submitted paper. Other contributed to various stages and have been acknowledged specifically in the text. Chapter 5 describes a large multicentre trial for which the author was a site investigator and lead investigator for the sub-study arm exploring the effect of IV iron on total haemoglobin mass. The author was not involved in the initial broader trial design, he wrote the draft manuscript and coordinated the revision and submission process of the resulting paper for cardiac surgical patients. He also contributed to the published manuscript on the vascular patients in the trial which is included as an appendix but not explored in detail in this thesis. Chapter 6 describes various explorations of rates of anaemia and IV iron prescriptions in a number of populations. All work on this chapter was undertaken by the author. Chapter 7 describes a novel method for testing total haemoglobin mass. The concept, methodology, process, analysis and write-up of this study were all performed by the author.

This thesis is not substantially the same as any work that has already been submitted before for any degree or other qualification.

It does not exceed the prescribed word limit for the MD Degree Committee of 60,000 words

Acknowledgements

I would like to sincerely thank Professors Andy Klein and David Menon for their close and very patient supervision during every step of this process from genesis of the concept, through to the resultant thesis and the published papers along the way. I would also like to express my deep gratitude to Gemma, Harry and Oliver who have patiently supported me through this long adventure.

Table of Contents

- 2 Preface
- 3 Acknowledgements
- 4 Table of Contents
- 5 List of Figures and Tables
- 8 Chapter 1: Introduction
- 15 Chapter 2: General review of literature in anaemia, iron deficiency & iron replacement therapy, with a focus on cardiac surgery.
- 53 Chapter 3: Development of a scoring system to predict risk of RBC transfusion in cardiac surgery.
- 67 Chapter 4: Modification & validation of the ACTA-PORT score in cardiac surgical patients in Australia and New Zealand
- 80 Chapter 5: Pre-operative IV Iron in Cardiac surgery and effect on [Hb], patient outcomes and the feasibility of provision of this service
- 93 Chapter 6: Knowledge from failure: epidemiology of changing anaemia rates & IVIron prescription
- 109 Chapter 7: A method of estimating total Hb-mass in the hospital setting by modification of a commonly used respiratory function test.
- 129 General discussion, conclusions, and future research implications
- 131 Bibliography
- 175 Appendix 1: The ACTA-PORT score published manuscript (*British Journal of* Anaesthesia 2017)
- 183 Appendix 2: The AntiPORT submitted manuscript (Anaesthesia & Intensive care, 2021)
- 205 Appendix 3: The CAVIAR study (cardiac surgery) published manuscript (*British Journal of Anaesthesia, 2020*)
- 213 Appendix 4: The CAVIAR study (vascular surgery) published manuscript (*British Journal of Surgery, 2020*)

List of Figures and Tables

Chapter 2

Figure 2.1 The effect of various iron preparations on transferring saturations.
Figure 2.2: Forest plot comparison shows the pooled comparison effect of intravenous iron therapy versus placebo/standard of care groups on the change of haemoglobin level (g/L) at the post-treatment (pre-surgery) time (random effects model).
Figure 2.3: Forest plot comparison shows the pooled comparison effect of intravenous iron therapy versus oral iron groups on the change of haemoglobin level (g/L) at the post-treatment (pre-surgery) time (random effects model).
Table 2.1: Effects of IV Iron on surgical outcomes in cardiac surgical patients
Figure 2.4: Post-operative [Hb] trends in cardiac valve surgery patients who did not receive blood product transfusions.
Figure 2.5: Post-operative [Hb] trends following time of nadir [Hb] in cardiac surgery patients not receiving blood products
Figure 2.6: The three pillars of PBM
Table 2.2: Comparison of major transfusion risk scores in cardiac surgery

Chapter 3

Table 3.1: Baseline characteristics in ACTA-PORT dataset

Table 3.2: Transfusion results in ACTA-PORT dataset by anonymised centre.

Table 3.3: Multivariable Risk Score outlining corresponding odds ratios, log odds ratios and

how ACTA-PORT score was constructed, showing the number of score-points that were attributed to each group.

Table 3.4: Integer risk score totals and associated predicted risk of transfusion

Figure 3.1: Distribution of ACTA-PORT risk scores

Figure 3.2: Observed vs predicted transfusion rates in the derivation dataset

Figure 3.3: Observed and predicted risk of transfusion by group categories of the integer risk score in the external validation dataset.

Chapter 4

Table 4.1: Multivariable Risk Score outlining corresponding odds ratios, log odds ratios and how ACTA-PORT score was constructed

Table 4.2: ACTA-PORT Integer risk score totals and associated predicted risk of transfusion. Table 4.3: Baseline characteristics in ANZSCTS cohort used to construct the AntiPORT score

Table 4.4: Assigned EuroSCORE vs. AusSCORE equivalents for the purposes of calculating the ACTA-PORT score

Table 4.5: The AntiPORT score

Figure 4.1: Observed vs predicted transfusions demonstrating over-prediction of transfusion requirement requiring re-calibration

Figure 4.2: Observed vs Predicted transfusion following re-calibration demonstrating much improved agreement

Table 4.6: Predicted risk of transfusion (the AntiPORT recalibration) corresponding to the original ACTA-PORT integer score

Chapter 5

Table 5.1: Distribution of patient groups across centres.

Table 5.2 Baseline characteristics. Values are mean (SD) or number (proportion).

Table 5.3: Haemoglobin concentration by group and time

Table 5.4: Study outcomes, anaemic versus non-anaemic patients

Table 5.5: Study outcomes, anaemic non-treated versus anaemic treated

Chapter 6

Figure 6.1: Annual frequency (%) of the biological assessments of iron deficiency (transferrin saturation index [TSAT] and/or serum ferritin)

Table 6.1: Financial year costings of IV iron prescriptions 2014-2019 (data from PBS)

Figure 6.2: Total expenditure (with government and patient contribution) for all PBS subsidised IV iron prescriptions 2013/14-2017/18

Table 6.2: Annual total cost of IV iron preparations from US Medicare/Medicaid data displayed by drug and year.

Figure 6.3: Medicare/Medicaid spending on IV iron by year divided into different IV iron preparations

Figure 6.4: IV Iron use in primary care in England

Table 6.3: Annual anaemia rates for patients presenting for elective cardiothoracic surgery at St Vincent's Hospital Sydney

Figure 6.5: Annual proportion of anaemic cardiac surgery patients and average [Hb] from the St Vincent's Hospital cardiac surgical database.

Table 6.4: Baseline characteristics of patients in the ANZSCTS dataset undergoing cardiac surgery between September 2016 and December 2018 (inclusive)

Table 6.5: Annual anaemia rates for patients presenting for elective cardiothoracic surgery in Australia & New Zealand (September 2016-December 2018) from ANZSCTS database.

Chapter 7

Figure 7.1. Custom made spirometer developed for the optimised carbon monoxide

rebreathing (oCOR) method by Schmidt & Prommer

Table 7.1: Results of %COHb rise in the ACADEMY audit

Table 7.2: Baseline characteristics

Table7.3: Calculated total-Hb mass for each of the tests (2x MoDLCO and 1x oCOR)

Table 7.4: results of paired statistics.

Table 7.5: Descriptive statistics for MoDLCO

Table 7.6: Correlation between MoDLCO tests and between MoDLCO (average) and oCOR

Figure 7.2: Scatter plot of MoDLCO test-1 vs test-2

Figure 7.3: Scatter plot of MoDLCO test-1 vs oCOR

Figure 7.4: Scatter plot of MoDLCO test-2 vs oCOR

Figure 7.5: Scatter plot of MoDLCO average vs oCOR

Figure 7.6: Bland Altman Plot showing differences between MoDLCO test 1, 2 and average vs oCOR

Chapter 1: Introduction

Anaemia is an inadequacy of circulating haemoglobin (Hb), widely defined by a plasma concentration ([Hb]) of less than 130g/L in males and 120g/L in females. This results in limitation of oxygen carrying capacity of the blood and a resultant reduction in oxygen delivery to the cells which require it most. It is exceedingly common globally and has various causes including vitamin and mineral deficiencies, infection, chronic blood loss or inflammation. Anaemia can cause relative tissue hypoxia leading to organ dysfunction, damage and associated symptoms and signs. It provides a large contribution to the global disability burden and can lead to significant impacts on many quality-of-life indicators. The surgical population is predisposed to anaemia as they tend to be older, have a higher rate of concomitant disease, inflammation & nutritional deficiencies. Worsening this effect, the physiological stress of surgery places a higher demand on metabolic pathways and therefore requires an increase in tissue oxygen delivery from baseline, particularly during the postoperative period while metabolic demand is high. Accordingly, any process which limits tissue oxygen delivery during this period is frequently associated with an increase in the rate of complications such as organ dysfunction, poor tissue healing and infection. This is true of many types of surgery, but these effects are further exacerbated in cardiac surgery, where the tendency for blood loss is greater, the physiological stress often more profound, the haemodilution required for cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) and fluid shifts from CPB and the ensuing inflammatory reaction are significant.

Anaemic patients having cardiac surgery have higher mortality rates and higher rates of almost all major complications. In addition, they tend to have longer stays in the intensive care unit (ICU) and spend more days in hospital overall, meaning their care often comes at a higher cost than others. While the most rapid and straightforward method of correcting a low circulating [Hb] is by directly increasing it using a transfusion of allogeneic red blood cells (RBCs), however the process of transfusion itself appears to be independently associated with higher rates of many complications and mortality and there is great uncertainty about transfusion trigger levels and what [Hb] should be targeted. Alternative, safe, and economical methods of transporting oxygen in the blood, such as a synthetic Hb substitute remain largely theoretical, and though alternative methods of producing RBCs *in vitro* using cord blood, monocytes, or even pluripotent stem cells are promising future techniques, they are not yet in widespread use. This necessarily shifts the focus towards *in vivo* strategies to reduce anaemia by reducing blood loss and by stimulating existing haematopoietic processes to increase circulating red cell mass and therefore optimise tissue oxygen delivery, thereby reducing the need for allogeneic transfusion. It follows that this should result in an improvement in surgical outcomes, provided the measures taken do not themselves involve excessive risk. Patient Blood Management (PBM) is an increasingly important concept, which has been particularly useful in the context of the peri-operative period. It involves a raft of measures that include pre-operative testing for anaemia and coagulopathy, pre-optimisation, intraoperative measures to minimise blood loss and peri-operative measures to conserve blood and minimise transfusion. PBM programs have been increasing in popularity and have been instituted at local, regional and, increasingly, national levels.

Intra-operative blood conservation strategies to reduce blood loss during cardiac surgery are diverse and include methods of reducing blood dilution during the CPB phase of surgery, changes in technique, topical haemostatic methods, fibrinolytic medications for minimising bleeding and RBC conservation using cell-salvage devices. While many of these methods are highly effective, most are associated with a significant cost and resource allocation which makes them difficult to justify their routine use.

It becomes important, therefore, to stratify risk and use these resources only in those considered high risk for transfusion. While cardiac surgery can be associated with unanticipated major bleeding and transfusion, many patient- and surgical factors can be identified that predict transfusion needs. The ability to stratify transfusion requirement risk allows for appropriate allocation of resource-intensive blood conservation strategies to those with the most to gain from the process. By utilising PBM strategies, it is possible to reduce transfusion requirements and improve surgical outcomes. These strategies are frequently costly, and to direct these strategies appropriately is important to limit the resource burden they place on already strained healthcare systems. There are several factors which allow us to predict the likelihood of various surgical patients requiring transfusions and target those at high risk to limit this need. Scoring systems have previously been described that provide an estimation of transfusion risk in cardiac surgery, but they have been either inadequately accurate, not easily generalisable, or difficult to practically calculate and therefore have been under-utilised. Our group therefore designed, externally validated, and published a new scoring system called the ACTA- PORT score based on a UK-wide audit by the Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthetists (ACTA). It is a relatively simple, accurate, widely applicable, and easily calculated using online or app-based tools, which were developed in conjunction

with a globally available medical calculator application. The development of this scoring system is further discussed in Chapter 3. In order to broaden the applicability of this scoring system, it was subsequently modified and calibrated to Australian and New Zealand populations by way of data from a national database to form an antipodean equivalent, the AntiPORT score. Discussion of this process is contained in chapter 4.

There are many causes for anaemia. In the pre-operative population in higher-income parts of the world, the most common aetiology is absolute or functional iron deficiency, for which there are many underlying causes.

Iron deficiency is not a simple pathological process and can be challenging to correctly define and therefore diagnose. There are many predisposing factors: from impaired intake, to chronic blood loss, inflammation, infection, cancer, pregnancy, or even heavy exercise. While absolute iron deficiency is relatively easy concept to understand and diagnose based on a reduced serum ferritin, iron restriction can present with a normal [ferritin] but an inability to utilise the available iron stores for haematopoiesis, causing a reduction in [Hb] and impaired oxygen delivery.

The classic treatment for iron deficiency is oral iron supplementation. This, however, is hampered by several shortcomings. Firstly, replacing iron via the oral route is slow, taking weeks to months to restore depleted iron reserves. Secondly, oral iron is often poorly absorbed, which causes a high incidence of gastrointestinal side effects, which can lead to, and is then compounded by, a significant effect on compliance. Finally, in certain patient groups, such as those with anaemia of chronic disease (ACD), it has been shown that hepcidin, a protein produced by the liver in response to systemic inflammation, further impairs the ability of the gut to absorb iron, amplifying the aforementioned side-effects.

To avoid the limitations of oral iron replacement, experimentation with intravenous preparations began in the 1930's when the first infusions were described in the literature and since become safer and more widespread. The creation, and subsequent improvement of iron-carbohydrate complexes has allowed the increasingly safe infusion of iron, which given in its free state is highly toxic. Replacement of iron stores using older intravenous preparations was a laborious process, involving a 4-hour infusion, which carried a significant risk of adverse reactions including anaphylaxis. (Auerbach and Rodgers 2007) Newer IV Iron-carbohydrate preparations have been released over the last few decades which generally appear to have minimal risk of serious adverse side effects and can be given rapidly in hospital or outpatient settings. In the pre-operative setting, particularly in cardiovascular surgery with its relatively urgent nature, there is frequently little time to optimise a patient in the time

between referral for surgery and the surgery itself. For this reason, IV preparations and their ability to rapidly restore iron stores, could theoretically help treat anaemia in the short time available, where oral treatment is generally inadequate. In order to test this notion, the CAVIAR-UK study was formed. It was a multicentre UK study which aimed to establish if it was feasible to institute an iron infusion service for patients in the pre-operative setting, and then to explore whether the iron replacement was able to have a meaningful effect on anaemia and on patient outcomes after surgery. The author was a one of a larger group that undertook the investigation and then coordinated the writing and publication of the ensuing BJA paper. This study showed it was feasible to introduce pre-operative anaemia testing and treatment within the current NHS structure in cardiac surgery, but this was not mirrored in vascular surgery. In cardiac surgery it showed that by giving iron-deficient anaemic patients iron more than 10 days pre-operatively, it was possible to increase [Hb] meaningfully, and this effect was also seen to a lesser extent in vascular surgery patients. Despite the significant effect on [Hb], there was no statistically significant effect on outcomes, although the study was not powered to detect these. A detailed description of the CAVIAR-UK trial is provided in chapter 5.

The CAVIAR-UK trial additionally acted as a pilot study for a subsequent international randomised control trial (RCT) called the intravenous Iron for the Treatment of Anaemia before Cardiac Surgery trial (ITACS), which was designed to have adequate power to detect a treatment effect for pre-operative IV iron before cardiac surgery on a composite measure of morbidity and mortality. This study is still recruiting patients and the methodology and results are not included in this thesis, although the author continues to be involved as the primary investigator for this RCT at St Vincent's Hospital in Sydney.

Although the presence of anaemia is defined by a reduction in plasma [Hb] the measurement of [Hb] is quite unreliable. [Hb] as a sole indicator of the pathological process underlying anaemia, namely failure of adequate oxygen-carriage capacity of the blood, is a crude measure. While in healthy, normovolaemic subjects it can be a good indicator of oxygen carrying capacity, it is limited by inaccuracy in those with altered volume states, such as those with cardiac, hepatic, or renal impairment. This failure to adjust for fluid status of the tested subject can change the result significantly and cause missed- or misdiagnoses and potentially inappropriate treatment.

Measuring the total amount of circulating Hb should be a more reliable measure and should be a better indicator of oxygen delivery capacity. It is independent of plasma volume and therefore is also better placed to detect treatment effects from blood manipulation strategies, as generally it remains quite stable. There is increasing evidence from sports medicine for this notion. The process of measuring total Hb mass (tHb-mass) or total blood volume (TBV) is historically quite challenging, requiring the use of radioisotope techniques to label and count red cells. Other techniques include inaccurate intravenous blood dilution methods, and impractical methods including the prolonged rebreathing of gas mixtures in a respiratory laboratory. Relatively recently, a new technique was developed by sports physiologists, Walter Schmidt & Nicole Prommer (University of Bayreuth, Germany) to more quickly and easily measure tHb-mass using a simple spirometer and a small amount of inhaled carbon monoxide (CO) and measuring the resultant known increase in carboxyhaemoglobin (%COHb). It was a modification of a classic method for tHb-mass calculation and retains its accuracy with a significantly quicker and more straight-forward technique. It was initially developed in conjunction with the World Anti-Doping Agency (WADA) to aid detection of covert blood manipulation such as "blood doping" and erythropoietin (EPO) use in competitive sport, but has also been shown to be useful in assessing the effects of legal blood manipulation strategies such as altitude training. (PROMMER et al. 2008) This technique had also shown a significant treatment effect on tHb-mass from IV iron in iron-deficient athletes, which was undetectable with [Hb] alone.

Some early work had been done using this technique in the hospital laboratory setting at UCLH (London, UK), so a sub-study was designed for the CAVIAR-UK trial to explore whether it was possible to detect such a treatment effect from intravenous iron in a small group of pre-operative patients at the Papworth site, which the author oversaw. The hope was that despite the small size of the group, the new testing technique may be able to detect a change in total Hb mass that may not be significant if using [Hb] as a measure. This would have implications for future studies in anaemia treatment allowing for smaller to studies to potentially detect a treatment effect.

The CAVIAR sub-study faced several technical and logistical challenges and ultimately failed to recruit enough patients by the time of the completion of recruitment for the parent trial, CAVIAR-UK. There were several factors involved; including the timeframe required to set up the testing technique, the difficulty in recruiting patients into a study requiring the inhalation of pure carbon monoxide and the imposition required to undergo the testing. As a result of these difficulties, the author designed a subsequent study, the PREFIX trial, which aimed to use a smaller group of similar patients to the CAVIAR-UK trial, and to test tHb-mass using the Schmidt and Prommer technique to test whether a detectable rise in tHb-mass was evident in patients receiving IV Iron, where a change in [Hb] may not be seen. If a

statistically significant rise was seen in such a small group of patients, it could have shown it to be a superior measure of effectiveness of pre-operative IV iron replacement. This study was approved by the research ethics department at St Vincent's Hospital (Sydney, Australia) where it was to be conducted but again has thus far not recruited enough patients for analysis. The reasons for this appear to be a combination of an inadequate supply of anaemic patients, competing recruitment from other trials such as ITACS, the complexity of the testing technique and the perceived risk or imposition of the tHb-mass testing technique to potential study recruits.

The observed, and anecdotally reported reduction in numbers of anaemic patients prompted further investigation into any changes in the rate of anaemia in the elective cardiac surgical population. Interrogation of the local database revealed that over a 5-year period to September 2019, the rate of anaemic patients had dropped significantly, from 27% in 2015-16 to just 14% in 2018-19. Furthermore, the proportion of these anaemic patients with iron deficiency was very small and those presenting had largely received iron already or were too close to the surgical date to meet the eligibility criteria for the studies. One theory amongst the investigators was that the rapidly increasing use of IV iron in primary care over the preceding years may have contributed to an improvement in iron status, and thus anaemia rates. To further explore this, the results of the local audit were compared to the national ANZCTS database, to establish whether there might be a larger trend in anaemia rates for those presenting for elective cardiac surgery. Additionally, data was obtained for Iron prescription trends from the Australian national prescribing service (PBS). Similar data from the UK was sought, though is not centrally recorded and was therefore not able to be interrogated, however limited data were obtained from the prescribing reports of the Medicare and Medicaid programs in the USA and included to provide a global comparison. The results of this audit are described in chapter 6 and demonstrate that there has been a significant increase in IV Iron prescription in those regions and, at least in the Australian population, a concomitant decrease in anaemia rates in our target population. Similar trends in IV iron prescription are seen in the US data. A more detailed description of this exploration is contained in chapter 6.

The technical challenges associated with the setting up and undertaking measurement of tHbmass in the hospital setting led the author to consider alternative measurement methods. A component of routine lung function testing in standard hospital respiratory laboratories is a measure of gas exchange known as diffusing capacity of the lungs to carbon monoxide (DLCO), which also involves inhaling a diluted mixture of carbon monoxide and measuring the rate at which it is absorbed. By modifying this process and adding a measurement of plasma %COHb before and after the technique was complete, it seemed reasonable that an estimation of tHb-mass and plasma volume could be obtained. If suitably accurate, this test could be easily established in any hospital with a respiratory function lab and with minimal training and no additional equipment or gas-mixtures. This could provide a very useful method of testing the effect of blood manipulation measures and could be useful in appropriate allocation of PBM resources to those who will benefit most from them. Measuring total-Hb mass also allows calculation of plasma volume, which is notoriously challenging value to measure directly. This could potentially have far broader applications in the hospital setting in various patient groups beyond the anaemic pre-operative patients that this thesis focuses on. The description of the development and testing of this modified DLCO process (MoDLCO) and the preceding audit of DLCO testing and resultant change in %COHb (ACADEMY audit) is contained in chapter 7.

Chapter 2 – General review of literature in anaemia, iron deficiency & iron replacement therapy, with a focus on cardiac surgery.

Anaemia

Oxygen is crucial to cellular metabolic pathways in order to resynthesise adenosine triphosphate (ATP), which provides energy to many crucial processes in the body and is commonly referred to as the "molecular unit of intracellular energy currency". For oxygen to be utilised in the mitochondria via the electron transfer chain, it must be delivered to cells. This delivery is the product of several factors including oxygen transfer by the lungs to the blood, carriage in the blood and delivery of that blood to the tissues via cardiac output. If delivery is compromised, then cellular processes begin to fail which results in organ dysfunction. With the normal human cardiac output of 4-8L/min, dissolved oxygen in the blood would only provide approximately 1.5% of the required total. Evolution has provided an elegant solution to this in the form of haemoglobin, a metalloprotein which provides a far more efficient transport medium for oxygen to the cells. The binding of oxygen to Hb allows for approximately 200mL of oxygen to be carried in each litre of blood(Dunn, Mythen, and Grocott 2016). A reduction in [Hb] in the blood can be compensated for by increasing either cardiac output or oxygen extraction, although these compensatory mechanisms have limits. At rest, and with a normal circulating volume, it is possible for a healthy person to compensate for a [Hb] as low as 50g/L, though beyond this, or in states of increased oxygen consumption, organ hypoxia becomes evident (Weiskopf et al. 1998). As even the most basic of activities of daily living increase oxygen demand, anaemia tends to become symptomatic in most healthy people at a [Hb] closer to 80-90g/L and in people with co-morbidities, this threshold is higher.

The globally accepted definition of Anaemia is currently a [Hb] of less than 120g/L in females and less than 130g/L in males, as endorsed by the World Health Organisation (WHO).

Prevalence of Anaemia

The prevalence of anaemia in the general population of higher-income countries is generally less than 10% (L. T. Goodnough and Schrier 2014) although there is still significant

variability within these populations with higher rates in women, minority ethnic groups (Le 2016) and indigenous populations(Khambalia, Aimone, and Zlotkin 2011). The WHO estimates 42% of children under 5 are anaemic globally(World Health Organization 2021a). It is also more common in women, particularly in pregnancy or in women of child-bearing age where it affects approximately a third of the this population globally(World Health Organization 2021b). The prevalence of anaemia reliably increases with age from around the age of 50 to over 20% in those older than 85 and can be as high as 48-63% in nursing home residents (Patel 2008). In the UK, as many as half of the elderly population is anaemic (Gaskell et al. 2008).

There is enormous disparity in the frequency of anaemia throughout the world, with the overall global prevalence estimated at 33% in 2010 (N. J. Kassebaum et al. 2019), largely due to the high rates in young children, women and the elderly. The high global prevalence is significantly increased by the very high rates of anaemia found in low- and middle-income countries due, in part, to the much higher rates of nutritional deficiencies. (Chaparro and Suchdev 2019) Chronic infections such as malaria or HIV and parasitic infections are also major contributing factors and cause as much as half of the cases of anaemia in some parts of the globe. (Mason et al. 2013) Higher rates of inherited haemoglobinopathies such as thalassaemia and sickle-cell disease also contribute to this disparity.(McLean et al. 2009)

Causes of anaemia

Anaemia is generally caused by three primary mechanisms: blood loss, impaired erythropoiesis, or RBC destruction, and often a combination of these. There are several well understood causes of increased RBC destruction such as haemolytic anaemias or hypersplenism although these remain rare in general. Blood loss and impaired erythrogenesis are the most common causes of anaemia and these can be further broken down into contributing factors,

A number of specific deficiencies can cause anaemia, notably: iron, folate, vitamin B12, vitamin A and copper. While all of these have the common theme of a low circulating concentration of various circulating molecules, the cause of this varies enormously. In most cases, vitamin B12-deficiency is caused by a reduced absorption due to a failure of intrinsic factor (IF), copper-deficiency is also commonly malabsorptive and is most commonly seen in patients who have has gastric bypass surgery or those with coeliac disease(Prodan et al. 2009), whereas reduced plasma [folate] is primarily a result of dietary deficiency and iron deficiency

is most commonly due to increased iron-loss (Carmel 2008). Many of these nutritional causes of anaemia are more common in elderly populations (Carmel 2008)(Andrès et al. 2008) and as discussed earlier, all are more frequent in low- and middle-income countries.(McLean et al. 2009)

In addition to the physiological stages, chronic infections and nutritional deficiencies discussed, there are a number of other pathological conditions that can increase the incidence of anaemia. Any pathological process leading to increased blood loss such as GI and gynaecological losses can lead quickly to the anaemic state, disorders of bone marrow function and many malignancies are also frequently associated with anaemia. As discussed, renal disease is well known to cause anaemia due to the contribution of the kidney to the haematopoietic process, particularly through underproduction of the protein erythropoietin (EPO).

Physiological consequences of Anaemia

The effect of anaemia on exercise capacity and symptomology can reduce quality of life, anaemia and can also have a significant effect on overall performance(Gardner et al. 1977). This is also well-shown in elderly populations where even mild anaemia can effect indicators of performance and mobility (Penninx et al. 2003; Chaves et al. 2002). Anaemia in children can impact their intellectual performance (Iqbal et al. 2015).

There are a number of physiological states in which anaemia has been well shown to increase mortality, for instance there is significant evidence that anaemia increases overall mortality in the elderly(Dong et al. 2008)(Chaves et al. 2004)(Izaks, Westendorp, and Knook 1999)(L. T. Goodnough and Schrier 2014) and an increase in maternal mortality in pregnant women with severe anaemia (Daru et al. 2018). The effect does not seem to be limited to older people, and may increase mortality in children, with one meta-analysis of health outcomes children from 6 African nations suggesting that a 10g/L increase in [Hb] could reduce risk of death by 24% (Scott et al. 2014) In the clinical setting, this effect may be even more significant, with one large study of over 400,000 hospitalised patients demonstrating an overall increase in mortality with an odds ratio of 3.28 (95% CI 2.90-3.72) in those with severe anaemia(Colleen G. Koch et al. 2013). The effect has also been demonstrated in a number of pathological sub-groups, such as cardiac failure patients, where anaemia is associated with increased mortality (McClellan et al. 2002) (Ezekowitz, McAlister, and Armstrong 2003)(Felker et al. 2004). A similar increase in mortality is seen in anaemic

patients presenting with acute coronary events (Wu et al. 2001)(Al Falluji et al. 2002) including those undergoing percutaneous coronary interventions (PCI) (Nikolsky et al. 2004) In chronic renal-failure patients, anaemia is very common, and again, associated with higher mortality (Parfrey, Foley, and N 1999), increasing with the severity of the anaemia (Foley et al. 1996). This effect is magnified in those with concomitant heart disease (Weiner et al. 2005), which it may itself contribute to in the form of left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) (Astor et al. 2004). Survival has also been shown to be reduced in the presence of anaemia in a variety of cancer patients (Caro et al. 2001)(Dubray et al. 1996) with a reduction in treatment effect of chemoradiation (Robnett et al. 2002)(Berardi et al. 2006) In addition to the association with increased mortality, anaemia can have specific effects on several organ systems.

Effects of Anaemia on organ systems

Cardiovascular System

Anaemia has significant effects on the cardiovascular system and results in a compensatory increase in cardiac output via heart rate and stroke volume (Varat, Adolph, and Fowler 1972) and decreased oxygen-Hb affinity via 2,3-DPG mediated changes(Macdonald 1977). This increase in baseline cardiac output and oxygen delivery can lead to a reduced physiological reserve and thus a reduced exercise capacity in both healthy and pathological states(Ebner et al. 2016; Ferrari et al. 2015). This can be directly seen as a reduction in physical performance, especially in the elderly (Penninx et al. 2003). It may also result in cardiomyopathy and resultant heart failure (Hegde, Rich, and Gayomali 2006) and can increase infarct-size in patients with acute coronary syndrome (Maroko and Braunwald 1976). Cardiac failure patients are particularly affected by anaemia due to various contributing factors. The incidence of anaemia in these patients is around 30% in total but up to 50% in those that are hospitalised and as much as 80% in those with those with NYHA IV symptoms (Silverberg et al. 2000). Presence of anaemia in heart failure patients is associated with worse outcomes (Felker et al. 2004)

Neurological system

Anaemia can have a significant effect on the neurological system. This effect can be seen by in impaired cognitive and behavioural development in anaemic children (Jáuregui-Lobera 2014)(Larson, Phiri, and Pasricha 2017) and is also clear in other groups. Anaemia is associated with accelerated cognitive decline in the middle-aged and elderly (Qin et al.

2019)(Schneider et al. 2016) and an increase risk of falls (Penninx et al. 2005). In the context of traumatic brain injury, anaemia is well known to be associated with worse neurological outcomes in head injury.(Hare et al. 2008)(Stocchetti et al. 2015), and this effect is not reliably reversed by transfusion(Menon and Ercole 2017). This notion of the outcome effects of anaemia not being corrected by correcting [Hb] with transfusion is particularly relevant and will be explored later.

Immune system

Anaemia caused by iron-deficiency has significant effects on immune function in multiple ways including effects on t-lymphocytes, natural killer (NK) cells (Santos and Falcao 1990)and in children has been shown to reduce phagocytosis(Ekiz et al. 2005) and lower levels of interleukin-6, IgG (Hassan et al. 2016) and has also been shown to impair immunity in older adults.(Ahluwalia et al. 2004) The relative roles of anaemia, and iron-deficiency in this effect are difficult to separate.

Renal system

While chronic renal failure is known to be associated with anaemia due to the kidney's role in haematopoiesis, anaemia itself appears to contribute to ongoing kidney damage in these patients. The presence of anaemia may also increase the rate of renal decline to end-stage in patients with chronic kidney disease.(Mohanram et al. 2004) which has been postulated to be a result of low-grade renal ischaemia or a result of anaemia-exacerbated inflammation. Anaemia is also associated with an increased rate of acute kidney injury (AKI) in both the pre- and post-operative surgical population(Fowler et al. 2015; Arai et al. 2015; Gorla et al. 2017)

Surgical patients & Anaemia

It was estimated in 2008 that globally each year, 234.2 million surgical procedures are performed (Weiser et al. 2008). While anaemia is common in general, it is even more common amongst surgical candidates, such as in the USA where the NSQUIP audit demonstrated a rate of 30% (Musallam et al. 2011) in non-cardiac surgical candidates. A similar study in Europe demonstrated a similar prevalence of 29%, (Baron et al. 2014).

Effects of anaemia on surgical mortality

Anaemia has reliably been shown to be associated with an increase in post-operative mortality, both generally(Beattie et al. 2009)(J. Carson et al. 1988)(Baron et al. 2014) and in more specific groups such as patients with hip fractures (Gruson et al. 2002), colorectal (Leichtle et al. 2011) and vascular surgery (Gupta et al. 2013).

This effect has been shown to be independent of the risks from transfusion by a study of operative patients that refused transfusion on religious grounds. Amongst this group, those with anaemia had significantly higher mortality, worsening with increased severity and worse in the presence of cardiovascular disease (J. L. Carson et al. 1996)

Even the presence of mild anaemia is associated with increased risk of death in major noncardiac surgery, with the NSQIP data review showing an odds ratio for mortality of 1.41 (95% CI 1.30-1.53) in these patients compared to 1.44 (1.29-1.60) in those with moderatesevere anaemia(Musallam et al. 2011)

Effects of anaemia on surgical morbidity

In addition to effects on mortality-outcomes, anaemia is associated with increased in other markers of morbidity in non-cardiac surgery. Anaemia is frequently associated with worse cardiovascular outcomes such as increased rates of post-operative cardiac events in major surgery (Wu et al. 2007) and increased evidence of myocardial ischaemia post-prostatectomy (Hogue Jr., Goodnough, and Monk 1998). These effects appear to worsen with increasing severity of anaemia.

The effect of anaemia has been well studied in hip surgery patients and although results are variable, anaemia has been shown to be associated with a variety of worse outcomes including infection rate (Myers, Grady, and Dolan 2004), length of hospital stay (Gruson et al. 2002)(Halm et al. 2004), quality of life (Conlon et al. 2008) and functional ability (Hagino et al. 2009)

A 2015 meta-analysis of 24 observational studies involving almost one million surgical patients concluded that anaemia was associated not only with increased mortality (OR 2.90[2.30-3.68]), but also AKI (OR 3.75[2.95-4.76]) and infection (1.93[1.17-3.18]) (Fowler et al. 2015)

Anaemia in cardiac surgery

Given that cardiac surgery patients are frequently and increasingly older (Friedrich et al. 2009) and have a relatively high incidence of cardiac failure and renal disease, it is unsurprising that the incidence of anaemia in the patients is also relatively high. Cardiac

surgery patients in the UK were studied in the national ACTA audit undertaken between 2010 and 2012. (Klein, Collier, Brae, Evans, Hallward, Fletcher, and Richards 2016) It demonstrated an overall prevalence of 31% in pre-operative patients with a significant range between centres of 23 to 45%. One earlier UK single centre audit from 2009 showed an anaemia rate of 54% (M. Hung et al. 2011). Overall, though, national data appears to be relatively consistent throughout higher-income countries. A global study published in 2007 (Kulier et al. 2007) of 70 centres across 17 countries, showed an overall prevalence of 29.7% in pre-operative CABG patients. These were similar to figures from Canada (Karkouti, Wijeysundera, and Beattie 2008) where the overall prevalence was 26% and in New Zealand(Kim et al. 2015) where the prevalence was 28.1%.

Effects of anaemia on mortality in cardiac surgery

Baseline mortality risk is relatively high in cardiac surgery compared to many other surgical specialities, on account of both the relatively high-risk patient cohort and the complexity and risks of the surgery itself. Studies have shown the overall mortality rate is generally around 3% (Siregar et al. 2013)(Rutten and Grobbee 2001)(Mazzeffi et al. 2014)(Clayton et al. 2005) both short term(Hari Padmanabhan, Siau, et al. 2019), which is similar to other higher risk surgical subspecialities such as colorectal surgery(Alves et al. 2005). As with other surgical specialities, mortality risk increases in certain patient groups, in certain comorbidities, and in certain types of surgery.

Patients presenting for cardiac surgery with anaemia appear to have a higher mortality rate than their non-anaemic counterparts(A. A. Klein, Collier, Brar, Evans, Hallward, Fletcher, Richards, et al. 2016)(M. Hung et al. 2011)(Kulier et al. 2007)(Karkouti, Wijeysundera, and Beattie 2008). This effect is apparent on both in-hospital mortality (Cladellas et al. 2006) and longer-term mortality (Van Straten et al. 2013)

Effects of anaemia on morbidity in cardiac surgery

In addition to mortality increases, anaemia is associated with higher surgical morbidity such as major adverse cardiac (Cladellas et al. 2006) and non-cardiac events (Kulier et al. 2007), stroke (M. L. Williams et al. 2013), increased length of ICU stay (M. Hung et al. 2011)(Marco Ranucci et al. 2012), acute kidney injury (AKI)(De Santo et al. 2009)(Karkouti, Wijeysundera, and Beattie 2008) prolonged time to discharge(A. A. Klein, Collier, Brar, Evans, Hallward, Fletcher, Richards, et al. 2016), and unsurprisingly increased transfusion requirements (Marco Ranucci et al. 2012)(M. Hung et al. 2011)(Boening et al. 2011). Iron-deficiency may itself be associated with poorer outcomes after cardiac surgery as has been suggested in one trial, although further evidence is needed to clarify this.(L F Miles et al. 2017) While the presence of anaemia according to the WHO definition is binary, the disease of anaemia has an inherent spectrum of severity, which correlates to its physiological effects. As such, the severity of the anaemic state also contributes to an observed worsening of postoperative outcomes and this effect appears to persist on long-term follow-up of surgical patients (Padmanabhan et al. 2019), with one large Dutch study (Van Straten et al. 2009) demonstrating that the significant impact of pre-operative anaemia on mortality can be demonstrated out to 9 years post CABG surgery. This effect was significantly worse in those with severe anaemia, for example, those with an [Hb] considered 'very-low" (<110g/L in females and <120g/L in males) had a 9-yr survival rate of 37.6% vs 56% in those with milder anaemia (110-120g/L in females and 120-130g/L in males). This is compared to 9-yr survival of 74.7% and 84.3% in those with normal or high-normal [Hb] respectively. A similar trend has been observed in an assessment of 3-year post-cardiac surgery survival in German university hospital, where mild anaemia demonstrated a hazard ratio of 1.441 (95% CI: 1.201-1.728) whereas this rose to 1.805 (95% C: 1.336-2.440) in those with severe anaemia. (von Heymann et al. 2016)

While those with severe disease are more likely to do poorly, even patients with low-normal [Hb], not considered anaemic by conventional definitions, appear to be affected. For example, females in the 120-129g/L range were shown to have both a higher transfusion rate and a longer hospital stay after cardiac surgery (Blaudszun et al. 2018)

Type of anaemia may also contribute to outcomes with a recent paper suggesting that macrocytic anaemia is associated with significantly worse outcomes than normocytic and microcytic variants. (Dai et al. 2018) Interestingly, when Hung et al investigated cardiac surgical outcomes in 165 anaemic patients, they found that plasma [hepcidin] was the only haematological parameter that was independently associated with outcome, highlighting both its physiological importance and potential value as a target for future research(Matthew Hung et al. 2015).

Iron deficiency is independently associated with poor outcomes in cardiac surgery also as seen in a recent prospective trial (Rössler et al. 2020) and there is increasing interest in the nonanaemic iron-deficient population as a group to target treatment aimed at improving outcomes. We can expect more research to be published in this sphere over the next decade.

Anaemia: [Hb] vs total Hb mass

Although anaemia would best be described as a limitation in the ability to deliver oxygen to tissues, it is historically defined only in terms of [Hb]. Widely accepted definitions of normal values for [Hb] of >120g/L in females and >130g/L have evolved from population studies and are relatively arbitrary. There are many common patient factors that may modify the 'normal' [Hb] such as BMI, fitness, alcohol and smoking habits, and even stress levels (J P Isbister 1997)

Measuring [Hb] is very simple, cheap and in most cases provides a reasonable estimate of oxygen carriage capacity of the blood. The fact that it is the measure used to define anaemia by the WHO is indicative of its widespread acceptance. Given that [Hb] is essentially a measure of total Hb-mass divided by total blood volume, the plasma component (PV) of the blood volume, as the denominator plays a significant role. Changes in PV can have a dramatic effect on [Hb] without any real change in the total oxygen carriage capacity of the blood. For this reason, various techniques to measure total Hb-mass have been developed. While [Hb] may correlate well with total Hb mass in healthy subjects, it can be very misleading in other groups such as those with liver or heart failure, where significant changes in circulating volume can exist. (James M. Otto et al. 2017) As a result, a patient with a low [Hb] may be diagnosed as being anaemic where the actual pathology is an expanded plasma volume, thus diluting the circulating Hb, rather than a genuinely low red blood cell mass (RBCM) or total-Hb mass. This effect has been observed in a clinical setting with heart failure patients, for example in ones study of 19 out of 32 heart failure patients diagnosed with anaemia, only 4 were shown to actually have a low RBCM and 9 were actually considered to have excessively high RBCM (Miller and Mullan 2015). Another study of 99 patients showed that while [Hb] was frequently low in heart failure patients, it was the only value of blood cell count that was demonstrably low and red cell volumes remained normal (Adlbrecht et al. 2008) causing a "pseudo-anaemia". The converse is also true and may result in false negative tests for anaemia in those with constricted blood volume.

As we can see, while [Hb] provides some information about a subject's capacity for oxygen delivery, reliance on it as a sole indicator of disease severity has significant limitations. The best-known method to assess the body's ability to deliver oxygen to tissues is VO2 max, or maximal oxygen uptake. It correlates well with cardiovascular fitness and is used frequently in sports medicine and has also been used to predict outcomes in certain surgical procedures. Increasing [Hb] has been shown to increase VO2 max in healthy patients(Ekblom, Goldbarg, and Gullbring 1972)(Buick et al. 1980)(M. H. Williams et al. 1981)(Brien and Simon 1987)

with an estimated increase of 1% for every 3g/L rise in [Hb] (Gledhill, Warburton, and Jamnik 1999). Similarly, while there is clearly some correlation between [Hb] and exercise capacity(Woodson 1984; Calbet et al. 2006) in healthy volunteers, this correlation in surgical candidates has been shown to be a relatively weak association(James M Otto et al. 2013). Improving VO2 max and exercise capacity has been achievable using autologous blood transfusion, (Solheim et al. 2019), which helped the rise of "blood doping" in competitive sport. The same effect has been seen in stable haematology patients with allogenic blood products (Wright et al. 2014).

In the context of cardiac surgery, where the presence of heart failure-related fluid disturbances is very common, it becomes clear that [Hb] itself has significant limitations as an indicator of the true oxygen delivery status and is perhaps not the ideal measure to define anaemia at all.

In addition to physiological reasons for the limitations of [Hb] as a marker of oxygen delivery, measurement of [Hb] itself is prone to error. [Hb] measurement can be performed using various techniques. Laboratory-based testing processes are more accurate, but slower and involve significantly more processing. Increasingly 'bedside' techniques are being utilised which can range from smaller blood gas analysers in an operating theatre or ICU setting, to finger-prick portable analysers such as Hemocue® and the emerging category of non-invasive real-time monitors using pulse oximetry techniques. Accuracy of these methods is variable, with a trend towards inferior accuracy with increased convenience.

It was demonstrated by Heinicke and colleagues that in elite endurance athletes, while total-Hb mass was 35% higher, the commensurate increase in PV meant that [Hb] was not significantly higher, suggesting that [Hb] may be a poor indicator of oxygen delivery(Heinicke et al. 2001)

Compared to [Hb], total Hb-mass testing has been shown to correlate much better with aerobic capacity on CPET testing and should provide a far more accurate estimate or oxygen carrying capacity (J M Otto et al. 2017).

As JP Isbister suggests, methods for measuring total red cell mass or total Hb mass are more laborious than measuring [Hb] and as such are generally not practical in a clinical setting(J. P. Isbister 2015). These techniques have progressed significantly however and in chapter 7, an exploration of the development of these techniques is described further. Following from this is a description of the development of a new total Hb-mass testing technique that may constitute a significant step in the slow march towards a practical, and easily established method of testing total Hb mass.

Iron Deficiency

Iron is utilised in a vast array of physiological processes and is crucial to many body systems in humans and indeed most species. It is best known for its crucial role in haemoglobin synthesis for erythropoiesis but is also required in cell division, gene expression and the synthesis of DNA in many cell lines (Furuyama and Kaneko 2007). It is fundamental to the function of all aerobic cells via the electron transport chain and in addition to haemoglobin and myoglobin synthesis is required in production of essential enzymes such as cytochromes, catalases, peroxidases, guanylate cyclase and NO-synthase. (Ponka 1999) Systemic iron homeostasis is a highly regulated balance between gut absorption and iron-loss involving proteins to facilitate transfer such as ferroportin and transferrin, and the regulatory proteins hepcidin, hephaestin and ceruloplasmin(Zhou and Tan 2017). Intracellular iron homeostasis is regulated by the iron-regulatory protein/iron responsive element (IRE/IRP) system which effects gene expression via mRNA effects. Iron deficiency (ID), as with most molecular deficiencies is caused by either inadequate intake, failure of absorption, increased loss, or a combination of these. It is estimated that over 2 billion people globally are iron-deficient with approximately 12% of the total population and 20% of females suffering from anaemia caused by iron-deficiency (N. J. et al. Kassebaum 2019). In higher income countries, the prevalence is lower, but remains significant.

Pathophysiology of Iron Deficiency

spinal cord development (Dobbing 2013).

In the advanced stages of the disease, iron deficiency leads to anaemia which is associated with the detrimental physiological effects outlined earlier in this chapter, although even in the pre-anaemic stages it has widespread physiological sequelae demonstrating iron's crucial role in homeostasis, beyond its importance to haemoglobin production. Non- (or pre-) anaemic iron deficiency (NAID) is estimated to affect 1-2 billion people globally. As iron-deficiency and anaemia are often studied together, it is difficult to separate the pathological processes caused by each, although it is clear there are significant effects on cognition, fatigue and mental health(Greig et al. 2010) with ID, even in the absence of anaemia. There are demonstrable effects on neural function (Beard and Connor 2003), neurotransmitter production and function (Beard 2001) and significant impacts on brain and

Iron plays a vital role in many aspects of Immune functions such as lymphocyte and natural killer cell function(Santos and Falcao 1990; Kemp 1993), thymus function (Kuvibidila et al.

2001)production of the microbiocidal hypochloric acid by peroxidases (Hampton, Kettle, and Winterbourn 1998). Iron deficiency in mononuclear cells seems to directly affect the quality of the cell-mediated immune response(C. Muñoz et al. 2007)

Athletic function is closely linked to anaemia, but endurance performance seems to be independently linked to iron status, independent of [Hb](Beard 2001)

In heart failure (HF) patients, iron deficiency is very common with almost half of these patients being iron deficient, but 30% of those who are non-anaemic demonstrating absolute iron-deficiency, and 22% having functional iron deficiency(Okonko et al. 2011b). Another study of 546 HF patients from Poland demonstrated a prevalence of ID of $37\pm4\%$ (Jankowska et al. 2011) Myocyte iron-deficiency (independently of anaemia) in HF patients has been shown to be associated with more extensive coronary disease and reduced enzymatic function in the Krebs cycle and reduction in reactive oxygen species protective enzymes, which may lead to exacerbation of mitochondrial dysfunction (Melenovsky et al. 2017). This has been shown to translate to function and outcomes with studies demonstrating a tendency to lower aerobic capacity and increased risk of death(Okonko et al. 2011a) The negative effect on outcomes in these patients has been demonstrated to be independent of anaemia.(Rangel et al. 2014)

Although ID with anaemia has been clearly linked to surgical outcomes, there is a relative lack of research into this effect in the earlier stages of ID. One trial in colorectal cancer patients, in which ID is very common, showed that those with NAID had increased rates of readmission, infection and a lower 90-DAH, although it was a relatively small group of 141 patients(Lachlan F. Miles et al. 2019).

In cardiac surgery, there is a growing body of evidence that suggests that iron-deficiency is associated with higher mortality and morbidity, and that this effect appears to be synergistic, but independent of anaemia. One study of 730 patients demonstrated that in non-anaemic patients, 90-day mortality was 5% in those with iron deficiency (ferritin < 100ug/L) compared to 2% in controls, this effect was even more marked in those with anaemia with the presence of ID increasing the mortality from 4% to 14% (OR = 3.5(95% CI 1.5-8.4)). (Rössler et al. 2020). Another study linked iron deficiency to increased blood transfusion and post-operative fatigue scores(Piednoir et al. 2011). Yet another study of 277 Australian cardiac surgical patients failed to demonstrate an effect on mortality or transfusion, but found increased length of stay and reduction in the composite (90-DAH) in NAID patients, although the effect was not dramatic(L F Miles et al. 2017)

Causes of Iron Deficiency

Iron loss or increased demand

Normal iron loss occurs due to various sources including blood loss, sweat, intestinal cell loss, and desquamation of cells in the skin and urinary tract(Hentze et al. 2010). Normal levels of iron loss are compensated for by absorption, however some physiological and pathological states cause an increase in iron loss that overwhelms the absorptive reserve. Infancy, adolescence and late pregnancy are times of markedly increased erythropoiesis and thus iron requirements increase significantly from baseline explaining the increase in prevalence of iron-deficiency in these populations(Camaschella 2015).

Iron absorption

Iron is absorbed in the small intestine, specifically the by duodenal enterocytes (Camaschella 2015). Absorption may be impaired by conditions affecting gut function such as inflammatory bowel disease(Kaitha, Bashir, and Ali 2015), coeliac disease(Ditah et al. 2015), *Helicobacter pylori* infection(Annibale et al. 2001) and autoimmune conditions(Bini 2001). Bariatric surgery has been linked to reduced iron absorption(Khanbhai et al. 2015). There is also limited iron absorption in many chronic diseases involving inflammation which leads to the relatively new concept in iron-metabolism known as iron restriction.

Iron Restriction

While failure of iron-absorption has classically been considered as the rarer of these causes, there is increased focus on this over the last 20 years the concept of iron-restriction has become increasingly studied. The understanding of this process was progressed significantly with the discovery of a protein in 2000 that was named hepcidin as it was secreted by hepatocytes in the liver and appeared to have anti-bacterial properties. (Park et al. 2001) It was found that by removing gene expression for hepcidin in experimental mice, they developed severe iron-overload (Nicolas et al. 2001) which suggested that it played a crucial role in iron metabolism. Hepcidin has since been shown to act as an acute phase reactant and is elevated in patients with iron overload, infection or inflammation(Nemeth et al. 2003) and rises in a similar manner to ferritin in these pathological states. It prevents iron transportation by enterocytes (Fleming and Sly 2001) via an interaction with ferroportin (Bergamaschi and Villani 2009) and thus reduces absorption of dietary iron. This interaction also impairs the release of recycled iron by macrophages (D'Angelo 2013), presumably with the strategic evolutionary intent of reducing available iron to invading micro-organisms. It is elevated in

many conditions that are associated with anaemia of chronic disease such as inflammatory bowel disease (Semrin et al. 2006) whereas in pure iron deficiency anaemia, without an inflammatory component, hepcidin levels are generally low.

The cause of anaemia in cardiac failure patients is largely iron deficiency (approximately 70%), although ACD haemodilution and drug effects also contribute (Nanas et al. 2006). In cardiac surgery patients, the most common cause of anaemia is iron deficiency (either absolute or functional) followed by folate and vitamin B12 deficiency.(Matthew Hung et al. 2015) and studies have demonstrated that up to 39% of cardiac surgical patients are iron-deficient (L F Miles et al. 2017).

Treatment of Iron deficiency

Of all the principles contained within the PBM concept, restoring iron stores is arguably the most simple, effective, and economical. There are many ways in which iron stores can be restored, by reducing iron loss due to bleeding or chronic infection or by increasing iron intake by dietary modification or supplementation. Dietary modification alone can improve iron-stores significantly, although the timeframe is generally long. On a population level, there is some evidence that various public health measures can improve quality of nutrition, which should have a follow-on effect on nutritional-deficiency anaemias(Ruel and Alderman 2013)(Sharifirad et al. 2011). Iron is generally better absorbed from animal products than vegetable sources(Bothwell, Pirzio-Biroli, and Finch 1958). Increasing meat intake therefore has an obvious impact on iron intake, though factors such religion, personal preference or poverty prevent this from being a viable solution in many cases. In regions where oral iron intake is poor, supplementation of staple grains with iron, and/or agents to improve iron absorption is a commonly used alternative.

The process of dephytinising foods by the addition of phytase (an enzymatic supplement which increases phosphorous and zinc absorption from grains) appears to improve iron availability in many grains. (Cercamondi et al. 2013)(Frontela et al. 2009) The chelating agent ethylene diamine tetra-acetic acid (EDTA) appears to also have some benefit to iron absorption, especially when given in the form of NaFeEDTA. (Bothwell and MacPhail 2004) and ferrous bisglycinate may also be an effective alternative to common iron salts with some foods. (Bovell-Benjamin, Viteri, and Allen 2000).

Even variations in agricultural practices can have a significant role in the prevalence of irondeficiency. The iron concentration of many crops is variable depending on soil types, the specific cultivar or fertiliser use (Rengel, Batten, and Crowley 1999) and there is some broad evidence that the mineral concentration of some grains has been dropping since the 1960s as a result of more intensive farming practices. (Fan et al. 2008). Interestingly, it has been demonstrated that when crops such as wheat, rice and barley are grown in atmospheric carbon dioxide concentration above 550ppm there is an associated decrease in the iron concentration in the grain. It is hypothesised that if climate change continues and CO2 reaches these levels, this may pose a significant risk to the anaemia burden in countries that are most reliant on these staple grains for food. (Smith, Golden, and Myers 2017) While dietary modification or population-level food supplementation may be effective, oral iron supplementation at an individual level is more effective than these interventions alone, though restoring depleted iron stores remains a relatively slow process. One of the major factors responsible for this is the limited oral bioavailability of common iron preparations and, depending on the deficit, restoring iron stores to normal often takes months. Furthermore, ingesting iron (usually as ferrous sulfate) by the oral route is frequently associated with gastrointestinal (GI) side effects such as nausea, abdominal pain, bloating, diarrhoea, constipation and black or tarry stools. A meta-analysis from 2015 confirmed this, showing that oral iron supplements are 2.3 times more likely to cause GI side effects than placebo (3.3 times more likely in pregnant women) although they were unable to detect a relationship to dose.(Tolkien et al. 2015) High-dose oral iron may also increase gut inflammation(Jaeggi et al. 2015) and affect the important gastrointestinal microbiome.(Zimmermann et al. 2010). While GI side-effects are often mild, they have the knock-on effect of reducing compliance with supplementation, which significantly undermines their effectiveness. Non-compliance has been shown to be as high as 40% in some studies(Gereklioglu et al. 2016), which has been largely attributed to both GI upset and weight gain.

Various strategies have been shown to improve the effectiveness and tolerance to oral iron supplementation. (Hurrell et al. 2004) Ingesting oral iron with food is often said to reduce GI side effects, but appears to decrease the absorption rate significantly, in one paper reducing bioavailability from 8.5% to 2.3% (Cook and Reddy 1995). If iron is taken with food, the composition of the food is also important. Co-supplementing with ascorbic acid (vitamin C), due to its capacity to reduce ferric iron to ferrous iron, thus increasing its bioavailability more than other organic acids. (Teucher, Olivares, and Cori 2004)

Dosing strategies can have a significant effect on oral absorption of iron. The mechanism whereby this occurs appears to be closely linked to hepcidin, and it has been shown that daily or twice daily doses of iron increase hepcidin and may actually decrease iron absorption.(Moretti et al. 2015). A subsequent trial by the same group demonstrated that

giving oral iron on alternate days increased fractional and total iron absorption, despite the lower total dose. This effect may be magnified in clinical practice by the reduced amount of non-absorbed iron present in the gut, which is thought to be the principal cause of many of the GI side-effects which impact on compliance.

Intravenous iron replacement

Due to the general challenges and limitations of restoring iron stores successfully and in a timely manner using oral supplements, more advanced delivery techniques have been sought. The first-available parenteral iron preparation was iron hydroxide, developed in the 1930s, which was given intramuscularly or subcutaneously and was highly toxic due to its lack of carbohydrate shell and subsequent immediate release of free iron, which can catalyse the production of free-radical ions that damage cellular membranes, proteins and DNA.(Emerit, Beaumont, and Trivin 2001) Reports from the time suggest that the adverse effects were common and severe enough to recommend its use only in "rare instances".(Heath, Strauss, and Castle 1932) Subsequently it was found that by adding a carbohydrate component to the iron molecule, such as saccharide (Nissim 1947), the preparation was much better tolerated. In the 1950s, a high molecular weight iron dextran called Imferon was described (Baird and Podmore 1954), which remained highly effective at improving haemoglobin responsiveness (Adamson and Eschbach 1998), but was still associated with a very high rate of anaphylaxis/anaphylactoid reactions of up to 1 in 170 (Fishbane and Kowalski 2000) This preparation was found to be responsible for 31 deaths in the USA between 1976 and 1996, ultimately resulting in it being removed from the market.(Auerbach and Rodgers 2007) Later in the1990s, newer preparations such as low-molecular weight iron dextran (Cosmofer), ferric gluconate (Ferrlecit) and iron sucrose (Venofer) were developed and found to be safer, with an incidence of serious adverse events of around 1 in 200,000(Chertow et al. 2006). Although the lower-molecular weight dextran preparations were associated with lower rates of serious reactions than their higher-molecular weight counterparts, they still require a slow infusion process over 4-6hrs, which represents a significant burden on workforce costs and resource allocation. Ferric gluconate significantly improved this time to a 1-hour infusion and ferric sucrose can be given over 15-minutes, though for a full dose of 1000mg, it needs to be spread over 5 injections in 2 weeks. Much of the early use of these preparations was in end-stage renal failure (ESRF) patients, where a slow, or staged infusion is practical for those on intermittent haemodialysis in the outpatient setting, however it is far less practical for other groups of patients for whom an iron infusion would require a dedicated hospital presentation.

This, combined with more research into IV iron's use in non-ESRF patient groups, meant that these preparations were logistically and thus also financially challenging to administer. Other newer iron-carbohydrate molecules have been developed since, including iron polymaltose, ferric carboxymaltose (Ferrinject), iron isomaltoside (Monofer) and ferumoxytol (Feraheme). These are considered to be generally safer, and in most cases, a full replenishment of iron stores can be given in 15 mins or less with a much better safety profile. The different available IV iron preparations have distinguishing characteristics which make them unique and may significantly affect their clinical effects and potential for toxicity. Firstly, the rate at which they are able to make free iron available to combine with transferrin molecule varies significantly. In vitro studies have shown that the iron dextran molecules appear to saturate transferrin far more slowly than iron sucrose and iron gluconate as seen in the figure below.



Figure 2.1 The effect of various iron preparations on transferring saturations. Reproduced from (Agarwal 2004)

While this increased rate of iron transfer to the biologically useful transferrin-bound form may imply a more rapid effectiveness, it may also contribute to a theorised increase in toxicity. There is also a significant variation in the amount of non-transferrin-bound iron (NTBI) in the plasma after infusions of various preparations. This NTBI has been shown to act as a catalyst for production of toxic oxygen radicals in vitro (Gutteridge, Rowley, and Halliwell 1982) and may contribute to adverse clinical effects. Endothelium, and in particular nitric oxide (NO) that it produces appears to play a significant role in primary defence against atherosclerotic changes (Moncada and Higgs 1993)(Gimbrone Jr. 1995) that are the basis for ischaemic heart disease (IHD), cerebrovascular disease (CVD) and peripheral vascular disease (PVD). This is demonstrated clinically by the fact that those with increased cardiovascular risk appear to have lower NO availability (LÜSCHER 1993) which may be a result of oxidation by superoxide radicals. (Wever, Stroes, and Rabelink 1998) Various studies have shown that iron preparations may have toxic effects on endothelium in vitro and in vivo (Rooyakkers et al. 2002). One study by Zager et al. (Zager et al. 2002) explored the effect of different iron preparations on cell cultures of renal tubular cells from mice and humans and human aortic endothelium. They showed that markers of cell death were highest in iron sucrose, then iron gluconate and lowest with iron dextran over a range of time periods. Given that the plasma half-lives of these drugs are markedly different (1-hr for Iron Gluconate, 6-hrs for iron sucrose and 57 hrs for the iron dextran) the effectiveness and side-effect profile of each is likely to be heterogenous. For example, while the transfer rate of iron-dextran preparations is slow, their prolonged half-life would likely prolong the transfer time-period, but also theoretically increase the period over which adverse cytotoxic effects may occur, potentially causing delayed cell-injury.

Benefits of IV iron replacement

IV iron treatment and the subsequent rapid restoration of iron stores has been shown to be beneficial in various contexts. In patients with heart failure and iron-deficiency, it has been shown to significantly improve quality of life, functional capacity and improves symptoms. (Anker et al. 2009) It has been shown to improve cardiac function, renal function and reduce hospitalisation rates if given with EPO (Silverberg et al. 2000), although IV iron alone appears to be as effective. (Terrovitis et al. 2012) Interestingly, a similar study with oral iron replacement in these patients failed to demonstrate an improvement in exercise capacity (Lewis et al. 2017). Improvement in quality-of-life indicators is a common theme in the literature with similar improvements seen in patients after colorectal cancer surgery, (Keeler et al. 2019) and multiple trials showing improvements in functional capacity (Vadhan-Raj et al. 2014). One systematic review has suggested that fatigue can be improved by replacing iron in iron-deficient patients even in the absence of anaemia. (Pratt and Khan 2016) and another showed that improvements in peak oxygen consumption were related to increases in transferrin saturation, but not [Hb].(Okonko et al. 2008) There are a number of issues still related with iron infusions including a reduction in serum phosphate levels (M. Wolf et al. 2018)(Musgrove and Wolf 2019) and an effect on platelet count (Yessayan et al. 2014). Iron has some other theoretical negative effects such as a potentially increased risk of infection, given that many infectious agents require iron as a growth-factor. The association between genetic iron overload caused by hemochromatosis and increased rates of various infections supports this theory(Khan, Fisher, and Khakoo 2007) Although evidence of this effect has been sought extensively since the introduction of IV iron preparations, there remains no strong evidence that their use results in an increase in infections, as demonstrated in a 2015 meta-analysis of over 10,000 subjects in 103 trials (Avni et al. 2015).

As demonstrated, in the pre-operative setting, anaemia has been clearly shown to worsen outcomes and peri-operative transfusion does not mitigate this effect and indeed may worsen outcomes further. While blood conservation strategies should reduce transfusion needs to some extent, there remains a significant opportunity to identify anaemia and treat it in the pre-operative period. While it seems intuitive that this would thus improve outcomes, there is a paucity of high-quality evidence that demonstrates this. The concept of treating anaemia pre-operatively has become increasingly present in guidelines, although the evidence for such recommendations remains relatively limited, particularly in cardiac surgery.

Iron optimisation before surgery

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) reviewed transfusion practices and recommended identifying patients with anaemia pre-operatively and to consider methods to avoid transfusion. ("National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Blood Transfusion. NICE Guideline (NG24)." 2017). Similar consensus statements, guidelines and protocols exist worldwide(Munoz et al. 2017; Mueller et al. 2019), despite there being limited high-quality evidence that intervention at this stage results in a change in outcomes for patients. In fact, the group that developed the NICE guidelines openly state that the guidance to offer oral or IV iron pre-operatively to iron-deficient patients is based on very low to low quality evidence (Padhi et al. 2015). Newer IV iron preparations have been shown to be a safe, rapid alternative to oral replacement, with a lower incidence of side-effects(Tomer et al. 2015) and appear to be more effective at increasing [Hb] (Clevenger et al. 2016) While IV iron has been observed to reduce transfusion in many surgical specialties.(Manuel

Muñoz et al. 2012), it is better studied in certain specialties such as orthopaedics, where there appears to be a significant treatment effect. A 2019 meta-analysis of IV Iron before acute

major non-cardiac surgery showed a decrease in blood transfusion, post-operative infection and 30-day mortality, and the majority of those studied were hip-fracture patients (2582 of 3044 patients)(Schack et al. 2019). A more recent meta-analysis in those undergoing elective total hip- or knee-arthroplasty suggested a significant decrease in transfusion and a corresponding decrease in length of hospital stay for patients.(Scrimshire et al. 2020) Outside of orthopaedic surgery, here are other smaller trials which have attempted to establish whether IV iron can reduce transfusion rate in major general surgery including a small Australian trial which demonstrated a 60% reduction in transfusion rate with IV iron prior to major abdominal surgery in 72 patients (Froessler et al. 2016). The impact of this evidence has been limited however by contradictory studies showing little or no benefit of IV iron over oral iron in 116 in patients undergoing major colorectal cancer surgery (Keeler et al. 2017). In this study, it was again found that while pre-operative IV iron improves anaemia, more effectively than oral replacement, no significant effect on transfusion rates was detectable.

A 2018 Cochrane review found only 6 RCTs with a total of 372 patients evaluating the effectiveness of iron replacement before surgery which was an inadequate number to power an evaluation of transfusion reduction. They did conclude that iron replacement appeared to improve both iron studies and [Hb](Ng et al. 2019) but without a statistically-significant improvement in outcomes. A more recent meta-analysis of 10 RCTs with 1039 participants agrees with the positive effects on IV Iron on [Hb] when compared to both placebo and oral iron, as seen in the tables below:

	Intravenous iron			Placebo/standard of care				Mean Difference	Mean Difference	
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% Cl	IV, Random, 95% Cl	
Edwards 2009	134	27	34	136	26	26	7.9%	-2.00 [-15.50, 11.50]		
Froessler 2016	115	13	40	107	17	32	13.9%	8.00 [0.86, 15.14]		
Garrido-Martín 2012	127	16	54	128	13	52	15.8%	-1.00 [-6.54, 4.54]		
Keeler 2017	119	15	55	110	16	61	15.7%	9.00 [3.36, 14.64]		
Kim 2009	105	14	30	86	14	26	13.7%	19.00 [11.65, 26.35]		
Shah 2016	107	7	55	96	7	55	18.7%	11.00 [8.38, 13.62]		
Weisbach 1999	127	10	30	125	16	30	14.4%	2.00 [-4.75, 8.75]		
Total (95% CI)	298					282	100.0%	7.15 [2.26, 12.04]	-	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 31	.48; Chi² =	28.53	df = 6 (l	P < 0.0001); I ²						
Test for overall effect: Z	= 2.87 (P =	0.004)		Favours Placebo/standard of care Favours Intravenous iron					

Figure 2.2: Forest plot comparison shows the pooled comparison effect of intravenous iron therapy versus placebo/standard of care groups on the change of haemoglobin level (g/L) at the post-treatment (pre-surgery) time (random effects model). Reproduced from (Elhenawy et al. 2021)



Figure 2.3: Forest plot comparison shows the pooled comparison effect of intravenous iron therapy versus oral iron groups on the change of haemoglobin level (g/L) at the post-treatment (pre-surgery) time (random effects model). Reproduced from (Elhenawy et al. 2021)

The same meta-analysis was also able to demonstrate a statistically significant 16% reduction in allogenic blood transfusion. (Elhenawy et al. 2021) This metanalysis was performed before the publication of, and thus did not include the data from the PREVENTT trial, a relatively large RCT published in 2020, by members of our collaborative group and others. This study attempted to demonstrate an outcome-benefit of IV iron before major abdominal surgery showed that while it was possible to increase [Hb], there was no significant improvement in transfusion outcomes (Richards et al. 2020), which may affect the composite outcomes of future meta-analyses.

Although guidelines regarding transfusion-prevention strategies, including peri-operative iron replacement, are now widespread, it seems current practice may be not yet be keeping to these recommended standards. Audits performed within the NHS have repeatedly shown that there are shortcomings in PBM practices and that pre-operative anaemia is not adequately managed.(NHS Blood and Transplant 2015, 2016) Similar limitations exist in Europe where standards in detection and management of pre-operative anaemia vary significantly between countries. (A Shander et al. 2012)

Peri-operative Iron replacement in cardiac surgery

As much as one-third of cardiac surgical patients suffer from iron-deficiency, even though many of these will not be in the anaemic stage of the disease.(Hubert et al. 2019) The optimisation of iron stores in cardiac surgery is being researched as a potential method of improving surgical and patient-based outcomes.

While there are many smaller observational trials exploring the effectiveness of iron replacement in cardiac surgery patients, the quality of evidence is mixed. A recent systematic review undertook to assess the quality of this evidence and provide some firmer conclusions(Tankard et al. 2020). They established six trials that met inclusion criteria, totalling 1038 cardiac surgery patients receiving IV iron prior to cardiac surgery. The trials included 4 randomised double-blind prospective cohort studies, a randomized non-blinded prospective study, and a non-randomised non-blinded prospective study with historical control. They concluded there was insufficient data to adequately perform meta-analysis. Only one of these trials (Cladellas et al. 2012), which was considered to be of fair quality, showed a mortality improvement from 23% to 9%. Two trials (Cladellas et al. 2012; Spahn et al. 2019) showed an improvement in [Hb], the former pre-operatively (although this trial used historical controls) and the latter post-operatively as IV iron was given on the day of surgery. One showed an improvement in length of stay. A summary table from this systematic review is shown below.

Author	Surgery	Significant AE ^a	QOL	Infections	LOS, median (IQR)	Mortality
Cladellas et al, 2012 [<u>32</u>]	VR	None	NR	Decreased: 8% vs. 24%, P = 0.01	Shorter: 10 days (8 - 14) vs. 15 days (10 - 27), P < 0.01	Decrease: 9% vs. 23%, P = 0.04
Urena et al, 2017 [<u>34]</u>	VR (TAVI)	No diff	NR	No diff	No diff	No diff
Johansson et al, 2015 [<u>36]</u>	CABG, VR	No diff	NR	No diff	NR	No diff
Padmanabhan et al, 2018 [<u>35]</u>	CABG, VR	None	No diff	No diff	No diff	No diff
Garrido-Martin et al, 2012 [<u>33]</u>	CABG, VR	None	NR	Not increased	NR	NR
Spahn et al, 2019 [<u>37]</u>	CABG, VR	No diff	NR	No diff	No diff	No diff

Other Outcomes

^aAs defined by study. AE: adverse event; CABG: coronary artery bypass grafting; diff: difference; IQR: interquartile range; LOS: length of stay; NR: not reported; QOL: quality of life; TAVI: trans-aortic valve implantation; VR: valve replacement.

Table 2.1: Effects of IV Iron on surgical outcomes in cardiac surgical patients (reproduced from systemic review by Tankard et al(Tankard et al. 2020))
The overall evidence for outcome effects detected in this systematic review were graded as being 1b (moderate quality) for all outcome measures except QoL measures, which were graded as 2b (low quality) evidence. This relatively low quality of evidence for the use of IV Iron as a pre-operative treatment to improve [Hb] and operative outcomes suggests that further studies are required. Chapter 5 describes the methodology and results of one such trial (CAVIAR-UK) which the author contributed to. This has subsequently led to a larger international RCT (ITACS), for which the author is also an investigator, which aims to provide high quality evidence on the effects of IV iron on patient-centred outcomes in cardiac surgery.

Transfusion practices in cardiac surgery

Cardiac surgery generally requires the opening of large vessels and/or cardiac chambers, which pre-disposes patients to surgical bleeding. This propensity for bleeding and the dilutional effect on [Hb] seen with CPB mean that intra-operative anaemia is common. To maintain adequate circulating [Hb] for oxygen delivery, transfusions of red blood cells are commonly used.

Prevalence of transfusion in cardiac surgery

The rate of transfusion varies enormously between countries and between centres. In one analysis of US centres, the transfusion rate in cardiac surgery ranged from 0% to 85% depending on location (Maddux et al. 2009) and 8% to 93% in another.(Bennett-Guerrero et al. 2010) Similar heterogeneity in transfusion practices is seen in the UK with one study showing a range of 25% to 75% between centres. Transfusion practices in Australia appear to be similarly variable with a range between 17% and 79%(Daly et al. 2007) or more recently 22% to 67%.(McQuilten et al. 2014) What is broadly evident, is that overall peri-operative transfusion rates for cardiac surgery are generally high compared to other surgery with approximately one-third of all patients undergoing CABG surgery receiving transfusions (Stover, Siegel, and Parks 1998).

Normal peri-operative [Hb] trends in cardiac surgery

During cardiac surgery, there is a significant dilution of the circulating blood volume due to the CPB priming solution and additional IV fluids, most commonly crystalloid solution (Protsyk et al. 2017) that is infused during the peri-operative period. In addition to this, beginning almost immediately after the initiation of CPB, there is an inflammatory response which causes an increase in capillary permeability, causing a reduction in circulating blood volume and shift of fluid to the extravascular space. (Cremer et al. 1996)(Hamada et al. 2004) This effect appears to peak at 4-hours post-operatively and can increase the extravascular volume by several litres over the ensuing 24 hours (Tschaikowsky et al. 2000). The combination of a restricted blood volume and early minor bleeding tends (which is almost ubiquitous) can lead to haemodynamic effects that result in patients receiving further crystalloid or colloid resuscitation which causes a dilutional fall in [Hb] in the early postoperative period and further extracellular fluid shift. As the capillary membranes regain integrity, the lost fluid is gradually retuned to the blood volume, sometimes causing the BV to exceed pre-operative levels, which further dilutes the circulating Hb. As such, it has been shown that [Hb] continues to fall until a nadir point, which generally occurs at post-operative day 3 or 4 as the inflammatory process dissipates. Gradually, the now increased blood volume and restoration of capillary integrity results in a significant diuresis, returning blood volume to normal levels and concentrating the circulating Hb. This, with a possible and likely variable contribution by haematopoiesis cause [Hb] to recover approximately 50% of its downward drift by the tenth post-operative day. (George 2012)

These findings were reproduced in an audit of patient undergoing cardiac valve surgery at St Vincent's Hospital (Sydney, Australia) which was undertaken by medical students under the author's supervision as part of a research project with the University of Notre Dame. In this audit of 73 patients, who did not receive an allogenic blood transfusion, there was a relatively predictable reduction in [Hb] from an average of 104g/L immediately post-operatively to 97.6g/L on post-operative day 3, returning to 100.4g/L by day 6. In most cardiac surgical units, the early post-operative period is a common time for patients to receive RBC transfusions as they cross transfusion triggers as [Hb] descends over the first 3 post-operative days. These results suggest that a slightly more restrictive approach may be acceptable during this period and provides some guidance on the timeline of expected [Hb] improvement without intervention.



Figure 2.4: Post-operative [Hb] trends in cardiac valve surgery patients who did not receive blood product transfusions (reproduced from poster presentation at St Vincent's Hospital, Sydney)(Shahbaz and Carroll 2019)





Figure 2.5: Post-operative [Hb] trends following time of nadir [Hb] in cardiac surgery patients not receiving blood products (reproduced from poster presentation at St Vincent's Hospital, Sydney)(Shahbaz and Carroll 2019)

Transfusion strategies in cardiac surgery

Some of the detrimental effects of anaemia can be rapidly corrected with blood transfusion, and in some acute settings and chronic conditions this therapy may be life-saving(Armstrong 2008). Transfused red blood cells act as an excellent blood volume expander and remain in the intravascular space far more effectively than crystalloid or colloid solutions. The theoretical improvement in oxygen delivery is supported by studies showing that RBC transfusion results in a demonstrable increase in exercise capacity in anaemic patients (Wright et al. 2014; Solheim et al. 2019) and as discussed, transfusions are frequently used in the context of cardiac surgery to this end.

Although it is clear that anaemia is associated with poor outcomes in a cardiac surgery, the treatment of anaemia with allogenic blood products can also have significant detrimental effect on outcomes(Rawn 2007), and it is difficult to establish which effect is greater. (A. Shander et al. 2011) Although the evidence suggests that avoiding transfusion altogether is likely to improve outcomes, sometimes transfusion is thought to be essential to maintain oxygen delivery to tissues, particularly in the presence of organ dysfunction. There is ongoing debate about the [Hb] at which transfusion should occur. Historically, many physicians targeted [Hb] values of over 100g/L, particularly in those with organ dysfunction(Armstrong 2008). There has been a trend towards lower transfusion triggers and many guidelines have shifted recommendations for values around 90g/L to those closer to 70g/L. There is some evidence that a restrictive approach is similarly effective (Hajjar et al. 2010) or non-inferior (Mazer et al. 2017) and this may also apply to long-term outcomes (Mazer et al. 2018). Another study in post-valve-replacement patients showed that non-symptomatic patients had no difference in 1-yr outcomes if they were discharged with a [Hb] of <80g/L or >80g/L, and concluded that these patients should not be transfused to meet arbitrary criteria (Ad et al. 2015).

While evidence supporting restrictive transfusion strategies has been welcomed due to the potential to reduce the significant costs associated with transfusion, it has been recently challenged by the well-known TITRe2 trial, which suggested that a liberal transfusion strategy was not inferior in terms of outcomes or cost, but may slightly improve 90-day mortality. (G. J. Murphy et al. 2015). Restricting transfusion may also cause an increase in the incidence of cardiogenic shock in post-operative patients (Nakamura et al. 2015)

Effects of transfusion on mortality in cardiac surgery

Although transfusion is frequently utilised in cardiac surgery and cardio-pulmonary bypass to maintain oxygen delivery and can thus be organ-sparing or lifesaving in an acute setting, the broader effects of transfusion on mortality appear generally to be detrimental. One US study suggested a 2-fold increase in risk of death in anaemic patients who were transfused compared to those who were not (M. Engoren et al. 2014). Transfusion is associated with an increased risk of in-hospital mortality and also appears to increase the probability of all major complications in a dose-related manner. (Colleen Gorman Koch, Li, Duncan, et al. 2006) It appears to have an independent effect on longer term survival with one study suggesting a hazard ratio for 3-yr mortality of 1.340 (95% CI: 1.109-1.620) for those transfused intraoperatively.(von Heymann et al. 2016). Another US study suggested a 70% increase in 5yr mortality for transfused patients, when data was corrected for co-morbidities and other factors(M. C. Engoren et al. 2002). Interestingly, a trial examining the effect of anaemia on outcomes in "off-pump" CABG surgery showed a trend toward higher mortality in the anaemic group (1.6% vs 0.3%), although this was not statistically significant which suggests the process of cardiopulmonary bypass may be a significant factor in anaemia-mortality relationships. (Matsuda et al. 2013)

Effects of transfusion on morbidity in cardiac surgery

Beyond effects on mortality, transfusions of allogenic blood products are associated with significant morbidity on a variety of organ systems.

The immediate risks associated with allogenic blood product transfusions are well described. Transfusion is associated with a variety of potential complications including acute transfusion reactions, transmissible infection(Squires 2011), transfusion-related lung injury (TRALI) (Bernard et al. 1994). In non-surgical cardiac patients presenting with acute coronary syndrome (ACS), there is an association between transfusion and 30-day mortality(Rao et al. 2004). Transfusion may have immunomodulating effects, which may have both immediate and longer-term consequences(H. G. Klein and Weiskopf 1999) and may increase risk of cancer recurrence (Blumberg and Heal 1994)

Allogenic blood products shown to increase rate of post-operative infection in cardiac surgery (Horvath et al. 2013) Transfusion has been linked to post-operative graft occlusion in CABG patients(M. Engoren et al. 2015) and higher rates of post-operative atrial fibrillation (Colleen Gorman Koch, Li, Van Wagoner, et al. 2006; Sood et al. n.d.) and need for inotropic or mechanical support post-operatively(S. D. Surgenor et al. 2006). In a Canadian study of

12,388 patients, erythrocyte transfusion was shown to increase the rate of acute kidney injury in a dose-dependent manner, and this effect was more marked in anaemic patients. (Karkouti et al. 2011). Rates of infections in both the surgical site and other septic complications appear to be increased in those who are transfused(Banbury et al. 2006; P. J. Murphy et al. 1992; G. J. Murphy 2009). Length of both ICU and hospital stays are reliably shown to be longer in transfused patients (Galas et al. 2013). The incidence of TRALI has been reported to be as high as 2.4% in cardiac surgical patients(Vlaar et al. 2011)

Economic impact of transfusion

In addition to the human-cost of blood transfusion in terms of the negative effect on patient outcomes, transfusion comes at a significant financial and societal price. The costs associated with transfusion are very different between countries, although they universally create a significant burden on health services(Amin et al. 2003a). The cost of RBC transfusion is difficult to estimate. On systematic review of data from the USA, Canada and the UK suggests that the estimated cost of a unit of RBCs was US\$155-\$550 in around 2000 and demonstrated those costs has risen significantly over the studied period. The systemic cost of providing transfusions continues to rise as the processes of collection, testing and processing are refined. For example, between 1997 and 1999, the cost per unit rose by 170% in the UK, while in the USA the cost rose 61% between 2000 and 2001. (Amin et al. 2003b) A 2008 paper from the US suggested that the true cost of a RBC transfusion in the surgical setting was as high as US\$3433, of which the cost of the blood itself contributed US\$1158. (Aryeh Shander et al. 2008)

It is clear that transfusion is associated with a significant cost and that surgery is a major consumer of global blood resources. Peri-operative services generally seem to account for about a third of all blood product use in many countries (Wallis, Wells, and Chapman 2006) One analysis suggested that CABG surgery alone accounted for 11% of all RBC transfusion resources in the USA in the late 1990s (D. M. Surgenor et al. 1998), and more from that decade suggesting that cardiac surgery was responsible for almost 20% of all blood transfusions nationally.(L. Goodnough, Johnston, and Toy 1991). The most recently published data from Australia suggests cardiothoracic surgery patients received 5.6% of all blood products nationally(Shortt et al. 2009).

Minimising transfusion in cardiac surgery

The effects of transfusion on morbidity, mortality and cost have prompted research into whether by simply reducing transfusion rates, it is possible to improve outcomes. As populations age, and the demand for blood increases as older demographics consistently require more transfusions (Wells et al. 2002). This effect is compounded by the relative reduction in the proportion of the population that are eligible to donate blood. The combination of supply-demand disparity and increasing costs have stimulated more interest in methods to reduce transfusion costs and minimise associated harm.

Patient Blood Management

The concept of Patient Blood Management (PBM) developed in the late 20th century and became widely accepted in the 2000s(Thomson et al. 2009). This notion is not new, and some attribute its genesis to early attempts to avoid blood product use in Jehovah's Witness groups undergoing cardiac surgery in the 1960s and '70s which was shown to be comparably safe (Ott and Cooley 1977) despite the concept of "bloodless" cardiac surgery being quite radical at the time. Refining of the processes involved has ultimately resulted in studies demonstrating these patients can do better than their matched peers. The appearance of HIV/AIDS in the 1980s and the fear of transfusion-related infections drove a significant push to minimise blood transfusion and this combined with pre-existing factors led to a broad questioning of transfusion practices (James P Isbister 1988)

Modern PBM is a broad, multi-disciplinary approach that focusses on patient-outcomes using a variety of both pre-, intra-, and post-operative techniques aimed at reducing the rate of transfusion overall and assuring that blood products are used appropriately and only when considered beneficial.

The introduction of PBM techniques has been validated in its capacity to reduce cost and improve outcomes (Leahy et al. 2017; Freedman et al. 2008; Brevig et al. 2009) and furthermore the cost of PBM programs has been shown to be less than the financial saving showing it represents value to health systems (DeAnda et al. 2006)

The three "pillars" of PBM (J. P. Isbister 2015) are described as:

- 1. Maximising the total red cell mass
- 2. Minimizing blood loss
- 3. Tolerate anaemia and harness and optimize physiological reserves

each of these pillars involve pre- intra- and post-operative techniques and are summarised in the below diagram reproduced from the Australian Patient Blood Management guidelines:

	PILLAR ONE	PILLAR TWO	PILLAR THREE	륲
	Optimise RBC Mass	Minimise Blood Loss	Manage Anaemia	Ê
PREOPERATIVE	 > detect/treat anaemia & iron deficiency > treat underlying causes > optimise haemoglobin > cease medications 	 identify, manage & treat bleeding/bleeding risk minimise phlebotomy plan/rehearse procedure 	 patient's bleeding history & develop management plan estimate the patient's tolerance for blood loss optimise cardiopulmonary function 	PILLARS OF P/
INTRAOPERATIVE	 time surgery with optimisation of erythropoiesis & red blood cell mass 	 > meticulous haemostasis/ surgical/anaesthetic techniques > cell salvage techniques > avoid coagulopathy > patient positioning/warming > pharmacological agents 	 > optimise cardiopulmonary function > optimise ventilation & oxygenation > restrictive transfusion strategies 	ATIENT BLOOD
POSTOPERATIVE	 > manage anaemia & iron deficiency > manage medications & potential interactions 	 > monitor & manage post op bleeding > keep patient warm > minimise phlebotomy > awareness of drug interactions & adverse events > treat infections promptly 	 maximise oxygen delivery minimise oxygen use treat infections promptly tolerance of anaemia restrictive transfusion strategies 	MANAGEMENT
	Adapted from Spahn DR. Goodnough Hofman A. Farmer S. Towler SC. Stra an Australian perspective. Curr Opin of patient blood management – an o	LT. Alternatives to Blood Transfusion. La tegies to preempt and reduce the use of Anaesthesiol. 2012; 25 .66 -73; Isbister JP. verview. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesio	ancet 2013; 381:1855-65; blood products: The three-pillar matrix bl. 2013; 27:69-84.	1

Figure 2.6: The three pillars of PBM. (reproduced from Blood.gov.au)

Pre-operative techniques for optimising haematological parameters are discussed extensively throughout this thesis and many of these have been demonstrated to be highly effective in populations who are, for religious reasons, unable to consent to blood transfusions, such as Jehovah's Witnesses. Interestingly, one scenario in which Jehovah's Witness patients appear to do worse than those that accept transfusions is in major trauma (Varela et al. 2003) which suggests that intra- and post-op improvements may not be adequate to make "bloodless" medical management equal to the standard. This highlights the role of pre-optimisation, one of the key tenets of PBM.

There are a variety of intra-operative techniques that can also be utilised which may reduce transfusion requirements. The most well-known of these are the use of antifibrinolytics, topical haemostatic agents and cell salvage techniques. Various CPB techniques such as retrograde autologous priming of the CPB circuit have also been shown to reduce RBC transfusions.(Ševerdija et al. 2011) The increasing use of bedside coagulation testing using thromboelastographic techniques such as TEG® and ROTEM® to guide blood component administration may also have a beneficial effect on RBC transfusion rates(Rahe-Meyer et al. 2009), although a meta-analysis of the topic concluded that while there appears to be a beneficial effect (RR 0.86), the quality of this evidence remains low. (Wikkelsø A and Afshari 2016).

Targeting PBM strategies

While transfusion is expensive, many of the strategies used in PBM also come at a significant cost, including equipment such as cell salvage, but also the significant resource-drain of setting up PBM programs. Given the cost associated with these PBM strategies, there has been some effort to target resource-use to those who are likely to derive the greatest benefit. As with all medical interventions, strategies to mitigate transfusion risk are best used in a targeted manner. Indiscriminate use of these resource-intensive interventions is not only costly but may not actually improve outcomes and, in some cases, could be harmful. In order to best direct use of PBM resources, potential risk of transfusion needs to be assessed and resources allocated to those in the highest risk categories. With this in mind, various methods have been used to predict those who are likely to require transfusion using prediction models and scoring systems.

Predicting Transfusion requirements using scoring systems Scoring systems in medicine

The ability to predict outcome such as mortality and, in this example, transfusion requirements using pre-existing variables has led to the development of scoring systems, which combine the predictive power of multiple variables and allow for more accurate prediction of outcomes.

Critical care medicine has utilised scoring systems for decades with early examples such as the Therapeutic Intervention Scoring System(Cullen et al. 1974), the Sepsis Score(Elebute and Stoner 1983) developed in the 1970s and 1980s. The APACHE score(Knaus et al. 1981) was developed in the US, and was the first widely used scoring system for predicting outcome in

critically ill patients and is still in clinical use in the latest iteration, the APACHE IV(Zimmerman et al. 2006). The Simplified Acute Physiology Score (SAPS) was a far simpler system was developed from European data shortly after the original APACHE and is still currently used as SAPS III (Moreno et al. 2005)

Scoring systems in surgery

As with medical scoring systems, those specific to surgical outcomes have evolved over decades, from the widely used, albeit very simplified American Society of Anaesthetists (ASA) physical status score. The score was first described in 1941(Saklad 1941) and although designed as an indicator of pre-operative health for statistical analysis, has developed into a proxy for surgical risk prediction. Although its accuracy at predicting surgical risk, due to its inherently subjective nature, is only moderate (Sankar et al. 2014), it remains widely used, largely thanks to its simplicity. Others such as the POSSUM score (Prytherch et al. 1998) have been adapted to predict surgical risk in various surgical sub-specialities such as vascular and colorectal surgery. Dozens of these scoring systems exist with some more popular examples including the UK-developed SORT score (D. J.N. Wong, Oliver, and Moonesinghe 2017) and now widely used US NSQIP score which applies to breadth of surgical specialties(M. E. Cohen et al. 2009). Additionally, there are composite scores such as the Surgical Risk Score(Sutton et al. 2002), which combine values for 3 other risk scores (CEPOD, BUPA and ASA) to provide a more widely applicable score, albeit somewhat complicated.

In addition to the multitude of scoring systems for overall surgical risk, there are systems that predict organ system specific risk such as the well-known Lee's Revised Cardiac Risk Index (RCRI) to predict peri-operative cardiac morbidity(H. et al. 1999) which joined preceding scores (L. Goldman et al. 1977). Other exist to predict respiratory complications(Canet et al. 2010; Miskovic and Lumb 2017; Scholes et al. 2009), acute renal failure In cardiac surgery, a multitude of scoring systems for predicting surgical outcomes have also been developed from regional to international levels including the Parsonnet score(Parsonnet, Dean, and Bernstein 1989), Pons score (Pons et al. 1997), Ontario Province Risk (OPR)(Tu, Jaglal, and Naylor 1995), ARCtIC score (Shahin et al. 2016), AusSCORE (Reid et al. 2009a), EuroSCORE (Nashef et al. 1999) and the subsequent and improved EuroSCORE II (Nashef et al. 2012),. Despite the fact that anaemia has been shown to independently predict mortality and many causes of morbidity, very few including those published by MacGovern (Magovern, Sakert, Magovern, et al. 1996), Higgins (Higgins et al. 1992) and the Cleveland Clinic score (Geissler et al. 2000) include anaemia as an input, although there is increasing evidence that the impact on outcomes might warrant broader inclusion.(Hari Padmanabhan, Siau, et al. 2019) This may reflect the lack of data collected on regional or national databases, for example the Australian and New Zealand Cardiothoracic Surgery (ANZCTS) database did not reliably collect pre-operative [Hb] until 2014. A similar heterogeneity is seen in general surgical scoring systems where some (the POSSUM score, for instance) do include [Hb] as a predictor of morbidity and mortality, while others, including the widely used USbased NSQIP scoring system developed by the American College of Surgeons, do not. Although there may be some association between risk groups, predicting mortality and morbidity is very different from predicting the need for transfusion. This is because there are different variables in effect and various patient-factors have different strength of association with need for transfusion. The ability to predict transfusion requirement has significant value, as it allows measures to be taken to prevent or minimise transfusion. As such, several scoring systems exist to directly predict the requirement for transfusion in surgical patients as a broader group (Rutten and Grobbee 2001), while others have been refined to apply to various surgical specialties including orthopaedics (Guerin et al. 2007)(Salido et al. 2002)(Larocque, Gilbert, and Brien 2003), spinal surgery (Nuttall et al. 2000) head and neck oncology (Weber 1995), or for extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) patients (Tauber et al. 2016). The history of such scoring systems was based on the desire to reduce cost and blood-product wastage, and was first explored in detail in the 1970s in the United States via the maximum surgical blood order schedule (MSBOS) (Friedman et al. 1976), which aimed to predict blood product usage for 50 common surgical procedures in order to reduce the outdating of blood products caused by excessive crossmatching. As medicine has increasingly focused on evidence-based improvement in outcomes and reduction of associated costs, these scoring systems have multiplied.

While cardiac surgery is known to frequently be associated with high risk of bleeding, the development of models to identify those at high risk has been relatively recent. By the 1970s, various factors had been described which predisposed to excessive bleeding including type of surgery (Gomes and McGoon 1970) and coagulopathy. (Bachmann et al. 1975) Subsequent factors were identified including aspirin use (S. Goldman et al. 1988) and prolonged CPB time. (Czer 1989) One of the earlier multivariate analyses looking at variables associated with excessive blood loss after cardiac surgery identified further factors including combined or repeat procedures, low heparin dose, female gender, increasing age, hypothermia in ICU (Despotis et al. 1996) A subsequent multivariate analysis looking at variables associated with

re-exploration after CABG included pre-operative heparin use as a factor as well as the requirement for 5- or more distal anastomoses. (Karthik et al. 2004)

The BRiSc score, which was developed at Papworth Hospital (Vuylsteke et al. 2011a) aimed at analysing and organising these variables into a scoring system that could predict excessive post-operative bleeding. This scoring system analysed a large group of patients that had postoperative bleeding in excess of 2mL/kg/hr, required return to theatre for re-exploration, or required FFP, cryoprecipitate or platelets. The cohort of 11592 patients, taken over 8 years from the single institution was divided into 2 groups: 60% percent of these cases were used to develop the scoring system and the remaining 40% were used for the purposes of validation. They identified several variables that were associated with increased risk of post-operative bleeding: type of surgery (with single valve procedures and CABG surgery being less likely to cause bleeding), age, BMI, presence of aortic disease and the urgency of the surgery. The presence of each of these factors was given a value of 1 in the scoring system and various values were apportioned into risk groups (0=low risk, 1-2= medium risk and >3= high risk). While the authors conceded that the applicability of the score was limited by its development from a single-centre database, and that the use of anti-fibrinolytics changed significantly during the study timeline, the score had a strong negative predictive value. The accuracy of the score was challenged by the fact that the positive predictive value was somewhat limited with only 27% of patients in the highest risk group suffering from major bleeding, with this limitation confirmed in the external validation set. The score was later analysed in a university in Norway and found have an similarly high negative predictive value of 98% in the low risk group, but with a PPV of 15% in the high risk and a low AUC of <0.75. (Greiff et al. 2015) This raises further concerns about the generalisability of the score to other settings. Other groups were using the requirement for transfusion, particularly excessive transfusion as an indicator of major bleeding and various and as such various analyses were directed at factors predisposing to this endpoint, rather than at the presence of bleeding itself. One of the first papers to attempt to predict RBC transfusion as an outcome was a multivariate analysis that identified various factors that increased likelihood of large transfusion (>5 units RBCs), which was designed really as an indicator of excessive bleeding. (Ferraris and Gildengorin 1989) Although other predictive variables were identified, red blood cell volume and bleeding time were identified and used to develop a nomogram which used the ratio of bleeding time: RBC volume to predict likelihood of massive transfusion. A ratio of 0.0071 or greater was associated with a >70% chance of large volume RBS transfusion. While both bleeding time and red cell volume has fallen out of popularity in

more recent times, the predictive value of red cell volume is of particular interest as it is generally a calculated figure (usually derived from BSA and Hct) as it is difficult to measure. Newer methods, though, have been developed for measuring this value with reasonable accuracy and will be discussed in later chapters.

In 2006, the Reducing Bleeding in Cardiac Surgery (RBC) research group from Canada published their clinical prediction rule to identify those at risk of massive transfusion from a group of 10667 patients undergoing cardiac surgery. (Karkouti et al. 2006) They identified 12-variables including many of those discussed but with the addition of some novel indicators including pre-operative shock, platelet count, length of circulatory arrest, nadir haematocrit while on CPB and, interestingly, the presence of a "High-blood-loss-surgeon". The negative predictive value of this score was 95% in the low-risk group and the positive predictive value in the high-risk group was 60%, however its performance was less accurate in the moderate-risk groups and was found to be no more accurate than standard clinical predictors. The score was also internally validated, with 4016 of the total group which limited it applicability to other institutions. Furthermore, using the presence of a "High-blood-loss-surgeon" as part of a scoring system is fraught with challenges, especially when attempting to apply such a predictive score to a broader context.

As evidence developed that transfusion itself was independently associated with risk, a new breed of scoring systems emerged which shifted the focus from major bleeding and massive transfusion to the requirement for any RBC transfusion. Although the need for transfusion is common in cardiac surgery, it is not universally required and there are several factors that allow for prediction of this requirement. As discussed earlier, most cardiac surgical procedures are undertaken using cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) support, which generally involves dilution of the circulating blood volume with a crystalloid and/or colloid priming solution. This reduces the circulating [Hb] in a predictable manner depending on the volume and composition of priming solution and the circulating blood volume. In addition to surgical factors, there are many patient factors which can be identified which contribute to risk of blood loss. For instance, in most cases, the volume of CPB priming solution is fixed (usually c.1.5L). As a result, the relative dilution will be greater in those with a smaller circulating volume, or lower total haemoglobin mass. As transfusion trigger values are generally based on [Hb] only, it therefore means that those with smaller blood volumes are more likely to receive a blood transfusion, therefore a low body surface area (BSA), which is frequently associated with a low blood volume, is a reliable predictor of transfusion requirement. Females tend to have lower body surface areas, and therefore are often found to have higher transfusion rates.

Similarly, transfusion rates tend to increase with age. In addition to baseline characteristics, there are many patient co-morbidities that have been linked to perioperative transfusion risk and by analysing these factors, it is possible to estimate risk of transfusion around the time of surgery. As with other outcome prediction scores, scoring systems have been designed to predict need for any RBC transfusion in cardiac surgery.

The first of these was developed (Magovern, Sakert, Benckart, et al. 1996) at a single US centre using data from 2033 patients and internally validated with data from a further 422 patients. They identified some familiar pre-operative risk factors including emergent, urgent or redo operation, shock or low LVEF, BMI, age, gender, low red cell mass, diabetes, and some novel ones such as low albumin, catheterisation-induced coronary occlusion, and peripheral vascular disease (PVD). They described an AUC of 0.78 in both the test and validation groups, meaning it appeared to be relatively accurate.

Contemporaneously to the development of the bleeding-risk scoring system developed by Karkouti's group and also in Canada; another predictive model, the TRUST score (Alghamdi et al. 2006) was developed. This scoring system was developed using a data set of 11113 consecutive patients at Toronto General Hospital, of whom two thirds (7446) were used for the score development and the remaining third (3667) for the validation group. They looked at factors predicting the need for any allogenic blood transfusion. They identified 8 variables that were ultimately used in the score, which had all previously been used in various scoring systems. The score was then externally validated, with data from 5316 patients at another campus in Toronto. The TRUST score was shown to be reasonably accurate with an AUC of 0.8 described.

The Transfusion Risk and Clinical Knowledge (TRACK) score (M. Ranucci et al. 2009) was a simplified scoring system based on 5 factors that were shown to increase risk of transfusion in 8989 patients from a single institution. They based the score on the 5 variables that had been described in the literature as being most associated with risk of transfusion: preoperative haematocrit, age, complex surgery, weight, and gender. They showed an AUC of 0.73 on the development set, with a slightly lower value (AUC = 0.71) on an external validation set of 2371 patients from another institution. While this score represented a major advantage in simplicity, and thus an implied improvement in utilisation and factuality, the accuracy was not a significant improvement from previous scores.

In 2015, Goudie and colleagues published a paper describing dual scoring systems that attempted to predict both the requirement for any transfusion, and severe blood loss (defined by large-volume blood transfusion, or LBVT) generated from 39970 patients from databases

in the UK and Italy. (Goudie et al. 2015) They also compared the performance of their scores to the BRiSc, TRACK and TRUST scores. They demonstrated in their dataset that the any-transfusion score showed an AUC of 0.77 although they acknowledged that the calibration was sub-optimal. This still compared favourably to the TRUST and TRACK scores, which both showed AUCs of 0.71 using the same data set, they also tested the scores against a total of 4 cardiac datasets and demonstrated a better AUC by around 5% in each. In their LVBT score, they described an AUC of 0.81 which compared favourably to the BRiSc score, with an AUC of 0.69. While the score showed itself to be accurate and more widely applicable than many that preceded it, it is significantly more complex than the preceding scoring systems and has remained relatively under-utilised. The shortcomings in the existing scoring systems

A summary of the existing scoring systems for predicting transfusion in cardiac surgery is outlined in the table overleaf:

Score	Cohort	Location	Outcome	No of	AUC	AUC	AUC
				variables		external	subsequent
Macgovern,	2455	US	Any	15	0.78	0.78	
2006		Single	transfusion				
		centre					
TRUST,	11,113	Canada,	Any	8	0.8		
2006		single	transfusion				
		centre					
TRACK,	8989	Italy,	Any	5	0.73	0.71	0.77(Leff et
2009		single	transfusion				al. 2019)
		centre					
BRiSC,	11592	UK,	Major	5	N/A	N/A	0.69(Goudie
2011		single	bleeding				et al. 2015)
		centre					
Goudie,	39970	Multi-	Any	24	0.77		
2015		centre,	transfusion				
		UK &					
		Italy					
Goudie,	39970	Multi-	Large	24	0.81		
2015		centre,	volume				
		UK &	transfusion				
		Italy					

Table 2.2: Comparison of major transfusion risk scores in cardiac surgery

While these scores all retain reasonable accuracy, they vary in simplicity and applicability. The ideal scoring system for this purpose would be accurate, widely applicable, relatively simple (in terms of number of inputs) and practical to use by clinicians. With this in mind, a new scoring system was developed and validated from a large multicentre UK audit, the process of which is described in the following chapter. In order to increase applicability, we then modified the risk score and re-calibrated it to Australasian data as described in chapter 4.

Chapter 3: Development of a scoring system to predict risk of RBC transfusion in cardiac surgery.

Although scoring systems already exist to predict the need for RBC transfusion in cardiac surgery, analysis of these existing scores highlights several common shortcomings. Firstly, developing a scoring system from a single-centre database has clear effects on its reproducibly, as demonstrated by the poor results in AUC analysis when these scores are applied to external data sets. Secondly, while a complex scoring system may improve accuracy, it creates challenges where certain data points may not be collected in some areas, thus providing challenges in testing the accuracy of the score and its applicability. With this in mind, our group aimed to design a robust, simple integer-based scoring system with wide applicability using a national database collected for the Association of Cardio-Thoracic Anaesthetists (ACTA) audit. The development of the scoring system occurred largely prior the author's involvement, and statistical analysis was undertaken by Tim Collier (London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine). The author led the writing committee for the paper, co-ordinated the submission of the manuscript for publication and was responsible for the development of the subsequent online and app-based integration(Yeates 2018). The following is a description of the study methodology and results which were published in the BJA in 2017 and found in Appendix 1. (A.A. Klein et al. 2017)

Methods

The ACTA audit was a national service audit of NHS cardiac surgery centres, whereby data was collected on all cardiac surgery patients between 1st January 2010 and 31st July 2013. Data were collected from 10 UK centres that perform cardiac surgery and from this dataset, and an additional report was developed and published regarding the effect of anaemia on patient outcomes (A. A. Klein, Collier, Brar, Evans, Hallward, Fletcher, Richards, et al. 2016), as was discussed in chapter 2. Data from another centre during the same period were also collected and this was used as the dataset for the external validation. The score was then compared in its performance against some of the previously published scoring systems, using the same data. The design was approved by the Research and Ethics Committee of the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, and they concluded that individual patient consent was not required for the study.

The baseline data that were collected included gender, age, weight, height, preoperative [Hb], [creatinine], logistic EuroSCORE(S. A M Nashef et al. 1999), presence of diabetes or hypertension, type of surgery(CABG or single-valve procedures, combination procedures or other procedures) and a history of previous cardiac surgery. Height and weight figures were used to derive BMI and body surface area (BSA). The outcomes that were explored were number of units of blood transfused blood, duration of stay in ICU, duration of hospital stay and mortality. These were selected as they had previously been shown in other studies to be associated with the chosen outcomes. One of the aims of the study was to provide an integerbased scoring system, and as such, the continuous variables (age, [Hb], [creatinine], logistic EuroSCORE, BMI and BSA were assigned integer values based on clinical judgement. The use of EuroSCORE was unfortunate in that its use has now largely been superseded by the subsequent EuroSCORE II(Samer A M Nashef et al. 2012). This was unfortunately not being used at the time and was such unavailable in the collected data. The use of EuroSCORE as a variable was also somewhat controversial, as it is distinct scoring system used to predict mortality rather than transfusion, and further as it creates a score-within-a-score scenario. It was felt that its use was justified by its standard practice use in UK cardiac centres and by its strong association with risk of transfusion as was confirmed in the analysis. This may have implications on international applicability, as it not a scoring system used globally, though the input data are generally included in other scoring systems. Alternatively, the EuroSCORE component of the ACTA-PORT could potentially be substituted for any risk scoring system to predict local transfusion risk.

Each of these baseline variables was examined for univariate association with the outcome of need for any RBC transfusion using logistic regression. A multivariate logistic regression model was constructed using the forward and backward stepwise method and associations with a p value<0.05 were included in the final score. Both forward and backwards analyses resulted in the same model structure. Likelihood ratio tests were used to explore possible interactions from a number of pre-specified factors. It was our hope that the score was generalisable, and as such it was important that the centre from where the data was taken did not greatly affect the score's accuracy. This was examined comparing two logistic regression models where one included the centre as a random effect and the other did not. The overall performance of the model and the estimate odds ratios for each were very similar and as such it was felt that centre could be excluded entirely from the model as a variable without significantly impacting on its accuracy.

For each of the variables, the logistic odds ratio was multiplied by 0.2 and rounded to the nearest whole number to create an integer value. The reference point for each of these variables was set as the lowest possible risk group, so the score would be a simple addition of integer values, the sum of which would form the overall score. For final model, we calculated adjusted odds ratios, 95% confidence intervals and p-values, which were calculated from a likelihood ratio test. We then calculated the area under the receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curve (AUC) for the integer score, as well as the full model in order to test and compare their relative discriminatory capacity. The Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test was then utilised to compare predicted risk generated by the model, to the observed transfusion rate.

For each integer value of the scoring system, the predicted risk of transfusion was calculated, and these results were presented in both table and figure form, and then the 30 integer scores were grouped into 6 risk-categories (with 5-integer values each) and the predicted vs observed risk of transfusion was tabulated for each. The multiple imputation method was used test the score's resilience to missing datapoints.

The external validation, as mentioned, was performed on a dataset from an additional UK centre. For each of these patients, an integer score was calculated and the AUC and Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test used to test the performance of the score. Again, the score results were grouped into the 6 risk-categories and the predicted and observed transfusion rates compared. The same dataset was used as an independent external validation of the TRACK score, using the DeLong method to compare score-performance. This was unfortunately only able to be performed on the TRACK score, as the collected data was not adequate to fulfil the input requirements of the BRiSc, TRUST or Goudie scores.

Results

The baseline characteristics of the 20,036 patients in the derivation dataset are shown below, both in total and divided into those who received transfused and those who did not:

	All	Not transfused	Transfused	p-value
	n=20,036	n=11,041	n=8,638	
Age; years	67.1 (11.9)	65.2 (12.0)	69.7 (11.3)	< 0.001
Sex; men	14,303 (71.4%)	9,093 (79.8%)	5210 (60.3%)	< 0.001
Pre-operative Hb; g/L	132 (17)	138 (15)	125 (17)	< 0.001
Missing data	3237 (16.2%)	2077 (18.2%)	1160 (13.4%)	
Body surface area; m2	1.9 (0.2)	2.0 (0.2)	1.9 (0.2)	< 0.001
Body mass index; kg/m2	28.4 (5.1)	29.0 (5.0)	27.6 (5.0)	< 0.001
EuroSCORE	4.3 (2.1-8.7	3.2 (1.7-6.6	6.0 (3.1-11.7 (0.4-	
	(0.4-98.4))	(0.4-98.4))	97.9))	
Missing data	393 (2%)	238 (2.1%)	155 (1.8%)	
Creatinine; µmol/L	88 (71-106 (9-	88 (71-97 (9-	88 (71-106 (9-	< 0.001
	1547))	1547))	1450))	
Missing data	2172 (10.8%)	1254 (11%)	918 (10.6%)	
Diabetes	3916 (22.0%)	2114 (20.7%)	1802 (23.8%)	< 0.001
Missing data	2267 (11.3%)	1208 (10.6%)	1059 (12.3%)	
Hypertension	13,325 (67.8%)	7,511 (67.2%)	5814 (68.6%)	0.04
Missing data	384 (1.9%)	224 (2.0%)	160 (1.9%)	
Operation type				
CABG or valve*	14,575 (73%)	8,778 (77%)	5,797 (67%)	
Double procedure	2,858 (14%)	1,008 (9%)	1,850 (21%)	
Other	2,594 (13%)	1608 (14%)	986 (11%)	< 0.001
Missing data	9 (<0.1%)	7 (0.1%)	2 (<0.1%)	

Table 3.1: Baseline characteristics in ACTA-PORT dataset. Values are mean (SD), number (proportion or median (IQR (range)).

* Indicates isolated CABG or single valve surgery.

As is indicated 8635 (43%) of the total group received blood transfusions, which was a rather high proportion compared to published global results. The overall average [Hb] was 132g/L

with an overall rate of anaemia of 31% using WHO criteria, although there was no recorded [Hb] in 16% of patients. More of the patients were male (71%) although there were relatively less in the transfused group. All of these variables were shown to be strongly associated (p-values less than 0.001) with the rate of transfusion on univariate analysis other than the documented diagnosis of hypertension, which barely reached statistical significance. As expected, rates of transfusion increased with increasing age, EuroSCORE and creatinine; were higher in females, diabetics and those undergoing combination procedures. Increasing [Hb], BSA and BMI were associated with a reduction in transfusion rates. As described in international literature, there was significant heterogeneity between centres with rates ranging between 31% and 56% and this is shown in Table 2 below. Interestingly, while the differences achieved statistical significance, they are less pronounced than in some for the international literature where transfusions rates have ranged enormously between centres.

Centre	All	Not transfused	Transfused	Transfusion
	n=20,036	n=11,401	n=8,638	rate
А	2559 (13%)	1268 (11%)	1291 (15%)	50%
В	732 (3%)	425 (4%)	307 (4%)	42%
С	2058 (10%)	1410 (12%)	648 (8%)	31%
D	2371 (12%)	1233 (11%)	1138 (13%)	48%
Е	5371 (27%)	3283 (29%)	2088 (24%)	39%
F	500 (3%)	292 (3%)	208 (2%)	42%
G	960 (5%)	423 (4%)	537 (6%)	56%
Н	1986 (10%)	1029 (9%)	957 (11%)	49%
Ι	1099 (6%)	618 (5%)	481 (6%)	44%
J	2400 (12%)	1420 (12.5%)	980 (11%)	41%

Table 3.2: Transfusion results in ACTA-PORT dataset by anonymised centre. The difference in transfusion rates between centres was statistically significant (p < 0.001).

The significant variation in transfusion rate provides a challenge to any scoring system that aims to be widely applied. The causes of this variation are many and include complexity of surgery performed, pre-operative health of patients and institutional transfusion culture. It raises the question of whether a scoring system should correct for baseline transfusion rate in order to more accurately predict risk at each location. In the ACTA-PORT it was decided not to correct for regional variation to maintain broader applicability, although this would naturally impact the specific accuracy of the score at locations on either extreme of practice. When the variables shown in Table 1 were analysed as independent variables, it was shown that a history of hypertension or diabetes were not able to predict the need for transfusion and that BSA was superior to BMI at predicting risk of transfusion. As such these were not included in the final score which was comprised of the remaining 7 variables. For each of these variables, the calculated odds ratio (with 95% confidence interval), including p-value and log odds ratio (with standard error) as well as the calculated integer value for each sub-group are outlined in Table 3.3 overleaf:

Characteristic	Category	Odds	ratio	p-value	Log odds		Points
		(95%)			ratio	(SE)	
Age; years	<70	Ref.					+0
	70+	1.11	(1.01, 1.21)	0.02	0.10	(0.04)	+1
Sex	Male	Ref.					+0
	Female	1.27	(1.15, 1.40)	< 0.001	0.24	(0.05)	+1
Haemoglobin	<110	6.36	(5.38, 7.52)		1.85	(0.09)	+9
g/L	110-	4.60	(3.93, 5.38)		1.53	(0.08)	+8
	120-	3.19	(2.79, 3.65)		1.16	(0.07)	+6
	130-	1.93	(1.70, 2.20)		0.66	(0.07)	+3
	140-	1.55	(1.37, 1.77)		0.44	(0.07)	+2
	150+	Ref.		< 0.001			+0
Body surface area	<1.7	3.62	(2.97, 4.42)		1.29	(0.10)	+6
m^2	1.7-	2.21	(1.85, 2.64)		0.79	(0.09)	+4
	1.9-	1.56	(1.31, 1.85)		0.44	(0.09)	+2
	2.1-	1.24	(1.04, 1.49)		0.22	(0.09)	+1
	2.3+	Ref.		< 0.001			+0
EuroSCORE	<1	Ref.					+0
	1-	1.36	(1.10, 1.70)		0.31	(0.11)	+2
	2-	1.73	(1.39, 2.15)		0.55	(0.11)	+3
	3-	2.16	(1.75, 2.68)		0.77	(0.11)	+4
	9+	2.76	(2.20, 3.46)	< 0.001	1.01	(0.12)	+5
Creatinine	<88	Ref.					+0
µmol/L	88-	1.33	(1.23, 1.44)		0.29	(0.04)	+1
	177-	1.93	(1.54, 2.42)	< 0.001	0.66	(0.12)	+3
Operation type	CABG/Valve	1.38	(1.22, 1.55)		0.32	(0.06)	+2
	Combination	2.84	(2.46, 3.29)		1.05	(0.07)	+5
	Other	Ref.		< 0.001			+0
Intercept		NA			-3.0	(0.15)	

Table 3.3: Multivariable Risk Score outlining corresponding odds ratios, log odds ratios and how ACTA-PORT score was constructed, showing the number of score-points that were attributed to each group.

The strongest predictors of transfusion risk were pre-operative [Hb], BSA and EuroSCORE (in that order), although the remaining variables, with the exception of age (which demonstrated a p-value of 0.02), were also strongly associated with RBC transfusion, with all other p-values being less than 0.001. The area under the ROC curve (AUC) was calculated as 0.76, with a 95% confidence interval of 0.752 to 0.768. The same calculations were performed on the non-integer-based scores, which were calculated using the log-odds ratios and these showed only a slightly higher AUC of 0.762, demonstrating that the gain in simplicity did not significantly compromise the accuracy of the score. The Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test was applied, with a p-value of 0.23 suggesting there was no evidence of a poor fit.

To calculate the ACTA-PORT score for any given patient, the integer value for each value is added together to give a score between 0 and 30, with a higher integer value predicting a higher risk of the patient requiring a transfusion.

For each integer value of the score, a corresponding predicted risk of transfusion was calculated, as shown in table 3.4 overleaf:

Integer	Predicted risk of	Integer	Predicted risk of
risk score	transfusion	risk	transfusion
		score	
0	0.0470	15	0.500
1	0.0570	16	0.550
2	0.0690	17	0.599
3	0.0830	18	0.646
4	0.1000	19	0.690
5	0.1190	20	0.731
6	0.1420	21	0.769
7	0.1680	22	0.802
8	0.1980	23	0.832
9	0.2310	24	0.858
10	0.2690	25	0.881
11	0.3100	26	0.900
12	0.3540	27	0.917
13	0.4010	28	0.931
14	0.4500	29	0.943
15	0.5000	30	0.953

Table 3.4: Integer risk score totals and associated predicted risk of transfusion.

It demonstrates that low scores attract a very low risk of transfusion (i.e., a score of 1 gives a risk of transfusion as less than 5%) whereas a patient with a score of 30 would have more than a 95% risk of requiring a transfusion.

The risk of transfusion in the dataset was normally distributed throughout the group and the range of scores ranges from essentially zero to over 90%, with very small proportions of patients appearing at either extreme. The median score was 14, which represented a predicted risk of transfusion of 45%. This was tabulated and can be seen in figure 1 below: The distribution of risk scores in our population; shows that the distribution follows a relatively normal curve and superimposed is a line showing the increasing risk of transfusion associated with higher scores.



Figure 3.1: Distribution of ACTA-PORT risk scores

For each of the 6 broader risk categories, the predicted risk of transfusion matched quite well with the observed risk, as is demonstrated in figure 2 below:



Figure 3.2: Observed vs predicted transfusion rates in the derivation dataset, demonstrates the close correlation between predicted and observed rates of transfusion using our score across the range of scores in our derivation dataset.

As can be seen, in the higher range of the integer score, there is a slight separation of the columns, as the score tends to underestimate the risk of transfusion in those in higher risk categories. Despite the excellent AUC of 0.835 (95% CI 0.810, 0.859) in the external validation, this effect was more pronounced in that group with a significant separation of values at higher risk scores. For example, in the 15-19 category, the predicted risk was 60% although 79% received transfusions and in the highest risk 73% were predicted to receive transfusions and 89% were observed to. Figure 3 below is the same graph in figure 2, using the date from the validation group.



Figure 3.3: Observed and predicted risk of transfusion by group categories of the integer risk score in the external validation dataset.

There are many potential explanations for this discrepancy, including fact that the validation group was a single centre whose transfusion practices may vary from the larger cohort, consistent with the heterogeneity that has been demonstrated globally. Although the ACTA-PORT score was intended to predict the risk of transfusion as a binary outcome, it was noted (not surprisingly) that an increasing score was associated with an increase in the number of RBC units that were transfused with an increase in median number of units ranging from 0 in the 0-14 range, to 1 in the 15-19 range and in in the 20-14 group up to 3 in the 25-30 group. Using multiple imputation in the sensitivity analysis did not significantly affect the scoring system.

The predictive values of the score were calculated in the full range of the integer values and the optimum cut point was demonstrated to be 15, at which there was a positive predictive value (PPV) of 69.5% and negative predictive value (NPV) of 70.9%, which are both very respectable. At this value, 70.3% of scores accurately predicted the risk of transfusion.

Discussion

ACTA-PORT is by no means a revolution in transfusion-risk prediction, as many similar scores were in existence at the time of development and publication, but rather represented a significant improvement on existing scores in cardiac surgery. As demonstrated, it is accurate, importantly not only in a small external validation dataset, as many of the other scores, but also in a broader context, as demonstrated by the impressive performance using the Australian ANZCTS database as described in the following chapter. Where its accuracy is comparable to more complex scoring systems, such as the one described by Goudie et al, the ACTA-PORT score retains much of the simplicity achieved by less accurate scores such as the TRACK-score, and thus represents an improvement in functional-value that should result in increased uptake, and therefore practical value.

As was discussed after the publication of the ACTA-PORT score by correspondence in the British Journal of Anaesthesia, the scoring systems in place to predict transfusion are excellent, but despite their accuracy and theoretical usefulness, if uptake remains low, then they are unable to make any meaningful impact on patient care (Bartoszko and Karkouti 2017). The subsequent addition of online and app-based based access using the widely-used Calculate by RxMed© (Yeates 2018) represents a significant improvement in usability and it is hoped that this may translate to an increase in utilisation. The use of the scoring system pre-operatively aims to allow for the outcome-directed use of valuable PBM resources, with the aim of improving patient outcomes in an efficient manner, which is invaluable to an increasingly outcome-focussed health budget. Many pre- and intra-operative PBM strategies come at a significant cost and targeting these to the populations where they are needed most is the most efficient and sustainable of these precious resources. Specifically, those with a low ACTA-PORT (for instance below 15) could perhaps undergo surgery without a costly crossmatch being performed in advance and cell-salvage could be reserved for those with a score above a certain cut-off point. With increasing pressure on global health resources, this could prove to represent a significant improvement in resource allocation.

The performance of the score on a wider global population remains to be seen, but future work may focus on validating the score against other European and North American databases. Since the publication of the ACTA-PORT score, more transfusion-prediction scores have been developed including one developed and validated in India (Madhu Krishna et al. 2019) which was shown to perform better (AUC 0.749) than the TRUST score (AUC 0.72) although the TRACK score's performance was comparable (AUC 0.756). Another group subsequently demonstrated the TRACK score performed relatively well on a single-centre US study, with an AUC of 0.768(Leff et al. 2019).

Perhaps most importantly, while many of the risk factors that increase the ACTA-PORT score are unmodifiable, [Hb] remains as not only one of the strongest predictors of transfusion requirement but also perhaps the most easily modifiable. By improving the [Hb] of patient from 120g/L to 130g/L pre-operatively, the score suggests that reduction in transfusion could be as much as 40%. While this has obvious implications in resource use and associated cost, it could also translate into a significant reduction in per-operative morbidity and mortality.

As with all retrospective studies, there are significant limitations. PBM and transfusion practices have evolved significantly over the last decade and this may have a significant impact on the applicability of the score to current practise. The under-estimation of transfusion risk in higher-risk groups seen in the single-centre external validation dataset further highlights that transfusion practices are heterogenous. While this may represent inadequacy of statistical capacity, it is highly likely that it represents either a higher rate of transfusion than the average, which may be caused by surgeon, perfusionist, anaesthetist or intensivist preference in that centre. This could also represent a higher-complexity group of patients or type of surgery performed at that centre. It was decided that centre should not be included as a variable in the scoring system in order to maintain widespread applicability of the score, and while this discrepancy demonstrates the negative aspect of this approach, it may also represent a method of benchmarking transfusion practices by comparing their observed rates to the predicted rates generated by the national database.

Use of EuroSCORE, rather than EuroSCORE-II.

Finally, the score was developed from a dataset of only UK cardiac surgery patients, limiting broader applicability. In fact, all the scoring systems developed to predict transfusion requirement in cardiac surgery (including ACTA-PORT) have been derived from UK, US, Canadian or European populations and none have yet been developed or validated using Australian or New Zealand data. Despite similarities in clinical practice, risk prediction tools

derived from a UK population do not necessarily retain precision when directly applied to an Australasian population(Yap et al. 2006a; Campbell et al. 2019). Despite this, many northern hemisphere scoring systems are used in this region, without solid evidence of their accuracy. With this is in mind, after the publication of ACTA-PORT, in conjunction with colleagues from Sydney and Melbourne, the author set out to establish the accuracy of the ACTA-PORT score in Australian and New Zealand cardiac surgical patients and then adjust and recalibrate the score to suit locally available data. This process is described in the following chapter.

Chapter 4: Modification & validation of the ACTA-PORT score in cardiac surgical patients in Australia and New Zealand

Given that a scoring system to predict transfusion in cardiac surgery had never been validated in the southern hemisphere, and the excellent availability of high-quality data for this population, the author and a number of interested colleagues, decided to test the reliability of the ACTA-PORT score to the Australian and New Zealand population.

The data for this chapter was obtained from the Australian and New Zealand Society of Cardiac and Thoracic Surgeons (ANZSCTS) database, a comprehensive database that aims to continuously record data for all cardiac surgical procedures in the region and currently collects data from 26 public and 32 private hospitals with approximately 15000 procedures each year. At time of writing, it had captured data for a total of 170,103 procedures since its inception, providing an excellent resource for research.

The EuroSCORE is not routinely used in this region, and the ANZSCTS database does not routinely collect all the data-points required to retrospectively calculate a EuroSCORE. This required some modification of the ACTA-PORT score prior to validation. Firstly, a previously described local modification of the EuroSCORE (Yap et al. 2006b) was used as an input and tested. In order to create a more usable system for the given population, the ACTA-PORT score was modified, with the EuroSCORE component being replaced with the equivalent local cardiac surgical risk scoring system, the AusSCORE (Billah et al. 2014). This was then recalibrated and validated using the data to form a new Australasian scoring system, the AntiPORT score. External validation was then performed on a pre-selected cohort and the results showed the new score retained the accuracy of the original score in our population. This concept was developed in conjunction with Tim Coulson (Alfred Hospital & Monash University, Melbourne) who coordinated the statistical analysis and contributed to the paper, and Lachlan Miles (Austin Health & University of Melbourne) who contributed to the paper, which has been submitted for publication. Team members from the ANZSCTS database (Jenni Williams-Spence, Michael Bailey and Chris Reid) contributed to the paper, and Kate Blatchford contributed to the paper and coordinated the submission process. The final copy submitted for publication to Anaesthesia & Intensive Care is found in appendix 2.

Methods

We used the ANZSCTS database to identify an appropriate validation cohort. Data from all cardiac surgery procedures performed between 1 September 2016 and 31 December 2018 was used in the analysis. The database currently collects peri-operative data for all patients undergoing cardiac surgery across 26 public and 30 private hospitals in the region. Since mid-2016 data collection has routinely included pre-operative [Hb]. The table overleaf shows the components of the ACTA-PORT score as described in chapter 3. With the exception of EuroSCORE, all other data is collected routinely in the ANZSCTS database.

Characteristic	Category	Odds ra	utio	p-value	Log odds		Points
		(95%)			ratio	(SE)	
Age; years	<70	Ref.					+0
	70+	1.11	(1.01, 1.21)	0.02	0.10	(0.04)	+1
Sex	Male	Ref.					+0
	Female	1.27	(1.15, 1.40)	< 0.001	0.24	(0.05)	+1
Haemoglobin	<110	6.36	(5.38, 7.52)		1.85	(0.09)	+9
g/L	110-	4.60	(3.93, 5.38)		1.53	(80.0)	+8
	120-	3.19	(2.79, 3.65)		1.16	(0.07)	+6
_	130-	1.93	(1.70, 2.20)		0.66	(0.07)	+3
	140-	1.55	(1.37, 1.77)		0.44	(0.07)	+2
_	150+	Ref.		< 0.001			+0
BSA	<1.7	3.62	(2.97, 4.42)		1.29	(0.10)	+6
m ²	1.7-	2.21	(1.85, 2.64)		0.79	(0.09)	+4
_	1.9-	1.56	(1.31, 1.85)		0.44	(0.09)	+2
	2.1-	1.24	(1.04, 1.49)		0.22	(0.09)	+1
	2.3+	Ref.		< 0.001			+0
EuroSCORE	<1	Ref.					+0
	1-	1.36	(1.10, 1.70)		0.31	(0.11)	+2
	2-	1.73	(1.39, 2.15)		0.55	(0.11)	+3
	3-	2.16	(1.75, 2.68)		0.77	(0.11)	+4
	9+	2.76	(2.20, 3.46)	< 0.001	1.01	(0.12)	+5
Creatinine	<88	Ref.					+0
µmol/L	88-	1.33	(1.23, 1.44)		0.29	(0.04)	+1
	177-	1.93	(1.54, 2.42)	< 0.001	0.66	(0.12)	+3
Operation	CABG/Valve	1.38	(1.22, 1.55)		0.32	(0.06)	+2
	Combination	2.84	(2.46, 3.29)		1.05	(0.07)	+5
	Other	Ref.		< 0.001			+0
Intercept	1	NA			-	(0.15)	
					3.00		

Table 4.1: Multivariable Risk Score outlining corresponding odds ratios, log odds ratios and how ACTA-PORT score was constructed, showing the number of score-points that were attributed to each group.

Integer risk	Predicted risk of	Integer risk	Predicted risk of
score	transfusion	score	transfusion
0	0.0470	15	0.500
1	0.0570	16	0.550
2	0.0690	17	0.599
3	0.0830	18	0.646
4	0.1000	19	0.690
5	0.1190	20	0.731
6	0.1420	21	0.769
7	0.1680	22	0.802
8	0.1980	23	0.832
9	0.2310	24	0.858
10	0.2690	25	0.881
11	0.3100	26	0.900
12	0.3540	27	0.917
13	0.4010	28	0.931
14	0.4500	29	0.943
15	0.5000	30	0.953

Table 4.2: ACTA-PORT Integer risk score totals and associated predicted risk of transfusion. It demonstrates that low scores attract a very low risk of transfusion (i.e., a score of 1 gives a risk of transfusion as less than 5%) whereas a patient with a score of 30 would have more than a 95% risk of requiring a transfusion.

ACTA-PORT used EuroSCORE as a surrogate for operative mortality. This is not routinely calculated for cardiac surgery patients in Australasia and was thus not immediately available in the data. Some of the EuroSCORE components differed slightly from components collected in the ANZSCTS database, and one (systolic pulmonary artery pressure) was not available at all. We therefore calculated EuroSCORE I (excluding pulmonary artery pressure) based on the closest available variables, as has been previously described by Yap et al. (Yap et al. 2006b). To make future calculations easier using Australian data we subsequently replaced the EuroSCORE mortality prediction ranges in ACTA-PORT with an equivalent Australasian risk prediction score developed for use in CABG surgery only) or 'all procedures

score' (the latter developed subsequently and used for any surgery type)(Reid et al. 2009b)(Billah et al. 2014). In the absence of previously documented techniques of finding equivalent score ranges, we calculated the interquartile range of the AusSCORE in our population for each of the five possible categories of EuroSCORE included in the original ACTA-PORT score. Approximations of these interquartile ranges of AusSCORE replaced the EuroSCORE categories in the new model. These two techniques in turn yielded two scores:

- the original ACTA-PORT score using the calculated EuroSCORE (the ACTA-PORT-ES),
- (2) the original ACTA-PORT score using the AusSCORE ranges to replace EuroSCORE (the ACTA-PORT-AS). Discrimination and calibration of each of these two scores was then assessed.

Finally, given that it is likely transfusion practices will vary across the two populations, it is also likely that the calibration of the score will be affected. We determined *a priori* that we would recalibrate the score using data derived from the local population. In order to achieve this, the dataset was split randomly into two populations (by hospital) in an approximate 75:25, resulting in a training set and validation set. Logistic regression was carried out in the training set using allogeneic red cell transfusion as the outcome and the ACTA-PORT-AS as the independent variable. Predictions based on this logistic regression were generated for the validation set using the ACTA-PORT-AS integer score. We termed this the 'AntiPORT' recalibration (Antipodean Peri-Operative Risk of blood Transfusion). Discrimination and calibration were then assessed in the validation set.

Baseline characteristics were compared between those patients transfused and those not transfused using Chi-square for categorical data, Student's t-test for normally distributed data and Wilcoxon Rank-Sum for non-normally distributed data. Discrimination of AntiPORT was assessed using the area under the receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curve. Calibration was assessed using calibration plots. Both were assessed using the Brier score. All analyses were carried out by Dr Tim Coulson using Stata version 16.1(StataCorp LLC 2019).

Results

Data from 30,393 patients from 37 hospitals was analysed and the baseline characteristics are displayed in Table 4.3 below:

Columns by RBC transfusion	No RBC	RBC	Total	P-value
n (%)	20358 (67.0)	10030 (33.0)	30388 (100.0)	
Age, median (IQR)	66 (16)	69 (17)	67 (16)	0.00
Sex, n (%)				
Male, n (%)	16247 (79.8)	6427 (64.1)	22674 (74.6)	
Female, n (%)	4111 (20.2)	3603 (35.9)	7714 (25.4)	0.00
Procedure type, n (%)				
0, n (%)	2 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (0.0)	
CABG, n (%)	10991 (54.0)	4367 (43.5)	15358 (50.5)	
Valve surgery, n (%)	4769 (23.4)	1948 (19.4)	6717 (22.1)	
Combined CABG/Valve, n (%)	1445 (7.1)	1384 (13.8)	2829 (9.3)	
Other, n (%)	3151 (15.5)	2331 (23.2)	5482 (18.0)	0.00
Preoperative [Hb], median (IQR)	142 (19)	126 (29)	138 (24)	0.00
Preoperative [Cr], median (IQR)	84 (27)	89 (42)	85 (31)	0.00
Diabetes, n (%)				
No diabetes, n (%)	14605 (71.8)	6680 (66.6)	21285 (70.1)	
Diabetes, n (%)	5731 (28.2)	3343 (33.4)	9074 (29.9)	0.00
Hypertension, n (%)				
No hypertension, n (%)	6064 (29.8)	2689 (26.8)	8753 (28.8)	
Hypertension, n (%)	14272 (70.2)	7332 (73.2)	21604 (71.2)	0.00
NYHA status, n (%)				
1, n (%)	8740 (43.0)	3489 (34.8)	12229 (40.3)	
2, n (%)	7702 (37.9)	3515 (35.1)	11217 (36.9)	
3, n (%)	3306 (16.3)	2217 (22.1)	5523 (18.2)	
4, n (%)	596 (2.9)	803 (8.0)	1399 (4.6)	0.00
Estimated Ejection Fraction, n				
(%)				
Normal, n (%)	10173 (50.8)	4779 (48.8)	14952 (50.2)	
45-60%, n (%)	6862 (34.3)	2844 (29.1)	9706 (32.6)	
30-45%, n (%)	2368 (11.8)	1453 (14.8)	3821 (12.8)	
<30%, n (%)	604 (3.0)	710 (7.3)	1314 (4.4)	0.00
BMI, median (IQR)	29 (7)	27 (7)	28 (7)	0.00
---------------------------------	--------------	-------------	--------------	------
Urgency, n (%)				
Non-urgent, n (%)	14969 (73.5)	5872 (58.6)	20841 (68.6)	
Urgent, n (%)	4907 (24.1)	3245 (32.4)	8152 (26.8)	
Emergency, n (%)	468 (2.3)	860 (8.6)	1328 (4.4)	
4, n (%)	12 (0.1)	51 (0.5)	63 (0.2)	0.00
Previous cardiac surgery, n (%)				
No, n (%)	19368 (95.2)	8862 (88.4)	28230 (92.9)	
Yes, n (%)	985 (4.8)	1163 (11.6)	2148 (7.1)	0.00
Perfusion time, median (IQR)	91 (49)	112 (75)	97 (57)	0.00
Mortality, n (%)				
Survived, n (%)	20262 (99.5)	9504 (94.8)	29766 (98.0)	
Died, n (%)	96 (0.5)	526 (5.2)	622 (2.0)	0.00

Table 4.3: Baseline characteristics in ANZSCTS cohort used to construct the AntiPORT score

Five patients (0.02%) had missing red cell transfusion data and were excluded, resulting in a final analysis cohort of 30388 patients. Of these, a total of 10,030 (33%) patients were transfused. Age, female sex, NYHA class 4 status, diabetes mellitus, hypertension and elevated creatinine were positively associated with risk of transfusion following univariate analysis. Additionally, patients undergoing combined surgery or emergency surgery were more likely to require transfusion. BMI and pre-operative [Hb] were both negatively associated with transfusion risk.

The range of EuroSCORE used in ACTA-PORT versus the corresponding AusSCORE are shown in Table 4.4 below:

EuroSCORE	AusSCORE	ACTA-PORT score value
<]	-3 to 0	0
1	1 to 3	3
2	1 to 3	3
3-8	4 to 9	4
9+	10+	5

Table 4.4: Assigned EuroSCORE vs. AusSCORE equivalents for the purposes of calculating the ACTA-PORT score

Due to the significant overlap between a EuroSCORE of 1 and 2 these two categories were combined. Assigned ACTA-PORT scores for AusSCORE based on these equivalents are shown in Table 4.4. The resultant integer AntiPORT scoring system is shown in Table 4.5 below:

Characteristic	Category	Points
Age; years	<70	+0
	70+	+1
Sex	Male	+0
	Female	+1
Haemoglobin	<110	+9
g/L	110-	+8
	120-	+6
	130-	+3
	140-	+2
	150+	+0
Body surface area	<1.7	+6
m ²	1.7-	+4
	1.9-	+2
	2.1-	+1
	2.3+	+0
AusSCORE	<1	+0
	1-3	+3
	4-9	+4
	10+	+5
Creatinine	<88	+0
µmol/L	88-	+1
	177-	+3
Type of Operation	CABG/Valve	+2
	Combination	+5
	Other	+0

Table 4.5: The AntiPORT score

Discrimination in the Australian dataset was comparable to the UK dataset with an AU-ROC for ACTA-PORT-ES and red cell transfusion of 0.76 (0.75-0.76, n=30,071), and for ACTA-PORT-AS of 0.76 (0.75-0.76, n=29,487). Brier scores were 0.19 for both. Calibration

was poorer with overprediction of transfusion on calibration plots (ACTA-PORT-AS calibration plot in figure 2).



Figure 4.1: Observed vs predicted transfusions demonstrating over-prediction of transfusion requirement requiring re-calibration

Splitting the dataset yielded a training set (n = 22,412, comprising 28 hospitals) and a validation set (n =7981, comprising 9 hospitals). Logistic regression in the training set showed ACTA-PORT-AS was strongly associated with red cell transfusion (OR 1.22, 1.21-1.23, p<0.001, n=21,743). AU-ROC in the validation set was 0.76 (0.75-0.77, n=7744). Brier score was 0.18. Calibration was improved, as shown in Figure 3 overleaf:



Figure 4.2: Observed vs Predicted transfusion following re-calibration demonstrating much improved agreement

The predicted rate of transfusion based on the AntiPORT recalibration is shown in Table 4.6 overleaf:

AntiPORT	Predicted risk	AntiPORT	Predicted risk
score	of transfusion	score	of transfusion
2	0.0393398	16	0.4080969
3	0.0477112	17	0.4575633
4	0.0577569	18	0.5078807
5	0.0697628	19	0.558039
6	0.0840418	20	0.6070406
7	0.1009262	21	0.6539779
8	0.1207557	22	0.6980972
9	0.1438578	23	0.7388374
10	0.1705224	24	0.7758453
11	0.2009692	25	0.808965
12	0.2353102	26	0.8382115
13	0.2735105	27	0.8637347
14	0.3153549	28	0.8857802
15	0.360425	29	0.9046528
16	0.4080969	30	0.9206862

Table 4.6: Predicted risk of transfusion (the AntiPORT recalibration) corresponding to the original ACTA-PORT integer score

Discussion

The AntiPORT score represents a retrospective validation and calibration of the previously developed ACTA-PORT score to an Australasian cohort. As discussed earlier in the chapter, the ANZSCTS database does not routinely collect all of the datapoints required to calculate the EuroSCORE, moreover, the EuroSCORE has been shown to significantly overpredict mortality in Australian cardiac surgical practice(Yap et al. 2005, 2006a). While modifying the inputs for EuroSCORE to available data allowed for good discrimination, it was decided to modify the score to allow input of a local risk scoring system, the AusSCORE. Using either mortality score as an input to the ACTA-PORT score yielded good results in terms of the new score's discriminative capacity but with a significant calibration mismatch. It was considered more likely to have local clinical relevance if a region-specific scoring system was used, particularly as this scoring system is routinely calculated for most cardiac surgical procedures. Re-calibrating the AntiPORT score using the AusSCORE as an input resulted in a scoring system that had good discrimination, was well calibrated and performed well on external validation using ANZSCTS data from a 9-hospital cohort with an AU-ROC of 0.76

The AntiPORT retains the potential uses and benefits of the original ACTA-PORT score on which it was based. The modification and re-calibration of the ACTA-PORT score broadens it applicability and allows clinicians in Australia to use it with stronger confidence in its predictive value. As with the ACTA-PORT, the ability to predict those with higher risk of transfusion allows for better use of expensive and resource-intense PBM strategies, which can have benefits in terms of risk-avoidance but also has potential health-economic benefits. Having any transfusion scoring system can facilitate direct comparison between centres, allowing for benchmarking of transfusion practices. By having a score that can be directly compared to an international standard, this could allow for benchmarking against an international cohort. It also has implication in future trial design by allowing researchers to screen patients using a common 'risk prediction language', as was demonstrated recently by Wong et al. who validated multiple risk prediction tools as part of an international cohort study (Danny J. N. Wong et al. 2020). Additionally, from the perspective of the bedside clinician, applying the results of clinical trials from other countries to the individual patient is certainly easier if the risk prediction models used in the trial have been validated in the local population first. Consequently, the transformation of ACTA-PORT to 'AntiPORT' could allow common enrolment of patients in Australasia and the UK into trials that attempted to recruit patients at a high risk of receiving allogeneic blood transfusion as part of cardiac surgery, or alternatively, allow a clinician in the UK to apply the results of an Australian trial to their individual practice (once the appropriate recalibration factor was considered). Critically, both ACTA-PORT and AntiPORT use data which is collected routinely for the purposes of clinical audit (including the EuroSCORE in the UK and AusSCORE in Australia), raising the possibility of using these scores as automatically calculated metrics to screen patients for embedded clinical trials.

While there are similarities between UK and antipodean cardiac surgical and transfusion practices, previous studies that have attempted to adapt risk prediction scores developed in the northern hemisphere to Australasian patients have shown that this process is not simple. A recent study by Campbell et al. that attempted to adapt a surgical risk prediction score from the UK to a New Zealand cohort showed that an unadjusted model under-predicted mortality by a factor of five (Campbell et al. 2019). In cardiac surgery, the commonly used EuroSCORE model was found by Yap et al. to significantly over-estimate mortality in a representative cohort of Australian patients drawn from six hospitals (Yap et al. 2006a), necessitating the development of a prediction model that was trialled and validated in a local patient cohort – the AusSCORE (Reid et al. 2009a).

We used a large national database incorporating multiple surgical units. A common criticism of external validation of scoring systems is that the data is taken from the same source as the derivation dataset. In the AntiPORT, the external validation cohort selected randomly by surgical unit, rather than using individual patient data. This suggests the score retains accuracy across surgical units with differing practices. In fact, AntiPORT is calibrated against a much larger group of hospitals (37 centres) than the original ACTA-PORT score (12 centres), which could suggest even wider applicability than its parent score. It is notable that PBM and transfusion practices have evolved significantly over the last decade, impacting on the applicability of the score to current practice. It is likely that future recalibrations will be necessary as patient risk profile and medical practice changes. Nonetheless, the relative recency of the dataset (from late 2016 to the end of 2018) suggests practice is likely to be relevant. One criticism that could be levelled at the methodology is that it is likely that given the global heterogeneity of transfusion practices, and hence risk scoring systems, that it may be more accurate to design a risk score from scratch. While this may be true, it was considered more valuable that the score be able to be directly compared to a comparable international standard, as discussed.

The AntiPORT score is an accurate scoring system to predict peri-operative blood transfusion in patients undergoing cardiac surgery in Australia and New Zealand. The score has a number of potential uses, including the effective allocation of PBM resources, as a quality control initiative as part of a program of comprehensive audit and as a means of achieving consistent appreciation of risk in patients enrolled in international clinical trials of transfusion practice across different countries. As with the ACTA-PORT, the AntiPORT score is a clinically useful transfusion-prediction score that can be utilised easily at the bedside by clinicians using the popular QxMD software package including an online calculator and the popular "Calculate by QxMD" app for mobile devices. The hope is that this may allow the score to have practical value to clinicians in guiding patient care.

A scoring system to predict the need for transfusion is of little value as a purely academic exercise. In order for such scoring systems to have any meaningful clinical relevance, they must allow clinicians to identify those who may benefit most from pre- and intra-operative interventions. As previously discussed, and further highlighted in the development of the ACTA-PORT and AntiPORT scores, the most easily modifiable risk factor for peri-operative transfusion is pre-operative [Hb]. The following chapter describes an attempt to establish the feasibility and effectiveness of optimising [Hb] in the available timeframe prior to cardiac surgery using IV iron to rapidly optimise iron stores.

Chapter 5: Pre-operative IV Iron in Cardiac surgery and effect on [Hb], patient outcomes and the feasibility of provision of this service

Given that pre-operative [Hb] is the most easily modifiable risk factor for peri-operative transfusion identified by the described scoring systems, and that blood transfusion has been shown to negatively impact on surgical morbidity and mortality, it follows that if [Hb] can be optimised prior to surgery, there is potential to improve patient outcomes. As described in chapter 2, the most common cause of pre-operative anaemia is iron-deficiency and there is generally inadequate time prior to surgery to improve iron stores with oral preparations. As IV iron has the capacity to rapidly improve iron stores, if given early enough it seems logical that it should have an impact on haematopoiesis and result in an improvement in [Hb]. If this rise is adequate to prevent or reduce transfusion, a resultant improvement in outcomes should follow. As discussed in chapter 2, IV iron has been shown to improve a number of outcomes in non-surgical patients and appears to improve [Hb] reasonably consistently in anaemic patients, may reduce blood transfusions(Elhenawy et al. 2021) and limited evidence suggests it may improve some outcomes in surgical candidates(Froessler et al. 2016) so it would be hoped that this would apply to cardiac surgery.

There remain hypothetical risks, and significant cost associated with giving IV iron preoperatively and as such this should not become standard-of-care without high-quality evidence to demonstrate that it does indeed improve not only physiological parameters, but also patient outcomes. A review of the topic, published in 2014(Hogan et al. 2014) identified 16 trials that addressed the link between pre-operative anaemia and cardiac surgical outcomes, and demonstrated a relatively close correlation. At that time, only 4 trials had been published examining the effect of perioperative IV iron in cardiac surgery patients. And concluded that all four demonstrated 2C level evidence of an impact on [Hb] levels. One trial, which combined IV iron sucrose and rhEPO over a 4-week period prior to valve surgery, demonstrated an improvement in transfusion rates, length of hospital stay and mortality(Cladellas et al. 2012). Although the results were impressive, it was a small study, with only 75 receiving the treatment and with multiple potential confounding factors as it was a consecutive cohort analysis. While this limited evidence is promising, it is probably inadequate to recommend a widespread change in practice, is a relatively small subset of cardiac surgery patients and raises a number of practical issues. Specifically, cardiac surgery is often undertaken in a semi-urgent manner and it is common for the period for time between listing for surgery and the operation to be far shorted than 4 weeks. In addition, diagnosis treatment of cardiac surgical patients with IDA in the limited timeframe before surgery is challenging, for various local and systemic logistical reasons(M. Muñoz et al. 2015; Kotzé et al. 2015). Further, the practical challenges of administering IV iron in 5 doses over 4 weeks are potentially enormous and require significant resources, with many obstacles that may prevent effective treatment. With this in mind, our group of interested consultants from the Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthetists (ACTA) anaemia audit (Klein, Collier, Brae, Evans, Hallward, Fletcher, Richards, et al. 2016)., designed a multi-centre prospective trial which aimed to identify whether treatment with a single dose of IV iron, up until 10 days preoperatively, had the capacity to improve [Hb] prior to surgery and looked for any impact of this treatment on transfusion rates and a variety of measures of surgical morbidity and mortality. To increase the practical applicability of the results, our study used a shortened and simplified treatment regime. One of the greatest difficulties in the provision of this treatment is the establishment of diagnostic and therapeutic pathways to allow for this treatment, so the study also served as a feasibility assessment for the establishment of such pathways. The CAVIAR-UK study was designed to assess this feasibility and explore any impact such treatment might have on [Hb] and whether any improvement in [Hb] might be associated with a significant change in transfusion rate or morbidity outcomes. The author's involvement with CAVIAR-UK began subsequent to the design of the trial where he was an investigator at Papworth Hospital and lead investigator of the total-Hb mass substudy. He led the writing committee which involved writing the draft manuscript and co-ordinating the revisions, submission and eventual publication of the paper in the BJA in 2020, a reproduction of which is found in appendix 3 (Andrew A Klein et al. 2020). The published manuscript from the same study, focussing on vascular surgery patients is included in appendix 4, as the author contributed to the manuscript, although it is not discussed in further detail in this thesis.

Methods

The UK Cardiac and Vascular Surgery Interventional Anaemia Response (CAVIAR-UK) study was a stepped observational pilot and feasibility study in 11 UK cardiac surgical centres (from a total of 19 nationally) who had previously expressed interest in establishing preoperative anaemia treatment pathways after the ACTA audit. UCL was the trial sponsor and funding obtained from the National Institute of Academic Anaesthesia (NIAA) via grants from the Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthesia and Critical Care (ACTACC), the Vascular Anaesthesia Society of Great Britain and Ireland (VASGBI) and the British Journal of Anaesthesia (BJA). Pharmacosmos A/S, manufacturers of Monofer® provided additional funding for personnel.

The study was approved nationally by the UK Ethics Committee (ref 15/LO/1569, IRAS 188848) and each centre sought local approval to establish treatment pathways via national and local NHS standard procedures. Existing protocols and literature were shared amongst centres as they were developed, and core members of the study group visited each site and provided educational briefings. Centralised meetings were held with investigators on a regular basis where ongoing issues were addressed, and regular communication was maintained between these meetings via newsletters and email communication.

The trial was a prospective observational study of adult patients awaiting elective cardiac surgery (CABG, valve surgery or both). Using the standard WHO definition of anaemia (<120g/L in females and <130g/L in males), subjects were divided into anaemia and non-anaemic groups and the anaemia group was further divided into those that received treatment with IV iron and those that, for any reason, did not. Pregnant or lactating females were secluded from the trial as were renal dialysis patients, prisoners and any subjects lacking mental capacity to properly consent for the trial. The protocol was published in advance of commencement of recruitment (Chau et al. 2017)

The CAVIAR-UK sub-study, of which the author led the cardiac surgery arm, aimed to recruit a further subset of the treatment group to be tested before and after IV iron treatment for total Hb-mass, CPET or 6-minute walk test. The total-Hb mass was to be assessed in the Papworth Hospital respiratory function using the Schmidt & Prommer CO-rebreathing technique (Schmidt and Prommer 2005) described in detail in chapter 6. Consent for the sub-study was sought in suitable candidates and additional exclusion criteria were applied to the sub-study including those with NYHA III or IV symptomatic heart failure, current smokers, or those with severe lung disease.

Recruitment commenced in April 2016 and continued until March 2018 although commencement date was not the same at all centres due to approvals or delays in setting up treatment pathways. Those consenting to inclusion on the trial were tested for [Hb] and full iron studies. Those who qualified for IV iron treatment, by having a [ferritin] <100 and a transferrin saturation (TSAT)<20% greater than 10 days pre-operatively were given a standard dose of either iron isomaltoside 1000 (Monofer®, Pharmacosmos A/S) at a total dose calculated at 20mg/kg or ferric carboxymaltose (Ferrinject®, Vifor Pharma UK), to a maximum of 1000mg, both by infusion over at least 15-30 minutes according to local policy. Treated patients were observed for a total of 45-60 minutes during and after infusion and monitored for significant changes in ECG, Sp02 and NIBP. Any subjects who, for whatever reason were not able to receive IV iron formed the "anaemic non-treated" group, and those who were non-anaemic formed the control group. Those that received IV iron treatment were followed up on the day of surgery for re-testing of [Hb] and Iron studies and change in [Hb] pre- and post-IV iron was the primary outcome measure. Secondary outcome measures for the efficacy part of the trial included mortality, DAH-30 (days-alive-and-at-home, a composite outcome measure of 30-day mortality and length of hospital stay(Myles et al. 2017)), ICU and total hospital length of stay, renal function, peri-operative change in [Hb] and total number of RBC units transfused. Those receiving transfusions of more than 4-units of RBS were excluded as this was considered frequently to be a result of unpredictable surgical misadventure and not represent the intended focus of the investigation. Statistical analysis was performed by a member of the study-group, Tim Collier of the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine.

Sample size was calculated based on a pre-operative 10g/L increase in [Hb] in the treatment group, which was considered a clinically significant rise. Using a standard deviation of 12g/L from the ACTA audit(A. A. Klein, Collier, Brar, Evans, Hallward, Fletcher, Richards, et al. 2016), with 5% significance, and allowing for 10% loss to follow-up, it was calculated that 62 anaemic patients would provide 80% power to detect a treatment effect. 72 patients would provide 90% power to detect the [Hb] change.

Mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile range were used for continuous variables depending on their distribution. For categorical variables, frequencies (n) and percentages were used. To compare baseline characteristics across the three groups of patients, chi-square tests were used for categorical variables and F-tests (if normally distributed) or Kruskal-Wallis rank test (if not normally distributed) for continuous variables.

A one-sample t-test (including 95% CI and p-value) were used to compare the pre- and posttreatment mean [Hb] for the primary outcome measure, and the pre- and post-operative [Hb] change. Transfusion outcome measures were analysed using multiple logistic regression. Length of stay and DAH-30 were compared using the Wilcoxon rank sum test. Mortality and hospital readmissions were compared between groups using the chi-squared test.

Results

The attempts at establishing clinics and/or treatment pathways for IV iron in anaemic preoperative cardiac surgery patients were mixed. In seven of the eleven centres, these pathways were successfully established allowing for ongoing involvement in the interventional arm of the study. Of the four that were unable to institute such a service, two were prevented doing so by the failure to gain approval for the use of IV iron by the pharmacy department and a further two were unable to have the business case approved by the local NHS trust. This was not surprising given our experience at Papworth Hospital, where the process was challenging; at one point during the study, the anaemia clinic was de-funded and only with significant pressure from senior clinicians and researchers was it allowed to re-open. In total, 228 subjects were recruited in the 2-year study period, of which 136 (60%) were

anaemic. Of these, 72 (32% of total) were treated with IV iron and 64 (28%) remained untreated. There was significant variability in each centre's ability to recruit patients with the breakdown shown in the following table:

Centre	Non	-anaemic	Anaemic non-treated		Anaemic treated	
	n=92	2	n=72		n=64	
Blackpool	5	(5%)	5	(7%)	0	
Cardiff	19	(21%)	4	(6%)	21	(33%)
Castle Hill	13	(14%)	10	(14%)	4	(6%)
Derriford	13	(14%)	2	(3%)	2	(3%)
Essex	3	(3%)	18	(25%)	0	
James Cook	0		2	(3%)	14	(22%)
Kings College	0		1	(1%)	2	(3%)
Liverpool	18	(20%)	12	(17%)	12	(19%)
Manchester RI	0		1	(1%)	0	
Papworth	10	(11%)	5	(7%)	9	(14%)
RI Edinburgh	11	(12%)	12	(17%)	0	

Table 5.1: Distribution of patient groups across centres.

Two-hundred and twenty-eight patients were recruited over 2 years in 11 UK cardiac centres (Supplementary figure 1). The most frequently recorded reasons for failure to recruit patients were: administrative and lack of research staff, no date for surgery, date of surgical procedure outside of study treatment window (within 10 days) and refusal of patients to give consent for the trial (19% of approached patients). Of the anaemic patients, who would ideally receive IV iron pre-treatment, only 47% (64/136) were treated, due to various logistical barriers. Of the 9 patients eligible for the total Hb-mass sub-study at Papworth, only one gave consent for the additional testing. The reasons given for non-consent included concerns about the testing process and logistical challenges. The one subject who consented for total-Hb mass testing was not able to complete testing due to an error in the process. The sub-study was ultimately abandoned due to failure of recruitment. Further discussion of these challenges and where they led is contained in the following two chapters.

The baseline characteristics of the recruited patients are outlined in the table overleaf:

	Non-	Anaemic non-	- Anaemic treated		p-value
	anaemic	treated $n=72$	n=64		
	n=92				
Age; years	67.0 (9.7)	69.3 (11.8)	70.2 (10	.9)	0.158
Sex; men	66 (72%)	55 (76%)	46 (72%)		0.767
Weight; kg	85.8 (17.9)	83.2 (18.0)	81.6 (17	.9)	0.120
Height; cm	170.0 (10.0)	168.9 (10.6)	167.6 (8	.9)	0.340
BMI; kg.m ⁻²	29.3 (5.3)	29.2 (5.9)	29.0 (5.4	1)	0.929
EuroSCORE-2	1.3 (0.9-2.7	1.7(0.9-3.3	2.2 (1.0-	3.4 [0.5-16.9])	0.072
	[0.5-19.8])	[0.6-15.0])			
Cardiac function					1
Good	66 (73%)	55 (76%)	48 (75%))	
Moderate	24 (26%)	15 (21%)	15 (23%) (c	
Poor	1 (1%)	2 (3%)	1 (2%)		0.866
NYHA			1		
1	28 (31%)	23 (32%)	12 (19%)	
2	43 (47%)	26 (37%)	32 (50%) (c	
3	20 (22%)	17 (24%)	19 (30%	(c)	
4	0	5 (7%)	1 (2%)		0.042
Creatinine; umol.L-1	84 (73-96	85 (72-113	104 (75-	120 [46-192])	800.0
	[56-205])	[47-311])			
Medical history					
Iron deficiency	4 (4%)	9 (13%)	25 (39%	(c)	< 0.001
Anaemia	10 (11%)	21 (29%)	35 (55%	(\mathbf{c})	< 0.001
Operation					1
CABG	44 (48%)	29 (40%)	24	(38%)	
Single Valve	29 (32%)	33 (46%)	22	(34%)	
CABG +Valve	12 (13%)	4 (6%)	9	(14%)	
Other	7 (8%)	6 (8%)	9	(14%)	0.229

 Table 5.2 Baseline characteristics. Values are mean (SD) or number (proportion).

Those anaemic patients who were treated with IV iron were more likely to have a previous diagnosis of anaemia, iron deficiency and chronic kidney disease. The median time from IV iron administration was 33 days with an interquartile range of 15-53 days. A large majority of patients (60 out of 64) were treated with iron isomaltoside, with a mean dose (SD) of 1314 (303) mg and the remaining 4 were given 1000mg of iron carboxymaltose. The overall mean dose (SD) was 1293(303)mg in total.

	1	1	1
	Non-anaemic	Anaemic, not treated	Anaemic, treated
	(n=92)	(n=72)	(n=64)
Mean (SD) [Hb] (g/L)			
Pre-treatment	NA	NA	114.2 (9.3)
Pre-surgery	141.1 (10.4)	116.7 (10.2)	122.7 (13.3)
Postoperative	98.3 (13.6)	93.2 (10.5)	93.7 (11.9)
Mean (95% CI) change in			
[Hb](g/L)			
Pre/post-treatment	NA	NA	8.4 (5.0, 11.8)
Pre/post-surgery	-42.8 (-45.7 to -	-23.4 (-26.5 to -20.3)	-29.0 (-32.4 to -
	39.9)		25.6)

The pre- and post-operative [Hb] values for all three groups are shown in the following table:

Table 5.3: Haemoglobin concentration by group and time

The non-anaemic group had a higher baseline [Hb] than both anaemic groups by approximately 25g/L and anaemic group receiving IV iron had 2.5g/L lower starting mean [Hb] than the non-treated group. In the post-operative follow-up [Hb] was similar in all three groups which represented a much greater drop in [Hb] in the non-anaemic group of 42.8g/L.

After IV Iron, there was statistically significant increase in [Hb] when treated patients were re-tested before surgery. The treated anaemic group had a mean [Hb] gain of 8.4g/L and at that stage as a result had a higher pre-operative [Hb] than the untreated anaemic group by 6g/L.

Consistent with international data, there was significant inter-centre variability in transfusion rates from 30% to 65% amongst our study centres. 10% of the total (23 patients, including 9 non anaemic, 5 anaemic non-treated and 9 anaemic-treated) received more than 4-units of RBCs and were excluded from analysis.

When the two anaemic groups were combined and compared to the non-anaemic controls, the results were consistent with previously reported data. The anaemic group had statistically significant increases in transfusion rates (48.8% vs 26.5%, p=0.001 & adjusted OR 3.18, p=0.001), received more units overall (median 1 vs 0, p=0.005) and were more likely to receive 3-4 units (12% vs 8%, p=0.016). They had longer median hospital stays (9 vs 8 days, p=0.014) and the composite measure, DAH-30 was similarly worse (20 vs 21, p=0.033). Mortality, ICU length-of-stay, and re-admissions were not significantly different.

	Non-anaemic		Anaemic		p-value
	(N=92)		(N=136)		
Number (%) transfused	22	(26.5)	59	(48.8)	0.001
Adj OR (95% CI)			3.18	(1.60-	0.001
				6.31)	
Units transfused; n (%)					
1-2	15	(16%)	43	(32%)	
3-4	7	(8%)	16	(12%)	0.016
Median (IQR)	0	(0-1)	1	(0-2)	0.005
Died, n (%)	3	(3.3)	5	(3.7)	0.867
Readmissions; n (%)	15	(16.3)	16	(11.8)	0.327
ITU length of stay-days					
Median (IQR)	2	(1-4)	2	(1-5)	0.571
Hospital stay; days					
Median (IQR)	8	(6-11)	9	(7-14.5)	0.014
DAOH-30; days Median	21	(17-23)	20	(14-22)	0.033
(IQR)					

Table 5.4: Study outcomes, anaemic versus non-anaemic patients, excluding 23 patients who were transfused > 4 units red cells. Adj OR: odds ratio for blood transfusion adjusted for sex, BMI, diabetes, and operation type.

Amongst the two anaemic groups there were minimal differences in outcomes between those treated with IV iron and those who were not. These are outlined in the table overleaf:

	Anaemic non-treated		Anaemic treated		p-value
	n=72		n=64		
Number (%)	28	(42%)	31	(56%)	0.127
transfused					
Adj OR (95% CI)			1.33	(0.52-3.40)	0.553
Units transfused; n					
(⁰ /0)					
1-2	18	(25.4)	25	(39.1)	
3-4	10	(14.1)	6	(9.4)	0.107
Median (IQR)	0	(0-2)	1	(0-2)	0.082
Died; n (%)	3	(4%)	2	(3%)	0.747
Readmissions; n (%)	5	(7%)	11	(17%)	0.064
ITU length of stay;					
days					
Median (IQR)	2	(1-4)	3	(1-5)	0.158
Hospital stay; days					
Median (IQR)	9	(7-14)	10.5	(7-15)	0.492
DAOH-30; days	21	(14-22)	19	(15-23)	0.768
Median (IQR)					

Table 5.5: Study outcomes, anaemic non-treated versus anaemic treated after exclusion of 14 patients transfused > 4 units of blood. Adj OR, odds ratio adjusted for baseline haemoglobin, sex, BMI, diabetes, iron tablets, hypertension, and operation type.

No significant outcome differences were able to be demonstrated between the treated and non-treated anaemic patients. Interestingly, there was a non-significant trend toward higher transfusion rates in the treated group.

Discussion

In terms of feasibility, the results of CAVIAR demonstrated that in most centres, it was possible to establish effective anaemia treatment pathways before cardiac surgery, although results suggested that a significant number of these patients were not treated with intravenous iron despite being identified as having iron-deficiency anaemia. Results were consistent with those published from Frankfurt, where IV iron was only given to small fraction of patients(Meybohm et al. 2017). There were several barriers to the effectiveness of these treatment pathways at an organisational and systemic level. Although there has been a significant increase in the research focus on peri-operative treatment of anaemia over the last decade, actual progress in implementing treatment pathways has been slow (A Shander et al. 2012). This highlights the complexity of setting up and running multi-disciplinary treatment pathways and the need for co-operation from all levels of organisational hierarchy and multiple specialty groups. CAVIAR was designed to treat patients at least 10 day pre-operatively as it appears that 7-9 days is required for IV iron to have it peak effect on ferritin levels(Blunden et al. 1981) and it appears that [Hb] increase begins to plateau between 5-14 days.(Bhandal and Russell 2006)

In terms of efficacy, the results suggest that in those given IV iron, there is a significant improvement in [Hb], even in the relatively short timeframe that is often available. This is consistent with findings of a broad meta-analysis in the effects of IV iron (Clevenger et al. 2016) in non-dialysis patients and another trial specific to cardiac surgery (Litton, Xiao, and Ho 2013), but has not been replicated in at least one other RCT(H Padmanabhan et al. 2017). This is the largest trial to date in cardiac surgery, that demonstrates that IV iron can effectively treat anaemia in cardiac surgery patients pre-operatively.

It is important to note, however, that an observational trial such as CAVIAR is not ideal to detect a treatment effect and this finding will hopefully be confirmed in randomised control trials specific to cardiac surgery.

As with previous studies, including the ACTA audit(A. A. Klein, Collier, Brar, Evans, Hallward, Fletcher, Richards, et al. 2016), our data showed that anaemic patients have higher rates of transfusion and worse outcomes than those that are non-anaemic. The significantly larger fall that was observed in [Hb] in the non-anaemic group was interesting and may represent the increased use of RBC transfusion in the anaemic group or the more rigorous use of PBM strategies, such as use of intra-operative blood conservation techniques, or a combination of these factors. While improving [Hb] is likely to have value, demonstrating an effect on patient-centred outcomes is essential before a widespread uptake of any medical intervention should occur. Limited evidence exists that IV Iron can reduce transfusion both broadly (Litton, Xiao, and Ho 2013), and in the context of cardiac surgery (Johansson, Rasmussen, and Thomsen 2015)as well as possible effects on other outcomes such as mortality and length of admission(Cladellas et al. 2012). Despite the relative weakness of this evidence, it has already been translated into expert consensus(M. Muñoz et al. 2017) and practice guidelines.("National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Blood Transfusion. NICE Guideline (NG24)." 2017)

Since the publication of this trial, more evidence has emerged to support the hypothesis that IV iron pre-treatment can reduce transfusion rates in other types of surgery, supported by a recent meta-analysis in major abdominal surgery (Elhenawy et al. 2021), although results of this kind are not ubiquitous with the very recent PREVENTT trial (Richards et al. 2020) not detecting a treatment effect in a similar population. Another more recent trial where patients were given IV Iron and EPO immediately before cardiac surgery showed a reduction in transfusion rates across the admission (Spahn et al. 2019) without any other demonstrable patient benefit. Our results were not able to demonstrate any beneficial effect on patientcentred outcomes, although it was not designed to have adequate power to detect these. As is often the case with observational research, the baseline characteristics of the study groups varied significantly. In this study population, anaemic patients who received intravenous iron had a significantly higher rate of pre-existing renal impairment. Renal impairment has a major influence on transfusion requirement as demonstrated in many predictive scores for transfusion risk in cardiac surgery. For example, if we were to calculate the risk of transfusion in a patient at intermediate risk of transfusion prior to cardiac using the ACTA-PORT score, (A.A. Klein et al. 2017) the presence of a pre-operative creatinine > 177 µmol/L would shift the predicted transfusion rate from 45% up to 60%. The higher rates of previously diagnosed anaemia (55% vs 30%), previous iron deficiency (39% vs 13%), and symptomatic angina (63% vs 39%) in our treatment group, compared with the non-treated anaemic patients, may have contributed to the outcome results.

Observational studies are also far more likely to suffer from effects of bias and have confounding factors present. Although no major sources of bias were identified, this cannot be excluded from the analysis of CAVIAR. The complex nature of cardiac surgery and multifactorial causes for coagulopathy with need for significant use of blood resources(Manuel Muñoz et al. 2015) may override the positive effects of intravenous iron in the preoperative setting.

As discussed, ongoing research using larger cohorts powered to detect patient-centred outcome differences are required to establish whether IV Iron can meaningfully improve morbidity, mortality, and quality of life after cardiac surgery. Members of the CAVIAR study group and other designed such a trial, that is currently underway and for which the author is a principal investigator. The Intravenous Iron for Treatment of Anaemia before Cardiac Surgery (ITACS) is a blinded RCT that is underway (NCT02632760) which aims to recruit 1000 patients who are then randomised to receive either IV iron or placebo before cardiac surgery with the primary outcome measure of 90-DAH (days alive and out of hospital in the first 90 post-operative days). Secondary outcomes include [Hb] change, ICU stay, hospital stay, anaphylaxis, infection, disability-free survival, 90-day survival, blood product usage, quality of life and cost-effectiveness. At the time of writing, ITACS had recruited 619 patients from 29 sites in 9 countries but have faced significant delays in recruitment that were unexpected. Given the results of audits of anaemia rates in cardiac surgical patients, which suggested that somewhere approaching one-third of patients could be anaemic, the challenges in recruiting suitable patients for anaemia studies were somewhat surprising. As a result, some further exploration of anaemia rates and potential effects of recent prescribing patterns was undertaken. The following chapter contains a description of this process and the results obtained.

Chapter 6: Knowledge from failure & Epidemiology of changing anaemia rates & IV Iron prescription

The described challenges of recruiting anaemic patients for the ITACS study and the failure to recruit patients for the CAVIAR sub-study and ensuing PREFIX trial in Sydney raised a number of questions. Given that the rates of anaemia seen in large audits such as the ACTA audit(A. Klein et al. 2016) suggest that many cardiac surgery patients are anaemic, it was assumed that identifying and recruiting patients for these trials would be relatively straightforward and rapid. Anecdotal evidence from other ITACS study-centres also suggested that recruitment was significantly slower than anticipated and as such it was decided to investigate further. There are a number of challenges to recruitment for these trials:

- 1. Number of anaemic patients
- 2. Failure to identify suitable participants
- 3. Adequate time to surgery to allow recruitment (usually greater than 7 days)
- 4. Willingness to participate in study

5. Exclusion of patients treated with IV iron prior to pre-admission appointment Addressing point 3 is challenging as many surgical patients will not be sent to pre-admission until they have a date for surgery and then will eventually be given a date within the 7-10 preoperative day window, thus precluding them from recruitment. Fixing this requires major systemic changes, which are underway but significant improvement is still required. Willingness to participate has not been identified as a major issue and is also a difficult point to address. The 3 remaining points were considered and thought worth exploring further. One hypothesis was that the incidence of anaemia may be dropping due to increased awareness of PBM strategies and a potential increase in optimisation of iron stores preoperatively with supplementation via oral or IV routes. This had been noted locally in certain populations such as women of childbearing age(Shand et al. 2020) but not investigated specifically in the context of cardiac surgery.

Broadly speaking, the global anaemia burden appears to be improving in the last few decades. A large worldwide study showed the global incidence of 32.9% in 2010 had reduced significantly from 40.2% in 1990 (N. J. Kassebaum et al. 2019) and this finding paralleled an estimate in another analysis that suggested that global anaemia prevalence is dropping at 0.2-0.3% per year.(Mason et al. 2013)

There is some evidence that increases in understanding of concepts of absolute and functional iron deficiency have translated into increases in testing for ferritin and TSAT as seen in the figure below taken from a French paper examining testing utilisation in those receiving iron treatments. (Cacoub, Nicolas, and Peoc'h 2020) This suggests a greater understanding of the concepts involved in iron deficiency and may be associated with better treatment strategies across the range of medical providers.



Figure 6.1: Annual frequency (%) of the biological assessments of iron deficiency (transferrin saturation index [TSAT] and/or serum ferritin)—from French healthcare coverage databases (EGB) 2006–2015. Reproduced from (Cacoub, Nicolas, and Peoc'h 2020)

As discussed in chapter 2, there are many interventions directed at reducing global anaemia rates, ranging from fortification of staple foods with iron, oral iron supplementation and the addition of further dietary supplements to enhance iron absorption. Appropriate treatment of contributing infections can also influence anaemia rates, although this is not likely significant in our study population with the possible exception of *h.pylori* infections. Since the release of the better tolerated iron-carbohydrate complexes and the gradual

increase in evidence of their efficacy, they are being prescribed much more frequently. This combined with their increasing presence in national and local guidelines and the inevitable marketing and publicity associated with new pharmacological interventions has seen a significant increase in their clinical use. While single hospital use is relatively easy to track via local pharmacy services, IV iron is now often given in an outpatient setting and is increasingly being used in primary care. This makes monitoring its use at a regional or national level more challenging. Much like the UK, Australia is fortunate to have a centralised national service for obtaining and distributing subsidised pharmaceuticals, the national Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) who publish data annually on various categories of medication and their usage and cost. Very little has been published about trends in iron prescription since the introduction of newer preparations, but one analysis of IV iron prescription in Australian women showed that there has been a rapid increase in its use in that demographic over the last decade. So much so, that in 2017, IV iron was prescribed to 1 in 50 women of childbearing age, five times greater than the proportion in 2013(Shand et al. 2020) In order to better understand the trends in IV iron use, the author sought to explore available national data since the introduction of the newer IV preparations to examine how rapidly their use has increased amongst the general population. The hypothesis is that increased IV iron use could be contributing to a reduction in rates of anaemia in patients presenting for cardiac surgery. The increased use of IV iron in outpatient or primary care settings may also contribute to patients being unrecruitable to IV iron studies as they have already received the treatment prior to pre-admission.

In addition to Australian prescriber data, the author sought similar data from the UK and the US to see if any global pattern was detectable. The NHS presents annualised costing for all prescriptions in England called the Prescription Cost Analysis. Unfortunately, this report includes data from only community and primary health prescriptions and excludes data from secondary health. Centralised hospital data is not routinely collected by the NHS. The US Medicare and Medicaid provide insurance to approximately 35% of the US population including subsidised prescriptions. The costs of these prescriptions are published annually by medication type. These resources were examined to seek prescribing trends in the US and UK in order to establish whether local trends were consistent with a broader pattern. The effects of an increase in iron prescription at a population level is difficult to measure without large-scale high-quality research, however it is possible to assess overall patterns in our target-group thanks to various local and national databases. With this in mind, the author undertook an audit to ascertain if a downward trend in anaemia rates was observable in our local (St Vincent's Hospital) and national (ANZSCTS) databases during the time of the rapid rise in IV iron prescription. A more detailed examination of the most recent anaemic patients who were not recruited was undertaken to ascertain if any were missed who were suitable. It should be noted that these trends are purely an observed association, are full of potential bias

and may not reflect causality. They are, however, of significant interest and may represent a significant improvement in the diagnosis and treatment of iron deficiency, with or without anaemia.

Methods

Data for each subcategory was obtained as detailed below and analysed using Microsoft Excel (version 16.35 for Mac, Microsoft 2020) or SPSS software (version 27 for Mac, IBM 2020) for statistical significance where appropriate.

Australian National Iron prescription trends

Data were obtained from the Australian national Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) via their published financial-year reports from 2013/14 to 2018/19. Data on total annual (by financial year) subsidised PBS prescriptions for IV iron including cost to government, cost to patients and average total cost per dose were retrieved from the data and prepared into a table and then represented graphically by year. Prior to 2013/14, no data were available on IV iron prescriptions, so the data is limited to this range. Data is only provided for total IV iron expenditure and not divided into preparation or brand

UK national prescribing trends – primary care

Data were obtained from official NHS data released under the prescriber cost analysis (PCA). Total expenditure data were analysed, and annual totals compiled for BNF category 0901012, which is the sub-category for IV iron preparations in the "Anaemias and some other blood disorders" category. The annualised data were tabulate and presented in graphical form.

US Medicare and Medicaid prescription trends

Data were obtained from the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) who publish annual reports on total prescription costs comprising of costs to Medicare/Medicaid, deductible, and co-insurance, representing the full value of the product. Medicaid data is presented separately to Medicare data, which is further divided into parts depending on type of service. Part B consists of medications administered through doctors' offices or outpatient settings. Group D represents medications taken by patients at home and thus did not contain data on IV iron preparations. Therefore, data from Medicaid and group B Medicare for the calendar years 2014-2018 were combined and examined by IV Iron type (brand) and presented in tabular and graphical form. Total spending on each of the IV Iron preparations (listed by brand and generic name) were included for each year and presented in both tabular and graphical form.

Local anaemia trends and outcomes

The St Vincent's Hospital (Sydney, Australia) department of cardiothoracic surgery collects perioperative data on all patients undergoing cardiac surgery including pre-operative [Hb] and this presented an opportunity to undertake a local audit of anaemia rates and recent trends. Prior to September 2015, the database did not reliably collect preoperative [Hb], so that was selected as a start point for data analysis and 4 years of data were analysed in total ending in August 2019. This audit was approved by the St Vincent's Hospital research office with project number 2018/ETH00738. Patients undergoing urgent or emergency surgery were excluded as it was assumed that these patients were not allowed the usual time for their various treating practitioners to undertake the pre-operative assessment and management that was of interest.

National anaemia trends and outcomes

Data were obtained from the ANZSCTS database on patients presenting for cardiac surgery between September 2016 and December 2018, inclusive. Prior to this, data for pre-operative [Hb] was inconsistently recorded on the database and thus was not available for analysis. The baseline characteristics for the entire dataset for the AntiPORT cohort were analysed and are presented in tabular form. Mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile range were used for continuous variables depending on their distribution. For categorical variables, frequencies (n) and percentages were used. To compare baseline characteristics across the three groups of patients, chi-square tests were used for categorical variables and F-tests (if normally distributed) or Kruskal-Wallis rank test (if not normally distributed) for continuous variables. Data for emergency and urgent cases was then excluded as these patients would not generally be appropriate for trial recruitment due to the inadequate timeframe to observe a treatment effect. The remaining data were analysed for annualised anaemia rate and presented in tabular form.

Results

Australian Iron prescription trends

As the table below demonstrates, the number of annual prescriptions for IV Iron increased enormously from 104 prescriptions in 2014 to 248,205 prescriptions in 2018, which was associated with a corresponding increase in annual government cost from \$26,277 to \$68,160,786, representing a 259,293% increase. In the 2018/19 financial year, data were not published on the total expenditure on iron, but ferric carboxymaltose, which is just one of the 3 available IV iron preparations in Australia, was prescribed 289,042 times at a total cost of \$86,518,572, making it the 29th on the list of the highest cost drugs to the PBS. This data was excluded from the table as it likely underestimates the total IV iron use and can thus not be compared accurately to the preceding data.

Year	PBS	Government	Patient	Total Cost	Average
	subsidised	cost	Contribution		Price
	prescriptions				
2013-14	106	\$26,277	\$2,787	\$29,064	\$274.19
2014-15	67,435	\$18,740,502	\$1,479,961	\$20,220,463	\$299.85
2015-16	123,597	\$33,858,891	\$2,718,655	\$36,577,546	\$295.94
2016/17	182,188	\$49,834,425	\$4,156,865	\$53,991,290	\$296.35
2017/18	248,205	\$68,160,786	\$5,962,430	\$74,123,217	\$298.64

Table 6.1: Financial year costings of IV iron prescriptions 2014-2019 (data from PBS)



Figure 6.2: Total expenditure (with government and patient contribution) for all PBS subsidised IV iron prescriptions 2013/14-2017/18. Generated from published PBS data.

US Medicare and Medicaid IV Iron spending 2014-18:

Data from the US Medicare and Medicaid programs showed a large increase in total IV Iron prescription costs from US\$112 million to US\$416 million. The rise was not uniform however, with a rapid rise in some preparations such as ferric carboxymaltose, which increased from US\$13 million in 2014 to US\$173 million in 2018, and a commensurate decrease in older preparations such as iron dextran, which dropped from US\$14 million to US\$6 million over the same period.

Brand Name	Funding	Total Spend				
(Generic)	source	2104	2105	2016	2017	2018
Dexferrum (Iron Dextran)	Medicaid	\$188,058	\$46,690	\$12,016	\$5,190	\$547
	Medicare	Not Reported				
Feraheme (Ferumoxytol)	Medicaid ¹	\$3,474,356	\$4,456,058	\$6,340,899	\$7,976,301	\$9,687,203
	Medicaid ²	\$39,705,438	\$42,280,018	\$46,892,275	\$49,615,147	\$61,123,991
	Medicare	\$1,129,795	\$931,663	\$1,123,488	\$1,057,760	\$888,939
	Total	\$44,974,118	\$50,478,977	\$59,823,308	\$62,799,523	\$75,892,162
Ferrex 150 (Iron Polysaccharide)	Medicaid	\$326,103	\$99,190	\$17,836	\$22,228	\$51,583
	Medicare	Not Reported				
Iferex 150 (Iron Polysaccharide)	Medicaid	\$20,751	\$70,320	\$129,127	\$132,899	\$137,484
	Medicare	Not Reported				
Infed (Iron Dextran)	Medicaid	\$2,271,383	\$2,943,397	\$3,249,843	\$3,798,311	\$1,655,318
	Medicare	\$11,667,411	\$11,294,558	\$9,646,182	\$10,268,635	\$4,016,261
	Total	\$13,938,794	\$14,237,955	\$12,896,025	\$14,066,947	\$5,671,579
Injectafer (Ferric Carboxymaltose)	Medicaid	\$902,635	\$5,363,788	\$15,213,046	\$24,359,967	\$32,430,067
	Medicare	\$12,318,625	\$50,495,429	\$85,641,974	\$114,114,931	\$140,612,426
	Total	\$13,221,260	\$55,859,217	\$100,855,020	\$138,474,898	\$173,042,493
Poly-Iron (Iron Polysaccharide)	Medicaid	\$71,450	\$84,822	\$4,548	\$9,643	\$7,156
	Medicare	Not Reported				
Venofer (Iron Sucrose)	Medicaid	\$29,486,489	\$45,399,346	\$54,469,754	\$82,221,970	\$150,260,652
	Medicare	\$6,944,836	\$5,332,426	\$5,073,750	\$4,171,311	\$4,254,354
	Total	\$36,431,325	\$50,731,772	\$59,543,504	\$86,393,281	\$154,515,006
Ferrlecit (Ferric Gluconate/Sucrose)	Medicaid	\$2,727,413	\$2,072,804	\$2,013,080	\$3,068,418	\$5,903,099
	Medicare	\$423,237	\$322,129	\$682,543	\$592,708	\$545,997
	Total	\$3,150,650	\$2,394,933	\$2,695,623	\$3,661,126	\$6,449,096
Total Spending		\$112,322,510	\$174,003,875	\$235,977,007	\$305,565,734	\$415,767,105

Table 6.2: Annual total cost of IV iron preparations from US Medicare/Medicaid data displayed by drug and year.



Figure 6.3: Medicare/Medicaid spending on IV iron by year divided into different IV iron preparations

UK IV Iron prescription in primary care

The results from the PCA show the annual prescription rates for IV Iron preparations in primary care has approximately halved between 2014 and 2019. This represented in graphical form in the chart overleaf:



Figure 6.4: IV Iron use in primary care in England

Of important note, this data does not include IV Iron prescriptions outside of primary care, where the majority of IV Iron is given in the UK setting.

Local anaemia trends and outcomes, St Vincent's Hospital, Sydney

The data show that during the same period, over which iron prescriptions have risen exponentially, there has been a corresponding drop in the rate of anaemia in those presenting for elective cardiac surgery and a corresponding rise in average [Hb]

	2015-16	2016-17	2017-18	2018-19
Number of cases	150	170	131	91
Anaemic patients	41	35	25	14
Anaemic patients (%)	27%	21%	19%	15%
Average Hb (g/L)	137	138	139	142

Table 6.3: Annual anaemia rates for patients presenting for elective cardiothoracic surgery at St Vincent's Hospital Sydney



Figure 6.5: Annual proportion of anaemic cardiac surgery patients and average [Hb] from the St Vincent's Hospital cardiac surgical database.

Detailed examination of the data showed that in the last year of the audit, of the 14 anaemic patients, all had iron status checked pre-operatively. Of these, only 1 patient had iron deficiency using the standard definition of a [ferritin] <30. In the context of cardiac surgery, where a standard blood loss is expected, the criteria for pre-operative IV iron is often broadened to include those patients with a [ferritin] < 100 and a TSAT <20%, using these criteria, only 4 of the 14 patients identified would qualify for a pre-operative iron infusion and of these only one was seen in the pre-admission clinic more than 1 week prior to the planned surgery date. The one patient who would have been eligible for recruitment for any study was a male with a [Hb] of 127g/L, a [ferritin] of 95 and a TSAT of 17% and presumably as all the results were close to the normal range, was not identified by the attending specialist as having iron-deficiency anaemia, despite technically qualifying for IV iron replacement.

National anaemia trends and outcomes

The baseline characteristics of the patients in the data obtained from the ANZSCTS database is displayed in the table overleaf. It is divided into those who received red blood cell transfusions and those who did not. Of these patients, data for patients having urgent (6168 patients) and emergency (818 patients) were excluded from the subsequent analysis.

	No Transfusion	Transfusion	Total	p-value
n (%)	15878 (69.8)	6860 (30.2)	22738 (100)	
Age, median (IQR)	66 (16)	70 (15)	67 (16)	0.00
Sex:				
-Male, n (%)	12624 (79.5)	4405(64.2)	17029 (74.9)	0.00
-Female, n (%)	3254 (20.54)	2455 (35.8)	5709 (25.1)	
Procedure Type:				
-CABG, n (%)	8669 (54.6)	3081(44.9)	11750 (51.7)	
-Valve surgery, n	3682 (23.2)	1344 (19.6)	5026 (22.1)	
(%)				
-Combined, n (%)	1139 (7.2)	969 (14.1)	2108 (9.3)	
-Other, n (%)	2388 (15.0)	1466 (21.4)	3854 (16.9)	
Pre-op [Hb],	142 (19)	127 (27)	138 (23)	
median (IQR)				
Pre-op [Cr],	84 (26)	87 (38)	85 (29)	
median (IQR)				
BMI, median	29 (7)	27 (7)	28 (7)	
(IQR)				
Urgency:				
-Non-urgent, n (%)	11528 (72.6)	4224 (61.6)	15752 (69.3)	
-Urgent, n (%)	4012 (25.3)	2156 (31.4)	6168 (27.1)	
-Emergency, n (%)	338 (2.1)	480 (7.0)	818 (3.6)	
Hypertension:				
-no, n (%)	4739 (29.8)	1750 (25.5)	6489 (28.5)	
-yes, n (%)	11139 (70.2)	5110 (74.5)	16249 (71.5)	0.00
Perfusion time,	89 (52)	108 (75)	94 (58)	0.00
median (IQR)				
Diabetes:				
-No, n (%)	11393 (71.8)	4622 (67.4)	16015 (70.4)	
-Yes, n (%)	4485 (28.2)	2238 (32.6)	6723 (29.6)	0.00

 Table 6.4: Baseline characteristics of patients in the ANZSCTS dataset undergoing cardiac

 surgery between September 2016 and December 2018 (inclusive)

The anaemia rates for these patients, divided into groups by year, to allow comparison to the St Vincent's Hospital data are displayed in table 6.5 below.

	2016	2016-17	2017-18
Number of operations	1643	6748	7248
Anaemic patients	405	1503	1585
Anaemic patients (%)	24.65%	22.27%	21.87%

Table 6.5: Annual anaemia rates for patients presenting for elective cardiothoracic surgery inAustralia & New Zealand (September 2016-December 2018) from ANZSCTS database.

Discussion

IV Iron prescription data

The results of these audits show that there has been a dramatic increase in the numbers of prescriptions of IV iron between 2014 and 2018 in the USA and Australia. While the overall increase in IV iron has been large in both regions, the US data suggest that the growth is mostly due to increases in the newer IV iron-carbohydrate preparations, such as Iron carboxymaltose (Injectafer® in the USA, Ferrinject® in Australia) and iron sucrose (Venofer®). Iron isomaltoside, which has been popular in Europe has only recently been approved by the FDA as Monoferric® and such does not feature in this data. Older preparations such as Iron-dextran appear to be falling.

The pattern of prescription is also interesting, with primary care appearing to account for the bulk of prescriptions. The same paper showed that between 2013 and 2017, 43% of all IV iron prescriptions were written by GPs. This does not appear to be replicated in the limited UK data, which negative rates of change in primary care IV iron prescription, although given the suspiciously low numbers, possibly reflects differing data collection techniques within the NHS and without complete secondary care data should not be over-interpreted. Also of note, the different licencing requirements for the administration of IV iron in the UK means that many primary care facilities do not have the available resources to administer IV iron preparations. Given the increasing presence of IV iron in pre-operative guidelines and treatment pathways, and anecdotal evidence of its increased use, it is likely that the data from secondary care prescriptions would show significant growth over the same period. Unfortunately, as discussed earlier, these data were not available as they are not routinely published by the NHS. The private company responsible for collection of secondary-care prescription data unfortunately did not respond to requests for this data.

Local anaemia rates (St Vincent's Hospital, Sydney)

The local figures obtained from the St Vincent's Hospital database suggest a significant downward trend in anaemia rates for those presenting for cardiac surgery although the numbers are relatively small and not necessarily representative of the wider population. A more detailed examination of those potentially recruitable for IV iron trials found that almost all anaemic patients were iron replete at time of pre-admission, suggesting that the cause of anaemia was not iron-deficiency, or that iron-stores had been successfully replenished. Data on treatment modality was not available. It is important to note that the numbers in this cohort are small and observed trends may be misleading and/or not representative of the wider population.

Australian national anaemia rates (ANZSCTS database)

The national data from the ANZSCTS database demonstrated that this trend may also be present at a broader level although the observed trend is less dramatic than the results from St Vincent's Hospital Sydney. This may reflect coincidence, or over-interpretation of trends in the St Vincent's data or differences in primary and secondary care in the St Vincent's cohort compared to the broader population. Results from other countries were unfortunately not able to be obtained for the purposes of this audit, although it would be valuable to understand if this local trend is representative of a broader change. Hopefully, widespread awareness of these results will encourage audit and publication of similar data from other regions.

Implications of findings

The findings show that along with the increasing prescription of intravenous iron during the study period, there has been a contemporaneous decrease in anaemia rates in our centre and, to a lesser-extend nationally in our target population. This could represent a degree of effectiveness of PBM strategies and the increased awareness of the importance of treating pre-operative anaemia, but similarly could reflect any number of societal and socio-economic trends that we have not examined such as reduction in the burden of associated diseases or broader changes in dietary patterns or oral supplementation.

Iron studies, although now routinely collected prior to cardiac surgery in most centres in Australia are not recorded in the local or national database, and their inclusion would provide enormous benefit to researchers. The discrepancy between changes at our centre compared to the national trend are important to consider. SVH is a quaternary referral centre, in a catchment area with high mean socio-economic indicators, although does receive many non-local referrals from surrounding and distant regions. The access to primary care in the local area is very good and this may have an impact on the rate of early diagnosis and treatment of anaemia. The observed trend in anaemia rates fits with previously recorded global decreases in anaemia rates, although the rate of change appears to be significantly greater than previously described.

The rapid increase in expenditure on IV iron has a significant implication on health economics and especially given the evidence for the benefit over oral iron is limited to certain scenarios. Even if the trend of reduction in anaemia rates was wholly due to the increased use of IV Iron, it is difficult to clearly demonstrate that this would have any benefit over oral replacement therapy, and whether it represents a significant enough clinical benefit to justify the enormous cost. If the increase in cost of subsidised IV iron to the health system continues, it is likely to come under significant health economic scrutiny. With the current lack of strong evidence for effectiveness, it may become difficult to justify this cost, and thus there is a strong need for continued research to demonstrate that this treatment can have positive effects on patient outcomes.

While the data on the increase in IV iron prescription rates and costs is freely available, there has been minimal interpretation of this data in the literature, with only a handful of papers describing this trend. Previous published data have suggested that global anaemia rates are improving, although there is no recent data to demonstrate this effect in the cardiac surgery population. To our knowledge, this represents the first analysis of trends in anaemia in cardiac surgery patients. While the more dramatic trend noted in the St Vincent's data is from a single centre, and thus of limited applicability, the ANZSCTS data suggests that there is a more modest, but still consistent fall in rates of pre-operative anaemia.

This audit was purely observational and retrospective and therefore is full of potential confounders and bias and result should be interpreted with a significant degree of caution. The observed trends are temporally associated, and biologically plausible, but in no way can causality be confirmed.

To firmly establish a downward trend in anaemia rates, longer term data would be more useful, particularly at the national level. Another UK-wide audit of the cardiac surgical population, as a follow-up to the ACTA audit (A. A. Klein, Collier, Brar, Evans, Hallward, Fletcher, and Richards 2016) would be of great value in ascertaining if a similar trend exists elsewhere.

Data between iron prescriptions and anaemia rates do not perfectly align due to availability of PBS data.

The Australian PBS data contains information on subsidised prescriptions only, and thus underestimates the total national usage as hospital inpatient, and private prescriptions are not included in the analysis.

In conclusion, the observed changes in anaemia rates in those undergoing cardiac surgery may represent a treatment effect from the rapid rise in the prescription of IV iron preparations. This has implications for future studies. It may make recruiting anaemic patients more difficult, which may delay the necessary evidence that IV iron can have any meaningful impact on clinical outcomes, as we have found with our studies. It may also mean that recruitment populations are skewed over the recruitment timeframe, given the relatively rapid rate-of-change and the expected longer recruitment periods with reduced available patients.

This chapter has explored anaemia in cardiac surgery as defined by [Hb]. In chapter 2, the limitations of [Hb] as a measure, in the context of the pathophysiology of anaemia were discussed, as were the advantages of measurement of total-Hb mass. This chapter, as with the preceding chapter have attempted to link iron treatment with improvements in [Hb]. One of the main advantages of total Hb-mass measurement is that it appears to be more sensitive to smaller changes due to interventions than [Hb]. This has significant implications to future studies into the biological efficacy of anaemia interventions, as significant treatment effects could be detected using smaller sample populations. Widespread uptake of total Hb-mass testing is currently impractical due to the difficulties in establishing such a service. The following chapter describes the evolution of testing techniques of measuring total Hb-mass and their strengths and limitations. It then goes on to describe the development of a novel testing technique, which attempts to address some of these limitations and make the testing of this important biomarker simpler and more accessible.
Chapter 7: A method of estimating total Hb-mass in the hospital setting by modification of a commonly used respiratory function test.

As discussed in chapter 2, the first pillar of PBM is "Maximising the total red cell mass" and as stated in this paper by one of the world's leading proponents of PBM, "while [Hb] does not correlate particularly well with aerobic capacity", it is the "only feasible surrogate measurement" because "measurement of a patient's total red cell mass is not practical"(J. P. Isbister 2015)

The established methods for measuring total red cells of total haemoglobin are all variations on the principal of indicator dilution and have been through various iterations over the decades. The generally accepted gold standard techniques of measuring total Hb mass is radioisotope scanning using RBCs radiolabelled with Chromium-51("Standard Techniques for the Measurement of Red-Cell and Plasma Volume*" 1973) and subsequent research has shown that it can also be accurately calculated from plasma volume measured using Iodine-125 or 131(Fairbanks et al. 1996). While accurate, these tests are expensive, require exposure to radiation and are now performed in very few centres. Other methods have been described to simplify the technique such as haemodilution methods (Hahn 1987) which relies on the dilution of circulating Hb with known volumes of crystalloid or colloid solutions, and using the measurable change in [Hb] to calculate the initial blood volume. This method, though undoubtedly practical in a hospital setting is prone to significant error (M. B. Wolf 2017). Carbon monoxide binds tightly to haemoglobin forming the measurable molecule carboxyhaemoglobin and this makes it suitable as an alternative dilution technique. It was first described as early as 1900 (Haldane and Smith 1900) and has been revised in various forms since. Burge & Skinner described a method in 1985 using a 10-minute rebreathing time with 50mL of CO in oxygen (Burge and Skinner 1995)

The direct CO rebreathing method, been shown to correlate well with the 125I-albumin method and also radiolabelled Hb techniques. (Thomsen et al. 1991)

Since the first description of the technique, it has undergone a number of modifications and been applied using various methodologies. In 2005, a new iteration of the CO-rebreathing technique was described, which shortened the rebreathing time and simplified the technique (Schmidt and Prommer 2005) resulting in the widespread uptake of the technique in sports medicine.

The Schmidt & Prommer, or optimised CO Rebreathing (oCOR) technique is a shortened 2minute CO-rebreathing technique using a known dose of CO in oxygen. It utilises a proprietary glass spirometer manufactured by BloodTec, which is show in the diagram below. It is fitted with a 3L standard anaesthetic bag, flushed and pre-filled with 100% oxygen. Between the main spirometer and mouthpiece is a small chamber, through which the participant breathes, which is filled with soda lime, in order to absorb exhaled CO2. The participant's nose is obstructed using a standard nose-clip. A 15-minute period of rest is suggested to stabilise blood volumes and a baseline capillary blood gas is taken to establish [COHb] and end tidal [CO] is measured using a CO detector. Upon commencement of the test, the subject exhales fully and then begins breathing through the spirometer. A calculated volume of pure CO is introduced into the spirometer via a 100mL syringe which is attached via an injection port early in the first inspiration to enhance early absorption. The mixture is rebreathed for 2-minutes after which they are asked to fully exhale into the spirometer and the contents of the reservoir are tested for volume and [CO]. The participant's end-tidal [CO] is rechecked after 4 minutes and repeat blood gas analyses are performed at 6- and 8minutes, or a single sample at 7-minutes. Results are entered into password-protected software provided by BloodTec and a value for total Hb is calculated. The custom spirometer is shown in the diagram overleaf:



Figure 7.1. Custom made spirometer developed for the optimised carbon monoxide rebreathing (oCOR) method by Schmidt & Prommer. (A) oxygen (O2) tube, (B) O2 valve, (C) valve of the O2 reservoir, (D) prefilled CO syringe (100 ml capacity), (E) adapter to enable mouth-piece connection, (F) netting bag of soda lime (CO2 scrubber), (G) sleeve, (H) mouthpiece, (I) 3 litre anaesthetic bag (containing pure medical grade O2). Image reproduced from the original paper(Schmidt and Prommer 2005) Patent numbers: US20050075552 A1; DE10222750C1.

The Schmidt & Prommer oCOR technique has been used to demonstrate the effect of altitude training on total-Hb mass(Gore et al. 2013) and postulated to be an effective means of detecting blood doping in elite sports (PROMMER et al. 2008)

The safety of the method is not firmly established in hospital patients, as the development and much of the use has been in sports medicine, where the bulk of trial-participants are athletes. There are, however, some studies which suggest it is safe in the context of coronary artery disease (Karlsen et al. 2016), and those with liver disease and heart failure (James M. Otto et al. 2017)

While the technique itself is relatively straightforward, setting up such a testing method in an existing lab is costly and time-consuming. The equipment, which includes the custom-made glass spirometer is costly (c. \pounds 4000), fragile and difficult to clean and maintain. To satisfy the training requirement of the developers of the technique, the author was required to travel to the physiology laboratory at the Institut für Sportwissenschaft, University of Bayreuth (Bavaria, Germany) to be trained in its use and the formula for calculating the total Hb mass

is retained by the developers with all analysis occurring via their software package. Once trained, and the specialist equipment obtained it was then necessary to arrange for 99.97% purity Carbon Monoxide to be available for the laboratory in which the testing is to occur. There are very few industrial or scientific uses for such a gas and as it is colourless, odourless, and extremely lethal, it is challenging to acquire in a hospital-lab setting. Ordering a small cylinder of research-grade CO for the respiratory lab in Papworth (Cambridgeshire, UK) involved approvals from the research office, head of pharmacy, head of physiology and loading-dock staff and further education and signage for those using the outdoor gas cylinder storage area to ensure the gas was stored safely. Furthermore, to ensure such a gas was being used for the correct purposes, we were required to undergo an audit from the gas supplier (BOC) and acquire an unusual regulator for the small cylinder (eventually obtained for approximately f_{200} which included delivery, dangerous gas fee, pharmacy processing fee and then an ongoing monthly cylinder rental fee). The process of arranging this cylinder took approximately 11 weeks. When equipping the lab at St Vincent's Hospital (Sydney, Australia) the first quote obtained by the author for CO was AUD 1090(c. £570), though the gas was of inadequate purity (99.5%). To obtain the appropriately pure gas mixture, the next quote involved importing a cylinder from Europe to be shipped in an individual shipping container at a cost of over AUD14,000 (c.£7300) with a 12-week lead-in time. Eventually a more suitable arrangement was found via another gas supplier, although the quoted purity of the gas was at worst 99.9%, which could potentially lead to further, albeit minor inaccuracies. Once obtained, it was necessary to store the gas in an outdoor storage site, which necessitated a 3-story commute to fill syringes with the gas for each testing procedure and further signage and training for others using the storage facility. With these barriers in place, it seemed highly unlikely that the establishment of such testing technique would easily become widespread in hospital laboratories, without significant disturbance to standard lab routine or major investment in appropriate in-lab storage facilities for pure CO.

The challenges involved, while surmountable, led to some consideration of methods with which the process might be adapted or modified to be more easily established in an existing hospital respiratory laboratory.

As part of routine respiratory function tests (RFTs), most respiratory function labs would include a measure of the diffusing capacity for carbon monoxide (DLCO, also referred to as transfer factor for carbon monoxide or TLCO). It is a technique that was first described by Marie Krogh in 1915 (Krogh 1915), whereby a known volume of CO is inhaled and uptake by the subject measured. As CO is so rapidly and avidly bound to Hb, forming stable

carboxyhaemoglobin (COHb), its uptake & binding to circulating Hb is limited only by the availability of CO and the diffusion capacity of the barrier across which it must diffuse, in this case the alveolar membrane. When there is damage to the alveolar membrane, reduction in available alveolar surface area, or reduction in pulmonary capillary blood volume, the diffusion capacity of CO is reduced. DLCO thus becomes a good measure of the overall gasexchanging capacity of the lung and is still the primary reliably used measure of this in the laboratory setting.

While Krogh described using CO "prepared from formic acid and sulphuric acid and washed with 20% caustic potash and potassium permanganate", modern respiratory labs use a readily available mixture of CO (usually 0.3%) with the addition of a tracer gas (usually methane 0.3% or helium 0.3%) in order to calculate alveolar volume. In a standardised DLCO test, the subject exhales fully to residual volume (RV) then inhales the gas mixture rapidly to total lung capacity (TLC), holds at TLC for approximately 10 seconds and then exhales again to RV (MacIntyre et al. 2005). A sample of the exhaled alveolar gas is then analysed for dilution of tracer gas and uptake of CO across the alveolar membrane. During the breath-holding phase of the test, the inhaled CO is diluted into the alveolar gas and is transferred into the pulmonary capillaries at an exponential rate. The log of the change in concentration per minute is calculated as a rate constant (kCO). The total accessible alveolar volume is calculated using the aforementioned tracer gas and by measuring its concentration in the inhaled and exhaled samples and the relevant volumes. If V_{l} is the inhaled volume and F_1 is the concentration of tracer in the inhaled sample, and V_2 is the exhaled volume and F_2 is the concentration of tracer in the exhaled sample, then $F_1V_1 = F_2V_2$ and therefore: $V_2 = V_1F_1/F_2$ or $VA = V_I \times (F_I \text{ tracer}/F_A \text{ tracer})$

 $(where \ F_A \ tracer \ is \ the \ alveolar \ (exhaled) \ fraction \ of \ tracer \ gas, \ F_I \ tracer \ is \ the \ inspired \ fraction \ of \ tracer \ gas \ and \ V_I \ is \ the \ volume \ of \ inspired \ gas)$

VA multiplied by kCO gives the rate at which CO is taken up $(V_{\rm CO)}$ in mL/min as demonstrated in the formula: VA x kCO = $V_{\rm CO}$

DLCO is dependent on the driving atmospheric pressure, therefore both sides are divided by the difference between barometric pressure and water vapour pressure, or P_B-P_{H2O} giving the formula (VA x kCO)/(P_B-P_{H2O}) = V_{CO}/P_B-P_{H2O} = DLCO mL/min per mmHg.

KCO, or the carbon monoxide transfer coefficient, which represents the efficiency per lung unit can be calculated by dividing DLCO by VA, as $KCO = kCO/(P_B-P_{H2O})$, and thus many labs report this as DLCO/VA. This usage has been disputed as it incorrectly implies that the measure is independent of lung volume, which has been demonstrated to be false.

In order to demonstrate a reproducible result, the process is repeated (with at least 4 minutes between breaths) until 2 acceptable test results are within 2mL/min/mmHg of each other. A maximum of 5 breaths can be used as DLCO begins to decrease significantly as the %COHb rises and after 5 breaths it can be reduced by as much as 3-3.5% (Graham et al. 2017) as the back-pressure from increased COHb increases due to the reduced concentration gradient. Given that DLCO testing involves the inhalation and exhalation of a measurable amount of CO, the addition of pre- and post-test measures of COHb% should provide similar information as the inputs for Schmidt & Prommer's oCOR technique. A method to measure total Hb mass using existing equipment without need for significant further training, rather only a slight modification of standard testing technique would be potentially useful and far easier to implement as a standard technique. With this in mind, the following describes an alternative method for calculating the total Hb mass using the standard equipment and software used in a DLCO test with slight modifications, the Modified DLCO method for measuring total haemoglobin, henceforth "MoDLCO". This project was approved by the St Vincent's Hospital (Sydney) Research Office (PID15112). This was designed as a proof-ofconcept study to test the validity and reliability of the new method in estimating total Hbmass.

Using a more dilute form of CO to test Δ %COHb is theoretically no different from using pure CO, especially given that using the Schmidt & Prommer technique, the pure CO is diluted into a 3L circuit, giving a concentration of 1.5-2%, depending on the dose used. In fact in the time in which the following method was developed and tested, a new technique using a rebreathed mixture of 0.15% CO was described and demonstrated to be accurate (Falz and Busse 2018). Difficulties begin to arise in detecting smaller differences due to the limitations of the measurement devices. The blood gas analyser that is used (Radiometer ABL90 Flex, Radiometer Medical ApS, Brønshøj, Denmark) provide a value of %COHb to 1 decimal place only and according to the user information, has a CV of 3.4-5.2% in the 5-10%COHb range. To minimise differences between the MoDLCO method and the Schmidt & Prommer method, we aimed to have a similar average of both inhaled CO volume and similar Δ %COHb. Approximating the amount of pure CO to be inhaled, using a 0.3% CO mixture was relatively simple. Assuming a vital capacity of 3-5L, in inspiration of 0.3% CO would equate to 12-20mLs of CO per breath. Schmidt & Prommer's technique suggests a dose of 0.8mL/kg for untrained males and 0.6mL/kg for untrained females. This would equate to 56mL for an average male of 70kg and 36ml for a 60kg female. The standardised DLCO test requires a maximum of 5 breaths, which should equate to 60-100mLs of total

inspired CO, with a higher expiratory loss due to it being a single breath technique, so it was inferred that a full 5-breath DLCO test would provide an approximation of Schmidt & Prommer's CO dose. Furthermore, the dose correction for weight and gender required in the Schmidt & Prommer technique is effectively compensated for by the corresponding increase in tidal volume seen in males and in those with higher ideal body weight. Calculating the expected rise in %COHb in DLCO testing was somewhat more challenging. While estimating the rise is relatively straightforward, there was only one recent study in

healthy volunteers that estimated the %COHb rise in those who performed a 5-second DLCO breaths to be 0.44% per breath and 0.64% rise in those that undertook 10-second DLCO breaths(Zavorsky 2013). Another older paper suggested that each standardised DLCO breath resulted in a COHB rise of approximately 0.7%(Frey et al. 1987), although this was again in healthy non-smokers.

Given the lack of clarity regarding the expected rise in COHb in hospital patients and given that the patient population undergoing testing for tHb-mass in a hospital setting may have multiple cardio-respiratory co-morbidities, it was thought wise to explore the issue further by undertaking an audit in local DLCO testing, to determine what the anticipated COHb rise would be in a usual hospital patient undergoing testing in the respiratory function laboratory. This was undertaken in order to provide information in the development of the new testing technique (MoDLCO) and also to ensure the magnitude of the expected rise would not provide any potential risk to subjects with cardiovascular co-morbidities. With this in mind, the ACADEMY audit, a simple observational study was designed and undertaken by the author, with the help of respiratory laboratory staff. This project was

approved by the St Vincent's Hospital Research Office (project identifier: D/2016/26323) and was a prospective audit of 181 patients undergoing DLCO testing at the St Vincent's Hospital respiratory function laboratory. Pre- and post-procedure %COHb was measured via earlobe sample and a per-breath mean rise in %COHb calculated.

Number of DLCO	2	3	4	5	6
breaths:					
Number of patients	113	51	14	2	1
Mean %COHb rise	0.861	1.278	1.414	2.15	2.1
Mean %COHb rise per	0.43	0.43	0.35	0.43	0.35
DLCO breath					
Overall mean %COHb					0.423%
per DLCO breath					

Table 7.1: Results of %COHb rise in the ACADEMY audit

Based on this audit it was assumed that the expected COHb rise in a 5 breath DLCO test would be in the order of 2.1%

With this information contributing to the development of the MoDLCO method, a trial was designed to test the accuracy and reproducibility of results gained from this novel technique. This was reported based on the structure recommended by the STARD checklist for reporting diagnostic accuracy studies.(J. F. Cohen et al. 2016)

Methods

The trial was a prospective crossover study to examine the test-retest accuracy of the new total Hb-mass (MoDLCO) technique and then compare its performance to the oCOR technique, which was considered to be the most established method of measuring total Hb-mass in recent years.

Eligibility criteria were adults without significant cardio-respiratory comorbidities and volunteers were advertised for via email and poster.

10 healthy adult volunteers were recruited, and after written consent they were testing twice using the MoDLCO technique and once using the oCOR technique. Tests were undertaken with a maximum of one test per day, to allow COHb levels to fall to baseline. Tests were nonconsecutive but not randomised and undertaken in a convenience series over a period of 47days due to laboratory and subject availability. All tests were undertaken with the assistance of a physiologist in the Respiratory Physiology Laboratory, St Vincent's Hospital, Sydney, Australia.

oCOR method

Testing was undertaken in accordance with the methods and equipment described in Schmidt & Prommer's original paper (Schmidt and Prommer 2005) and consistent with the training undertaken by this author at their institution (Institut für Sportwissenschaft, University of Bayreuth, Germany).

Ambient temperature and barometric pressure were recorded for each test. Subjects were seated quietly for approximately 10 minutes to allow for plasma volume stabilisation during which time a cream was applied to an earlobe to vasodilate and therefore "capillarise" samples. A small 1.75mm earlobe incision was made with a TenderlettTM finger incision device (Accriva diagnostics, San Diego, CA, USA) baseline sample was taken in a 45uL heparinised (70IU/mL) blood gas collection tube (safeCLINITUBEs, Radiometer, Copenhagen, Denmark) and then analysed using the laboratory gas analyser, a Radiometer ABL90 Flex (Radiometer, Copenhagen) for pre-test %COHb. A baseline exhaled CO in PPM was recorded using a handheld CO gas analyser (Dräger Pac® 7000, Drägerwerk AG & Co., Lübeck, Germany) as used in the oCOR technique. Subjects exhaled slowly into the analyser using the Dräger calibration attachment and a 10cm length of disposable oxygen tubing. After a further period of quiet breathing, subjects were asked to exhale fully to residual volume (RV) and a nose clip applied. A 100mL syringe was flushed 3 times with pure CO (99.9% purity, Coregas Pty Ltd, Villawood, NSW, Australia) and then filled to the 60mL level before being left to equilibrate to room temperature and pressure, sealed with a 3-way tap after which it was emptied to the 50mL level which was used as the standard dose for each subject. The measurement was checked by the attending physiologist.

They were then connected to the proprietary spirometer manufactured by the authors of the technique (Spico-CO Respirations-Applikator, Blood Tec, Bayreuth, Germany) with the addition of a low volume standard anaesthetic circuit HME filter (DAR[™], Covidien LLC, Mansfield, MA, USA) to decrease any risk of cross-contamination. A 3L anaesthetic bag was pre-filled with 100% oxygen and attached to the spirometer. The soda-lime cannister was filled with approximately 30mL of standard anaesthetic soda lime (Drägersorb® 800+, Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA, Lübeck, Germany)

They were asked to inhale fully as the 3-way tap was opened and the CO injected into the circuit and the spirometer spigot opened to allow early inhalation of the CO, then asked to breath hold for greater than 10 seconds enhancing early absorption. After this, they continued to rebreathe the oxygen/CO mixture for a total of 2 minutes during which the CO-analyser was used to check for leaks in the mouthpiece seal, nose-clip, or spirometer. At

the end of the 2-minutes, they were asked to exhale fully (to RV) into the spirometer and the spigot closed at the end of this process. The remaining gas in the circuit was then analysed for remaining CO in PPM. At 4-minutes post-test, end tidal CO was again measured and further capillary samples taken at 6- and 8-minutes post-test and blood-gas analysis performed. Measurements were entered into the proprietary software and a figure for total-Hb mass obtained.

This method was chosen as the reference standard for several reasons. Firstly, it has been demonstrated to have accuracy in a variety of settings, it is safe and of minimal discomfort to the participant and was readily available to use at short notice to increase convenience to the participant. While an official gold-standard for measuring total Hb mass does not exist, an attempt was made to compare the MoDLCO test to the historical gold-standard test for measuring Red Blood Cell Volume using radiolabelled red cells. Unfortunately, this was not available in any local centre at the time of the study. Carbon-monoxide rebreathing is considered to be the best method of estimating total Hb-mass currently(Siebenmann et al. 2017)

MoDLCO method

In the new technique, testing was undertaken in the same laboratory and tests were carried out in no set order and on days where the laboratory and subjects were available. The technique was designed to be as consistent with the oCOR process as possible, to minimise discrepancies, whilst using currently available standard respiratory laboratory equipment where possible.

Ambient temperature and barometric pressure were recorded for each test. Subjects were seated quietly for approximately 10 minutes to allow for plasma volume stabilisation during which time a cream was applied to an earlobe to vasodilate and therefore "capillarise" samples. A baseline sample was taken in a 45uL heparinised (70IU/mL) blood gas collection tube (safeCLINITUBEs, Radiometer, Copenhagen, Denmark) and then analysed using the laboratory gas analyser (Radiometer ABL90 Flex, Radiometer, Copenhagen) for pre-test %COHb. A baseline exhaled CO in PPM was recorded using a CO gas analyser (Dräger Pac 7000, Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA, Lübeck, Germany) with subjects being asked to exhale slowly and fully into the analyser using a calibration attachment and a short length of disposable oxygen tubing.

The lung function testing equipment that is used for DLCO testing in our laboratory is the VmaxTM Encore PFT & CPET system (VIASYS Healthcare Inc, Conshohoken, Pennsylvania, USA)

Subjects were then seated in the lung function console and allowed a further short period of quiet breathing before a nose-clip was applied. 5- standard DLCO breaths were undertaken in accordance with normal laboratory DLCO testing protocol. We used the maximal breath hold time of 15s to enable maximal absorption of CO into the pulmonary circulation. Sequential 15-second single-breath DLCO tests were undertaken at 2-minute intervals. At the end of each test, the subject was asked to take an additional VC breath of room air and hold that breath for as long as possible to minimise unmeasured loss of inhaled CO. After this VC breath, end-tidal CO was measured using the portable CO-analyser to ascertain if a significant amount of CO was exhaled on the second exhalation after the DLCO test. The results of these second breath-exhalations were tabulated per breath and in total mL CO loss. The standard plateau measurement window was used to calculate expired [CO] on the attached software.

A further capillary sample was taken at between 5- and 8-minutes after the final breath and blood-gas analysis performed in a similar manner to the initial test.

To calculate total Hb mass, the formula was based on that used in all standard COrebreathing methods, namely:

tHb mass = K x MCO x 100 x (Δ COHb% x 1.39)⁻¹

To estimate dead-space, there are several described methods, all of which have been questioned and none are generally considered superior. It has been demonstrated that anatomic dead space increases with age and has a reasonable correlation with age. Hart et al (Hart, Orzalesi, and Cook 1963). Therefore, in the calculation we used the formula that is used in our laboratory routinely:

Anatomic dead space = (weight x 2.2) + age

Equipment dead space was calculated by measuring the volume of the mouthpiece/filter attached to the VIASYS spirometer. It was measured by filling the mouthpiece with water and detecting the weight gain in grams, which was then translated to mL. In this experiment, the SureGardTM (Bird Healthcare, Sydney, Australia) mouthpiece was used with a measured volume of 110mL.

After the inhalation of each breath of CO is taken, there is a progressive loss of CO from the blood to both myoglobin and exhalation. The most recently published estimation of this rate of loss was published by Prommer & Schmidt in 2007 (Prommer and Schmidt 2007) where

they showed that $0.32 \pm 0.12\%$ min⁻¹ is lost to ventilation and $0.32 \pm 0.18\%$ min⁻¹ is lost to myoglobin giving a total of 0.64% loss of CO per minute. This would mean that after each minute, 99.36% of the inhaled dose should remain bound to Hb and be measurable as COHb. To correct for this loss by the time of the final blood gas analysis, a correction factor was added to the calculation such that absorbed dose (at time of final sample) was calculated as:

Absorbed CO dose = (inhaled CO – dead space loss – exhaled CO) x 0.9936 ^{time(mins)} Where:

Inhaled CO dose (mL) = IVC(L) x 3 Dead space loss (mL) = calculated anatomic & equipment dead space(mL) x 0.003 Exhaled CO (mL) = IVC (L) x FE CO x 10 Time(mins) = time from breath to final blood gas sample

Adding the 5 absorbed CO doses gave a total absorbed CO in mLs.

The total-Hb Mass (MoDLCO) was then calculated using the following formula:

Total Hb mass (MoDLCO) = K x total absorbed CO x 100 x (Δ COHb% x 1.39)⁻¹

Where:

K = barometric pressure/760 x 273/temp(K) ΔCOHb (%) = post-test [COHb] – pre-test [COHb]

The results were tabulated and calculated using Microsoft Excel for Mac (version 16.35,

Microsoft 2020), and then analysed using SPSS (version 27, IBM)

Descriptive statistics were performed on baseline characteristics including mean values and standard deviations for age, height, and weight.

For the testing techniques, mean and standard deviation were calculated for each test. Paired students t-tests were performed for MoDLCO test-1 and test-2 and then for oCOR and MoDLCO-average to determine if there was a statistically significant difference between these tests and Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated and presented in tabular and graphical form.

Typical error was calculated for MoDLCO test 1 vs 2 and MoDCLO-average vs oCOR. A Bland-Altman plot was constructed plotting error of MoDLCO test 1, 2 and average against the oCOR result. The limits of agreement (as described by Bland and Altman) were calculated as 1.96 x the mean difference between tests and were calculated for MoDLCO test 1 vs 2, and MoDLCO average vs oCOR and plotted on the Bland-Altman plot.

Results

Subject:	Age	Gender	Height	Weight	Smoker	Comorbidities
1	40	Male	170	82	No	No
2	35	Male	177	72	No	No
3	46	Male	178	80	No	No
4	34	Male	187	90	No	No
5	29	Male	180	80	No	No
6	39	Female	165	89	No	No
7	35	Male	175	74	No	No
8	38	Male	196	87	No	No
9	30	Male	187	92	No	No
10	40	Male	183	81	No	No
Mean (SD)	36.6(5.1)		179.8 (9.0)	82.7 (6.7)		

The baseline characteristics of the subjects are shown below:

Table 7.2: Baseline characteristics

The mean Δ COHb in the new testing technique was 3.4(SD=0.43)

Calculated total-Hb mass results for the 3 tests are shown by subject in the table overleaf:

Subject	Total Hb -	Total Hb -	Total Hb -	Total Hb -	
	oCOR	MoDLCO (test-1)	MoDLCO (test-2)	MoDLCO (average)	
1	842.2	876.7	810.9	843.8	
2	1064.8	948.8	1091.1	1020.0	
3	1002.5	1035.3	994.1	1014.7	
4	964.0	979.4	992.6	986.0	
5	946.2	1045.9	953.9	999.9	
6	642.2	620.3	616.7	618.5	
7	718.9	771.7	733.2	752.4	
8	1238.5	1153.8	1162.1	1158.0	
9	1040.6	1110.5	987.0	1048.7	
10	1098.5	1133.2	1117.3	1125.3	
Mean (SD)	955.8 (179.2)	967.6 (170.3)	945.9 (174.9)	956.7 (168.8)	

Table7.3: Calculated total-Hb mass for each of the tests (2x MoDLCO and 1x oCOR)

The table below shows the results of statistical analysis when MoDLCO test 1 and test 2, then MoDLCO average and oCOR were tested as paired samples.

Tan eu Samples Statistics						
		Mean	Ν	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean	
Pair 1	MoDLCO - test l	967.5600	10	170.28667	53.84937	
	MoDLCO - test2	945.8900	10	174.89670	55.30719	
Pair 2	MoDLCO average	956.7300	10	168.77711	53.37201	
	oCOR	955.8400	10	179.21633	56.67318	

Paired Samples Statistics

Table 7.4: results of paired statistics.

The means of the 2 MoDLCO tests were different by 21.7g Hb, which was quite high although the overall calibration of the MoDLCO results were excellent with a difference in means of only 0.9g Hb compared to the oCOR result.

Paired Samples Test									
Paired Differences									
		Std.	Std. Error	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference				Sig. (2-	
		Mean	Deviation	Mean	Lower	Upper	t	df	tailed)
Pair 1	MoDLCO - test 1 - MoDLCO - test2	21.67000	72.48592	22.92206	-30.18331	73.52331	.945	9	.369
Pair 2	MoDLCO average - oCOR	.89000	40.09191	12.67817	-27.79002	29.57002	.070	9	.946

D · 10

Table 7.5: Descriptive statistics for MoDLCO

Paired sample t-tests showed that there was a non-significant difference between MoDLCO tests 1 and 2, and between the average MODLCO result and the result obtained from oCOR testing.

Calculating the typical error (TE) showed that when comparing MoDLCO test 1 vs test 2, the typical error was 51g (95 % confidence interval 37.4-84.3). When compared to the mean result, this represents a typical error of 5.3% in this series.

Paired Samples Correlations

		Ν	Correlation	Sig.
Pair 1	MoDLCO - test 1 & MoDLCO - test2	10	.912	.000
Pair 2	MoDLCO average & oCOR	10	.975	.000

Table 7.6: Correlation between MoDLCO tests and between MoDLCO (average) and oCOR

Calculating the Pearson's coefficient demonstrated that there was good correlation (r=0.912) between MoDLCO tests 1 &2 and an excellent correlation between the average of the MoDLCO results and the oCOR result (r =0.975). The results were charted in a scatter plot, and then a separate scatter plot for test 1 and test 2 were generated, which demonstrate that MoDLCO test 2 was more reliable than test 1. As is shown on the graph, there was also an improvement in the correlation from MoDLCO test 1 ($r^2=0.86$) to test 2 ($r^2=0.96$) vs oCOR.



Figure 7.2: Scatter plot of MoDLCO test-1 vs test-2



Figure 7.3: Scatter plot of MoDLCO test-1 vs oCOR



Figure 7.4: Scatter plot of MoDLCO test-2 vs oCOR



Figure 7.5: Scatter plot of MoDLCO average vs oCOR



Figure 7.6: Bland Altman Plot showing differences between MoDLCO test 1, 2 and average vs oCOR. The middle solid line represents the mean difference in measured total Hb-mass between techniques (0.89g). Dotted lines represent the limits of agreement (LOA) of MoDLCO test-1 & test-2 (- - -) and MoDLCO average & oCOR (----)

Discussion

The results of the first assessment of the MoDLCO testing technique show that it is possible to provide a reasonable estimation of total Hb-Mass and plasma volume with only minor modification of routine lung function tests. The novel test has significant advantages in ease-of-establishment. It demonstrates that it may be possible to utilise standard respiratory lab equipment and gases to measure total-Hb mass without the need for extra equipment, laborious training, or difficult to acquire and dangerous to store pure Carbon Monoxide. This has various implications. Firstly, it makes the routine measure of total Hb-mass, which has been demonstrated to have advantages over [Hb] as an indicator of anaemic pathophysiology, practical. In addition, it allows simple estimation of plasma volume without the need for radioisotope scans. With further development, this could easily become a routine part of lung function testing or a stand-alone test in any hospital respiratory function lab.

No significant set-up cost, no additional equipment and not much additional training given that it is a slight modification of a routine test, with less accuracy than other CO-rebreathing techniques described in the literature.

The typical error rate of 51g for the new technique was less than ideal, and not indicative that this new technique would be a replacement for the oCOR technique, although it can be seen when comparing the scatterplots of test-1 vs test-2 that the accuracy improved between the two, suggesting that further improvements in accuracy may be achievable with repeated practising of the technique.

The correlation between the average of the MoDLCO tests was excellent with a Pearson's coefficient of 0.98 and good calibration with the means of the MoDLCO scores and the oCOR scores differing by only 0.9g, which suggests that with some improvement of the technique to improve reliability, it could be of value.

Longer time to test, although this may have some beneficial effects as a recent paper has suggested that perhaps 10 minutes is required to achieve complete CO-Hb equilibration, even in healthy volunteers.(Garvican et al. 2010)

There are a number of potential sources of error in the new technique that could be improved with bespoke software changes. For example, the exhaled [CO] is calculated in the Vmax[™] Encore PFT & CPET system based on a small section of the exhaled gas analysis, selected by the operating physiologist, based on where the [CO] appears to plateau. If the software allowed for the full expired gas curve to be sampled, an AUC could be calculated thus allowing for accurate measurement of the total amount of CO exhaled in each breath, which should significantly improve measurement accuracy.

Other potential sources for error exist. The blood gas analyser used gives a measurement to only 1 decimal place. Given the importance of Δ COHb% in the calculation of total Hb-mass, the accuracy of this measure is paramount to the accuracy of the overall test, and an error of 0.1% percent can change the overall result significantly. As discussed, the blood gas analyser available to us was the Radiometer Flex 90. Despite claiming overall excellent accuracy in measurement of most parameters, the quoted CV% of 3.4-5.2% is still significant enough to impact on accuracy of MoDLCO. This was touched on by a recent paper, which seemed to conform that this particular analyser has questionable accuracy in the measurement of MetHb and COHb (García-Payá et al. 2013). It is possible that by using a different analyser, specifically one that has greater accuracy in %COHb measurement, that the MoDLCO typical error could be improved. Similarly, duplicating each pre- and post-test measurement of COHb% may have

helped to reduce error, and though this was not routinely done in this study, it would be recommended in future studies.

The CO that was used for the oCOR technique was from a local supplier who were unable to confirm with certainty that it was of the minimum purity specified by Schmidt and Prommer (99.97%) which could theoretically lead to a slight reduction in the accuracy of the oCOR reference measurement. This effect should be minimal, however. Additionally, for simplicity a standard dose of 50mL of CO was given to each subject, which was in some cases lower than the dose specified in the original paper, although was in the quoted range of 0.5-1mL/kg in all cases. The accuracy of the oCOR test in our laboratory was not tested. On reflection, it would have been worthwhile to test the reliability of the oCOR technique in our hands, as it is possible the practical accuracy with our relative lack of experience and different equipment would not equal the described accuracy of the original technique. A direct comparison of testretest results for each technique would have provided a fairer comparison of techniques. With software modifications to standard PFT or CPET testing techniques, it should be relatively straightforward to add total-Hb mass testing to routine respiratory function testing techniques using the addition of only a pre- and post-test blood gas analysis for COHb%. At present, blood sampling is the only reliable method of measuring COHb%. Although noninvasive oximetry sensors exist, they are currently not accurate enough to detect the relatively small differences that are achieved in these tests, rather they are designed to detect the large rises seen in CO toxicity. If accuracy of these monitors was improved at lower ranges, it would theoretically be possible to estimate total Hb-mass entirely non-invasively, although PV estimation would require a blood sample to calculate from this. Further studies are required to assess whether small doses of CO would provide adequate COHb% change to estimate tHb-mass, in which case it is possible that it could be estimated using as little as one breath of the standard 0.3% CO mixture. It is feasible that if such techniques were developed, they could be used on ventilated patients in ICU, where estimation of plasma volume could be exceedingly valuable.

In conclusion, with further development, the MoDLCO technique could provide a means for any hospital respiratory function lab to measure total-Hb mass using standard lab equipment and gases, and with minimal additional training or the additional challenges of sourcing and safely storing pure Carbon Monoxide.

Chapter 8: General discussion, conclusions, and future research implications

As this thesis describes, there has been increased interest in the effect of iron-deficiency and anaemia on outcomes in cardiac surgery. While transfusion of blood products still has an important role in maintaining blood-oxygen carriage in this context, the increasing evidence of the negative effects on morbidity combined with the high cost have led to strategies to minimise or prevent transfusion. This thesis describes a number of linked projects which aim to help identify those at higher risk of peri-operative transfusion and evaluates the feasibility and effectiveness of intravenous iron therapy in those identified as being most-likely to benefit from this treatment. The scoring systems described in chapters 3 and 4 are useful tools to accurately predict those who are likely to require blood transfusions at the time of surgery and are shown to be accurate in the UK and Australian/New Zealand populations. While the CAVIAR trial did show that pre-operative IV Iron can have a beneficial effect on [Hb], it was not able to detect an improvement in either transfusion rates or outcomes. Finally, while other studies have shown that characterising total Hb-mass may have some advantages over the traditional [Hb] as a marker of anaemic physiology, current methods for testing this are difficult to establish. The new method described in chapter 7 represents an interesting early step in allowing total-Hb mass to be tested for with a slight modification of a commonly used test in hospitals worldwide. While accuracy remains inferior to the gold standard test, it has significant advantages in simplicity and could be set-up by any respiratory lab with lungfunction testing capability. With further improvement in accuracy, it has the potential to bring total-Hb measurement into a more prominent role in the characterisation of anaemia in hospital patients, rather than just in athletes. It could quite easily be incorporated into standard respiratory function tests, which could increase exposure of clinicians to this measurement and give it more clinical relevance. The ability to use this test to easily calculate plasma volume increases its potential applicability to a broad range of medical conditions and settings, where estimation of fluid compartment volumes could be of enormous value. Further modification of this technique could feasibly allow for it to be performed as an add-on into ICU ventilators allowing rapid estimation of plasma volume, information which could be very valuable in guiding therapy in the critically ill.

The described studies make some contribution to the increasing body of evidence surrounding anaemia and iron replacement in cardiac surgery, but also provide direction to future research. The ACTA-PORT and AntiPORT scores could be validated in other regions to provide greater applicability and a global risk-stratification language that could be used to provide a basis for future research into high-risk patients. As the CAVIAR study demonstrated, IV Iron has the capacity to improve [Hb] in pre-operative patients and this provides a strong suggestion that future, adequately powered research can show that it can improve transfusion- and surgical-outcomes. One such trial, ITACS, is well underway with involvement of many of the author's collaborators from the CAVIAR trial. Importantly, as these trials are being undertaken across multiple international sites, as is the case with ITACS, they provide broader applicability and may foster global interest in future research. Chapter 6 provides some early evidence that the use of IV Iron is rapidly increasing in advance of strong evidence that it is effective. It also suggests that anaemia rates that have been slowly decreasing globally for some time may now be reducing more rapidly. Whether there is any causality in this relationship is difficult to show, but further exploration of this trend may provide some large-scale evidence that IV Iron has an important role in the treatment of anaemia. Further improvement in diagnosis and treatment pathways for preoperative anaemia and iron-deficiency could make a significant impact on patient outcomes. Chapter 2 discusses the concept of non-anaemic iron-deficiency (NAID) and this area is also being increasingly targeted by research including some significant interest in the targeting of this group in cardiac surgery with IV iron.

Future areas of research by the author will include continuing to explore the use of Hb-mass testing techniques to determine effectiveness of IV iron on improving Hb-mass prior to surgery as is underway with the ongoing PREFIX trial. Further development of the MoDLCO method may allow for this to be used as a testing modality in such research. Further exploration of the ongoing trends in IV iron prescription and anaemia rates in cardiac surgical patients will also continue.

Bibliography

- Ad, Niv, Sari D Holmes, Deborah J Shuman, Alan M Speir, Graciela Pritchard, and Linda Halpin. 2015. "Should Asymptomatic Patients Discharged with Lower Hemoglobin Expect Worse Outcomes after Valve Surgery?" *The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery* 150 (5): 1322–29. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2015.07.076.
- Adamson, John W, and Joseph W Eschbach. 1998. "Erythropoietin for End-Stage Renal Disease." New England Journal of Medicine 339 (9): 625–27. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199808273390910.
- Adlbrecht, Christopher, Spyridoula Kommata, Martin Hülsmann, Thomas Szekeres, Christian Bieglmayer, Guido Strunk, Georgios Karanikas, et al. 2008. "Chronic Heart Failure Leads to an Expanded Plasma Volume and Pseudoanaemia, but Does Not Lead to a Reduction in the Body's Red Cell Volume." *European Heart Journal* 29 (19): 2343–50. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehn359.
- Agarwal, Rajiv. 2004. "Transferrin Saturation with Intravenous Irons: An in Vitro Study." *Kidney International* 66 (3): 1139–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.00864.x.
- Ahluwalia, Namanjeet, Jianqin Sun, Deanna Krause, Andrea Mastro, and Gordon Handte.
 2004. "Immune Function Is Impaired in Iron-Deficient, Homebound, Older Women." *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 79 (3): 516–21. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/79.3.516.
- Alghamdi, Abdullah A, Aileen Davis, Stephanie Brister, Paul Corey, and Alexander Logan. 2006. "Development and Validation of Transfusion Risk Understanding Scoring Tool (TRUST) to Stratify Cardiac Surgery Patients According to Their Blood Transfusion Needs." *Transfusion* 46 (7): 1120–29. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.2006.00860.x.
- Alves, Arnaud, Yves Panis, Pierre Mathieu, Georges Mantion, Fabrice Kwiatkowski, Karem Slim, and Association Française de Chirurgie. 2005. "Postoperative Mortality and Morbidity in French Patients Undergoing Colorectal Surgery: Results of a Prospective Multicenter Study." *Archives of Surgery* 140 (3): 278–83. https://doi.org/10.1001/archsurg.140.3.278.
- Amin, M, D Fergusson, A Aziz, K Wilson, D Coyle, and P Hébert. 2003a. "The Cost of Allogeneic Red Blood Cells – a Systematic Review." *Transfusion Medicine* 13 (5): 275–86. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3148.2003.00454.x.

—. 2003b. "The Cost of Allogeneic Red Blood Cells – a Systematic Review." Transfusion Medicine 13 (5): 275–86. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3148.2003.00454.x.

- Andrès, Emmanuel, Laure Federici, Khalid Serraj, and Georges Kaltenbach. 2008. "Update of Nutrient-Deficiency Anemia in Elderly Patients." *European Journal of Internal Medicine* 19 (7): 488–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejim.2008.01.016.
- Anker, S D, J Comin Colet, G Filippatos, R Willenheimer, K Dickstein, H Drexler, T F Luscher, et al. 2009. "Ferric Carboxymaltose in Patients with Heart Failure and Iron Deficiency." N Engl J Med 361 (25): 2436–48. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0908355.
- Annibale, Bruno, Gabriele Capurso, Antonio Chistolini, Giancarlo D'Ambra, Emilio DiGiulio, Bruno Monarca, and Gianfranco DelleFave. 2001. "Gastrointestinal Causes of Refractory Iron Deficiency Anemia in Patients without Gastrointestinal Symptoms." *The American Journal of Medicine* 111 (6): 439–45.
- Arai, Takahide, Marie-Claude Morice, Stephen A O'Connor, Masanori Yamamoto, Hélène Eltchaninoff, Alain Leguerrier, Pascal Leprince, Marc Laskar, Bernard Iung, and Jean Fajadet. 2015. "Impact of Pre-and Post-procedural Anemia on the Incidence of Acute Kidney Injury and 1-year Mortality in Patients Undergoing Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation (from the F Rench A Ortic N Ational C Ore V Alve and E Dwards 2 [FRANCE 2] R Egistry)." *Catheterization and Cardiovascular Interventions* 85 (7): 1231–39.
- Armstrong, B. 2008. "Benefits and Risks of Transfusion." *ISBT Science Series* 3 (2): 216–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-2824.2008.00199.x.
- Astor, Brad C, Donna K Arnett, Andrew Brown, and Josef Coresh. 2004. "Association of Kidney Function and Hemoglobin with Left Ventricular Morphology among African Americans: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study." American Journal of Kidney Diseases 43 (5): 836–45.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2003.12.047.

- Auerbach, Michael, and George M. Rodgers. 2007. "Intravenous Iron." *New England Journal* of Medicine 357 (1): 93–94. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc070203.
- Avni, Tomer, Amir Bieber, Alon Grossman, Hefziba Green, Leonard Leibovici, and Anat Gafter-Gvili. 2015. "The Safety of Intravenous Iron Preparations: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* 90 (1): 12–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MAYOCP.2014.10.007.
- Bachmann, Fedor, Rajalaxmi McKenna, Edmond R Cole, and Hassan Najafi. 1975. "The Hemostatic Mechanism after Open-Heart Surgery: I. Studies on Plasma Coagulation

Factors and Fibrinolysis in 512 Patients after Extracorporeal Circulation." *The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery* 70 (1): 76–85.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5223(19)40382-6.

- Baird, I, and D Podmore. 1954. "Intramuscular Iron Therapy in Iron-Deficiency Anaemia." *Lancet* 264 (6845): 942–46.
- Banbury, Michael K., Mariano E. Brizzio, Jeevanantham Rajeswaran, Bruce W. Lytle, and Eugene H. Blackstone. 2006. "Transfusion Increases the Risk of Postoperative Infection after Cardiovascular Surgery." *Journal of the American College of Surgeons* 202 (1): 131–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2005.08.028.
- Baron, D. M., H. Hochrieser, M. Posch, B. Metnitz, A. Rhodes, R. P. Moreno, R. M. Pearse, and P. Metnitz. 2014. "Preoperative Anaemia Is Associated with Poor Clinical Outcome in Non-Cardiac Surgery Patients." *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 113 (3): 416–23. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aeu098.
- Bartoszko, J., and K. Karkouti. 2017. "Can Predicting Transfusion in Cardiac Surgery Help Patients?" *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 119 (3): 350–52. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aex216.
- Beard, John L. 2001. "Iron Biology in Immune Function, Muscle Metabolism and Neuronal Functioning." *The Journal of Nutrition* 131 (2): 568S-580S. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/131.2.568S.
- Beard, John L, and James R Connor. 2003. "Iron Status and Neural Functioning." Annual Review of Nutrition 23 (1): 41–58.
- Beattie, W Scott, Keyvan Karkouti, Duminda N Wijeysundera, and Gordon Tait. 2009.
 "Risk Associated with Preoperative Anemia in Noncardiac SurgeryA Single-Center Cohort Study." *Anesthesiology: The Journal of the American Society of Anesthesiologists* 110 (3): 574–81.
- Bennett-Guerrero, Elliott, Yue Zhao, Sean M. O'Brien, T. B. Ferguson, Eric D. Peterson, James S. Gammie, and Howard K. Song. 2010. "Variation in Use of Blood Transfusion in Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery." *JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association*. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2010.1406.
- Berardi, R, C Braconi, G Mantello, M Scartozzi, S Del Prete, G Luppi, R Martinelli, et al. 2006. "Anemia May Influence the Outcome of Patients Undergoing Neo-Adjuvant Treatment of Rectal Cancer." *Annals of Oncology* 17 (11): 1661–64. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdl285.

Bergamaschi, Gaetano, and Laura Villani. 2009. "Serum Hepcidin: A Novel Diagnostic Tool

in Disorders of Iron Metabolism." *Haematologica* 94 (12): 1631–33. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2009.013615.

- Bernard, Gordon R, Antonio Artigas, Kenneth L Brigham, Jean Carlet, Konrad Falke,
 Leonard Hudson, Maurice Lamy, Jean Roger LeGall, Alan Morris, and Roger Spragg.
 1994. "Report of the American-European Consensus Conference on Acute Respiratory
 Distress Syndrome: Definitions, Mechanisms, Relevant Outcomes, and Clinical Trial
 Coordination." Journal of Critical Care 9 (1): 72–81.
- Bhandal, N., and R. Russell. 2006. "Intravenous versus Oral Iron Therapy for Postpartum Anaemia." *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 113 (11): 1248–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2006.01062.x.
- Billah, Baki, Molla M Huq, Julian A Smith, Fahim Sufi, Lavinia Tran, Gilbert C Shardey, and Christopher M Reid. 2014. "AusSCORE II in Predicting 30-Day Mortality after Isolated Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting in Australia and New Zealand." *The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery* 148 (5): 1850-1855.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2014.02.027.
- Billah, Baki, Christopher Michael Reid, Gilbert C. Shardey, and Julian A. Smith. 2010. "A Preoperative Risk Prediction Model for 30-Day Mortality Following Cardiac Surgery in an Australian Cohort." *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 37 (5): 1086–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcts.2009.11.021.
- Bini, Edmund J. 2001. "Helicobacter Pylori and Iron Deficiency Anemia: Guilty as Charged?" *The American Journal of Medicine* 111 (6): 495–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9343(01)00952-4.
- Blaudszun, G., K. E. Munting, A. Butchart, C. Gerrard, and A. A. Klein. 2018. "The Association between Borderline Pre-Operative Anaemia in Women and Outcomes after Cardiac Surgery: A Cohort Study." *Anaesthesia* 73 (5): 572–78. https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.14185.
- Blumberg, Neil, and Joanna M Heal. 1994. "Effects of Transfusion on Immune Function. Cancer Recurrence and Infection." Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine 118 (4): 371–79.
- Blunden, R. W., J. V. Lloyd, Z. Rudzki, and R. J. Kimber. 1981. "Changes in Serum Ferritin Levels after Intravenous Iron." Annals of Clinical Biochemistry 18 (4): 215–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/000456328101800405.
- Boening, Andreas, Rolf-Hasso Boedeker, Christine Scheibelhut, Juergen Rietzschel, Peter Roth, and Markus Schönburg. 2011. "Anemia Before Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery

as Additional Risk Factor Increases the Perioperative Risk." *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 92 (3): 805–10. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2011.02.076.

- Bothwell, and MacPhail. 2004. "The Potential Role of NaFeEDTA as an Iron Fortificant." *International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research* 74 (6): 421–34. https://doi.org/10.1024/0300-9831.74.6.421.
- Bothwell, Th H, G Pirzio-Biroli, and C A Finch. 1958. "Iron Absorption: I. Factors Influencing Absorption." *The Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine* 51 (1): 24–36.
- Bovell-Benjamin, Adelia C, Fernando E Viteri, and Lindsay H Allen. 2000. "Iron Absorption from Ferrous Bisglycinate and Ferric Trisglycinate in Whole Maize Is Regulated by Iron Status." *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 71 (6): 1563–69. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/71.6.1563.
- Brevig, James, Julie McDonald, Edy S. Zelinka, Trudi Gallagher, Ruyun Jin, and Gary L.
 Grunkemeier. 2009. "Blood Transfusion Reduction in Cardiac Surgery: Multidisciplinary Approach at a Community Hospital." *Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 87 (2): 532–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2008.10.044.
- Brien, Anthony J, and Toby L Simon. 1987. "The Effects of Red Blood Cell Infusion on 10-Km Race Time." JAMA 257 (20): 2761–65. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1987.03390200101022.
- Buick, FJ, N Gledhill, A B Froese, L Spriet, and E C Meyers. 1980. "Effect of Induced Erythrocythemia on Aerobic Work Capacity." *Journal of Applied Physiology* 48 (4): 636–42. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1980.48.4.636.
- Burge, C M, and S L Skinner. 1995. "Determination of Hemoglobin Mass and Blood Volume with CO: Evaluation and Application of a Method." *Journal of Applied Physiology* 79 (2): 623–31. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1995.79.2.623.
- Cacoub, Patrice, Gael Nicolas, and Katell Peoc'h. 2020. "Iron Deficiency Markers in Patients Undergoing Iron Replacement Therapy: A 9-Year Retrospective Real-World Evidence Study Using Healthcare Databases." *Scientific Reports* 10 (1): 14983. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-72057-9.
- Calbet, José A L, Carsten Lundby, Maria Koskolou, and Robert Boushel. 2006. "Importance of Hemoglobin Concentration to Exercise: Acute Manipulations." *Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology* 151 (2): 132–40.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resp.2006.01.014.

Camaschella, Clara. 2015. "Iron Deficiency: New Insights into Diagnosis and Treatment." *Hematology* 2015 (1): 8–13. https://doi.org/10.1182/asheducation-2015.1.8.

- Campbell, D., L. Boyle, M. Soakell-Ho, P. Hider, L. Wilson, J. Koea, A. F. Merry, C. Frampton, and T. G. Short. 2019. "National Risk Prediction Model for Perioperative Mortality in Non-cardiac Surgery." *BJS* 106 (11): 1549–57. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.11232.
- Canet, Jaume, Lluís Gallart, Carmen Gomar, Guillem Paluzie, Jordi Vallès, Jordi Castillo, Sergi Sabaté, et al. 2010. "Prediction of Postoperative Pulmonary Complications in a Population-Based Surgical Cohort." *Anesthesiology* 113 (6): 1338–50. https://doi.org/10.1097/ALN.0b013e3181fc6e0a.
- Carmel, Ralph. 2008. "Nutritional Anemias and the Elderly." *Seminars in Hematology* 45 (4): 225–34. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminhematol.2008.07.009.
- Caro, J Jaime, Maribel Salas, Alexandra Ward, and Glenwood Goss. 2001. "Anemia as an Independent Prognostic Factor for Survival in Patients with Cancer." *Cancer* 91 (12): 2214–21. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0142(20010615)91:12<2214::AID-CNCR1251>3.0.CO;2-P.
- Carson, Jeffrey L., Amy Duff, Roy M. Poses, Jesse A. Berlin, Richard K. Spence, Richard Trout, Helaine Noveck, and Brian L. Strom. 1996. "Effect of Anaemia and Cardiovascular Disease on Surgical Mortality and Morbidity." *Lancet* 348 (9034): 1055– 60. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(96)04330-9.
- Carson, JeffreyL., RichardK. Spence, RoyM. Poses, and Gregory Bonavita. 1988. "SEVERITY OF ANAEMIA AND OPERATIVE MORTALITY AND MORBIDITY." *The Lancet* 331 (8588): 727–29. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(88)91536-X.
- Cercamondi, Colin I, Ines M Egli, Evariste Mitchikpe, Felicien Tossou, Joamel Hessou,
 Christophe Zeder, Joseph D Hounhouigan, and Richard F Hurrell. 2013. "Iron
 Bioavailability from a Lipid-Based Complementary Food Fortificant Mixed with Millet
 Porridge Can Be Optimized by Adding Phytase and Ascorbic Acid but Not by Using a
 Mixture of Ferrous Sulfate and Sodium Iron EDTA." *The Journal of Nutrition* 143 (8):
 1233–39. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.113.175075.
- Chaparro, Camila M, and Parminder S Suchdev. 2019. "Anemia Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, and Etiology in Low- and Middle-Income Countries." Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1450 (1): 15–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.14092.
- Chau, Marisa, Toby Richards, Caroline Evans, Anna Butcher, Timothy Collier, and Andrew Klein. 2017. "The UK Cardiac and Vascular Surgery Interventional Anaemia Response (CAVIAR) Study: Protocol for an Observational Cohort Study to Determine the Impact

and Effect of Preoperative Anaemia Management in Cardiac and Vascular Surgical Patients." *BM7 Open*. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014872.

- Chaves, Paulo H M, Bimal Ashar, Jack M Guralnik, and Linda P Fried. 2002. "Looking at the Relationship Between Hemoglobin Concentration and Prevalent Mobility Difficulty in Older Women. Should the Criteria Currently Used to Define Anemia in Older People Be Reevaluated?" *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 50 (7): 1257–64. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1532-5415.2002.50313.x.
- Chaves, Paulo H M, Qian-Li Xue, Jack M Guralnik, Luigi Ferrucci, Stefano Volpato, and Linda P Fried. 2004. "What Constitutes Normal Hemoglobin Concentration in Community-Dwelling Disabled Older Women?" *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 52 (11): 1811–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2004.52502.x.
- Chertow, Glenn M., Phillip D. Mason, Odd Vaage-Nilsen, and Jarl Ahlmén. 2006. "Update on Adverse Drug Events Associated with Parenteral Iron." *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* 21 (2): 378–82. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfi253.
- Cladellas, Mercè, Jordi Bruguera, Josep Comìn, Joan Vila, Elisabeth De Jaime, Julio Martì, and Miquel Gomez. 2006. "Is Pre-Operative Anaemia a Risk Marker for in-Hospital Mortality and Morbidity after Valve Replacement?" *European Heart Journal* 27 (9): 1093–99. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehi830.
- Cladellas, Mercè, Nuria Farré, Josep Comín-Colet, Miquel Gómez, Oona Meroño, M. Alba Bosch, Joan Vila, Rosa Molera, Anna Segovia, and Jordi Bruguera. 2012. "Effects of Preoperative Intravenous Erythropoietin Plus Iron on Outcome in Anemic Patients After Cardiac Valve Replacement." *The American Journal of Cardiology* 110 (7): 1021–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AMJCARD.2012.05.036.
- Clayton, T C, J Lubsen, S J Pocock, Z Voko, B A Kirwan, K A Fox, and P A Poole-Wilson.
 2005. "Risk Score for Predicting Death, Myocardial Infarction, and Stroke in Patients with Stable Angina, Based on a Large Randomised Trial Cohort of Patients." *British Medical Journal* 331 (1468-5833 (Electronic) LA-eng PT-Clinical Trial PT-Journal Article PT-Multicenter Study PT-Randomized Controlled Trial PT-Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't RN-0 (Calcium Channel Blockers) RN-21829-25-4 (Nifedipine) SB-AIM SB-IM): 869. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.38603.656076.63.
- Clevenger, Ben, Kurinchi Gurusamy, Andrew A. Klein, Gavin J. Murphy, Stefan D. Anker, and Toby Richards. 2016. "Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Iron Therapy in Anaemic Adults without Chronic Kidney Disease: Updated and Abridged Cochrane Review." *European Journal of Heart Failure* 18 (7): 774–85.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.514.

- Cohen, Jérémie F, Daniël A Korevaar, Douglas G Altman, David E Bruns, Constantine A Gatsonis, Lotty Hooft, Les Irwig, et al. 2016. "STARD 2015 Guidelines for Reporting Diagnostic Accuracy Studies: Explanation and Elaboration." *BMJ Open* 6 (11): e012799. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012799.
- Cohen, Mark E, Karl Y Bilimoria, Clifford Y Ko, and Bruce Lee Hall. 2009. "Development of an American College of Surgeons National Surgery Quality Improvement Program: Morbidity and Mortality Risk Calculator for Colorectal Surgery." *Journal of the American College of Surgeons* 208 (6): 1009–16.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2009.01.043.

- Conlon, Niamh P, Eilis P Bale, G Peter Herbison, and Maire McCarroll. 2008.
 "Postoperative Anemia and Quality of Life After Primary Hip Arthroplasty in Patients Over 65 Years Old." Anesthesia & Analgesia 106 (4). https://journals.lww.com/anesthesiaanalgesia/Fulltext/2008/04000/Postoperative_Anemia_and_Quality_of_Life_After.5.a spx.
- Cook, J D, and M B Reddy. 1995. "Efficacy of Weekly Compared with Daily Iron Supplementation." *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 62 (1): 117–20. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/62.1.117.
- Cremer, Joachim, Marius Martin, Heinz Redl, Soheyl Bahrami, Conny Abraham, Thomas Graeter, Axel Haverich, Günter Schlag, and Hans Georg Borst. 1996. "Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome after Cardiac Operations." *Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-4975(96)00055-0.
- Cullen, David J, Joseph M Civetta, Burton A Briggs, and Linda C Ferrara. 1974.
 "Therapeutic Intervention Scoring System: A Method for Quantitative Comparison of Patient Care." *Critical Care Medicine* 2 (2). https://journals.lww.com/ccmjournal/Fulltext/1974/03000/Therapeutic_intervention _scoring_system_a_method.1.aspx.
- Czer, Lawrence S C. 1989. "Mediastinal Bleeding after Cardiac Surgery: Etiologies, Diagnostic Considerations, and Blood Conservation Methods." *Journal of Cardiothoracic Anesthesia* 3 (6): 760–75. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0888-6296(89)95267-8.
- D'Angelo, Guido. 2013. "Role of Hepcidin in the Pathophysiology and Diagnosis of Anemia." *Blood Research* 48 (1): 10–15. https://doi.org/10.5045/br.2013.48.1.10.
- Dai, Lu, Stephanie L. Mick, Keith R. McCrae, Penny L. Houghtaling, Joseph F. Sabik,

Eugene H. Blackstone, and Colleen G. Koch. 2018. "Preoperative Anemia in Cardiac Operation: Does Hemoglobin Tell the Whole Story?" *Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 105 (1): 100–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2017.06.074.

- Daly, D. J., P. S. Myles, J. A. Smith, J. L. Knight, O. Clavisi, D. L. Bain, R. Glew, N. M. Gibbs, and A. F. Merry. 2007. "Anticoagulation, Bleeding and Blood Transfusion Practices in Australasian Cardiac Surgical Practice." *Anaesthesia and Intensive Care*. Australian Society of Anaesthetists. https://doi.org/10.1177/0310057x0703500516.
- Daru, Jahnavi, Javier Zamora, Borja M Fernández-Félix, Joshua Vogel, Olufemi T Oladapo, Naho Morisaki, Özge Tunçalp, et al. 2018. "Risk of Maternal Mortality in Women with Severe Anaemia during Pregnancy and Post Partum: A Multilevel Analysis." *The Lancet Global Health* 6 (5): e548–54. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30078-0.
- DeAnda, Abe, Kathy M. Baker, Susan D. Roseff, Jeffrey A. Green, Harry McCarthy, Tyrone Aron, and Bruce D. Spiess. 2006. "Developing a Blood Conservation Program in Cardiac Surgery." *American Journal of Medical Quality* 21 (4): 230–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/1062860606289784.
- Despotis, George J, Kriton S Filos, Timothy N Zoys, Charles W Hogue, Edward Spitznagel, and Demetrios G Lappas. 1996. "Factors Associated with Excessive Postoperative Blood Loss and Hemostatic Transfusion Requirements: A Multivariate Analysis in Cardiac Surgical Patients." Anesthesia & Analgesia 82 (1). https://journals.lww.com/anesthesiaanalgesia/Fulltext/1996/01000/Factors_Associated_with_Excessive_Postoperative.4.as px.
- Ditah, Ivo C, Ashley M Nadeau, Alberto Rubio-Tapia, Eric V Marietta, Tricia L Brantner, Michael J Camilleri, Vincent S Rajkumar, Ola Landgren, James E Everhart, and Joseph A Murray. 2015. "Trends and Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Gluten-Sensitive Problems in the United States: Findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys from 1988 to 2012." American Journal of Gastroenterology 110 (3): 455–61.
- Dobbing, John. 2013. Brain, Behaviour, and Iron in the Infant Diet. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Dong, XinQi, Carlos Mendes de Leon, Andrew Artz, YuXiao Tang, Raj Shah, and Denis Evans. 2008. "A Population-Based Study of Hemoglobin, Race, and Mortality in Elderly Persons." *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A* 63 (8): 873–78. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/63.8.873.
- Dubray, B, V Mosseri, F Brunin, C Jaulerry, P Poncet, J Rodriguez, J Brugère, D Point, P

Giraud, and J M Cosset. 1996. "Anemia Is Associated with Lower Local-Regional Control and Survival after Radiation Therapy for Head and Neck Cancer: A Prospective Study." *Radiology* 201 (2): 553–58. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiology.201.2.8888257.

- Dunn, J-OC, M G Mythen, and M P Grocott. 2016. "Physiology of Oxygen Transport." *BJA Education* 16 (10): 341–48. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjaed/mkw012.
- Ebner, Nicole, Ewa A Jankowska, Piotr Ponikowski, Mitja Lainscak, Sebastian Elsner,
 Veronika Sliziuk, Lisa Steinbeck, et al. 2016. "The Impact of Iron Deficiency and
 Anaemia on Exercise Capacity and Outcomes in Patients with Chronic Heart Failure.
 Results from the Studies Investigating Co-Morbidities Aggravating Heart Failure." *International Journal of Cardiology* 205: 6–12.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.11.178.
- Ekblom, B, A N Goldbarg, and B Gullbring. 1972. "Response to Exercise after Blood Loss and Reinfusion." *Journal of Applied Physiology* 33 (2): 175–80. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1972.33.2.175.
- Ekiz, Ceyda, Leyla Agaoglu, Zeynep Karakas, Nuray Gurel, and Işık Yalcin. 2005. "The Effect of Iron Deficiency Anemia on the Function of the Immune System." *The Hematology Journal* 5 (7): 579–83.
- Elebute, E A, and H B Stoner. 1983. "The Grading of Sepsis." *BJS (British Journal of Surgery)* 70 (1): 29–31. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.1800700111.
- Elhenawy, Abdelsalam M, Steven R Meyer, Sean M Bagshaw, Roderick G MacArthur, and Linda J Carroll. 2021. "Role of Preoperative Intravenous Iron Therapy to Correct Anemia before Major Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." Systematic Reviews 10 (1): 36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-021-01579-8.
- Emerit, J, C Beaumont, and F Trivin. 2001. "Iron Metabolism, Free Radicals, and Oxidative Injury." *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy* 55 (6): 333–39. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0753-3322(01)00068-3.
- Engoren, Milo C, Robert H Habib, Anoar Zacharias, Thomas a Schwann, Christopher J Riordan, and Samuel J Durham. 2002. "Effect of Blood Transfusion on Long-Term Survival after Cardiac Operation." *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 74 (02): 1180–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-4975(02)03766-9.
- Engoren, Milo, Thomas A. Schwann, Elizabeth Jewell, Sean Neill, Patrick Benedict, Donald S. Likosky, and Robert H. Habib. 2015. "Is Transfusion Associated with Graft Occlusion after Cardiac Operations?" *Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 99 (2): 502–8.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.09.028.

- Engoren, Milo, Thomas A Schwann, Robert H Habib, Sean N Neill, Jennifer L Vance, and Donald S Likosky. 2014. "The Independent Effects of Anemia and Transfusion on Mortality After Coronary Artery Bypass." *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 97 (2): 514–20. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2013.09.019.
- Ezekowitz, Justin A, Finlay A McAlister, and Paul W Armstrong. 2003. "Anemia Is Common in Heart Failure and Is Associated With Poor Outcomes." *Circulation* 107 (2): 223–25. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000052622.51963.FC.
- Fairbanks, Virgil F, George G Klee, Gregory A Wiseman, James D Hoyer, Ayalew Tefferi, Robert M Petitt, and Murray N Silverstein. 1996. "Measurement of Blood Volume and Red Cell Mass: Re-Examination of Cr and I Methods 51 125." *Blood Cells* 15 (15): 169– 86. https://www.daxor.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/cr51.pdf.
- Falluji, Nezar Al, Janet Lawrence-Nelson, John B Kostis, Clifton R Lacy, Rajiv Ranjan, and Alan C Wilson. 2002. "Effect of Anemia on 1-Year Mortality in Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction." *American Heart Journal* 144 (4): 636–41.
- Falz, Roberto, and Martin Busse. 2018. "Determination of Hemoglobin Mass in Humans by Measurement of CO Uptake during Inhalation of a CO-Air Mixture: A Proof of Concept Study." *Physiological Reports* 6 (17): 1–11. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.13849.
- Fan, Ming-Sheng, Fang-Jie Zhao, Susan J Fairweather-Tait, Paul R Poulton, Sarah J Dunham, and Steve P McGrath. 2008. "Evidence of Decreasing Mineral Density in Wheat Grain over the Last 160 Years." *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology* 22 (4): 315–24. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtemb.2008.07.002.
- Felker, G Michael, Kirkwood F Adams, Wendy A Gattis, and Christopher M O'Connor.
 2004. "Anemia as a Risk Factor and Therapeutic Target in Heart Failure." *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 44 (5): 959–66.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2004.05.070.

- Ferrari, Marcello, Lorenzo Manea, Kamel Anton, Paola Bruzzone, Mara Meneghello, Francesco Zamboni, Luigi Purgato, Lucia Cazzoletti, Pietro Ferrari, and Renato Testi. 2015. "Anemia and Hemoglobin Serum Levels Are Associated with Exercise Capacity and Quality of Life in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease." *BMC Pulmonary Medicine* 15 (1): 58. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12890-015-0050-y.
- Ferraris, Victor A, and Virginia Gildengorin. 1989. "Predictors of Excessive Blood Use after Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting: A Multivariate Analysis." *The Journal of Thoracic and*

Cardiovascular Surgery 98 (4): 492–97. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5223(19)34348-X.

- Fishbane, Steven, and Edward A. Kowalski. 2000. "The Comparative Safety of Intravenous Iron Dextran, Iron Saccharate, and Sodium Ferric Gluconate." Seminars in Dialysis. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-139x.2000.00104.x.
- Fleming, Robert E., and William S. Sly. 2001. "Hepcidin: A Putative Iron-Regulatory Hormone Relevant to Hereditary Hemochromatosis and the Anemia of Chronic Disease." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 98 (15): 8160–62. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.161296298.
- Flint, Andrew W J, Michael Bailey, Christopher M Reid, Julian A Smith, Lavinia Tran, Erica M Wood, Zoe K McQuilten, and Michael C Reade. 2020. "Preoperative Identification of Cardiac Surgery Patients at Risk of Receiving a Platelet Transfusion: The Australian Cardiac Surgery Platelet Transfusion (ACSePT) Risk Prediction Tool." *Transfusion* 60 (10): 2272–83. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/trf.15990.
- Foley, Robert N, Patrick S Parfrey, John D Harnett, Gloria M Kent, David C Murray, and Paul E Barre. 1996. "The Impact of Anemia on Cardiomyopathy, Morbidity, and Mortality in End-Stage Renal Disease." *American Journal of Kidney Diseases* 28 (1): 53–61. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-6386(96)90130-4.
- Fowler, A J, T Ahmad, M K Phull, S Allard, M A Gillies, and R M Pearse. 2015. "Systematic Review Meta-Analysis of the Association between Preoperative Anaemia and Mortality after Surgery." https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.9861.
- Freedman, John, Katherine Luke, Michael Escobar, Lee Vernich, and Jo Anne Chiavetta. 2008. "Experience of a Network of Transfusion Coordinators for Blood Conservation (Ontario Transfusion Coordinators [ONTraC])." *Transfusion* 48 (2): 237–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.2007.01515.x.
- Frey, T M, R O Crapo, R L Jensen, and C G Elliott. 1987. "Diurnal Variation of the Diffusing Capacity of the Lung: Is It Real?" Am Rev Respir Dis 136 (6): 1381–84. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=C itation&list_uids=3688643.
- Friedman, B A, H A Oberman, A R Chadwick, and K I Kingdon. 1976. "The Maximum Surgical Blood Order Schedule and Surgical Blood Use in the United States." *Transfusion* 16 (4): 380–87. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1537-2995.1976.16476247063.x.
- Friedrich, Ivar, Andreas Simm, Joachim Kötting, Frank Thölen, Burkhard Fischer, and Rolf-Edgar Silber. 2009. "Cardiac Surgery in the Elderly Patient." *Deutsches Arzteblatt*

International 106 (25): 416-22. https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2009.0416.

- Froessler, Bernd, Peter Palm, Ingo Weber, Nicolette A Hodyl, Rajvinder Singh, and Elizabeth M Murphy. 2016. "The Important Role for Intravenous Iron in Perioperative Patient Blood Management in Major Abdominal Surgery: A Randomized Controlled Trial." Annals of Surgery 264 (1): 41.
- Frontela, Carmen, Maria-Laura Scarino, Simonetta Ferruzza, Gaspar Ros, and Carmen Martínez. 2009. "Effect of Dephytinization on Bioavailability of Iron, Calcium and Zinc from Infant Cereals Assessed in the Caco-2 Cell Model." World Journal of Gastroenterology 15 (16): 1977–84. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.15.1977.
- Furuyama, Kazumichi, and Kiriko Kaneko. 2007. "Heme as a Magnificent Molecule with Multiple Missions: Heme Determines Its Own Fate and Governs Cellular Homeostasis." *The Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine* 213 (1): 1–16.
- Galas, Filomena RBG, Juliano P Almeida, Julia T Fukushima, Eduardo A Osawa, Rosana E Nakamura, Carolina MPDC Silva, Elisângela Pinto Marinho de Almeida, Jose Otavio Costa Auler, Jean-Louis Vincent, and Ludhmila A Hajjar. 2013. "Blood Transfusion in Cardiac Surgery Is a Risk Factor for Increased Hospital Length of Stay in Adult Patients." *Journal of Cardiothoracic Surgery* 8 (1): 54. https://doi.org/10.1186/1749-8090-8-54.
- García-Payá, María Elena, Marta Fernández-González, Nuria Viciano Morote, Águeda
 Belmonte Cobos, María Consuelo Tormo Díaz, and José Francisco Sánchez
 Hernández. 2013. "Performance of the Radiometer ABL-90 FLEX Blood Gas Analyzer
 Compared With Similar Analyzers." *Laboratory Medicine* 44 (1): e52–61.
 https://doi.org/10.1309/LM7BOXDXQNQ0FDUL.
- Gardner, G W, V R Edgerton, B Senewiratne, R J Barnard, and Y Ohira. 1977. "Physical Work Capacity and Metabolic Stress in Subjects with Iron Deficiency Anemia." *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 30 (6): 910–17. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/30.6.910.
- Garvican, Laura A, Caroline M Burge, Amanda J Cox, Sally A Clark, David T Martin, and Christopher J Gore. 2010. "Carbon Monoxide Uptake Kinetics of Arterial, Venous and Capillary Blood during CO Rebreathing." *Experimental Physiology* 95 (12): 1156–66. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1113/expphysiol.2010.054031.
- Gaskell, Helen, Sheena Derry, R Andrew Moore, and Henry J Mcquay. 2008. "Prevalence of Anaemia in Older Persons : Systematic Review." *BMC Geriatrics* 8: 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-8-1.

- Geissler, Hans J, Philipp Hölzl, Sascha Marohl, Ferdinand Kuhn-Régnier, Uwe Mehlhorn, Michael Südkamp, and E Rainer de Vivie. 2000. "Risk Stratification in Heart Surgery: Comparison of Six Score Systems." *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 17 (4): 400– 406. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1010-7940(00)00385-7.
- George, T. 2012. "Hemoglobin Drift after Cardiac Surgery." Annals of Thoracic Surgery 94 (3): 703–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.371.
- Gereklioglu, Cigdem, Suheyl Asma, Asli Korur, Ferit Erdogan, and Altug Kut. 2016. "Medication Adherence to Oral Iron Therapy in Patients with Iron Deficiency Anemia." *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences* 32 (3): 604–7. https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.323.9799.
- Gimbrone Jr., Michael A. 1995. "Vascular Endothelium: An Integrator of Pathophysiologic Stimuli in Atherosclerosis." *American Journal of Cardiology* 75 (6): 67B-70B. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9149(95)80016-L.
- Gledhill, Norman, Darren Warburton, and Veronica Jamnik. 1999. "Haemoglobin, Blood Volume, Cardiac Function, and Aerobic Power." *Canadian Journal of Applied Physiology* 24 (1): 54–65. https://doi.org/10.1139/h99-006.
- Goldman, Lee, Debra L Caldera, Samuel R Nussbaum, Frederick S Southwick, Donald Krogstad, Barbara Murray, Donald S Burke, et al. 1977. "Multifactorial Index of Cardiac Risk in Noncardiac Surgical Procedures." *New England Journal of Medicine* 297 (16): 845–50. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM197710202971601.
- Goldman, S, J Copeland, T Moritz, W Henderson, K Zadina, T Ovitt, J Doherty, R Read, E Chesler, and Y Sako. 1988. "Improvement in Early Saphenous Vein Graft Patency after Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery with Antiplatelet Therapy: Results of a Veterans Administration Cooperative Study." *Circulation* 77 (6): 1324–32. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.77.6.1324.
- Gomes, Manuel M R, and Dwight C McGoon. 1970. "Bleeding Patterns after Open-Heart Surgery." *The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery* 60 (1): 87–97. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5223(19)42387-8.
- Goodnough, Lawrence Tim, and Stanley L Schrier. 2014. "Evaluation and Management of Anemia in the Elderly." American Journal of Hematology 89 (1): 88–96. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.23598.
- Goodnough, Lt, Mf Johnston, and Pt Toy. 1991. "The Variability of Transfusion Practice in Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery. Transfusion Medicine Academic Award Group." *Journal of the American Medical Association*. Chicago,.
- Gore, Christopher J, Ken Sharpe, Laura a Garvican-Lewis, Philo U Saunders, Clare E Humberstone, Eileen Y Robertson, Nadine B Wachsmuth, et al. 2013. "Altitude Training and Haemoglobin Mass from the Optimised Carbon Monoxide Rebreathing Method Determined by a Meta-Analysis." *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 47 Suppl 1: i31-9. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2013-092840.
- Gorla, Riccardo, Konstantinos Tsagakis, Michael Horacek, Amir-Abbas Mahabadi, Philipp Kahlert, Heinz Jakob, Eduardo Bossone, Raimund Erbel, and Rolf Alexander Jánosi. 2017. "Impact of Preoperative Anemia and Postoperative Hemoglobin Drop on the Incidence of Acute Kidney Injury and In-Hospital Mortality in Patients with Type B Acute Aortic Syndromes Undergoing Thoracic Endovascular Aortic Repair." *Vascular and Endovascular Surgery* 51 (3): 131–38.
- Goudie, R., J. A C Sterne, V. Verheyden, M. Bhabra, M. Ranucci, and G. J. Murphy. 2015.
 "Risk Scores to Facilitate Preoperative Prediction of Transfusion and Large Volume Blood Transfusion Associated with Adult Cardiac Surgery." *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 114 (5): 757–66. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aeu483.
- Graham, Brian L., Vito Brusasco, Felip Burgos, Brendan G. Cooper, Robert Jensen, Adrian Kendrick, Neil R. Macintyre, Bruce R. Thompson, and Jack Wanger. 2017. "2017
 ERS/ATS Standards for Single-Breath Carbon Monoxide Uptake in the Lung." *European Respiratory Journal* 49 (1): 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.00016-2016.
- Greiff, Guri, Hilde Pleym, Roar Stenseth, Kristin S. Berg, Alexander Wahba, and Vibeke Videm. 2015. "Prediction of Bleeding after Cardiac Surgery: Comparison of Model Performances: A Prospective Observational Study." *Journal of Cardiothoracic and Vascular Anesthesia* 29 (2): 311–19. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jvca.2014.08.002.
- Greig, Alecia, Amanda Patterson, Clare Collins, Kerry Chalmers, and University of Newcastle Joanna Briggs Institute Evidence Synthesis Group: University of Newcastle Evidence Based Health Care Group. 2010. "The Effects of Non-Anaemic Iron Deficiency on Cognition, Mental Health and Fatigue in Women of Childbearing Age: A Systematic Review Protocol." *JBI Evidence Synthesis* 8 (34). https://journals.lww.com/jbisrir/Fulltext/2010/08341/The_effects_of_non_anaemic_i ron_deficiency_on.21.aspx.
- Gruson, Konrad I, Gina B Aharonoff, Kenneth A Egol, Joseph D Zuckerman, and Kenneth J Koval. 2002. "The Relationship between Admission Hemoglobin Level and Outcome after Hip Fracture." *Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma* 16 (1): 39–44.
- Guerin, S, C Collins, H Kapoor, I McClean, and D Collins. 2007. "Blood Transfusion

Requirement Prediction in Patients Undergoing Primary Total Hip and Knee Arthroplasty." *Transfusion Medicine* 17 (1): 37–43. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3148.2006.00698.x.

- Gupta, Prateek K, Abhishek Sundaram, Jason N MacTaggart, Jason M Johanning, Himani
 Gupta, Xiang Fang, Robert Armour Forse, et al. 2013. "Preoperative Anemia Is an
 Independent Predictor of Postoperative Mortality and Adverse Cardiac Events in
 Elderly Patients Undergoing Elective Vascular Operations." *Annals of Surgery* 258 (6).
 https://journals.lww.com/annalsofsurgery/Fulltext/2013/12000/Preoperative_Anemia
 _Is_an_Independent_Predictor_of.36.aspx.
- Gutteridge, John M C, David A Rowley, and Barry Halliwell. 1982. "Superoxide-Dependent Formation of Hydroxyl Radicals and Lipid Peroxidation in the Presence of Iron Salts. Detection of 'Catalytic' Iron and Anti-Oxidant Activity in Extracellular Fluids." *Biochemical Journal* 206 (3): 605–9. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj2060605.
- H., Lee Thomas, Marcantonio Edward R., Mangione Carol M., Thomas Eric J., Polanczyk Carisi A., Cook E Francis, Sugarbaker David J., et al. 1999. "Derivation and Prospective Validation of a Simple Index for Prediction of Cardiac Risk of Major Noncardiac Surgery." *Circulation* 100 (10): 1043–49. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.100.10.1043.
- Hagino, Tetsuo, Satoshi Ochiai, Eiichi Sato, Shingo Maekawa, Masanori Wako, and Hirotaka Haro. 2009. "The Relationship between Anemia at Admission and Outcome in Patients Older than 60 Years with Hip Fracture." *Journal of Orthopaedics and Traumatology : Official Journal of the Italian Society of Orthopaedics and Traumatology* 10 (3): 119– 22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10195-009-0060-8.
- Hahn, R. G. 1987. "A Haemoglobin Dilution Method (HDM) for Estimation of Blood Volume Variations during Transurethral Prostatic Surgery." *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica* 31 (7): 572–78. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-6576.1987.tb02623.x.
- Hajjar, Ludhmila A., Jean Louis Vincent, Filomena R.B.G. Galas, Rosana E. Nakamura, Carolina M.P. Silva, Marilia H. Santos, Julia Fukushima, et al. 2010. "Transfusion Requirements after Cardiac Surgery: The TRACS Randomized Controlled Trial." *JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association* 304 (14): 1559–67. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2010.1446.
- Haldane, John, and J Lorrain Smith. 1900. "The Mass and Oxygen Capacity of the Blood in Man." *The Journal of Physiology* 25 (5): 331–43. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1900.sp000800.

Halm, Ethan A, Jason J Wang, Kenneth Boockvar, Joan Penrod, Stacey B Silberzweig, Jay

Magaziner, Kenneth J Koval, and Albert L Siu. 2004. "The Effect of Perioperative Anemia on Clinical and Functional Outcomes in Patients with Hip Fracture." *Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma* 18 (6): 369–74. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005131-200407000-00007.

- Hamada, Yoshihiro, Kanji Kawachi, Nobuo Tsunooka, Yoshitsugu Nakamura, Shinji Takano, and Hiroshi Imagawa. 2004. "Capillary Leakage in Cardiac Surgery with Cardiopulmonary Bypass." *Asian Cardiovascular and Thoracic Annals*. https://doi.org/10.1177/021849230401200303.
- Hampton, Mark B, Anthony J Kettle, and Christine C Winterbourn. 1998. "Inside the Neutrophil Phagosome: Oxidants, Myeloperoxidase, and Bacterial Killing." *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* 92 (9): 3007–17.
- Hare, Gregory M T, Albert K Y Tsui, Anya T McLaren, Tenille E Ragoonanan, Julie Yu, and C David Mazer. 2008. "Anemia and Cerebral Outcomes: Many Questions, Fewer Answers." Anesthesia & Analgesia 107 (4). https://journals.lww.com/anesthesiaanalgesia/Fulltext/2008/10000/Anemia_and_Cerebral_Outcomes__Many_Questions, .46.aspx.
- Hart, M C, M M Orzalesi, and C D Cook. 1963. "Relation between Anatomic Respiratory Dead Space and Body Size and Lung Volume." *Journal of Applied Physiology* 18 (3): 519– 22. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1963.18.3.519.
- Hassan, Tamer Hasan, Mohamed Ahmed Badr, Nehad Ahmed Karam, Marwa Zkaria,
 Hosam Fathy El Saadany, Doaa Mohamed Abdel Rahman, Doaa Abdallah Shahbah, et
 al. 2016. "Impact of Iron Deficiency Anemia on the Function of the Immune System in
 Children." *Medicine* 95 (47): e5395–e5395.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000005395.
- Heath, Clark W., Maurice B. Strauss, and William B. Castle. 1932. "Quantitative Aspects of Iron Deficiency in Hypochromic Anemia." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 11 (6): 1293– 1312. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci100478.
- Hegde, Nikita, Michael W. Rich, and Charina Gayomali. 2006. "The Cardiomyopathy of Iron Deficiency." *Texas Heart Institute Journal* 33 (3): 340–44.
- Heinicke, K, B Wolfarth, P Winchenbach, B Biermann, A Schmid, G Huber, B Friedmann, and W Schmidt. 2001. "Blood Volume and Hemoglobin Mass in Elite Athletes of Different Disciplines." *International Journal of Sports Medicine* 22 (07): 504–12.
- Hentze, Matthias W, Martina U Muckenthaler, Bruno Galy, and Clara Camaschella. 2010. "Two to Tango: Regulation of Mammalian Iron Metabolism." *Cell* 142 (1): 24–38.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.06.028.

- Heymann, Christian von, Lutz Kaufner, Michael Sander, Claudia Spies, Karina Schmidt, Hans Gombotz, Klaus Dieter Wernecke, and Felix Balzer. 2016. "Does the Severity of Preoperative Anemia or Blood Transfusion Have a Stronger Impact on Long-Term Survival after Cardiac Surgery?" *Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery* 152 (5): 1412–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2016.06.010.
- Higgins, Thomas L, Fawzy G Estafanous, Floyd D Loop, Gerald J Beck, James M Blum, and Lata Paranandi. 1992. "Stratification of Morbidity and Mortality Outcome by Preoperative Risk Factors in Coronary Artery Bypass Patients: A Clinical Severity Score." *JAMA* 267 (17): 2344–48. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1992.03480170070031.
- Hogan, Maurice, Andrew A Klein, Toby Richards, and M Hogan. 2014. "The Impact of Anaemia and Intravenous Iron Replacement Therapy on Outcomes in Cardiac Surgery." https://doi.org/10.1093/ejcts/ezu200.
- Hogue Jr., C W, L T Goodnough, and T G Monk. 1998. "Perioperative Myocardial Ischemic Episodes Are Related to Hematocrit Level in Patients Undergoing Radical Prostatectomy." *Transfusion* 38 (10): 924–31. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1537-2995.1998.381098440856.x.
- Horvath, Keith A., Michael A. Acker, Helena Chang, Emilia Bagiella, Peter K. Smith, Alexander Iribarne, Irving L. Kron, et al. 2013. "Blood Transfusion and Infection After Cardiac Surgery." *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 95 (6): 2194–2201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.11.078.
- Hubert, Marine, Baptiste Gaudriot, Sebastien Biedermann, Hervé Gouezec, Emmanuelle Sylvestre, Guillaume Bouzille, Jean Philippe Verhoye, Erwan Flecher, and Claude Ecoffey. 2019. "Impact of Preoperative Iron Deficiency on Blood Transfusion in Elective Cardiac Surgery." *Journal of Cardiothoracic and Vascular Anesthesia* 33 (8): 2141–50. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jvca.2019.02.006.
- Hung, M., M. Besser, L. D. Sharples, S. K. Nair, and A. A. Klein. 2011. "The Prevalence and Association with Transfusion, Intensive Care Unit Stay and Mortality of Pre-Operative Anaemia in a Cohort of Cardiac Surgery Patients." *Anaesthesia* 66 (9): 812–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2044.2011.06819.x.
- Hung, Matthew, Erik Ortmann, Martin Besser, Pedro Martin-Cabrera, Toby Richards,Marcus Ghosh, Fiona Bottrill, Timothy Collier, and Andrew a. Klein. 2015. "AProspective Observational Cohort Study to Identify the Causes of Anaemia and

Association with Outcome in Cardiac Surgical Patients." *Heart (British Cardiac Society)* 101 (2): 107–12. https://doi.org/10.1136/heartjnl-2014-305856.

- Hurrell, Lynch, Bothwell, Cori, Glahn, Hertrampf, Kratky, et al. 2004. "Enhancing the Absorption of Fortification Iron." *International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research* 74 (6): 387–401. https://doi.org/10.1024/0300-9831.74.6.387.
- Iqbal, Kashif, Tasneem Zafar, Zafar Iqbal, Mohammad Usman, Hafsa Bibi, Maria Sadaf Afreen, and Javeid Iqbal. 2015. "Effect of Iron Deficiency Anemia on Intellectual Performance of Primary School Children in Islamabad, Pakistan." *Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research* 14 (2): 287–91. https://doi.org/10.4314/tjpr.v14i2.14.
- Isbister, J. P. 2015. "The Three-Pillar Matrix of Patient Blood Management." *ISBT Science Series* 10 (S1): 286–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/voxs.12135.
- Isbister, J P. 1997. "Physiology and Pathophysiology of Blood Volume Regulation." *Transfusion Science* 18 (3): 409–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0955-3886(97)00040-4.
- Isbister, James P. 1988. "The Paradigm Shift in Blood Transfusion." Medical Journal of Australia 148 (6): 306–8. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.5694/j.1326-5377.1988.tb117840.x.
- Izaks, Gerbrand J, Rudi G J Westendorp, and Dick L Knook. 1999. "The Definition of Anemia in Older Persons." JAMA 281 (18): 1714–17. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.281.18.1714.
- Jaeggi, Tanja, Guus A M Kortman, Diego Moretti, Christophe Chassard, Penny Holding, Alexandra Dostal, Jos Boekhorst, et al. 2015. "Iron Fortification Adversely Affects the Gut Microbiome, Increases Pathogen Abundance and Induces Intestinal Inflammation in Kenyan Infants." *Gut* 64 (5): 731 LP – 742. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307720.
- Jankowska, Ewa A, Piotr Rozentryt, Agnieszka Witkowska, Jolanta Nowak, Oliver Hartmann, Beata Ponikowska, Ludmila Borodulin-Nadzieja, et al. 2011. "'Iron Deficiency: An Ominous Sign in Patients with Systolic Chronic Heart Failure' [Eur Heart J 2010;31:1872–1880, Doi:10.1093/Eurheartj/Ehq158]." *European Heart Journal* 32 (9): 1054. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehr115.
- Jáuregui-Lobera, Ignacio. 2014. "Iron Deficiency and Cognitive Functions." *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment* 10 (November): 2087–95. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S72491.
- Johansson, P. I., A. S. Rasmussen, and Lars L. Thomsen. 2015. "Intravenous Iron Isomaltoside 1000 (Monofer®) Reduces Postoperative Anaemia in Preoperatively Non-Anaemic Patients Undergoing Elective or Subacute Coronary Artery Bypass Graft,

Valve Replacement or a Combination Thereof: A Randomized Double-Bli." *Vox Sanguinis* 109 (3): 257–66. https://doi.org/10.1111/vox.12278.

- Kaitha, Sindhu, Muhammad Bashir, and Tauseef Ali. 2015. "Iron Deficiency Anemia in Inflammatory Bowel Disease." World Journal of Gastrointestinal Pathophysiology 6 (3): 62–72. https://doi.org/10.4291/wjgp.v6.i3.62.
- Karkouti, Keyvan, Rachel O'Farrell, Terrence M Yau, W Scott Beattie, and Reducing Bleeding in Cardiac Surgery (RBC) Research Group. 2006. "Prediction of Massive Blood Transfusion in Cardiac Surgery." *Canadian Journal of Anesthesia* 53 (8): 781–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03022795.
- Karkouti, Keyvan, Duminda N. Wijeysundera, and W. Scott Beattie. 2008a. "Risk Associated with Preoperative Anemia in Cardiac Surgery : A Multicenter Cohort Study." *Circulation* 117 (4): 478–84.

https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.718353.

- 2008b. "Risk Associated with Preoperative Anemia in Cardiac Surgery: A Multicenter Cohort Study." *Circulation* 117 (4): 478–84.
 https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.718353.
- Karkouti, Keyvan, Duminda N. Wijeysundera, Terrence M. Yau, Stuart A. McCluskey, Christopher T. Chan, Pui Yuen Wong, and W. Scott Beattie. 2011. "Influence of Erythrocyte Transfusion on the Risk of Acute Kidney Injury after Cardiac Surgery Differs in Anemic and Nonanemic Patients." *Anesthesiology* 115 (3): 523–30. https://doi.org/10.1097/ALN.0b013e318229a7e8.
- Karlsen, Trine, Ingeborg Megard Leinan, Inger Lise Aamot, Havard Dalen, and Asbjorn Stoylen. 2016. "Safety of the CO-Rebreathing Method in Patients with Coronary Artery Disease." *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 48 (1): 33–38. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000000729.
- Karthik, Shishir, Antony D Grayson, Emer E McCarron, D.Mark Pullan, and Michael J Desmond. 2004. "Reexploration for Bleeding after Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery: Risk Factors, Outcomes, and the Effect of Time Delay." *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 78 (2): 527–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2004.02.088.
- Kassebaum, NJ et al. 2019. "A Systemic Analysis of Global Anaemia Burden from 1990 2010." *Blood* 123: 615–25.
- Kassebaum, Nicholas J, Rashmi Jasrasaria, Mohsen Naghavi, Sarah K Wulf, Nicole Johns, Rafael Lozano, Mathilda Regan, et al. 2019. "A Systematic Analysis of Global Anemia Burden from 1990 to 2010." *Blood* 123 (5): 615–25. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-

2013-06-508325.The.

- Keeler, B. D., E. A. Dickson, J. A. Simpson, O. Ng, H. Padmanabhan, M. J. Brookes, A. G. Acheson, et al. 2019. "The Impact of Pre-Operative Intravenous Iron on Quality of Life after Colorectal Cancer Surgery: Outcomes from the Intravenous Iron in Colorectal Cancer-Associated Anaemia (IVICA) Trial." *Anaesthesia* 74 (6). https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.14659.
- Keeler, B D, J A Simpson, O Ng, H Padmanabhan, M J Brookes, A G Acheson, IVICA Trial Group, A Banerjea, C Walter, and C Maxwell-Armstrong. 2017. "Randomized Clinical Trial of Preoperative Oral versus Intravenous Iron in Anaemic Patients with Colorectal Cancer." *British Journal of Surgery* 104 (3): 214–21.
- Kemp, John D. 1993. "The Role of Iron and Iron Binding Proteins in Lymphocyte Physiology and Pathology." *Journal of Clinical Immunology* 13 (2): 81–92.
- Khambalia, Amina Z, Ashley M Aimone, and Stanley H Zlotkin. 2011. "Burden of Anemia among Indigenous Populations." *Nutrition Reviews* 69 (12): 693–719. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2011.00437.x.
- Khan, Fida A., Melanie A. Fisher, and Rashida A. Khakoo. 2007. "Association of Hemochromatosis with Infectious Diseases: Expanding Spectrum." *International Journal of Infectious Diseases* 11 (6): 482–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2007.04.007.
- Khanbhai, M, S Dubb, K Patel, A Ahmed, and T Richards. 2015. "The Prevalence of Iron Deficiency Anaemia in Patients Undergoing Bariatric Surgery." *Obesity Research* ピ *Clinical Practice* 9 (1): 45–49.
- Kim, C. J., H. Connell, A. D. McGeorge, and R. Hu. 2015. "Prevalence of Preoperative Anaemia in Patients Having First-Time Cardiac Surgery and Its Impact on Clinical Outcome. A Retrospective Observational Study." *Perfusion (United Kingdom)* 30 (4): 277– 83. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114542457.
- Klein, A. A., T. J. Collier, M. S. Brar, C. Evans, G. Hallward, S. N. Fletcher, and T. Richards. 2016. "The Incidence and Importance of Anaemia in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery in the UK - the First Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthetists National Audit." *Anaesthesia*, no. March 2015: 627–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.13423.
- ———. 2016. "The Incidence and Importance of Anaemia in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery in the UK - The First Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthetists National Audit." *Anaesthesia* 71 (6): 627–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.13423.

Klein, A.A., T. Collier, J. Yeates, L.F. Miles, S.N. Fletcher, C. Evans, and T. Richards. 2017.

"The ACTA PORT-Score for Predicting Perioperative Risk of Blood Transfusion for Adult Cardiac Surgery." *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 119 (3). https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aex205.

- Klein, A A, T Collier, J Yeates, L F Miles, S N Fletcher, and C Evans. 2017. "The ACTA PORT-Score for Predicting Perioperative Risk of Blood Transfusion for Adult Cardiac Surgery." *British Journal Of Anaesthesia* 119 (July): 394–401. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aex242.
- Klein, AA, TJ Collier, CE Brar, G Hallward, T Fletcher, and R Tichards. 2016. "The Incidence and Importance of Anaemia in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery in the UK - the First Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthetists National Audit." *Anaesthesia2016* 71 (6): 627–35.
- Klein, Andrew A, Marisa Chau, James A Yeates, Timothy Collier, Caroline Evans, Seema Agarwal, and Toby Richards. 2020. "Preoperative Intravenous Iron before Cardiac Surgery: A Prospective Multicentre Feasibility Study." *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 124 (3): 243–50. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bja.2019.11.023.
- Klein, Harvey G., and Richard B. Weiskopf. 1999. "Immunomodulatory Aspects of Transfusion : A Once and Future Risk?" *Anesthesiology* 91 (3): 861. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000542-199909000-00040.
- Knaus, William A, Jack E Zimmerman, Douglas P Wagner, Elizabeth A Draper, and Diane
 E Lawrence. 1981. "APACHE-Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation: A
 Physiologically Based Classification System." *Critical Care Medicine* 9 (8): 591–97.
- Koch, Colleen G., Liang Li, Zhiyuan Sun, Eric D. Hixson, Anne Tang, Shannon C. Phillips, Eugene H. Blackstone, and J. Michael Henderson. 2013. "Hospital-Acquired Anemia: Prevalence, Outcomes, and Healthcare Implications." *Journal of Hospital Medicine* 8 (9): 506–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/jhm.2061.
- Koch, Colleen Gorman, Liang Li, Andra I Duncan, Tomislav Mihaljevic, Delos M Cosgrove, Floyd D Loop, Norman J Starr, and Eugene H Blackstone. 2006. "Morbidity and Mortality Risk Associated with Red Blood Cell and Blood-Component Transfusion in Isolated Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting." *Critical Care Medicine* 34 (6): 1608–16. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.CCM.0000217920.48559.D8.
- Koch, Colleen Gorman, Liang Li, David R Van Wagoner, Andra I Duncan, A Marc Gillinov, and Eugene H Blackstone. 2006. "Red Cell Transfusion Is Associated with an Increased Risk for Postoperative Atrial Fibrillation." *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 82 (5): 1747–56.

- Kotzé, Alwyn, Andrea Harris, Charles Baker, Tariq Iqbal, Nick Lavies, Toby Richards, Kate Ryan, Craig Taylor, and Dafydd Thomas. 2015. "British Committee for Standards in Haematology Guidelines on the Identification and Management of Pre-Operative Anaemia." *British Journal of Haematology* 171 (3): 322–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.13623.
- Krogh, Marie. 1915. "The Diffusion of Gases through the Lungs of Man." The Journal of Physiology 49 (4): 271–300. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1915.sp001710.
- Kulier, Alexander, Jack Levin, Rita Moser, Gudrun Rumpold-Seitlinger, Iulia Cristina Tudor, Stephanie A. Snyder-Ramos, Patrick Moehnle, and Dennis T. Mangano. 2007.
 "Impact of Preoperative Anemia on Outcome in Patients Undergoing Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery." *Circulation* 116 (5): 471–79. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.653501.
- Kuvibidila, Solo R, Connie Porretta, B Surendra Baliga, and Lily E Leiva. 2001. "Reduced Thymocyte Proliferation but Not Increased Apoptosis as a Possible Cause of Thymus Atrophy in Iron-Deficient Mice." *British Journal of Nutrition* 86 (2): 157–62.
- Larocque, B. J., K. Gilbert, and W. F. Brien. 2003. "Prospective Validation of a Point Score System for Predicting Blood Transfusion Following Hip or Knee Replacement." *Transfusion*. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1537-2995.1998.381098440857.x.
- Larson, L M, K S Phiri, and S.-R. Pasricha. 2017. "Iron and Cognitive Development: What Is the Evidence?" Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism 71(suppl 3 (Suppl. 3): 25–38. https://doi.org/10.1159/000480742.
- Le, Chi Huu Hong. 2016. "The Prevalence of Anemia and Moderate-Severe Anemia in the US Population (NHANES 2003-2012)." *PloS One* 11 (11): e0166635–e0166635. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0166635.
- Leahy, Michael F, Axel Hofmann, Simon Towler, Kevin M Trentino, Sally A Burrows, Stuart G Swain, Jeffrey Hamdorf, and Trudi Gallagher. 2017. "Improved Outcomes and Reduced Costs Associated with a Health-System–Wide Patient Blood Management Program: A Retrospective Observational Study in Four Major Adult Tertiary-Care Hospitals." *Blood Management* 57 (June). https://doi.org/10.1111/trf.14006.
- Leff, Jonathan, Christopher A Romano, Stephanie Gilbert, and Singh Nair. 2019.
 "Validation Study of the Transfusion Risk and Clinical Knowledge (TRACK) Tool in Cardiac Surgery Patients: A Retrospective Analysis." *Journal of Cardiothoracic and Vascular Anesthesia* 33 (10): 2669–75.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jvca.2019.05.040.

- Leichtle, Stefan W, Nicolas J Mouawad, Richard Lampman, Bonita Singal, and Robert K Cleary. 2011. "Does Preoperative Anemia Adversely Affect Colon and Rectal Surgery Outcomes?" *Journal of the American College of Surgeons* 212 (2): 187–94.
- Lewis, Gregory D., Rajeev Malhotra, Adrian F. Hernandez, Steven E. McNulty, Andrew Smith, G. Michael Felker, W. H. Wilson Tang, et al. 2017. "Effect of Oral Iron Repletion on Exercise Capacity in Patients with Heart Failure with Reduced Ejection Fraction and Iron Deficiency the IRONOUT HF Randomized Clinical Trial." *JAMA -Journal of the American Medical Association* 317 (19). https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.5427.
- Litton, Edward, Jing Xiao, and Kwok M Ho. 2013. "Safety and Efficacy of Intravenous Iron Therapy in Reducing Requirement for Allogeneic Blood Transfusion: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomised Clinical Trials." *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)* 347 (August): f4822. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.f4822.
- LÜSCHER, T F. 1993. "The Endothelium as a Target and Mediator of Cardiovascular Disease." *European Journal of Clinical Investigation* 23 (11): 670–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2362.1993.tb01285.x.
- Macdonald, Rosemary. 1977. "Red Cell 2,3-diphosphoglycerate and Oxygen Affinity." Anaesthesia 32 (6): 544–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2044.1977.tb10002.x.
- MacIntyre, N., R. O. Crapo, G. Viegi, D. C. Johnson, C. P M van der Grinten, Vito Brusasco, F. Burgos, et al. 2005. "Standardisation of the Single-Breath Determination of Carbon Monoxide Uptake in the Lung." *European Respiratory Journal* 26 (4): 720–35. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.05.00034905.
- Maddux, Franklin W., Timothy A. Dickinson, Dirck Rilla, Robert W. Kamienski, Sibu P.
 Saha, Frazier Eales, Alfredo Rego, Harry W. Donias, Susan L. Crutchfield, and Robert
 A. Hardin. 2009. "Institutional Variability of Intraoperative Red Blood Cell Utilization in Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery." *American Journal of Medical Quality* 24 (5): 403– 11. https://doi.org/10.1177/1062860609339384.
- Madhu Krishna, N R, P S Nagaraja, Naveen G Singh, S N Nanjappa, Karthik Narendra Kumar, V Prabhakar, and N Manjunatha. 2019. "Evaluation of Risk Scores in Predicting Perioperative Blood Transfusions in Adult Cardiac Surgery." Annals of Cardiac Anaesthesia 22 (1): 73–78. https://doi.org/10.4103/aca.ACA_18_18.
- Magovern, James A., Tamara Sakert, Daniel H Benckart, John A Burkholder, George A Liebler, George J Magovern, and George J Magovern. 1996. "A Model for Predicting Transfusion after Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting." *Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 61 (1): 27–

32. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-4975(95)00808-X.

- Magovern, James A, Tamara Sakert, George J Magovern, Daniel H Benckart, John A Burkholder, and George A Liebler. 1996. "A Model That Predicts Morbidity and Mortality after Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery." *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 28 (5): 1147–53.
- Maroko, Peter R, and Eugene Braunwald. 1976. "Effects of Metabolic and Pharmacologic Interventions on Myocardial Infarct Size Following Coronary Occlusion." Acta Medica Scandinavica 199 (S587): 125–36.
- Mason, John, Reynaldo Martorell, Lisa Saldanha, and Roger Shrimpton. 2013. "Reduction of Anaemia." *The Lancet Global Health* 1 (1): e4–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(13)70009-3.
- Matsuda, Sonoo, Toshihiro Fukui, Jun Shimizu, Ayako Takao, Shuichiro Takanashi, and Hitonobu Tomoike. 2013. "Associations between Preoperative Anemia and Outcomes after Off-Pump Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting." *Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 95 (3): 854– 60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.10.005.
- Mazer, C. D., R. P. Whitlock, D. A. Fergusson, E. Belley-Cote, K. Connolly, B. Khanykin,
 A. J. Gregory, et al. 2018. "Six-Month Outcomes after Restrictive or Liberal Transfusion for Cardiac Surgery." *New England Journal of Medicine* 379 (13). https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1808561.
- Mazer, C. D., R. P. Whitlock, D. A. Fergusson, J. Hall, E. Belley-Cote, K. Connolly, B. Khanykin, et al. 2017. "Restrictive or Liberal Red-Cell Transfusion for Cardiac Surgery." *New England Journal of Medicine* 377 (22): 2133–44. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1711818.
- Mazzeffi, Michael, Joel Zivot, Timothy Buchman, and Michael Halkos. 2014. "In-Hospital Mortality After Cardiac Surgery: Patient Characteristics, Timing, and Association With Postoperative Length of Intensive Care Unit and Hospital Stay." *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 97: 1220–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2013.10.040.
- McClellan, William M, W Dana Flanders, Robert D Langston, Claudine Jurkovitz, and Rodney Presley. 2002. "Anemia and Renal Insufficiency Are Independent Risk Factors for Death among Patients with Congestive Heart Failure Admitted to Community Hospitals: A Population-Based Study." *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 13 (7): 1928 LP – 1936. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ASN.0000018409.45834.FA.
- McLean, Erin, Mary Cogswell, Ines Egli, Daniel Wojdyla, and Bruno de Benoist. 2009. "Worldwide Prevalence of Anaemia, WHO Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information

System, 1993–2005." *Public Health Nutrition* 12 (04): 444. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980008002401.

- McQuilten, Zoe K, Nick Andrianopoulos, Erica M Wood, Merrole F Cole-Sinclair, John J McNeil, Peter A Cameron, Christopher M Reid, Andrew E Newcomb, Julian A Smith, and Louise E Phillips. 2014. "Transfusion Practice Varies Widely in Cardiac Surgery: Results from a National Registry." *The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery* 147 (5): 1684—1690.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2013.10.051.
- Melenovsky, Vojtech, Jiri Petrak, Tomas Mracek, Jan Benes, Barry A Borlaug, Hana Nuskova, Tomas Pluhacek, et al. 2017. "Myocardial Iron Content and Mitochondrial Function in Human Heart Failure: A Direct Tissue Analysis." *European Journal of Heart Failure* 19 (4): 522–30. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.640.
- Menon, D K, and A Ercole. 2017. "Chapter 14 Critical Care Management of Traumatic Brain Injury." In *Critical Care Neurology Part I*, edited by Eelco F M Wijdicks and Andreas H B T - Handbook of Clinical Neurology Kramer, 140:239–74. Elsevier. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63600-3.00014-3.
- Meybohm, P, M H Goehring, S Choorapoikayil, D Fischer, J Rey, E Herrmann, M M Mueller, C Geisen, and K Zacharowski. 2017. "Feasibility and Efficiency of a Preoperative Anaemia Walk-in Clinic : Secondary Data from a Prospective Observational Trial." *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 118 (4): 625–26. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aex024.
- Miles, L F, S A Kunz, L H Na, S Braat, K Burbury, and D A Story. 2017. "Postoperative Outcomes Following Cardiac Surgery in Non-Anaemic Iron-Replete and Iron-Deficient Patients – an Exploratory Study." https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.14115.
- Miles, Lachlan F., Ravinder N.S. Sandhu, Anneke C. Grobler, Stephane Heritier, Adele Burgess, Kate L. Burbury, and David A. Story. 2019. "Associations between Non-Anaemic Iron Deficiency and Outcomes Following Surgery for Colorectal Cancer: An Exploratory Study of Outcomes Relevant to Prospective Observational Studies." *Anaesthesia and Intensive Care* 47 (2): 152–59.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0310057X19838899.

Miller, Wayne L., and Brian P. Mullan. 2015. "Peripheral Venous Hemoglobin and Red Blood Cell Mass Mismatch in Volume Overload Systolic Heart Failure: Implications for Patient Management." *Journal of Cardiovascular Translational Research* 8 (7): 404–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12265-015-9650-4.

Miskovic, A, and A B Lumb. 2017. "Postoperative Pulmonary Complications." British Journal

of Anaesthesia 118 (3): 317–34. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aex002.

- Mohanram, Anupama, Zhongxin Zhang, Shahnaz Shahinfar, William F Keane, Barry M Brenner, and Robert D Toto. 2004. "Anemia and End-Stage Renal Disease in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes and Nephropathy." *Kidney International* 66 (3): 1131–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.00863.x.
- Moncada, S, and A Higgs. 1993. "The L-Arginine-Nitric Oxide Pathway. LK -Https://Anzca.on.Worldcat.Org/Oclc/121744579." The New England Journal of Medicine TA - TT - 329 (27): 2002–12.
- Moreno, Rui P, Philipp G H Metnitz, Eduardo Almeida, Barbara Jordan, Peter Bauer,
 Ricardo Abizanda Campos, Gaetano Iapichino, et al. 2005. "SAPS 3—From Evaluation of the Patient to Evaluation of the Intensive Care Unit. Part 2: Development of a Prognostic Model for Hospital Mortality at ICU Admission." *Intensive Care Medicine* 31 (10): 1345–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-005-2763-5.
- Moretti, Diego, Jeroen S. Goede, Christophe Zeder, Markus Jiskra, Vaiya Chatzinakou, Harold Tjalsma, Alida Melse-Boonstra, Gary Brittenham, Dorine W. Swinkels, and Michael B. Zimmermann. 2015. "Oral Iron Supplements Increase Hepcidin and Decrease Iron Absorption from Daily or Twice-Daily Doses in Iron-Depleted Young Women." *Blood* 126 (17): 1981–89. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-05-642223.
- Mueller, Markus M, Hans Van Remoortel, Patrick Meybohm, Kari Aranko, Cécile Aubron, Reinhard Burger, Jeffrey L Carson, Klaus Cichutek, Emmy De Buck, and Dana Devine. 2019. "Patient Blood Management: Recommendations from the 2018 Frankfurt Consensus Conference." *Jama* 321 (10): 983–97.
- Muñoz, Carlos, Ernesto Rios, Jorge Olivos, Oscar Brunser, and Manuel Olivares. 2007. "Iron, Copper and Immunocompetence." *British Journal of Nutrition* 98 (S1): S24–28. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1017/S0007114507833046.
- Muñoz, M., A. G. Acheson, M. Auerbach, M. Besser, O. Habler, H. Kehlet, G. M. Liumbruno, et al. 2017. "International Consensus Statement on the Peri-Operative Management of Anaemia and Iron Deficiency." *Anaesthesia* 72 (2): 233–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.13773.
- Muñoz, M., S. Gómez-Ramírez, S. Kozek-Langeneker, A. Shander, T. Richards, J. Pavía, H. Kehlet, et al. 2015. "Fit to Fly': Overcoming Barriers to Preoperative Haemoglobin Optimization in Surgical Patients." *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 115 (1): 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aev165.

Munoz, M, AG Acheson, M Auerbach, M Besser, O Habler, GM Kehlet, SL Liumbruno, P

Meybohm, R Rao Baikady, and T Richards. 2017. "International Consensus Statement on the Peri-Operative Management of Anaemia and Iron Deficiency." *Anaesthesia* 72: 233–47.

- Muñoz, Manuel, José Antonio García-Erce, Jorge Cuenca, Elvira Bisbe, and Enrique Naveira. 2012. "On the Role of Iron Therapy for Reducing Allogeneic Blood Transfusion in Orthopaedic Surgery." *Blood Transfusion = Trasfusione Del Sangue* 10 (1): 8– 22. https://doi.org/10.2450/2011.0061-11.
- Muñoz, Manuel, Susana Gómez-Ramírez, Arturo Campos, Joaquín Ruiz, and Giancarlo M. Liumbruno. 2015. "Pre-Operative Anaemia: Prevalence, Consequences and Approaches to Management." *Blood Transfusion* 13 (3): 370–79. https://doi.org/10.2450/2015.0014-15.
- Murphy, Gavin J., Katie Pike, Chris A. Rogers, Sarah Wordsworth, Elizabeth A. Stokes, Gianni D. Angelini, and Barnaby C. Reeves. 2015. "Liberal or Restrictive Transfusion after Cardiac Surgery." *The New England Journal of Medicine* 372 (11): 997–1008. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1403612.
- Murphy, Gavin J. 2009. "Does Blood Transfusion Harm Cardiac Surgery Patients?" BMC Medicine 7: 38. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-7-38.
- Murphy, PJ, C Connery, G L Hicks, and N Blumberg. 1992. "Homologous Blood Transfusion as a Risk Factor for Postoperative Infection after Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Operations." *The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery* 104 (4): 1092–99. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1405668.
- Musallam, Khaled M., Hani M. Tamim, Toby Richards, Donat R. Spahn, Frits R.
 Rosendaal, Aida Habbal, Mohammad Khreiss, et al. 2011. "Preoperative Anaemia and Postoperative Outcomes in Non-Cardiac Surgery: A Retrospective Cohort Study." *The Lancet* 378 (9800): 1396–1407. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61381-0.
- Musgrove, John, and Myles Wolf. 2019. "Editorial: Awareness and Prevention of Intravenous Iron-Induced Hypophosphataemia." *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*. Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.15437.
- Myers, E, P O Grady, and A M Dolan. 2004. "The Influence of Preclinical Anaemia on Outcome Following Total Hip Replacement." *Archives of Orthopaedic and Trauma Surgery* 124 (10): 699–701.
- Myles, Paul S., Mark A. Shulman, Stephane Heritier, Sophie Wallace, David R. McIlroy, Stuart McCluskey, Isabella Sillar, and Andrew Forbes. 2017. "Validation of Days at Home as an Outcome Measure after Surgery: A Prospective Cohort Study in Australia."

BM7 Open. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-015828.

- Nakamura, Rosana Ely, Jean Louis Vincent, Julia Tizue Fukushima, Juliano Pinheiro De Almeida, Rafael Alves Franco, Clarice Lee Park, Eduardo Atsushi Osawa, et al. 2015.
 "A Liberal Strategy of Red Blood Cell Transfusion Reduces Cardiogenic Shock in Elderly Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery." *Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery* 150 (5): 1314–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2015.07.051.
- Nanas, John N, Charis Matsouka, Drosos Karageorgopoulos, Anastasia Leonti, Elias Tsolakis, Stavros G Drakos, Eleftheria P Tsagalou, et al. 2006. "Etiology of Anemia in Patients With Advanced Heart Failure." *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 48 (12): 2485 LP – 2489. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2006.08.034.
- Nashef, S. A M, F. Roques, P. Michel, E. Gauducheau, S. Lemeshow, and R. Salamon. 1999. "European System for Cardiac Operative Risk Evaluation (EuroSCORE)." *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 16 (1): 9–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1010-7940(99)00134-7.
- Nashef, Samer A M, François Roques, Linda D. Sharples, Johan Nilsson, Christopher Smith, Antony R. Goldstone, and Ulf Lockowandt. 2012. "Euroscore II." *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 41 (4): 734–45. https://doi.org/10.1093/ejcts/ezs043.
- "National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Blood Transfusion. NICE Guideline (NG24)." 2017, no. November 2015.
- Nemeth, Elizabeta, Erika V. Valore, Mary Territo, Gary Schiller, Alan Lichtenstein, and Tomas Ganz. 2003. "Hepcidin, a Putative Mediator of Anemia of Inflammation, Is a Type II Acute-Phase Protein." *Blood* 101 (7): 2461–63. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2002-10-3235.
- Ng, Oliver, Barrie D Keeler, Amitabh Mishra, J A Simpson, Keith Neal, Hafid Omar Al-Hassi, Matthew J Brookes, and Austin G Acheson. 2019. "Iron Therapy for Preoperative Anaemia." *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, no. 12 (December). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD011588.pub3.
- NHS Blood and Transplant. 2015. "National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion." https://nhsbtdbe.blob.core.windows.net/umbraco-assets-corp/14905/2015-pbm-inscheduled-surgery-audit-report.pdf.
- ———. 2016. "National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion." https://nhsbtdbe.blob.core.windows.net/umbraco-assets-corp/14919/2016haematology-audit-report-national-results-1.pdf.
- Nicolas, G, M Bennoun, I Devaux, C Beaumont, B Grandchamp, A Kahn, and S Vaulont.

2001. "Lack of Hepcidin Gene Expression and Severe Tissue Iron Overload in Upstream Stimulatory Factor 2 (USF2) Knockout Mice." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 98 (15): 8780–85. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.151179498.

Nikolsky, Eugenia, Eve D Aymong, Amir Halkin, Cindy L Grines, David A Cox, Eulogio Garcia, Roxana Mehran, et al. 2004. "Impact of Anemia in Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction Undergoing Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: Analysis from the Controlled Abciximab and Device Investigation to Lower Late Angioplasty Complications (Cadillac) Trial." *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 44 (3): 547–53. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2004.03.080.

Nissim, J A. 1947. "Intravenous Administration of Iron." Lancet 253: 49-51.

- Nuttall, Gregory A., Terese T. Horlocker, Paula J. Santrach, William C. Oliver, Mark B. Dekutoski, and Sandra Bryant. 2000. "Use of the Surgical Blood Order Equation in Spinal Instrumentation and Fusion Surgery." *Spine* 25 (5): 602–5. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007632-200003010-00011.
- Okonko, Darlington O., Amit K.J. Mandal, Constantinos G. Missouris, and Philip A. Poole-Wilson. 2011a. "Disordered Iron Homeostasis in Chronic Heart Failure: Prevalence, Predictors, and Relation to Anemia, Exercise Capacity, and Survival." *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 58 (12): 1241–51.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2011.04.040.

—. 2011b. "Disordered Iron Homeostasis in Chronic Heart Failure: Prevalence, Predictors, and Relation to Anemia, Exercise Capacity, and Survival." *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 58 (12): 1241–51.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2011.04.040.

- Okonko, Darlington O, Agnieszka Grzeslo, Tomasz Witkowski, Amit K J Mandal, Robert M Slater, Michael Roughton, Gabor Foldes, Thomas Thum, Jacek Majda, and Waldemar Banasiak. 2008. "Effect of Intravenous Iron Sucrose on Exercise Tolerance in Anemic and Nonanemic Patients with Symptomatic Chronic Heart Failure and Iron Deficiency: FERRIC-HF: A Randomized, Controlled, Observer-Blinded Trial." *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 51 (2): 103–12.
- Ott, David A, and Denton A Cooley. 1977. "Cardiovascular Surgery in Jehovah's Witnesses: Report of 542 Operations without Blood Transfusion." Jama 238 (12): 1256–58.
- Otto, J M, J O M Plumb, D Wakeham, E Clissold, L Loughney, W Schmidt, H E Montgomery, M P W Grocott, and T Richards. 2017. "Total Haemoglobin Mass, but

Not Haemoglobin Concentration, Is Associated with Preoperative Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing-Derived Oxygen-Consumption Variables." *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 118 (5): 747–54. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aew445.

- Otto, James M., James O.M. Plumb, Eleri Clissold, Shriya B. Kumar, Denis J. Wakeham, Walter Schmidt, Michael P.W. Grocott, Toby Richards, and Hugh E. Montgomery. 2017. "Hemoglobin Concentration, Total Hemoglobin Mass and Plasma Volume in Patients: Implications for Anemia." *Haematologica* 102 (9): 1477–85. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2017.169680.
- Otto, James M, Alasdair F O'Doherty, Philip J Hennis, Jackie A Cooper, Michael PW Grocott, Chris Snowdon, John B Carlisle, Michael Swart, Toby Richards, and Hugh E Montgomery. 2013. "Association between Preoperative Haemoglobin Concentration and Cardiopulmonary Exercise Variables: A Multicentre Study." *Perioperative Medicine* 2 (1): 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/2047-0525-2-18.
- Padhi, Smita, Sophia Kemmis-Betty, Sharangini Rajesh, Jennifer Hill, and Michael F Murphy. 2015. "Blood Transfusion: Summary of NICE Guidance." *Bmj* 351.
- Padmanabhan, H, K Siau, A Nevill, H Luckraz, and M J Brookes. 2017. "PTU-127 Anaemia Does Not Benefit from Intravenous Iron Therapy in the Cardiac Pre-Operative Patients." *Gut* 66 (Suppl 2): A113 LP-A114. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314472.222.
- Padmanabhan, Hari, Matthew J. Brookes, Alan M. Nevill, and Heyman Luckraz. 2019. "Association Between Anemia and Blood Transfusion With Long-Term Mortality After Cardiac Surgery." Annals of Thoracic Surgery 108 (3): 687–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2019.04.044.
- Padmanabhan, Hari, Keith Siau, Jason Curtis, Alex Ng, Shyam Menon, Heyman Luckraz, and Matthew J. Brookes. 2019. "Preoperative Anemia and Outcomes in Cardiovascular Surgery: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2019.04.108.
- Parfrey, Patrick S, Robert Foley, and N. 1999. "The Clinical Epidemiology of Cardiac Disease in Chronic Renal Failure." *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 10 (7): 1606 LP – 1615. http://jasn.asnjournals.org/content/10/7/1606.abstract.
- Park, Christina H., Erika V. Valore, Alan J. Waring, and Tomas Ganz. 2001. "Hepcidin, a Urinary Antimicrobial Peptide Synthesized in the Liver." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276 (11): 7806–10. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M008922200.

Parsonnet, Victor, David Dean, and Alan D Bernstein. 1989. "A Method of Uniform

Stratification of Risk for Evaluating the Results of Surgery in Acquired Adult Heart Disease." *Circulation* 79 (6 Pt 2): I3-12.

- Patel, Kushang V. 2008. "Epidemiology of Anemia in Older Adults." *Seminars in Hematology* 45 (4): 210–17. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminhematol.2008.06.006.
- Penninx, Brenda WJ H, Jack M Guralnik, Graziano Onder, Luigi Ferrucci, Robert B Wallace, and Marco Pahor. 2003. "Anemia and Decline in Physical Performance among Older Persons." *The American Journal of Medicine* 115 (2): 104–10.
- Penninx, Brenda W J H, Saskia M F Pluijm, Paul Lips, Richard Woodman, Kor Miedema, Jack M Guralnik, and Dorly J H Deeg. 2005. "Late-Life Anemia Is Associated with Increased Risk of Recurrent Falls." *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 53 (12): 2106– 11. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.00491.x.
- Piednoir, Pascale, Nicolas Allou, Fathi Driss, Dan Longrois, Ivan Philip, Carole Beaumont,
 Philippe Montravers, and Sigismond Lasocki. 2011. "Preoperative Iron Deficiency
 Increases Transfusion Requirements and Fatigue in Cardiac Surgery Patients: A
 Prospective Observational Study." *European Journal of Anaesthesiology (EJA)* 28 (11): 796–801.
- Ponka, Prem. 1999. "Cell Biology of Heme." *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences* 318 (4): 241–56.
- Pons, J M, A Granados, J A Espinas, J M Borras, I Martin, and V Moreno. 1997. "Assessing Open Heart Surgery Mortality in Catalonia (Spain) through a Predictive Risk Model." *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery: Official Journal of the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 11 (3): 415–23.
- Pratt, Jeremy J, and Khalid S Khan. 2016. "Non-Anaemic Iron Deficiency a Disease Looking for Recognition of Diagnosis: A Systematic Review." *European Journal of Haematology* 96 (6): 618–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejh.12645.
- Prodan, Calin I, Sylvia S Bottomley, Andrea S Vincent, Linda D Cowan, Beverley Greenwood-Van Meerveld, Neil R Holland, and Stuart E Lind. 2009. "Copper Deficiency After Gastric Surgery: A Reason for Caution." *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences* 337 (4): 256–58. https://doi.org/10.1097/MAJ.0b013e31818ad0ff.
- Prommer, Nicole, and Æ Walter Schmidt. 2007. "Loss of CO from the Intravascular Bed and Its Impact on the Optimised CO-Rebreathing Method," 383–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-007-0439-2.
- PROMMER, NICOLE, PIERRE-EDOUARD SOTTAS, CHRISTIAN SCHOCH, YORCK OLAF SCHUMACHER, and WALTER SCHMIDT. 2008. "Total

Hemoglobin Mass-A New Parameter to Detect Blood Doping?" *Medicine & Science in* Sports & Exercise 40 (12). https://journals.lww.com/acsmmsse/Fulltext/2008/12000/Total_Hemoglobin_Mass_A_New_Parameter_to_Detect.1 4.aspx.

- Protsyk, Volodymyr, Bodil Steen Rasmussen, Fabio Guarracino, Joachim Erb, Edwin Turton, and Joerg Ender. 2017. "Fluid Management in Cardiac Surgery: Results of a Survey in European Cardiac Anesthesia Departments." *Journal of Cardiothoracic and Vascular Anesthesia* 31 (5): 1624–29. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jvca.2017.04.017.
- Prytherch, D. R., M. S. Whiteley, B. Higgins, P. C. Weaver, W. G. Prout, and S. J. Powell. 1998. "POSSUM and Portsmouth POSSUM for Predicting Mortality." *British Journal of Surgery* 85 (9): 1217–20. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2168.1998.00840.x.
- Qin, Tingting, Mingming Yan, Zhen Fu, Yating Song, Wanrong Lu, A'dan Fu, and Ping Yin. 2019. "Association between Anemia and Cognitive Decline among Chinese Middle-Aged and Elderly: Evidence from the China Health and Retirement Longitudinal Study." *BMC Geriatrics* 19 (1): 305. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-019-1308-7.
- Rahe-Meyer, N, M Pichlmaier, A Haverich, C Solomon, M Winterhalter, S Piepenbrock, and K A Tanaka. 2009. "Bleeding Management with Fibrinogen Concentrate Targeting a High-Normal Plasma Fibrinogen Level: A Pilot Study." *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 102 (6): 785–92. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aep089.
- Rangel, Inês, Alexandra Gonçalves, Carla De Sousa, Sérgio Leite, Manuel Campelo,
 Elisabete Martins, Sandra Amorim, Brenda Moura, José Silva Cardoso, and Maria Júlia
 Maciel. 2014. "Iron Deficiency Status Irrespective of Anemia: A Predictor of
 Unfavorable Outcome in Chronic Heart Failure Patients." *Cardiology (Switzerland)* 128
 (4): 320–26. https://doi.org/10.1159/000358377.
- Ranucci, M., S. Castelvecchio, A. Frigiola, S. Scolletta, P. Giomarelli, and B. Biagioli. 2009.
 "Predicting Transfusions in Cardiac Surgery: The Easier, the Better: The Transfusion Risk and Clinical Knowledge Score." *Vox Sanguinis* 96 (4): 324–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.2009.01160.x.
- Ranucci, Marco, Umberto Di Dedda, Serenella Castelvecchio, Lorenzo Menicanti, Alessandro Frigiola, and Gabriele Pelissero. 2012. "Impact of Preoperative Anemia on Outcome in Adult Cardiac Surgery: A Propensity-Matched Analysis." *Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 94 (4): 1134–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.04.042.

- Rao, Sunil V., James G. Jollis, Robert A. Harrington, Christopher B. Granger, L. Kristin Newby, Paul W. Armstrong, David J. Moliterno, et al. 2004. "Relationship of Blood Transfusion and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndromes." *Journal of the American Medical Association* 292 (13): 1555–62. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.292.13.1555.
- Rawn, James D. 2007. "Blood Transfusion in Cardiac Surgery: A Silent Epidemic Revisited." *Circulation* 116 (22): 2523–24.

https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.739094.

- Reid, Christopher, Baki Billah, Diem Dinh, Julian Smith, Peter Skillington, Michael Yii, Seven Seevanayagam, Morteza Mohajeri, and Gil Shardey. 2009a. "An Australian Risk Prediction Model for 30-Day Mortality after Isolated Coronary Artery Bypass: The AusSCORE." *The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery* 138 (4): 904–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2009.03.020.
- ———. 2009b. "An Australian Risk Prediction Model for 30-Day Mortality after Isolated Coronary Artery Bypass: The AusSCORE." *Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery* 138 (4): 904–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2009.03.020.
- Reilly, Jennifer R, Belinda J Gabbe, Wendy A Brown, Carol L Hodgson, and Paul S Myles. 2020. "Systematic Review of Perioperative Mortality Risk Prediction Models for Adults Undergoing Inpatient Non-Cardiac Surgery." ANZ Journal of Surgery n/a (n/a). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ans.16255.
- Rengel, Z, G D Batten, and D E Crowley. 1999. "Agronomic Approaches for Improving the Micronutrient Density in Edible Portions of Field Crops." *Field Crops Research* 60 (1): 27–40. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4290(98)00131-2.
- Richards, Toby, Ravishankar Rao Baikady, Ben Clevenger, Anna Butcher, Sandy Abeysiri, Marisa Chau, Iain C Macdougall, et al. 2020. "Preoperative Intravenous Iron to Treat Anaemia before Major Abdominal Surgery (PREVENTT): A Randomised, Double-Blind, Controlled Trial." *The Lancet* 396 (10259): 1353–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31539-7.
- Robnett, Theodore J, Mitchell Machtay, Stephen M Hahn, Joseph B Shrager, Joseph S Friedberg, and Larry R Kaiser. 2002. "Pathological Response to Preoperative Chemoradiation Worsens with Anemia in Non---Small Cell Lung Cancer Patients." *The Cancer Journal* 8 (3).
 - https://journals.lww.com/journalppo/Fulltext/2002/05000/Pathological_Response_to _Preoperative.10.aspx.

- Rooyakkers, T M, E S G Stroes, M P Kooistra, E E Van Faassen, R C Hider, T J Rabelink, and J J M Marx. 2002. "Ferric Saccharate Induces Oxygen Radical Stress and Endothelial Dysfunction in Vivo." *European Journal of Clinical Investigation* 32 (s1): 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2362.2002.0320s1009.x.
- Rössler, Julian, Felix Schoenrath, Burkhardt Seifert, Alexander Kaserer, Gabriela H. Spahn, Volkmar Falk, and Donat R. Spahn. 2020. "Iron Deficiency Is Associated with Higher Mortality in Patients Undergoing Cardiac Surgery: A Prospective Study." *British Journal* of Anaesthesia 124 (1): 25–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bja.2019.09.016.
- Ruel, Marie T, and Harold Alderman. 2013. "Nutrition-Sensitive Interventions and Programmes: How Can They Help to Accelerate Progress in Improving Maternal and Child Nutrition?" *The Lancet* 382 (9891): 536–51. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60843-0.
- Rutten, C L G, and D E Grobbee. 2001. "A Reduction in Type and Screen : Preoperative Prediction of RBC Transfusions in Surgery Procedures with Intermediate Transfusion" 87 (2): 250–57.
- Saklad, Meyer. 1941. "Grading of Patients for Surgical Procedures." Anesthesiology: The Journal of the American Society of Anesthesiologists 2 (3): 281–84.
- Salido, Jose A., Luis A. Marín, Luis A. Gómez, Pedro Zorrilla, and Cristóbal Martínez. 2002.
 "Preoperative Hemoglobin Levels and the Need for Transfusion after Prosthetic Hip and Knee Surgery: Analysis of Predictive Factors." *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery Series* A 84 (2): 216-220+Adv78. https://doi.org/10.2106/00004623-200202000-00008.
- Sankar, A, S R Johnson, W S Beattie, G Tait, and D N Wijeysundera. 2014. "Reliability of the American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status Scale in Clinical Practice." *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 113 (3): 424–32. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aeu100.
- Santo, Luca De, Gianpaolo Romano, Alessandro Della Corte, Vincenzo de Simone, Francesco Grimaldi, Maurizio Cotrufo, and Marisa de Feo. 2009. "Preoperative Anemia in Patients Undergoing Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting Predicts Acute Kidney Injury." *The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery* 138 (4): 965–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2009.05.013.
- Santos, P C, and R P Falcao. 1990. "Decreased Lymphocyte Subsets and K-Cell Activity in Iron Deficiency Anemia." *Acta Haematologica* 84 (3): 118–21.
- Schack, Anders, Adam A Berkfors, Sarah Ekeloef, Ismail Gögenur, and Jakob Burcharth. 2019. "The Effect of Perioperative Iron Therapy in Acute Major Non-Cardiac Surgery on Allogenic Blood Transfusion and Postoperative Haemoglobin Levels: A Systematic

Review and Meta-Analysis." *World Journal of Surgery* 43 (7): 1677–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00268-019-04971-7.

- Schmidt, Walter, and Nicole Prommer. 2005. "The Optimised CO-Rebreathing Method: A New Tool to Determine Total Haemoglobin Mass Routinely." *European Journal of Applied Physiology* 95 (5–6): 486–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-005-0050-3.
- Schneider, Andrea L C, Charles Jonassaint, A Richey Sharrett, Thomas H Mosley, Brad C Astor, Elizabeth Selvin, Josef Coresh, and Rebecca F Gottesman. 2016. "Hemoglobin, Anemia, and Cognitive Function: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study." *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 71 (6): 772–79. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glv158.
- Scholes, Rebecca L., Laura Browning, Ewa M. Sztendur, and Linda Denehy. 2009.
 "Duration of Anaesthesia, Type of Surgery, Respiratory Co-Morbidity, Predicted VO2max and Smoking Predict Postoperative Pulmonary Complications after Upper Abdominal Surgery: An Observational Study." *Australian Journal of Physiotherapy* 55 (3): 191–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0004-9514(09)70081-9.
- Scott, Samuel, Lenis Chen-Edinboro, Laura Caulfield, and Laura Murray-Kolb. 2014. "The Impact of Anemia on Child Mortality: An Updated Review." *Nutrients* 6 (12): 5915–32. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu6125915.
- Scrimshire, Ashley B, Alison Booth, Caroline Fairhurst, Alwyn Kotze, Mike Reed, and Catriona McDaid. 2020. "Preoperative Iron Treatment in Anaemic Patients Undergoing Elective Total Hip or Knee Arthroplasty: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *BM7 Open* 10 (10): e036592. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-036592.
- Semrin, Gaith, Douglas S Fishman, Athos Bousvaros, Anna Zholudev, Andrew C Saunders, Catherine E Correia, Elizabeta Nemeth, Richard J Grand, and David A Weinstein.
 2006. "Impaired Intestinal Iron Absorption in Crohn's Disease Correlates with Disease Activity and Markers of Inflammation." *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 12 (12): 1101–6. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mib.0000235097.86360.04.
- Ševerdija, E E, J H Heijmans, M Theunissen, J G Maessen, P H Roekaerts, and P W Weerwind. 2011. "Retrograde Autologous Priming Reduces Transfusion Requirements in Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery." *Perfusion* 26 (4): 315–21. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659111408379.
- Shahbaz, Mizna, and Sophie Carroll. 2019. Postoperative Haemoglobin Trends in Cardiac Valve Surgery Patients Who Have Not Received Perioperative Blood Products At St Vincent's Hospital (Poster Presentation).

- Shahin, J, P Ferrando-Vivas, G S Power, S Biswas, S T Webb, K M Rowan, and D A Harrison. 2016. "The Assessment of Risk in Cardiothoracic Intensive Care (ARCtIC): Prediction of Hospital Mortality after Admission to Cardiothoracic Critical Care." *Anaesthesia*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.13624.
- Shand, Antonia W., Jane Bell, Amanda Henry, Luke E. Grzeskowiak, Giselle Kidson-Gerber, Sallie Pearson, and Natasha Nassar. 2020. "Rapid Increase in Intravenous Iron Therapy for Women of Reproductive Age in Australia." *Medical Journal of Australia* 213 (2): 85–86. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja2.50618.
- Shander, A., M. Javidroozi, S. Ozawa, and G.M.T. Hare. 2011. "What Is Really Dangerous: Anaemia or Transfusion?" *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 107 (December): i41–59. https://doi.org/10.1093/BJA/AER350.
- Shander, A, H Van Aken, M J Colomina, H Gombotz, A Hofmann, R Krauspe, S Lasocki, T Richards, R Slappendel, and D R Spahn. 2012. "Patient Blood Management in Europe." *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 109 (May): 55–68. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aes139.
- Shander, Aryeh, Axel Hofmann, Sherri Ozawa, and Mazyar Javidroozi. 2008. "The True Cost of Red Blood Cell Transfusion in Surgical Patients." *Blood* 112 (11): 3045. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V112.11.3045.3045.
- Sharifirad, Gholamreza, Parastoo Golshiri, Hossein Shahnazi, Sorayya Shakouri, and Akbar Hassanzadeh. 2011. "PRECEDE Educational Model for Controlling Iron-Deficiency Anaemia in Talesh, Iran." *Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association* 61 (9): 862–65.
- Shortt, Jake, Mark N Polizzotto, Neil Waters, Marija Borosak, Martine Moran, Mary Comande, Alexandra Devine, Damien J Jolley, and Erica M Wood. 2009. "Assessment of the Urgency and Deferability of Transfusion to Inform Emergency Blood Planning and Triage: The Bloodhound Prospective Audit of Red Blood Cell Use." *Transfusion* 49 (11): 2296–2303. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.2009.02305.x.
- Siebenmann, Christoph, Stefanie Keiser, Paul Robach, and Carsten Lundby. 2017. "CORP: The Assessment of Total Hemoglobin Mass by Carbon Monoxide Rebreathing." *Journal* of Applied Physiology 123 (3): 645–54. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00185.2017.
- Silverberg, Donald S, Dov Wexler, Miriam Blum, Gad Keren, David Sheps, Eyal Leibovitch, David Brosh, et al. 2000. "The Use of Subcutaneous Erythropoietin and Intravenous Iron for the Treatment of the Anemia of Severe, Resistant Congestive Heart Failure Improves Cardiac and Renal Function and Functional Cardiac Class, and Markedly Reduces Hospitalizations." *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 35 (7): 1737 LP –

1744. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0735-1097(00)00613-6.

- Siregar, Sabrina, Rolf H.H. Groenwold, Bas A.J.M. de Mol, Ron G.H. Speekenbrink, Michel I.M. Versteegh, George J. Brandon Bravo Bruinsma, Michiel L. Bots, Yolanda van der Graaf, and Lex A. van Herwerden. 2013. "Evaluation of Cardiac Surgery Mortality Rates: 30-Day Mortality or Longer Follow-up?[†]." *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 44 (5): 875–83. https://doi.org/10.1093/ejcts/ezt119.
- Smith, M R, C D Golden, and S S Myers. 2017. "Potential Rise in Iron Deficiency Due to Future Anthropogenic Carbon Dioxide Emissions." *GeoHealth* 1 (6): 248–57. https://doi.org/10.1002/2016GH000018.
- Solheim, Sara Amalie, Jacob Bejder, Andreas Breenfeldt Andersen, Jakob Mørkeberg, and Nikolai Baastrup Nordsborg. 2019. "Autologous Blood Transfusion Enhances Exercise Performance—Strength of the Evidence and Physiological Mechanisms." *Sports Medicine* - *Open* 5 (1): 30. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40798-019-0204-1.
- Sood, N, CI Coleman, J Kluger, ... CM White Journal of cardiothoracic, and undefined 2009. n.d. "The Association Among Blood Transfusions, White Blood Cell Count, and the Frequency of Post–Cardiothoracic Surgery Atrial Fibrillation: A Nested Cohort." *Elsevier*. Accessed April 30, 2021.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1053077008001870?casa_token=z xictBdS_FYAAAAA:gAiMd4ZB_z9ecHcrw9ex8K53ViGbQSD_g_nihUBLikuWr1Qd m0ddvwL3YPlO9_-Vdt73dppC.

- Spahn, Donat R., Felix Schoenrath, Gabriela H. Spahn, Burkhardt Seifert, Philipp Stein, Oliver M. Theusinger, Alexander Kaserer, et al. 2019. "Effect of Ultra-Short-Term Treatment of Patients with Iron Deficiency or Anaemia Undergoing Cardiac Surgery: A Prospective Randomised Trial." *The Lancet* 393 (10187): 2201–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32555-8.
- Squires, Jerry E. 2011. "Risks of Transfusion." South Med 7 104 (11): 762–69.
- "Standard Techniques for the Measurement of Red-Cell and Plasma Volume*." 1973. British Journal of Haematology 25 (6): 801–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.1973.tb01792.x.
- StataCorp LLC. 2019. "Stata Statistical Software: Release 16." College Station, TX.
- Stocchetti, Nino, Fabio S Taccone, Giuseppe Citerio, Paul E Pepe, Peter D Le Roux, Mauro Oddo, Kees H Polderman, et al. 2015. "Neuroprotection in Acute Brain Injury: An upto-Date Review." *Critical Care (London, England)* 19 (1): 186. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13054-015-0887-8.

- Stover, Ep, L C Siegel, and R Parks. 1998. "Variability in Transfusion Practice for Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery Persists despite National Consensus Guidelines: A 24-institution Study. Institutions of the Multicenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia Research Group." Anesthesiology.
- Straten, Albert H M Van, Kemal Külcü, H. Ibrahim Özdemir, Ted W. Elenbaas, and Mohamed A Soliman Hamad. 2013. "Preoperative Hemoglobin Level as a Predictor of Mortality after Aortic Valve Replacement." *Journal of Cardiothoracic and Vascular Anesthesia* 27 (4): 716–22. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jvca.2012.12.021.
- Straten, Albert H M Van, Mohamed A. Soliman Hamad, Andr?? J. Van Zundert, Elisabeth J. Martens, Jacques P A M Schönberger, and Andre M. De Wolf. 2009. "Preoperative Hemoglobin Level as a Predictor of Survival after Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting: A Comparison with the Matched General Population." *Circulation* 120 (2): 118–25. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.854216.
- Surgenor, D M, W H Churchill, E L Wallace, R J Rizzo, S McGurk, L T Goodnough, K J Kao, T A Koerner, J D Olson, and R D Woodson. 1998. "The Specific Hospital Significantly Affects Red Cell and Component Transfusion Practice in Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery: A Study of Five Hospitals." *Transfusion* 38 (2): 122–34. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1537-2995.1998.38298193094.x.
- Surgenor, Stephen D, Gordon R DeFoe, Mary P Fillinger, Donald S Likosky, Robert C Groom, Cantwell Clark, Robert E Helm, Robert S Kramer, Bruce J Leavitt, and John D Klemperer. 2006. "Intraoperative Red Blood Cell Transfusion during Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery Increases the Risk of Postoperative Low-Output Heart Failure." *Circulation* 114 (1_supplement): I–43.
- Sutton, R, S Bann, M Brooks, and S Sarin. 2002. "The Surgical Risk Scale as an Improved Tool for Risk-Adjusted Analysis in Comparative Surgical Audit." *BJS (British Journal of Surgery)* 89 (6): 763–68. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2168.2002.02080.x.
- Tankard, Kelly A, Brian Park, Ethan Y Brovman, Angela M Bader, and Richard D Urman.
 2020. "The Impact of Preoperative Intravenous Iron Therapy on Perioperative Outcomes in Cardiac Surgery: A Systematic Review." *Journal of Hematology* 9 (4): 97–108. https://doi.org/10.14740/jh696.
- Tauber, Helmuth, Werner Streif, Josef Fritz, Helmut Ott, Guenter Weigel, Lorin Loacker,
 Anneliese Heinz, and Corinna Velik-Salchner. 2016. "Predicting Transfusion
 Requirements during Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation." *Journal of Cardiothoracic*

and Vascular Anesthesia 30 (3): 692–701. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jvca.2016.01.009.

- Terrovitis, John V, Elisabeth Kaldara, Argyrios Ntalianis, Stefania Sventzouri, Chris Kapelios, Despina Barbarousi, Charis Matsouka, and John N Nanas. 2012.
 "Intravenous Iron Alone Is Equally Effective With the Combination of Iron and Erythropoietin for the Treatment of Iron-Deficiency Anemia in Advanced Heart Failure." *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 60 (21): 2255 LP 2256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2012.05.065.
- Teucher, Olivares, and Cori. 2004. "Enhancers of Iron Absorption: Ascorbic Acid and Other Organic Acids." International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research 74 (6): 403–19. https://doi.org/10.1024/0300-9831.74.6.403.
- Thomsen, J K, N Fogh-Andersen, K Bulow, and A Devantier. 1991. "Blood and Plasma Volumes Determined by Carbon Monoxide Gas, 99mTc-Labelled Erythrocytes, 125I-Albumin and the T 1824 Technique." Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation 51 (2): 185–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/00365519109091106.
- Thomson, A, S Farmer, A Hofmann, J Isbister, and A Shander. 2009. "Patient Blood Management - a New Paradigm for Transfusion Medicine?" ISBT Science Series 4 (n2): 423–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-2824.2009.01251.x.
- Tolkien, Zoe, Lynne Stecher, Adrian P Mander, Dora I A Pereira, and Jonathan J Powell. 2015. "Ferrous Sulfate Supplementation Causes Significant Gastrointestinal Side-Effects in Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *PloS One* 10 (2): e0117383– e0117383. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0117383.
- Tomer, Avni, Bieber Amir, Grossman Alon, Green Hefziba, Leibovici Leonard, and Gafter Gvili Anat. 2015. "The Safety of Intravenous Iron Preparations: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* 90 (1): 12–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2014.10.007.
- Tschaikowsky, Klaus, Uwe Neddermeyer, Edgar Pscheidl, and Jürgen Von Der Emde. 2000. "Changes in Circulating Blood Volume after Cardiac Surgery Measured by a Novel Method Using Hydroxyethyl Starch." *Critical Care Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1097/00003246-200002000-00008.
- Tu, Jack V, Susan B Jaglal, and C David Naylor. 1995. "Multicenter Validation of a Risk Index for Mortality, Intensive Care Unit Stay, and Overall Hospital Length of Stay after Cardiac Surgery." *Circulation* 91 (3): 677–84.
- Vadhan-Raj, Saroj, William Strauss, David Ford, Kristine Bernard, Ralph Boccia, Joe Li, and Lee F. Allen. 2014. "Efficacy and Safety of IV Ferumoxytol for Adults with Iron

Deficiency Anemia Previously Unresponsive to or Unable to Tolerate Oral Iron." *American Journal of Hematology* 89 (1). https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.23582.

- Varat, Murray A, Robert J Adolph, and Noble O Fowler. 1972. "Cardiovascular Effects of Anemia." American Heart Journal 83 (3): 415–26. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-8703(72)90445-0.
- Varela, J Esteban, Orlando Gomez-Marin, Lora E Fleming, and Stephen M Cohn. 2003. "The Risk of Death for Jehovah's Witnesses after Major Trauma." *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery* 54 (5).

https://journals.lww.com/jtrauma/Fulltext/2003/05000/The_Risk_of_Death_for_Jeh ovah_s_Witnesses_after.20.aspx.

- Vlaar, Alexander P J, Jorrit J Hofstra, Rogier M Determann, Denise P Veelo, Frederique Paulus, Wim Kulik, Johanna Korevaar, Bas A de Mol, Marianne M W Koopman, and Leendert Porcelijn. 2011. "The Incidence, Risk Factors, and Outcome of Transfusion-Related Acute Lung Injury in a Cohort of Cardiac Surgery Patients: A Prospective Nested Case-Control Study." *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* 117 (16): 4218–25.
- Vuylsteke, Alain, Christina Pagel, Caroline Gerrard, Brian Reddy, Samer Nashef, Poppy Aldam, and Martin Utley. 2011a. "The Papworth Bleeding Risk Score: A Stratification Scheme for Identifying Cardiac Surgery Patients at Risk of Excessive Early Postoperative Bleeding." *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcts.2010.10.003.
 - —. 2011b. "The Papworth Bleeding Risk Score: A Stratification Scheme for Identifying Cardiac Surgery Patients at Risk of Excessive Early Postoperative Bleeding." *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 39 (6): 924–30.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcts.2010.10.003.

- Wallis, J P, A W Wells, and C E Chapman. 2006. "Changing Indications for Red Cell Transfusion from 2000 to 2004 in the North of England." *Transfusion Medicine* 16 (6): 411–17. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3148.2006.00702.x.
- Weber, Randal S. 1995. "A Model for Predicting Transfusion Requirements in Head and Neck Surgery." *The Laryngoscope*. https://doi.org/10.1288/00005537-199508001-00001.
- Weiner, Daniel E, Hocine Tighiouart, Panagiotis T Vlagopoulos, John L Griffith, Deeb N Salem, Andrew S Levey, and Mark J Sarnak. 2005. "Effects of Anemia and Left Ventricular Hypertrophy on Cardiovascular Disease in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease." *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 16 (6): 1803 LP – 1810.

https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2004070597.

- Weiser, Thomas G, Scott E Regenbogen, Katherine D Thompson, Alex B Haynes, Stuart R Lipsitz, William R Berry, and Atul A Gawande. 2008. "An Estimation of the Global Volume of Surgery: A Modelling Strategy Based on Available Data." *The Lancet* 372 (9633): 139–44. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60878-8.
- Weiskopf, Richard B, Maurene K Viele, John Feiner, Scott Kelley, Jeremy Lieberman, Mariam Noorani, Jacqueline M Leung, et al. 1998. "Human Cardiovascular and Metabolic Response to Acute, Severe Isovolemic Anemia." *JAMA* 279 (3): 217–21. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.279.3.217.
- Wells, A W, P J Mounter, C E Chapman, D Stainsby, and J P Wallis. 2002. "Where Does Blood Go? Prospective Observational Study of Red Cell Transfusion in North England." *BMJ* 325 (7368): 803. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.325.7368.803.
- Wever, Robert, Erik Stroes, and Ton J Rabelink. 1998. "Nitric Oxide and Hypercholesterolemia: A Matter of Oxidation and Reduction?" *Atherosclerosis* 137 (April): S51–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9150(97)00304-3.
- Wikkelsø A, Wetterslev J Møller A M, and A Afshari. 2016. "Thromboelastography (TEG) or Thromboelastometry (ROTEM) to Monitor Haemostatic Treatment versus Usual Care in Adults or Children with Bleeding." *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, no. 8. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD007871.pub3.
- Williams, M H, S Wesseldine, T Somma, and R Schuster. 1981. "The Effect of Induced Erythrocythemia upon 5-Mile Treadmill Run Time." *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 13 (3): 169—175. http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/7253868.
- Williams, M L, X He, J S Rankin, M S Slaughter, and J S Gammie. 2013. "Preoperative Hematocrit Is a Powerful Predictor of Adverse Outcomes in Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery: A Report from the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Adult Cardiac Surgery Database." *Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 96 (5): 1628–34; discussion 1634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2013.06.030.
- Wolf, Matthew B. 2017. "Hemoglobin-Dilution Method: Effect of Measurement Errors on Vascular Volume Estimation." *Computational and Mathematical Methods in Medicine* 2017. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/3420590.
- Wolf, Myles, Glenn M. Chertow, Iain C. Macdougall, Robert Kaper, Julie Krop, and William Strauss. 2018. "Randomized Trial of Intravenous Iron-Induced Hypophosphatemia." *JCI Insight* 3 (23). https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.124486.

Wong, D. J.N., C. M. Oliver, and S. R. Moonesinghe. 2017. "Predicting Postoperative

Morbidity in Adult Elective Surgical Patients Using the Surgical Outcome Risk Tool (SORT)." *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 119 (1): 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aex117.

- Wong, Danny J. N., Steve Harris, Arun Sahni, James R. Bedford, Laura Cortes, Richard Shawyer, Andrew M. Wilson, et al. 2020. "Developing and Validating Subjective and Objective Risk-Assessment Measures for Predicting Mortality after Major Surgery: An International Prospective Cohort Study." *PLOS Medicine* 17 (10): e1003253. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003253.
- Woodson, Robert D. 1984. "Hemoglobin Concentration and Exercise Capacity." American Review of Respiratory Disease 129 (2P2): S72–75. https://doi.org/10.1164/arrd.1984.129.2P2.S72.
- World Health Organization. 2021a. "Anaemia." Health Topics. 2021.
- ———. 2021b. "Prevalence of Anaemia in Women of Reproductive Age (%)." World Health Data Platform. 2021. https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicatordetails/GHO/prevalence-of-anaemia-in-women-of-reproductive-age-(-).
- Wright, S. E., B. Pearce, C. P. Snowden, H. Anderson, and J. P. Wallis. 2014.
 "Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing before and after Blood Transfusion: A Prospective Clinical Study." *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 113 (1): 91–96. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aeu050.
- Wu, Wen-Chih, Saif S Rathore, Yongfei Wang, Martha J Radford, and Harlan M Krumholz. 2001. "Blood Transfusion in Elderly Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction." *New England Journal of Medicine* 345 (17): 1230–36. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa010615.
- Wu, Wen-Chih, Tracy L Schifftner, William G Henderson, Charles B Eaton, Roy M Poses, Georgette Uttley, Satish C Sharma, Michael Vezeridis, Shukri F Khuri, and Peter D Friedmann. 2007. "Preoperative Hematocrit Levels and Postoperative Outcomes in Older Patients Undergoing Noncardiac Surgery." *JAMA* 297 (22): 2481–88. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.297.22.2481.
- Yap, Cheng-Hon, Morteza Mohajeri, Benno U Ihle, Anthony C Wilson, Shiromani Goyal, and Michael Yii. 2005. "Validation of EuroSCORE Model in an Australian Patient Population." ANZ Journal of Surgery 75 (7): 508–12. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1445-2197.2005.03440.x.
- Yap, Cheng-Hon, Christopher Reid, Michael Yii, Michael A Rowland, Morteza Mohajeri, Peter D Skillington, Siven Seevanayagam, and Julian A Smith. 2006a. "Validation of the

EuroSCORE Model in Australia." *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 29 (4): 441–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcts.2005.12.046.

- —. 2006b. "Validation of the EuroSCORE Model in Australia." *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 29 (4): 441–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcts.2005.12.046.
- Yeates, J. 2018. "Online and App-Based Access for the ACTA-PORT Score." *British Journal* of Anaesthesia 120 (1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bja.2017.10.003.
- Yessayan, Lenar, Jerry Yee, Gary Zasuwa, Stan Frinak, and Anatole Besarab. 2014. "Iron Repletion Is Associated with Reduction in Platelet Counts in Non-Dialysis Chronic Kidney Disease Patients Independent of Erythropoiesis- Stimulating Agent Use: A Retrospective Cohort Study." *BMC Nephrology* 15 (1): 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2369-15-119.
- Zager, Richard A, Ali C M Johnson, Sherry Y Hanson, and Haimanot Wasse. 2002. "Parenteral Iron Formulations: A Comparative Toxicologic Analysis and Mechanisms of Cell Injury." *American Journal of Kidney Diseases* 40 (1): 90–103. https://doi.org/10.1053/ajkd.2002.33917.
- Zavorsky, Gerald S. 2013. "The Rise in Carboxyhemoglobin from Repeated Pulmonary Diffusing Capacity Tests." *Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology* 186 (1): 103–8. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resp.2013.01.001.
- Zhou, Zhi Dong, and Eng-King Tan. 2017. "Iron Regulatory Protein (IRP)-Iron Responsive Element (IRE) Signaling Pathway in Human Neurodegenerative Diseases." *Molecular Neurodegeneration* 12 (1): 75. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13024-017-0218-4.
- Zimmerman, Jack E., Andrew A. Kramer, Douglas S. McNair, and Fern M. Malila. 2006. "Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE) IV: Hospital Mortality Assessment for Today's Critically Ill Patients." *Critical Care Medicine* 34 (5): 1297–1310. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.CCM.0000215112.84523.F0.
- Zimmermann, Michael B, Christophe Chassard, Fabian Rohner, Eliézer K N'Goran, Charlemagne Nindjin, Alexandra Dostal, Jürg Utzinger, Hala Ghattas, Christophe Lacroix, and Richard F Hurrell. 2010. "The Effects of Iron Fortification on the Gut Microbiota in African Children: A Randomized Controlled Trial in Côte d'Ivoire." *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 92 (6): 1406–15. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.110.004564.

Appendix 1: The ACTA PORT score published manuscript (*British Journal of Anaesthesia, 2017*)

BJA

British Journal of Anaesthesia, 119 (3): 394-401 (2017)

doi: 10.1093/bja/aex205 Advance Access Publication Date: 28 July 2017 Cardiovascular

The ACTA PORT-score for predicting perioperative risk of blood transfusion for adult cardiac surgery

A. A. Klein^{1,*}, T. Collier², J. Yeates³, L. F. Miles⁴, S. N. Fletcher⁵, C. Evans⁶ and T. Richards⁷ on behalf of the Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthesia and Critical Care⁸

¹Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, Cambridge, UK, ²Medical Statistics Department, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK, ³Department of Anaesthesia, St Vincent's Hospital, Sydney, Australia, ⁴Department of Anaesthesia, Austin Health, Melbourne, Australia, ⁵Departments of Anaesthesia and Critical Care, St George's University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK, ⁶Department of Anaesthesia, University Hospital Wales, Cardiff, Wales, ⁷Department of Surgery, University College London, UK and ⁸Association for Cardiothoracic Anaesthesia and Critical Care, *c/o* Royal College of Anaesthetists, London, UK

*Corresponding author. E-mail: andrew.klein@nhs.net

Abstract

Background. A simple and accurate scoring system to predict risk of transfusion for patients undergoing cardiac surgery is lacking.

We conducted a retrospective analysis of data collected from the ACTA National Audit. For the derivation dataset, we included data from 20036 patients, which we then externally validated using a further group of 1047 patients. **Methods**. We identified independent risk factors associated with transfusion by performing univariate analysis, followed by logistic regression. We then simplified the score to an integer-based system and tested it using the area under the receiver operator characteristic (AUC) statistic with a Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test. Finally, the scoring system was applied to the external validation dataset and the same statistical methods applied to test the accuracy of the ACTA-PORT score.

Results. Several factors were independently associated with risk of transfusion, including age, sex, body surface area, logistic EuroSCORE, preoperative haemoglobin and creatinine, and type of surgery. In our primary dataset, the score accurately predicted risk of perioperative transfusion in cardiac surgery patients with an AUC of 0.76. The external validation confirmed accuracy of the scoring method with an AUC of 0.84 and good agreement across all scores, with a minor tendency to under-estimate transfusion risk in very high-risk patients.

Conclusions. The ACTA-PORT score is a reliable, validated tool for predicting risk of transfusion for patients undergoing cardiac surgery. This and other scores can be used in research studies for risk adjustment when assessing outcomes, and might also be incorporated into a Patient Blood Management programme.

Key words: anaesthesia; cardiovascular; risk prediction; transfusion

Editorial decision: May 23, 2017; Accepted: June 1, 2017

© The Author 2017. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the British Journal of Anaesthesia. All rights reserved. For Permissions, please email: journals.permissions@oup.com

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/bja/article-abstract/119/3/394/3965689/The-ACTA-PORT-score-for-predicting-perioperative by St Vincent's Hospital user on 11 October 2017 394

Editor's key points

- The authors performed a retrospective analysis of data from 20036 patients undergoing cardiac surgery in the UK to derive and validate a simple scoring system for risk of transfusion.
- The ACTA PORT-score accurately predicted risk of perioperative blood transfusion in cardiac surgery patients.
- This tool will be useful in risk assessment and preoper ative optimization approaches.

Cardiac surgery is associated with comparatively high rates of blood product transfusion. Blood products are a limited resource and are both expensive and resource-intensive; cardiac surgery consumes a significant proportion of global blood resources. There is conflicting evidence supporting the relative merits of restrictive¹ or liberal² transfusion triggers, but there is a significant body of evidence that any perioperative transfusion is associated with higher risk of mortality in both the short-³ and long-term.⁴

Several factors have been shown to be independently associated with transfusion in cardiac surgery patients. These include age,⁵ gender, preoperative haemoglobin concentration (Hb), elevated plasma creatinine³ and low body weight.³ Various attempts have been made to synthesise these predisposing factors into a predictive scoring system,⁶⁻⁸ but as yet none have become widely established.

Patient blood management (PBM) is an increasingly important concept in perioperative medicine. As with any riskreduction strategy, the first step is to predict individual risk, followed by targeted strategies to mitigate this risk.⁹ This allows for appropriate and focussed use of PBM strategies, which can be expensive or result in harmful side-effects, and should therefore be reserved for those at higher risk of transfusion. Scoring systems to predict general mortality and morbidity are widely used in cardiac surgery and critical care, such as the EuroSCORE¹⁰ and the recently published ARCTIC score¹¹ and Surgical Outcome Risk Tool (SORT).¹² A similar scoring system to guide effective perioperative PBM could have a major impact on resource allocation and potentially on perioperative morbidity. We therefore decided to design the Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthetists (ACTA) perioperative risk of blood transfusion score – the ACTA-PORT score, using a large national database collected by members of ACTA.

Methods

This study comprises a national service audit of National Health Service (NHS) cardiac surgery centres that collected relevant patient data as part of routine institutional practice. The Research and Ethics Committee of the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine approved the study, and individual patient consent was not required. Between 1st January 2010 and 31st July 2013, data were collected from 10 cardiac surgery centres in the UK during the first ACTA national audit; an analysis of the effect of anaemia has already been published.¹¹ After the analysis was complete, a further centre provided data from the same study period – this was analysed as the external validation dataset.

Baseline data collected included age, gender, preoperative haemoglobin (Hb) creatinine, weight, height, logistic EuroSCORE, diabetes, hypertension, type of surgery proposed and previous cardiac surgery. BMI and body surface area (BSA) were derived from weight and height. These variables were chosen because we a priori expected them to be associated with outcome. Outcomes recorded included number of units of blood transfused, duration of ICU and hospital stay, and death.

As our goal was to produce a simple-to-use integer risk score, the continuous variables age, preoperative haemoglobin, creatinine, logistic EuroSCORE, BMI and BSA were all categorised using clinical judgement where available or otherwise following graphical inspections and taking into account the distribution of the outcome. We used logistic EuroSCORE as EuroSCOREwas not in routine use in the NHS during the study period. Although EuroSCORE was designed to calculate the risk of mortality (as opposed to transfusion), we included it as a separate variable to aid in the calculation of risk of transfusion. Operation type was grouped into three categories: isolated coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) or valve surgery, combination surgeries (CABG and valve, or valve and valve), and other (including operations on the aorta). The univariate association between each of the baseline var-

The univariate association between each of the baseline variables and the outcome of blood transfusion was assessed using logistic regression. Forward and backward stepwise model building approaches were used in developing a final multivariable logistic regression model using a threshold for inclusion or exclusion of P<0.05. Both approaches yielded identical final models. A restricted set of pre-specified potential interactions were investigated using likelihood ratio tests.

As our goal was to produce a risk score that is generalisable beyond the centres involved in this audit, centre was not included as a fixed effect in the model. We compared multivariable logistic regression models orniting centre completely and multivariable mixed effects logistic regression models including centre as a random effect. These two approaches produced almost identical results in terms of the estimate odds ratios and the overall model performance, and we therefore decided to proceed with the former.

Adjusted odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for the final multivariable model are presented along with P-values from a likelihood ratio test. For each variable in the model, we set the lowest risk category as the reference group so that the risk score would only involve the addition of points. The logistic odds ratio for each category was converted into an integer by dividing by 0.2 and rounding to nearest the nearest whole number. The total integer risk score for each patient was then calculated by summing the points associated with their combination of baseline risk factors.

The discriminatory performance of the risk score before and after simplification was assessed using the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC) statistic. The goodness of fit of the models, (i.e. how closely predicted risk matched observed risk), was assessed using the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test.

The predicted risk of transfusion associated with each value of the total integer risk score was calculated and presented in a table and figure. We grouped the risk score into six equally spaced categories (0-4, 5-9, 10-14, 15-19, 20-24 and 25-30) and plotted the observed us predicted proportion of patients transfused in each category.

We assessed the sensitivity of our results to the influence of missing data using multiple imputation. Multiple imputation with chained equations was used to generate 20 completed datasets. The selected model was then fitted to each of the 20 completed datasets and the estimated coefficients were combined according to Rubin's rules.

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/bja/article-abstract/119/3/394/3965689/The-ACTA-PORT-score-for-predicting-perioperative on 11 October 2017

396 | Klein et al.

An external validation of the integer risk score was carried out using data from a further cardiac surgical centre. The integer risk score was calculated for each patient in the external dataset and the performance of the risk score was assessed using the AUC and the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test. We grouped the risk score for the validation patients into the same categories as described above for the derivation data and plotted the observed us predicted risk of transfusion. We also used our validation dataset to compute the TRACK score and compared our model with TRACK using the DeLong method. We were unable to calculate any other published risk scores as we did not collect the reouired variables.

The analysis was carried out using Stata 14 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

Patient involvement

Patients/service users/lay people were not involved in the design of this study.

Results

We analysed data from 20036 patients, whose baseline characteristics are shown in Table 1. A total of 8635 (43%) patients were transfused.

Table 1 shows the baseline characteristics of the patients overall and by the outcome of blood transfusion. The mean age of patients in this audit was 67 yr [range 18, 111], and 71% were male. Mean preoperative haemoglobin was 132 g L⁻¹; 31% of patients were anaemic (<130/<120 g L⁻¹ for males/females, respectively). Haemoglobin was not available for 16% of patients. Of the 20036 patients 8635 (43%) received a blood transfusion perioperatively. With the exception of a known history of hypertension, all

With the exception of a known history of hypertension, all baseline variables were strongly associated with risk of blood transfusion (all P<0.001) in the univariate analysis. Age, EuroSCORE, female gender, diabetes mellitus and elevated

creatinine were positively associated with risk of transfusion. Haemoglobin, BMI and BSA were negatively associated with risk of transfusion. Patients undergoing combined surgery were more likely to be transfused. There were marked differences in transfusion rates among the 10 centres, which ranged from 31% to 56% (Table 2).

Table 3 shows the adjusted odds ratios, 95% CIs and P-values for the 7 variables included in the final multivariable risk score. During the model building process, it was found that BSA was a stronger predictor of transfusion than BMI. Neither history of hypertension nor diabetes mellitus were found to be independently associated with risk of transfusion. Table 2 also shows the log-odds ratio, their standard errors and the integer points associated with each category. Other than age (P=0.02), all variables in the multivariable risk score were strongly associated with the outcome (P<0.001). No statistically significant interactions were found. The strongest predictor of transfusion was baseline Hb, followed by BSA and EuroSCORE. The AUC for the integer risk score model was 0.760 (95% CI 0.752, 0.768), and the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test provided no evidence of a poor fit (P=0.23). The AUC from the non-integer risk model (i.e. using the log-odds ratios) was 0.762 indicating that little predictive power had been lost through the simplification process.

The risk score for any patient is simply calculated by adding the points associated with their baseline characteristics. For example, a 65 yr old (+0 points) male (+0 points), with baseline Hb of 135 g L⁻¹ (+3 points), BSA of 2.0 (+2 points), logistic EuroScore of 1.5 (+2 points), creatinine of 1.5 (+1 point) and undergoing CABG surgery (+2 points) would have a total risk score of 10 points. A 75 yr old (+1 point) female (+1 point), with baseline Hb of 125 g L⁻¹ (+6 points), BSA of 1.8 (+4 points), logistic EuroScore of 2 (+3 points), creatinine of 2.5 (+3 points) and undergoing valve surgery (+2 points) would have a total risk score of 20 points.

Table 4 and Fig. 1 show the predicted risk of transfusion associated with each value of the risk score. Figure 1 shows the distribution of risk score among patients in the audit. The risk

Table 1 Baseline characteristics. Values are mean (so), number (proportion or median (IQR (range)). "Indicates isolated CABG or single valve surgery All n=20036 Not transfused n=11 041 Transfused n=8638 P-value 67.1 (11.9) 65.2 (12.0) 69.7 (11.3) < 0.001 Age; yr Sex; men 14 303 (71.4%) 9093 (79.8%) 5210 (60.3%) < 0.001 Preoperative Hb; g L^{-1} 132 (17) 138 (15) 125 (17) < 0.001 3237 (16.2%) 1160 (13.4%) Missing data 2077 (18.2%) Body surface area; m² 1.9 (0.2) 2.0 (0.2) 1.9 (0.2) < 0.001 BMI: kg m² 28.4 (5.1) 29.0 (5.0) 3.2 (1.7–6.6 (0.4–98.4)) 27.6 (5.0) < 0.001 EuroSCORE 4.3 (2.1–8.7 (0.4–98.4)) 6.0 (3.1–11.7 (0.4–97.9)) 393 (2%) 88 (71–106 (9–1547)) Missing data 238 (2.1%) 155 (1.8%) Creatinine; µmol L⁻¹ 88 (71-97 (9-1547)) 88 (71-106 (9-1450)) < 0.001 1254 (11%) Missing data 2172 (10.8%) 918 (10.6%) Diabetes mellitus 3916 (22.0%) 2267 (11.3%) 2114 (20.7%) 1208 (10.6%) 1802 (23.8%) < 0.001 1059 (12.3%) Missing data Hypertension 13 325 (67.8%) 7511 (67.2%) 5814 (68 6%) 0.04 384 (1.9%) . 224 (2.0%) Missing data 160 (1.9%) Operation type CABG or valve* 14 575 (73%) 8778 (77%) 5797 (67%) Double procedure 2858 (14%) 1008 (9%) 1850 (21%) 2594 (13%) 1608 (14%) Other 986 (11%) < 0.001 Missing data 9 (<0.1%) 7 (0.1%) 2 (<0.1%)

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/bja/article-abstract/119/3/394/3965689/The-ACTA-PORT-score-for-predicting-perioperative on 11 october 2017

Table 2 De-identified centres. The difference in transfusion rates between centres was statistically significant (P<0.001)						
Centre	All n=20 036	Not transfused n=11401	Transfused n=8638	Transfusion rate		
A	2559 (13%)	1268 (11%)	1291 (15%)	50%		
В	732 (3%)	425 (4%)	307 (4%)	42%		
С	2058 (10%)	1410 (12%)	648 (8%)	31%		
D	2371 (12%)	1233 (11%)	1138 (13%)	48%		
E	5371 (27%)	3283 (29%)	2088 (24%)	39%		
F	500 (3%)	292 (3%)	208 (2%)	42%		
G	960 (5%)	423 (4%)	537 (6%)	56%		
Н	1986 (10%)	1029 (9%)	957 (11%)	49%		
I	1099 (6%)	618 (5%)	481 (6%)	44%		
J	2400 (12%)	1420 (12.5%)	980 (11%)	41%		

The ACTA PORT-score for predicting perioperative risk of blood transfusion | 397

Table 3 Multivariable Risk Score outlining corresponding odds ratios, log odds ratios and how ACTA-PORT score was constructed, showing the number of score-points that were attributed to each group

Characteristic	Category	Odds ratio (95%)	P-value	Log odds ratio (SE)	Points
Age: vr	<70	Ref.			+0
8., <u>7</u>	70+	1.11 (1.01, 1.21)	0.02	0.10 (0.04)	+1
Sex	Male	Ref.			+0
	Female	1.27 (1.15, 1.40)	< 0.001	0.24 (0.05)	+1
Haemoglobin	<110	6.36 (5.38, 7.52)		1.85 (0.09)	+9
g L ⁻¹	110-	4.60 (3.93, 5.38)		1.53 (0.08)	+8
0	120-	3.19 (2.79, 3.65)		1.16 (0.07)	+6
	130-	1.93 (1.70, 2.20)		0.66 (0.07)	+3
	140-	1.55 (1.37, 1.77)		0.44 (0.07)	+2
	150+	Ref.	< 0.001		+0
Body surface area	<1.7	3.62 (2.97, 4.42)		1.29 (0.10)	+6
m ²	1.7-	2.21 (1.85, 2.64)		0.79 (0.09)	+4
	1.9-	1.56 (1.31, 1.85)		0.44 (0.09)	+2
	2.1-	1.24 (1.04, 1.49)		0.22 (0.09)	+1
	2.3+	Ref.	< 0.001		+0
EuroSCORE	<1	Ref.			+0
	1-	1.36 (1.10, 1.70)		0.31 (0.11)	+2
	2-	1.73 (1.39, 2.15)		0.55 (0.11)	+3
	3-	2.16 (1.75, 2.68)		0.77 (0.11)	+4
	9+	2.76 (2.20, 3.46)	< 0.001	1.01 (0.12)	+5
Creatinine	<88	Ref.			+0
μ mol L ⁻¹	88-	1.33 (1.23, 1.44)		0.29 (0.04)	+1
	177-	1.93 (1.54, 2.42)	< 0.001	0.66 (0.12)	+3
Type of Operation	CABG/Valve	1.38 (1.22, 1.55)		0.32 (0.06)	+2
	Combination	2.84 (2.46, 3.29)		1.05 (0.07)	+5
	Other	Ref.	< 0.001		+0
Intercept		NA		-3.00	(0.15)

score can in theory take values ranging from 0 to 30, with a higher score associated with a higher risk. For example, the risk of transfusion for a patient with a risk score of 10 is estimated to be 27% compared with an estimated risk of transfusion of 73% for a patient with a risk score of 20. Figure 1 shows that the risk score is fairly normally distributed in this sample of patients with very few patients having a risk score below 5 (1.9%) or above 24 (1.8%). The median risk score was 14, for which the estimated risk of transfusion was 45%.

stratifying the transfusion. Among patients with a score below 10, less than 20% were transfused compared with close to 80% of patients with a score of 20 or above, a four-fold higher risk. There is good agreement between the predicted and observed probability of transfusion.

The AUC for the risk score in the external validation dataset was 0.835 (95% CI 0.810, 0.859). However, the score tends to underestimate risk of transfusion, particularly at higher levels of the score, (e.g. 73% and 89% observed us 60% and 79% predicted in the 15–19 and 20–24 categories, respectively).

estimated risk of transfusion was 45%. Figure 2 shows the observed vs predicted risk of transfusion across categories of the risk score. The score performs well in

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/bja/article-abstract/119/3/394/3965689/The-ACTA-PORT-score-for-predicting-perioperative by St Vincent's Bospital user on 11 Octber 2017

398 | Klein et al.

The score was not designed to predict number of units of blood transfused. However, increasing ACTA-PORT score was associated with increased number of units of blood transfused perioperatively: risk score 0-14, median units of blood transfused 0; score 15-19, median 1 unit; score 20-24, median 2 units; and score 25-30, median 3 units.

Table 4 Integer risk score totals and associated predicted risk of transfusion. Low scores have a very low risk of transfusion (i.e. a score of 1 gives a risk of transfusion<5%), whereas a high score of 30 has >95% risk of requiring a transfusion

Integer risk score	Predicted risk of transfusion	Integer risk score	Predicted risk of transfusion
0	0.0470	15	0.500
1	0.0570	16	0.550
2	0.0690	17	0.599
3	0.0830	18	0.646
4	0.1000	19	0.690
5	0.1190	20	0.731
6	0.1420	21	0.769
7	0.1680	22	0.802
8	0.1980	23	0.832
9	0.2310	24	0.858
10	0.2690	25	0.881
11	0.3100	26	0.900
12	0.3540	27	0.917
13	0.4010	28	0.931
14	0.4500	29	0.943
15	0.5000	30	0.953

The results from the sensitivity analysis using multiple imputation did not make substantial changes to the risk score. We also calculated the performance of the ACTA-PORT score at various integer risk score cut-points; the optimum cut-point was 15, with a positive predictive value of 70% and a negative predictive value of 71%, with 70% of values correctly predicted.

Discussion

We developed a simple, integer-based scoring system that accurately predicted the likelihood of transfusion. We also externally validated this, demonstrating its applicability in a real-world scenario.

The concept of a scoring system designed to predict the risk of bleeding or transfusion during cardiac surgery is not new. One of the first efforts in this area was from Payworth Hospital.⁶ This system aimed to measure blood loss exceeding 2mL kg⁻¹ hr⁻¹, requirement for fresh frozen plasma, platelets or cryoprecipitate, or return to theatre after arrival in the ICU. Whilst the negative predictive value of this score was high, only 27% of patients who the score placed in the highest risk category subsequently demonstrated major bleeding. This low positive predictive value was confirmed by a subsequent external validation.⁷

Whilst the Papworth Bleeding Risk Score sought to identify those patients at risk of excessive blood loss in the ICU after cardiac surgery, subsequent scoring systems have sought to predict the risk of transfusion. A relatively recent example of this is the Transfusion Risk and Clinical Knowledge (TRACK) score.⁸ TRACK aimed to create a simple, easily applied system, based on five predictors of transfusion risk, assigning each variable a proportional risk score based on the clinical condition of the patient. This scoring system was subsequently validated against



Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/bja/article-abstract/119/3/394/3965689/The-ACTA-PORT-score-for-predicting-perioperative by St Vincent's Hospital user on 11 October 2017



The ACTA PORT-score for predicting perioperative risk of blood transfusion | 399

an external cohort, and proved to be superior to three earlier systems^{13–15} with an AUC of 0.70. Like the ACTA-PORT score, TRACK aimed to improve the utility of the scoring system for clinical practice as a result of its relative simplicity, whist at the same time remaining sensitive and specific for predicting transfusion risk. We used our validation dataset to also compute the TRACK score; the AUC of TRACK was 0.781 (ACTA-PORT vs. TRACK P<0.001 using the DeLong method for comparing risk scores). We therefore conclude that the ACTA-PORT score performs significantly better than TRACK. Recently, Goudie and colleagues¹⁶ published two risk predic-

Recently, Goudie and colleagues¹⁶ published two risk prediction models: one for any red cell transfusion, and another for a requirement for massive transfusion. This is considerably more complex than the simpler TRACK and ACTA-PORT prediction models. When the Goudie model was published, it represented an advance on many existing scoring systems,^{10,15,17} with an AUC of 0.77 for any red blood cell transfusion. We were unable to calculate the risk of transfusion from our dataset using the Goudie method as we did not collect all the necessary data.

The use of risk scores for transfusion such as ACTA-PORT might allow clinicians to quantify this risk before surgery, thereby potentially allowing modification of important risk factors during preoperative optimisation. Transfusion has been shown to be associated with increased 30-day mortality,¹⁸ morbidity related to ischaemia,¹⁹ infection,^{20–23} renal impairment,²⁴ post-CABG graft occlusion²⁵ and acute lung injury.²⁶ With respect to longer term outcomes, Engoren and colleagues found that blood transfusion during cardiac surgery was associated with a doubling of the risk of death at five yr.²⁷ Yet this clinical intervention, with appropriate preoperative warning and preparation, can potentially be avoided. In our study, the only realistically modifiable risk factor associated with requirement for blood transfusion was Hb. Patients with an Hb <130 g L⁻¹ accounted for nearly 50% of all transfusions, despite making up only one-third of the total cohort. Using the risk profile of those patients included in the ACTA-PORT cohort, a PBM program able to increase haemoglobin from 120 to 130 g L⁻¹ would theoretically decrease risk of transfusion during the perioperative morbidity and mortality.

Similar to previous studies that have used the retrospective analysis of large databases to generate a risk score, our study suffers from some limitations. First, the preoperative management of patients presenting for cardiac surgery at the centres involved in the study was not standardised. The possibility that patients at certain centres were exposed to different PBM strategies therefore cannot be excluded, and could potentially confound any subsequent analysis. Such strategies might include differences in the cessation of anti-platelet therapies and use of cell salvage, and transfusion preferences of individual surgeons and centres. All centres administered tranexamic acid routinely, but at different doses depending on institutional preference.

Secondly, despite demonstrating overall reliability in predicting risk of transfusion, the score does slightly underestimate transfusion risk in the higher risk categories. Patients with risk score >20 had a roughly 10% higher observed rate of transfusion relative to predicted risk. This might reflect the nature of the validation cohort, being from a single centre, as opposed to the multi-centre model derivation dataset. Consequently, the transfusion practices in the specific centre might not accurately reflect general transfusion practice. This could be as a result of negional variation in anaemia incidence as described,¹⁷ or a higher incidence of complex cardiac surgery at this specific

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/bja/article-abstract/119/3/394/3965689/The-ACTA-PORT-score-for-predicting-perioperative on 11 October 2017
400 | Klein et al.

centre. The decision by the authors to not specifically correct for regional variation was made in order to retain generalisation, enabling the scoring system to be used at centres outside those that participated in the initial cohort. Consequently, if a centre has policies or surgeons that make transfusions more likely (compared with the average in the audit), the score will underestimate risk, as evidenced by the results of the validation cohort. Whilst ACTA-PORT will be useful to stratify risk of transfusion in any patient presenting for cardiac surgery, the system will need to be recalibrated if centres outside of the control cohort whils to use it to predict absolute risk. We plan to design a simple App/online calculator to calculate the ACTA-PORT score when planning surgery or discussing risk with patients. In addition, we were only able to compare the ACTA-PORT score with the TRACK score, and were unable to compute other risk scores because of lack of appropriate data.

Finally, the score makes use of the EuroSCORE¹⁰ as an overall marker of patient mortality. This might limit the applicability of the scoring system beyond health systems that routinely collect this information, particularly centres in China²⁸ and Australia.²⁹ Furthermore, risk prediction models are subject to constant revision,³⁰ potentially further limiting the applicability of derived models that make use of them.

In summary, using a large, multicentre cohort of patients collected from multiple cardiac centres, we derived a robust, simple and accurate system for predicting risk of transfusion for patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Future research will ideally include independent validation against a further external cohort, comparing ACTA-PORT with other bleeding/transfusion risk scores. This and other scores could be used in research studies for risk adjustment of patients when assessing the outcome of an intervention, and could also be incorporated into Patient Blood Management programmes.

Authors' contributions

Study design/planning: A.A.K., T.R. Study conduct: A.A.K., N.F., C.E. Data analysis: T.C. Writing paper: T.C., J.Y., L.F.M. Revising paper: all authors

Declaration of interest

All authors have completed the ICMJE uniform disclosure form at http://www.icmje.org/coi_disclosure.pdf and declare: A.A.K. has received funding for research/education and/or honoraria and travel support from Pharmacosmos, Vifor Pharma, CSL Behring and Fisher and Paykel; C.E. has received honoraria and travel support from Pharmacosmos, T.R. has received funding for research/education and/or honoraria and travel support from Pharmacosmos, and travel support from Pharmacosmos and Vifor Pharma. S.F. is the President of the Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthesia and Critical Care (ACTACC). The authors received no support from any organisations that might have an interest in the submitted work in the previous three yr; and no other relationships or activities that could appear to have influenced the submitted work.

References

 Hébert PC, Wells G, Blajchman MA, et al. A multicenter, randomized, controlled clinical trial of transfusion requirements in critical care. N Engl J Med 1999; 340: 409–17

- Murphy GJ, Pike K, Rogers CA, et al. Liberal or restrictive transfusion after cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med 2015; 372: 997–1008
 Koch CG, Li L, Duncan AI, et al. Morbidity and mortality risk
- Koch CG, Li L, Duncan AI, et al. Morbidity and mortality risk associated with red blood cell and blood-component transfusion in isolated coronary artery bypass grafting. Crit Care Med 2006; 34: 1608–16
- Shaw RE, Johnson CK, Ferrari G, et al. Blood transfusion in cardiac surgery does increase the risk of 5-year mortality: results from a contemporary series of 1714 propensitymatched patients. Transfusion 2014; 54: 1106–13
- Ad N, Massimiano PS, Burton NA, et al. Effect of patient age on blood product transfusion after cardiac surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2015; 150: 209–14
- Vuylsteke A, Pagel C, Gerrard C, et al. The Papworth Bleeding Risk Score: a stratification scheme for identifying cardiac surgery patients at risk of excessive early postoperative bleeding. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2011; 39: 924–30
- Greiff G, Pleym H, Stenseth R, et al. Prediction of bleeding after cardiac surgery: comparison of model performances: a prospective observational study. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2015; 29: 311–9
- Ranucci M, Castelvecchio S, Frigiola A, et al. Predicting transfusions in cardiac surgery: the easier, the better: the transfusion risk and clinical knowledge score. Vox San 2009; 96: 324–32
- Clevenger B, Mallett SV, Klein AA, Richards T. Patient blood management to reduce surgical risk. Brit J Surg 2015; 102: 1325–37
 Nashef SA, Roques F, Michel F, et al. European system for car-
- Nashef SA, Roques F, Michel F, et al. European system for cardiac operative risk evaluation (EuroSCORE). Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 1999; 16: 9–13
- Shahin J, Ferrando-Vivas P, Power GS, et al. The Assessment of Risk in Cardiothoracic Intensive Care (ARCtIC): prediction of hospital mortality after admission to cardiothoracic critical care. Anaesthesia 2016; 71: 1410–6
 Wong DJN, Oliver CN, Moonsinghe SR. Predicting postopera-
- Wong DJN, Oliver CN, Moonsinghe SR. Predicting postoperative morbidity in adult elective surgical patients using the Surgical Outcome Risk Score. Br J Anaesth 2017; 119: 95–105
- Litmathe J, Boeken U, Feindt P, et al. Predictors of homologous blood transfusion for patients undergoing open heart surgery. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2003; 51: 17–21
- Magovern JA, Sakhert T, Benkhart TH, et al. A model for predicting transfusion after coronary artery bypass grafting. Ann Thorac Surg 1996; 61: 27–32
- Alghamdi AA, Davis A, Brister S, Corey, et al. Development and validation of Transfusion Risk Understanding Scoring Tool (TRUST) to stratify cardiac surgery patients according to their blood transfusion needs. Transfusion 2006; 46: 1120–9
- Goudie R, Sterne JA, Verheyden V, et al. Risk scores to facilitate preoperative prediction of transfusion and large volume blood transfusion associated with adult cardiac surgery. Br J Anaesth 2015; 114: 757–66
- Klein AA, Collier TJ, Brar MS, et al. The incidence and importance of anaemia in patients undergoing cardiac surgery in the UK—the first Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthetists national audit. Anaesthesia 2016; 71: 627–35
- Feng S, Machina M, Beattie WS. Influence of anaemia and red blood cell transfusion on mortality in high cardiac risk patients underging major non-cardiac surery: a retrospective cohort study. Br J Anaesth 2017; 119: 843–51
- Murphy GJ, Reeves BC, Rogers CA, et al. Increased mortality, postoperative morbidity, and cost after red blood cell transfusion in patients having cardiac surgery. Circulation 2007; 116: 2544–52
- Horvath KA, Acker MA, Chang H, et al. Blood transfusion and infection after cardiac surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2013; 95: 2194–201

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/bja/article-abstract/119/3/394/3965689/The-ACTA-PORT-score-for-predicting-perioperative by St Vincent's Hospital user on 11 Octber 2017

The ACTA PORT-score for predicting perioperative risk of blood transfusion | 401

- 21. Chelemer SB, Prato BS, Cox PM, et al. Association of bacterial infection and red blood cell transfusion after coronary artery bypass surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2002; 73: 138-42
- Banbury MK, Brizzio ME, Rajeswaran J, et al. Transfusion increases the risk of postoperative infection after cardiovascular surgery. J Am Coll Surg 2012; 202: 131-8
- Murph PJ, Connery C, Hicks GL, et al. Homologous blood transfusion as a risk factor for postoperative infection after coronary artery bypass graft operations. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1992; 104: 1092–9
- Karkouti K. Transfusion and risk of acute kidney injury in cardiac surgery. Br J Anaesth 2012; 109: 29–38
 Engoren MC, Schwann TA, Jewell E, et al. Is transfusion asso-
- ciated with graft occlusion after cardiac operations? Ann Thorac Surg 2015; 99: 502-8
- Bux J. Transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI): a serious adverse event of blood transfusion. Vox Sang 2005; 89: 1–10
- 27. Engoren MC, Habib RH, Zacharias A, et al. Effect of blood transfusion on long-term survival after cardiac operation. Ann Thorac Surg 2002; 74: 1180–6
- Zheng Z, Zhang L, Li X, et al on behalf of the C. C. R. SinoSCORE: a logistically derived additive prediction model for post-coronary artery bypass grafting in-hospital mortality in a Chinese population. Front Med 2013; 7: 477-85

- 29. Reid C, Billah B, Dinh D, et al. An Australian risk prediction model for 30-day mortality after isolated coronary artery bypass: the AusSCORE. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2009; **138**: 904-10
- 30. Nashef SA, Roques F, Sharples L, et al. Euroscore II. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2012; **41**: 734–45

Appendix 1

Contributors

- R. P. Alston, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh, Scotland
 - H. Pauli, Freeman Hospital, Newcastle
 - A. Vijayan, Castle Hill Hospital, Hull A. Pai, Essex Cardiothoracic Centre, Basildon, Essex
- N. rah, Issex Cambridge Hospital, London
 D. Krahne, Kings College Hospital, London
 D. Glasgow, Royal Victoria Hospital, Belfast
 P. Fernandez Jimenez, Manchester Royal Infirmary, Manchester)
 S. Agarwal, Liverpool Heart and Chest Centre, Liverpool)
 A. Kelleher, Royal Brompton Hospital, London
 Cohen Enterplace Leaviers
- A. Cohen, Bristol Heart Institute, Bristol
- N. Balani and G. Hallward, St Thomas Hospital, London, UK

Handling editor: Hugh C Hemmings Jr

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/bja/article-abstract/119/3/394/3965689/The-ACTA-PORT-score-for-predicting-perioperative on 11 october 2017

Appendix 2: AntiPORT paper (submitted to Anaesthesia & Intensive Care, 2021)

AntiPORT: adaptation of a transfusion prediction score to an Australian cardiac surgery population

James A. Yeates Lachlan F. Miles Kate Blatchford Michael Bailey Jenni Williams-Spence Christopher Reid Tim G Coulson

The ANZSCTS Cardiac Surgery Database Program is funded by the Department of Health (VIC), the Clinical Excellence Commission (NSW), Queensland Health (QLD), and funding from individual Units. ANZSCTS Database Research activities are supported through a National Health and Medical Research Council Principal Research Fellowship (GNT 1136372) and Program Grant (GTN 1092642) awarded to C.M. Reid. The Database thanks all of the investigators, data managers, and institutions that participate in the Program.

Summary:

Introduction

Risk scoring systems exist to predict perioperative blood transfusion risk in cardiac surgery. None have been validated in the Australian or New Zealand population. The ACTA-PORT score was developed in the UK for this purpose. In this study we validate and recalibrate the ACTA-PORT score in a large national database.

Methods

We used data from the Australian and New Zealand Society of Cardiac and Thoracic Surgeons Database between September 2016 and December 2018. ACTA-PORT score was calculated using an equivalent of EuroSCORE. Discrimination and calibration was assessed using area under the receiver operating curve (AU-ROC), Brier scores and calibration plots. ACTA-PORT was then recalibrated in a development set using logistic regression and the outcome of transfusion to develop new predicted transfusion rates – termed AntiPORT. Accuracy of these new predictions was assessed as for ACTA-PORT.

Results

30,388 patients were included in the study at 37 centres. The rate of red blood cell transfusion was 33%. Discrimination of ACTA-PORT was good (AU-ROC =0.76), but calibration was poor with overprediction of transfusion. The re-calibrated AntiPORT showed significantly improved calibration in both development sets and validation sets without compromising discrimination.

Discussion

The AntiPORT is the first red cell transfusion risk scoring system for cardiac surgery patients to be validated using Australian data. It is accurate and simple to calculate. AntiPORT may help facilitate benchmarking and future research in the area of patient blood management (PBM) as well as providing a useful tool to help clinicians target PBM strategies.

Introduction

Peri-operative anaemia and the requirement for allogeneic red blood cell (RBC) transfusion are independently associated with increased morbidity and mortality following cardiac surgery (Hung, Besser, Sharples, Nair & Klein, 2011;Klein, Collier, Brar, Hallward, Fletcher, & Richards, 2016). Both nationally and internationally, surgery accounts for around a third of national blood product usage (Wallis, Wells, and Chapman 2006). Cardiothoracic surgery patients received 5.6% of all blood products in Australia (Shortt et al. 2009). While transfusion costs vary internationally, the burden on health service providers is universally significant (Amin et al. 2003a).

Various strategies to reduce overall blood product use by both pre-operative optimisation of haemoglobin and blood conservation strategies have been developed and are grouped together under the term 'Patient Blood Management' (PBM). PBM programs incur a significant economic burden, and in order to best allocate resources a number of scoring systems have been developed to identify those at increased risk of peri-operative transfusion (Vuylsteke et al. 2011a; Goudie et al. 2015; Alghamdi et al. 2006; M. Ranucci et al. 2009). Those at higher risk of transfusion can be subsequently targeted for pre-operative optimisation or more aggressive peri-operative blood conservation strategies. A recently published example is the UK generated ACTA-PORT score (Klein et al., 2017), which is a relatively simple, integer-based scoring system that proved accurate in a UK context.

To date, all relevant RBC transfusion risks scores (including ACTA-PORT) have been derived from UK, US, Canadian or European populations. None have yet been developed or validated using data from Australia or New Zealand. One paper described a score to predict requirement for platelet transfusion in cardiac surgery using Australian and New Zealand data (Flint et al. 2020). Despite similarities in clinical practice, risk prediction tools derived from a UK population do not necessarily retain precision when directly applied to an Antipodean population (Yap et al. 2006a; Campbell et al. 2019). As noted by Reilly et al., "risk prediction tools are developed and initially validated in a specific patient population, in a specific health-care setting, at a specific point in time" (Reilly et al. 2020). This precludes direct translation of risk prediction models between countries and highlights the importance of validating such models with local data before applying them.

In this study we determine the accuracy of the original ACTA-PORT score in a cohort of Australian cardiac surgical patients. We subsequently develop and validate a recalibrated version of this score (henceforth the AntiPORT score) in our population.

Methods

We used the Australian and New Zealand Society of Cardiac and Thoracic Surgeons (ANZSCTS) Database and included data from all cardiac surgery procedures performed between 1 September 2016 and 31 December 2018. The Database currently collects perioperative data for all patients undergoing cardiac surgery across 26 public and 30 private hospitals in the region. Since mid-2016 data collection has routinely included pre-operative haemoglobin [Hb]. The components and calculation of the ACTA-PORT score(Klein, Collier, Brar, Hallward, Fletcher et al., 2017) are included in the table below. With the exception of EuroSCORE, all other data is collected routinely by the ANZSCTS Database.

Characteristic	Category	Points
Age; years	<70	+0
	70+	+1
Sex	Male	+0
	Female	+1
Haemoglobin	<110	+9
g/L	110-	+8
	120-	+6
	130-	+3
	140-	+2
	150+	+0
Body surface	<1.7	+6
area		
\mathbf{m}^2	1.7-	+4
	1.9-	+2
	2.1-	+1
	2.3+	+0
EuroSCORE	<1	+0
	1-	+2
	2-	+3
	3-	+4
	9+	+5
Preoperative	<88	+0
Creatinine		
µmol/L	88-	+1
	177-	+3
Type of	CABG/Valve	+2
Operation		
	Combination	+5
	Other	+0

Table 1: Multivariable Risk Score showing how ACTA-PORT score is calculated, showing the number of score-points that were attributed to each group.

ACTA-PORT used EuroSCORE as a surrogate for operative mortality. This was not available in our dataset. Some of the EuroSCORE components differed slightly from components collected in the ANZSCTS Database, and one (systolic pulmonary artery pressure) was not available at all. We therefore calculated EuroSCORE I (excluding pulmonary artery pressure) based on the closest available variables, as has been previously described by Yap et al. (Yap et al. 2006b). Correlation between EuroSCORE and "All-procedures" AusSCORE was assessed. To make future calculations easier using Australian data we subsequently replaced the EuroSCORE mortality prediction ranges in ACTA-PORT with an equivalent Australasian risk prediction score developed from the ANZSCTS Database. This score was originally developed for CABG procedure only as AusSCORE (Reid et al. 2009b) and subsequently developed to include all cardiac surgical procedures, known as the 'all procedures' model (Billah et al. 2010). This "all procedures" version was used in our analysis, which is referred to as AusSCORE-AP. In the absence of previously documented techniques of finding equivalent score ranges, we calculated the interquartile range of the AusSCORE-AP in our population for each of the five possible categories of EuroSCORE included in the original ACTA-PORT score. Approximations of these interquartile ranges of AusSCORE-AP replaced the EuroSCORE categories in the new model. These two techniques in turn yielded two scores:

- the original ACTA-PORT score using the calculated EuroSCORE (the ACTA-PORT-ES),
- (2) the original ACTA-PORT score using the AusSCORE-AP ranges to replace EuroSCORE (the ACTA-PORT-AS).

Discrimination and calibration of each of these two scores was then assessed.

Finally, given that it is likely transfusion practices will vary across the two populations, it is also likely that the calibration of the score will be affected. We determined *a priori* that we would recalibrate the ACTA-PORT score using data derived from the local population. In order to do this, the dataset was split randomly into two populations (by hospital) in an approximate 75:25, resulting in a training set and validation set. Logistic regression was carried out in the training set using allogeneic red cell transfusion as the outcome and the ACTA-PORT-AS as the independent variable. Predictions based on this logistic regression were generated for the

validation set using the ACTA-PORT-AS integer score. We termed this the 'AntiPORT' recalibration (Antipodean Peri-Operative Risk of blood Transfusion). Discrimination and calibration were then assessed in the validation set.

Baseline characteristics were compared between those patients transfused and those not transfused using Chi-square for categorical data, Student's t-test for normally distributed data and Wilcoxon Rank-Sum for non-normally distributed data. Correlation was assessed using Pearson's pairwise correlation. Discrimination of AntiPORT was assessed using the area under the receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curve. Calibration was assessed using calibration plots. Both were assessed using the Brier score. All analyses were carried out using Stata version 16.1 (StataCorp LLC 2019).

Results

We analysed data from 30,393 patients from 37 hospitals, whose baseline characteristics are displayed in Table 2.

Columns by Red blood cell transfusion	No RBC	RBC	Total	P-value
n (%)	20358 (67.0)	10030 (33.0)	30388 (100)	
Age, median (iqr)	66 (57-73)	69 (60-76)	67 (58-74)	< 0.001
Sex, n (%)				
Male	16247 (79.8)	6427 (64.1)	22674 (74.6)	
Female	4111 (20.2)	3603 (35.9)	7714 (25.4)	< 0.001
Procedure type, n (%)				
CABG	10991 (54.0)	4367 (43.5)	15358 (50.5)	
Valve surgery	4769 (23.4)	1948 (19.4)	6717 (22.1)	
Combined CABG/Valve	1445 (7.1)	1384 (13.8)	2829 (9.3)	
Other, n (%)	3153 (15.5)	2331 (23.2)	5482 (18.0)	< 0.001
Preoperative haemoglobin, median (iqr)	142 (19)	126 (29)	138 (24)	< 0.001
Preoperative creatinine, median (iqr)	84 (72-99)	89 (73-115)	85 (72-103)	< 0.001
Diabetes, n (%)				
No diabetes	14605 (71.8)	6680 (66.6)	21285 (70.1)	
Diabetes	5731 (28.2)	3343 (33.4)	9074 (29.9)	< 0.001
Hypertension, n (%)				
No hypertension	6064 (29.8)	2689 (26.8)	8753 (28.8)	
Hypertension	14272 (70.2)	7332 (73.2)	21604 (71.2)	< 0.001
NYHA status, n (%)				
1	8740 (43.0)	3489 (34.8)	12229 (40.3)	
2	7702 (37.9)	3515 (35.1)	11217 (36.9)	
3	3306 (16.3)	2217 (22.1)	5523 (18.2)	
4	596 (2.9)	803 (8.0)	1399 (4.6)	< 0.001
Estimated Ejection Fraction, n (%)				
Normal	10173 (50.8)	4779 (48.8)	14952 (50.2)	
45-60%	6862 (34.3)	2844 (29.1)	9706 (32.6)	
30-45%	2368 (11.8)	1453 (14.8)	3821 (12.8)	
<30%	604 (3.0)	710 (7.3)	1314 (4.4)	< 0.001
BMI, median (iqr)	29 (25-32)	27 (24-31)	28 (25-32)	< 0.001
Urgency, n (%)				
Non-urgent	14969 (73.5)	5872 (58.6)	20841 (68.6)	
Urgent	4907 (24.1)	3245 (32.4)	8152 (26.8)	
Emergency	468 (2.3)	860 (8.6)	1328 (4.4)	
Salvage	12 (0.1)	51 (0.5)	63 (0.2)	< 0.001
Previous cardiac surgery, n (%)				
No	19368 (95.2)	8862 (88.4)	28230 (92.9)	
Yes	985 (4.8)	1163 (11.6)	2148 (7.1)	< 0.001
Perfusion time, median (iqr)	91 (70-119)	112 (82-157)	97 (73-130)	< 0.001
Mortality, n (%)				
Survived	20262 (99.5)	9504 (94.8)	29766 (98.0)	
Died	96 (0.5)	526 (5.2)	622(2.0)	< 0.001

Table 2 Baseline characteristics of the dataset used in AntiPORT derivation and validation

CABG: Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting NYHA: New York Heart Association BMI: Body Mass Index Five patients (0.02%) had missing red cell transfusion data and were excluded, resulting in a final analysis cohort of 30388 patients. Of these, a total of 10,030 (33%) patients were transfused. Age, female sex, NYHA class 4 status, diabetes mellitus, hypertension and elevated creatinine were positively associated with risk of transfusion following univariate analysis. Additionally, patients undergoing combined surgery or emergency surgery were more likely to require transfusion. BMI and pre-operative [Hb] were both negatively associated with transfusion risk.

EuroSCORE and AusSCORE-AP were strongly correlated (r=0.83, p<0.001). The range of EuroSCORE used in ACTA-PORT versus the corresponding AusSCORE-AP are shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1 Box plot of AusSCORE plotted against EuroSCORE categories from ACTA-PORT.

Due to the significant overlap between a EuroSCORE of 1 and 2 these two categories were combined. Assigned ACTA-PORT scores for AusSCORE-AP based on these equivalents are shown in Table 3.

EuroSCORE	AusSCORE	ACTA-PORT score value
. 1		
<1	-3 to 0	0
1	1 to 3	3
2	1 to 3	3
3-8	4 to 9	4
9+	10+	5

Table 3: Assigned EuroSCORE vs. AusSCORE equivalents for the purposes of calculating the

ACTA-PORT score.

The resultant integer AntiPORT scoring system is shown in Table 4.

Characteristic	Category	Points
Age; years	<70	+0
	70+	+1
Sex	Male	+0
	Female	+1
Haemoglobin	<110	+9
g/L	110-	+8
	120-	+6
	130-	+3
	140-	+2
	150+	+0
Body surface area	<1.7	+6
m^2	1.7-	+4
	1.9-	+2
	2.1-	+1
	2.3+	+0
AusSCORE	<1	+0
	1-3	+3
	4-9	+4
	10+	+5
Creatinine	<88	+0
µmol/L	88-	+1
	177-	+3
Type of Operation	CABG/Valve	+2
	Combination	+5
	Other	+0

Table 4: The AntiPORT score with AusSCORE values substituted for EuroSCORE

Discrimination in the Australian population was similar to the UK population with an AU-ROC for ACTA-PORT-ES and red cell transfusion of 0.76 (0.75-0.76, n=30,071), and for ACTA-PORT-AS of 0.76 (0.75-0.76, n=29,487). Brier scores were 0.19 for both. Calibration was poorer with overprediction of transfusion on calibration plots (ACTA-PORT-AS calibration plot in figure 2).

Splitting the dataset yielded a training set (n = 22,407, comprising 28 hospitals) and a validation set (n =7981, comprising 9 hospitals). Logistic regression in the training set showed ACTA-PORT-AS was strongly associated with red cell transfusion (OR 1.22, 1.21-1.23, p<0.001,

n=21,743). AU-ROC in the validation set was 0.76 (0.75-0.77, n=7744). Brier score was 0.18. Calibration was improved, as seen in Figure 3 below.



Figure 3: Calibration plot showing predicted vs observed transfusions for recalibrated ACTA-PORT-AS: the 'Anti-PORT'

The predicted rate of transfusion based on the AntiPORT recalibration is shown in Table 5, with corresponding predicted rate of transfusion from the original ACTA-PORT score as reference.

AntiPORT/	Predicted risk	Predicted risk
ACTA-	of transfusion	of transfusion
PORT score	(ACTA-	(AntiPORT)
	PORT)	
0	4.7%	2.7%
1	5.7%	3.2%
2	6.9%	3.9%
3	8.3%	4.8%
4	10.0%	5.8%
5	11.9%	7.0%
6	14.2%	8.4%
7	16.8%	10.1%
8	19.8%	12.1%
9	23.1%	14.4%
10	26.9%	17.1%
11	31.0%	20.1%
12	35.4%	23.5%
13	40.1%	27.4%
14	45.0%	31.5%
15	50.0%	36.0%
16	55.0%	40.8%
17	59.9%	45.8%
18	64.6%	50.8%
19	69.0%	55.8%
20	73.1%	60.7%
21	76.9%	65.4%
22	80.2%	69.8%
23	83.2%	73.9%
24	85.8%	77.6%
25	88.1%	80.9%
26	90.0%	83.8%
27	91.7%	86.4%
28	93.1%	88.6%
29	94.3%	90.5%
30	95.3%	92.1%

Table 5: Predicted risk of transfusion for AntiPORT recalibration, with corresponding ACTA-

PORT predicted risk as comparison.

Discussion

We performed a retrospective validation study of the ACTA-PORT score for patients undergoing cardiac surgery in Australia. We demonstrated that discrimination between UK and Australian populations for the original ACTA-PORT score was similar when either derived EuroSCORE or AusSCORE-AP was used, but calibration was inaccurate, with overprediction of transfusion based on observed rates. Recalibrating the ACTA-PORT score to the local population resulted in a score that was both discriminative and well calibrated.

The ability to accurately predict transfusion risk allows for better-directed, and more costeffective use of PBM strategies. Patients with a low score could proceed to surgery without further optimisation, reserving more intensive methods for those at higher risk. Many strategies to optimise anaemia require delays to be effective, and attempts to avoid such delays may necessitate expensive combination treatments such as IV iron, vitamin B12, folate, and EPO (Spahn et al. 2019). In addition to guiding the graduated use of PBM, and potentially improving resource allocation, this score could be used for benchmarking. Studies of transfusion in cardiac surgery regularly show that practices vary enormously between centres(Andrew A Klein et al. 2020; McQuilten et al. 2014). It is possible that practices at units with lower risk-adjusted transfusion rates could be investigated and emulated at other hospitals. Finally, there are significant implications to future PBM research. When designing an international clinical trial, the capacity to screen and assess using a common 'risk prediction language' can have major impacts on feasibility, as was demonstrated recently by Wong et al. who validated multiple risk prediction tools as part of an international cohort study (Danny J. N. Wong et al. 2020). Additionally, from the perspective of the bedside clinician, applying the results of clinical trials from other countries to the individual patient is both easier, and more reliable if the risk prediction models used in the trial have been validated in the local population first.

Consequently, the transformation of ACTA-PORT to 'AntiPORT' could allow common enrolment of patients in Australasia and the UK into trials that attempted to recruit patients at a high risk of receiving allogeneic blood transfusion as part of cardiac surgery, or alternatively, allow a clinician in the UK to apply the results of an Australian trial to their individual practice, once the appropriate recalibration factor was considered. Critically, both ACTA-PORT and AntiPORT use data which is collected routinely for the purposes of clinical audit (including the EuroSCORE in the UK and AusSCORE-AP in Australia), raising the possibility of using these scores as automatically calculated metrics to screen patients for embedded clinical trials.

While there are similarities between UK and antipodean cardiac surgical and transfusion practices, previous studies that have attempted to adapt risk prediction scores developed in the northern hemisphere to Australasian patients have shown that this process is not simple. A recent study by Campbell et al. that attempted to adapt a surgical risk prediction score from the UK to a New Zealand cohort showed that an unadjusted model under-predicted mortality by a factor of five (Campbell et al. 2019). In cardiac surgery, the commonly used EuroSCORE model was found by Yap et al. to significantly over-predict mortality in a representative cohort of Australian patients drawn from six hospitals (Yap et al. 2006a), necessitating the development of a prediction model that was trialled and validated in a local patient cohort – the AusSCORE (Reid et al. 2009a).

Multiple scoring systems have been developed to predict RBC transfusion risk in cardiac surgery with varying degrees of accuracy, simplicity and generalisability. The best-known of these are the BRiSc (Vuylsteke et al. 2011b), TRACK (M. Ranucci et al. 2009), TRUST (Alghamdi et al. 2006) and Goudie scores (Goudie et al. 2015). All of these scores have significant merits, but also weaknesses, most driven by the inverse relationship between simplicity and accuracy. The ACTA-PORT score was chosen for our study as we feel it bests strikes the balance between simplicity, accuracy and practicality for use by clinicians. As mentioned previously in the literature, these scores have little value to patients unless they have a positive impact on clinical management and patient outcomes, and to do this they must, above all, be usable (Bartoszko and Karkouti 2017)

Strengths and limitations of this study should be recognised. We used a large national database incorporating multiple surgical units. The split into development and validation cohorts was carried out by surgical unit (randomly), rather than using individual patients. This suggests the score is valid across surgical units with differing practices. It is notable that PBM and transfusion practices have evolved significantly over the last decade, impacting on the applicability of the score to current practice. It is likely that future recalibrations will be necessary as patient risk profile and medical practice changes. Nonetheless, the relative recency of the dataset (from late 2016 to the end of 2018) suggests practice is likely to be relevant. It is possible that a more discriminative risk prediction tool could have been generated in this population by bespoke design, rather than recalibration of an existing tool. However, for reasons described previously it was felt that the ability to apply a common risk score internationally was more important.

To conclude, we have developed a local variation of a UK-based transfusion risk prediction score. The AntiPORT score is an accurate scoring system to predict peri-operative blood transfusion in patients undergoing cardiac surgery in Australia and New Zealand. The score has a number of potential uses, including the effective allocation of PBM resources, as a quality control initiative as part of a program of comprehensive audit and as a means of achieving consistent appreciation of risk in patients enrolled in international clinical trials of transfusion practice across different countries. Finally, AntiPORT score is a clinically useful transfusionprediction score that can be utilised easily at the bedside by clinicians using the popular QxMD software package including an online calculator and the popular "Calculate by QxMD" app for mobile devices. In addition to its academic value, we hope that this might be become a practical and useful tool for peri-operative physicians in Australia and New Zealand when caring for patients in preparation for cardiac surgery.

Bibliography:

- Alghamdi, A. A., Davis, A., Brister, S., Corey, P., & Logan, A. (2006). Development and validation of Transfusion Risk Understanding Scoring Tool (TRUST) to stratify cardiac surgery patients according to their blood transfusion needs. *Transfusion*, 46(7), 1120– 1129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.2006.00860.x
- Amin, M., Fergusson, D., Aziz, A., Wilson, K., Coyle, D., & Hébert, P. (2003). The cost of allogeneic red blood cells – a systematic review. *Transfusion Medicine*, 13(5), 275–286. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3148.2003.00454.x
- Bartoszko, J., & Karkouti, K. (2017). Can predicting transfusion in cardiac surgery help patients? *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, *119*(3), 350–352. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aex216
- Billah, B., Reid, C. M., Shardey, G. C., & Smith, J. A. (2010). A preoperative risk prediction model for 30-day mortality following cardiac surgery in an Australian cohort. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*, 37(5), 1086–1092.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcts.2009.11.021

Campbell, D., Boyle, L., Soakell-Ho, M., Hider, P., Wilson, L., Koea, J., ... Short, T. G. (2019). National risk prediction model for perioperative mortality in non-cardiac surgery. *B*7*S*, *106*(11), 1549–1557. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.11232

Flint, A. W. J., Bailey, M., Reid, C. M., Smith, J. A., Tran, L., Wood, E. M., ... Reade, M.

C. (2020). Preoperative identification of cardiac surgery patients at risk of receiving a platelet transfusion: The Australian Cardiac Surgery Platelet Transfusion (ACSePT) risk prediction tool. *Transfusion*, *60*(10), 2272–2283. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/trf.15990

- Goudie, R., Sterne, J. A. C., Verheyden, V., Bhabra, M., Ranucci, M., & Murphy, G. J. (2015). Risk scores to facilitate preoperative prediction of transfusion and large volume blood transfusion associated with adult cardiac surgery. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, *114*(5), 757–766. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aeu483
- Hung, M., Besser, M., Sharples, L. D., Nair, S. K., & Klein, A. A. (2011). The prevalence and association with transfusion, intensive care unit stay and mortality of pre-operative anaemia in a cohort of cardiac surgery patients. *Anaesthesia*, 66(9), 812–818. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2044.2011.06819.x
- Klein, A., Collier, T., Brar, C., Hallward, G., Fletcher, T., & Tichards, R. (2016). The incidence and importance of anaemia in patients undergoing cardiac surgery in the UK the first Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthetists national audit. *Anaesthesia2016*, 71(6), 627–635.
- Klein, A.A., Collier, T., Yeates, J., Miles, L. F., Fletcher, S. N., Evans, C., & Richards, T. (2017). The ACTA PORT-score for predicting perioperative risk of blood transfusion for adult cardiac surgery. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 119(3). https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aex205
- Klein, A A, Collier, T., Yeates, J., Miles, L. F., Fletcher, S. N., & Evans, C. (2017). The ACTA PORT-score for predicting perioperative risk of blood transfusion for adult cardiac surgery. *British Journal Of Anaesthesia*, 119(July), 394–401. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aex242

Klein, Andrew A, Chau, M., Yeates, J. A., Collier, T., Evans, C., Agarwal, S., & Richards, T.

(2020). Preoperative intravenous iron before cardiac surgery: a prospective multicentre feasibility study. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, *124*(3), 243–250. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bja.2019.11.023

- McQuilten, Z. K., Andrianopoulos, N., Wood, E. M., Cole-Sinclair, M. F., McNeil, J. J., Cameron, P. A., ... Phillips, L. E. (2014). Transfusion practice varies widely in cardiac surgery: Results from a national registry. *The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery*, 147(5), 1684—1690.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2013.10.051
- Ranucci, M., Castelvecchio, S., Frigiola, A., Scolletta, S., Giomarelli, P., & Biagioli, B. (2009). Predicting transfusions in cardiac surgery: The easier, the better: The Transfusion Risk and Clinical Knowledge score. *Vox Sanguinis*, 96(4), 324–332. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.2009.01160.x
- Reid, C., Billah, B., Dinh, D., Smith, J., Skillington, P., Yii, M., ... Shardey, G. (2009a). An Australian risk prediction model for 30-day mortality after isolated coronary artery bypass: the AusSCORE. *The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery*, 138(4), 904–910. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2009.03.020
- Reid, C., Billah, B., Dinh, D., Smith, J., Skillington, P., Yii, M., ... Shardey, G. (2009b). An Australian risk prediction model for 30-day mortality after isolated coronary artery bypass: The AusSCORE. *Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery*, 138(4), 904–910. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2009.03.020
- Reilly, J. R., Gabbe, B. J., Brown, W. A., Hodgson, C. L., & Myles, P. S. (2020). Systematic review of perioperative mortality risk prediction models for adults undergoing inpatient non-cardiac surgery. *ANZ Journal of Surgery*, n/a(n/a). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ans.16255
- Shortt, J., Polizzotto, M. N., Waters, N., Borosak, M., Moran, M., Comande, M., ... Wood,E. M. (2009). Assessment of the urgency and deferability of transfusion to inform

emergency blood planning and triage: the Bloodhound prospective audit of red blood cell use. *Transfusion*, 49(11), 2296–2303.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.2009.02305.x

Spahn, D. R., Schoenrath, F., Spahn, G. H., Seifert, B., Stein, P., Theusinger, O. M., ... Falk, V. (2019). Effect of ultra-short-term treatment of patients with iron deficiency or anaemia undergoing cardiac surgery: a prospective randomised trial. *The Lancet*, 393(10187), 2201–2212. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32555-8

StataCorp LLC. (2019). Stata Statistical Software: Release 16. College Station, TX.

- Vuylsteke, A., Pagel, C., Gerrard, C., Reddy, B., Nashef, S., Aldam, P., & Utley, M. (2011a). The Papworth Bleeding Risk Score: A stratification scheme for identifying cardiac surgery patients at risk of excessive early postoperative bleeding. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcts.2010.10.003
- Vuylsteke, A., Pagel, C., Gerrard, C., Reddy, B., Nashef, S., Aldam, P., & Utley, M. (2011b). The Papworth Bleeding Risk Score: A stratification scheme for identifying cardiac surgery patients at risk of excessive early postoperative bleeding. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*, 39(6), 924–930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcts.2010.10.003
- Wallis, J. P., Wells, A. W., & Chapman, C. E. (2006). Changing indications for red cell transfusion from 2000 to 2004 in the North of England. *Transfusion Medicine*, 16(6), 411– 417. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3148.2006.00702.x
- Wong, D. J. N., Harris, S., Sahni, A., Bedford, J. R., Cortes, L., Shawyer, R., ...
 Moonesinghe, S. R. (2020). Developing and validating subjective and objective risk-assessment measures for predicting mortality after major surgery: An international prospective cohort study. *PLOS Medicine*, *17*(10), e1003253.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003253

Yap, C.-H., Reid, C., Yii, M., Rowland, M. A., Mohajeri, M., Skillington, P. D., ... Smith, J.

A. (2006a). Validation of the EuroSCORE model in Australia. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*, 29(4), 441–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcts.2005.12.046

Yap, C.-H., Reid, C., Yii, M., Rowland, M. A., Mohajeri, M., Skillington, P. D., ... Smith, J.
A. (2006b). Validation of the EuroSCORE model in Australia. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*, 29(4), 441–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcts.2005.12.046

Appendix 3: The CAVIAR study published manuscript (*British Journal of Anaesthesia, 2020*)

BJA

British Journal of Anaesthesia, 124 (3): 243-250 (2020)

doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2019.11.023 Advance Access Publication Date: 3 January 2020 Cardiovascular

CARDIOVASCULAR

Preoperative intravenous iron before cardiac surgery: a prospective multicentre feasibility study

Andrew A. Klein^{1,*}, Marisa Chau², James A. Yeates^{3,4}, Timothy Collier⁵, Caroline Evans⁶, Seema Agarwal⁷, Toby Richards⁸ on behalf of the UK Cardiac and Vascular Surgery Interventional Anaemia Response (CAVIAR) study team[†]

¹Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Royal Papworth Hospital, Cambridge, UK, ²Division of Surgery and Interventional Science, University College London, London, UK, ³Department of Anaesthesia, St Vincent's Hospital, Sydney, Australia, ⁴University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK, ⁵Department of Statistics, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK, ⁶Department of Anaesthesia, University Hospital of Wales, Cardiff, UK, ⁷Department of Anaesthesia, Manchester, UK and ⁸University of Western Australia, Perth, Australia

*Corresponding author. E-mail: andrew.klein@nhs.ne

[†]CAVIAR study team—see Appendix 1.

Abstract

Background: Preoperative anaemia affects one third of patients undergoing cardiac surgery and is associated with increased mortality and morbidity. Although it is recommended that perioperative teams should identify and treat patients with preoperative anaemia before surgery, introducing new treatment protocols can be challenging in surgical pathways. The aim of this study was to assess the feasibility and effectiveness of introducing a preoperative intravenous iron service as a national initiative in cardiac surgery.

Methods: We performed a multicentre, stepped, observational study using the UK Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthesia and Critical Care Research Network. The primary feasibility outcome was the ability to set up an anaemia and intravenous iron clinic at each site. The primary efficacy outcome was change in haemoglobin (Hb) concentration between intervention and operation. Secondary outcomes included blood transfusion and hospital stay. Patients with anaemia were compared with non-anaemic patients and with those who received intravenous iron as part of their routine treatment protocol.

Results: Seven out of 11 NHS hospitals successfully set up iron clinics over 2 yr, and 228 patients were recruited into this study. Patients with anaemia who received intravenous iron were at higher surgical risk, were more likely to have a known previous history of iron deficiency or anaemia, had a higher rate of chronic kidney disease, and were slightly more anaemic than the non-treated group. Intravenous iron was administered a median (inter-quartile range, IQR [range]) of 33 (15–53 [4–303]) days before surgery. Preoperative intravenous iron increased [Hb] from baseline to pre-surgery, mean (95% confidence interval) change was +8.4 (5.0–11.8) g L⁻¹ (P<0.001). Overall, anaemic compared with non-anaemic patients were more likely to be transfused (49% [59/136] us 27% (22/92), P=0.001) and stayed longer in hospital (median days [IQR], 9 [7–15] us 8 [6–11]; P=0.014). The number of days alive and at home was lower in the anaemic group (median days [IQR], 20 [14–22] us 21 [17–23]; P=0.033).

Conclusion: The development of an intravenous iron pathway is feasible but appears limited to selected high-risk cardiac patients in routine NHS practise. Although intravenous iron increased [Hb], there is a need for an appropriately powered clinical trial to assess the clinical effect of intravenous iron on patient-centred outcomes.

Keywords: anaemia; cardiac surgery; haemoglobin; intravenous iron; iron deficiency; outcome; preoperative; transfusion

© 2019 British Journal of Anaesthesia. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved For Permissions, please email: permissions@elsevier.com

243

Received: 28 June 2019; Accepted: 3 November 2019

Editor's key points

- The introduction of preoperative treatment protocols for anaemia remains difficult.
- This study investigated the feasibility and effectiveness of introducing a preoperative intravenous iron service as a national initiative in cardiac surgery.
- Preoperative treatment of anaemia with intravenous iron resulted in an increase in haemoglobin concentration before cardiac surgery.
- Owing to the small sample size, no effect of preoperative intravenous iron on transfusion rates or patient outcome could be demonstrated.
- A preoperative intravenous iron pathway is feasible, but an appropriately powered clinical trial is required to assess its effect on patient-centred outcomes.

management of preoperative anaemia is frequently inadequate.^{18,19} Similarly, the implementation of PBM in Europe is limited, and considerable variations exist in the assessment and treatment of preoperative anaemia.²⁰

Previously, with the ACTA, we developed a network of enthusiastic and knowledgeable consultants interested to develop PBM in cardiac surgery.¹ We wished to assess the feasibility of the introduction of a preoperative i.v. iron pathway into routine clinical practice, in line with NICE guidance. The aim of the Cardiac and Vascular Surgery Interventional Anaemia Response (CAVIAR) study was to assess the introduction and efficacy of a preoperative i.v. iron pathway to treat anaemia in patients before cardiac surgery.

Methods

Design

In a large UK-wide study conducted by the Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthesia and Critical Care (ACTACC) in 2016, anaemia was found to be common before cardiac surgery and independently associated with worse outcomes, including length of stay in ICU and hospital, and mortality. Patients with anaemia had an increased risk of death after cardiac surgery. Anaemia in the general population is common, with a global prevalence in excess of 30%.² This prevalence increases with age, affecting half the geriatric population across the UK.³ An expanding body of evidence continually links preoperative nanemia to increased surgical mortality, higher rates of transfusion, length of hospital stay, and surgical complications.⁴⁺⁶ This is particularly relevant in cardiac surgery where comorbidities are common, blood loss is greater, and transfusion requirements are higher.⁷⁺⁹

Patient blood management (PBM) is a patient-centred, multidisciplinary approach to reducing blood transfusion and consists of a raft of preventative and reactive measures that highlight best practice and quality in blood transfusion. Introduction of PBM is associated with improved outcomes and reduction in cost.¹⁰ The first pillar of PBM has focused on early detection and correction of anaemia. However, these recommendations for the timely diagnosis of anaemia, with appropriate and early treatment, present significant healthcare organisational challenges in an often busy setting before operation.^{11,12}

The most common cause of anaemia is iron deficiency, whether absolute or functional; folate and vitamin B₁₂ deficiency are less frequent.¹³ Treating iron deficiency anaemia effectively in the time available before most cardiac procedures is not possible with oral iron. Intravenous (i.v.) iron is an ideal alternative given newer preparations that can be administered rapidly and with less side-effects and a good safety profile.¹⁴ The use of i.v. iron is more effective in increasing haemoglobin (Hb) than oral iron¹⁵ and has been observed to reduce transfusion in many suprical specialities ¹⁶

observed to reduce transfusion in many surgical specialties.¹⁶ In 2016, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) reviewed transfusion practice and recommended the timely identification of anaemia before surgery and to consider alternatives to transfusion.¹⁷ However, sequential audits on PBM practices across NHS organisations show The UK CAVIAR study was a multicentre, stepped, observational pilot and feasibility study in patients undergoing cardiac and vascular surgery, the protocol for which has already been published.²¹ From a network developed with ACTACC, we invited 11 UK cardiac surgical centres (from a total of 19 in the UK) that had expressed an interest in setting up anaemia treatment clinics to take part in this study. Educational support was provided by a core team of experts in PBM, i.v. iron, and cardiac surgery. National UK Ethics Committee approval (ref 15/LO/1569, IRAS 188848) was granted, and each centre obtained local approval to set up their anaemia pathway following UK NHS procedures, which included proformas, business plans, and formulary application approval. Site visits were performed to every unit with advice and educational briefings; literature and protocols for anaemia management were shared between centres once developed. Three annual meetings were held to exchange feedback and support, and regular newsletters were sent to all those involved.

The study was designed as a stepped, prospective, observational platform comprising three groups of patients awaiting cardiac surgery: non-anaemic patients (control); anaemic patients of any cause who were not treated with i.v. iron for any reason; and anaemic patients treated with i.v. iron before surgery. The trial design was published in advance.²¹

Anaemia was defined according to the WHO definition (Hb <130 g L⁻¹ in men and <120 g L⁻¹ in women). Inclusion criteria were any patient older than 18 yr undergoing elective cardiac surgery (coronary bypass, valve surgery, or both). Exclusion criteria included: pregnant or lactating women; patients on renal dialysis; prisoners and patients who lacked the capacity or were unwilling to consent to the study.

Recruitment

Centres recruited patients consecutively, between April 2016 until March 2018, but over different periods depending on the centre's progress in setting up preoperative anaemia services and availability of study teams. All patients provided full written informed consent and were recruited as controls (nonanaemic) or those with anaemia. Those with anaemia and able to receive i.v. iron were recruited if they fulfilled local criteria for diagnosis and treatment of iron deficiency anaemia (generally ferritin <100 and transferrin saturation [TSAT] <20%) and could attend preoperative clinic at least 10 days before surgery. Those who were anaemic and qualified for i.v. iron treatment, but did not receive i.v. iron, for any reason, formed the anaemic non-treated group. This was largely for logistical or geographical reasons. After consent was obtained, and collection of baseline data and blood samples, patients Results

Feasibility

Seven of the 11 (64%) NHS hospitals successfully set up anaemia pathways or clinics as part of their preoperative cardiac surgical service over the study period. Two centres had difficulties getting approval for i.v. iron onto their pharmacy formulary, and two had the business plans refused by the hospital Trust or commissioners (funders).

A total of 228 patients were recruited over 2 yr in 11 UK cardiac centres (Supplementary Fig. S1). The most common reasons for failure to recruit patients were: administrative and lack of research staff, no date for surgery, date of surgical procedure outside of study treatment window (within 10 days), and 19% of patients approached to take part refused to give consent.

Of the 228 patients recruited before cardiac surgery, 92 (40%) patients were not anaemic, 72 (32%) were anaemic but not treated, and 64 (28%) were anaemic and received i.v. iron before operation. Of the anaemic patients who would ideally receive i.v. iron pre-treatment, only 47% (64/136) were treated, owing to various logistical barriers. Individual TSAT/ferritin results for all participants have not been included as the data were not complete at the time of analysis.

Patients treated with i.v. iron were more likely to have a history of anaemia and iron deficiency, and have chronic kidney disease (Table 1). Those treated were slightly more anaemic than the patients in the non-treated group, with mean (95% CI) difference in [Hb] -2.5 (Table 2).

I.V. iron was administered at a median (IQR [range]) of 33 (15-53 [4-303]) days before surgery. The mean (sp) dose of i.v. iron was 1293 (303) mg with 60 patients receiving iron isomaltoside at a mean dose of 1314 (303) mg and four receiving 1000 mg of iron carboxymaltose. No adverse event was reported.

Efficacy

Intravenous iron was efficacious and increased the average Hb in anaemic patients before surgery compared with those without treatment; the mean (95% CI) change in Hb in patients treated with i.v. iron was +8.4 (5.0-11.8) g L⁻¹ between treatment and surgery (P<0.001) (Table 2). Overall, transfusion rates varied from 30% to 65% across the study centres. Twenty-three (10%) patients received a large blood transfusion with more than four units of red cells and were excluded (nine from the non-anaemic group, five from the non-treated anaemic group, and nine from the treated anaemic group). Non-anaemic patients were less likely to be transfused than anaemic patients, 22/92 (27%) vs 59/136 (42%), adjusted odds ratio (OR)=2.53 (1.38-4.63, P=0.003; Table 3), Non-anaemic patients were also transfused fewer units of red cells and had a shorter stay in hospital, and days alive at home (DAH) was higher (Table 3). There was no difference in transfusion rate, quantity of blood transfused, or other outcomes between untreated anaemic patients and anaemic patients treated with i.v. iron (Table 4). After surgery, Hb was similar in all three groups. The largest drop in Hb was in the non-anaemic group (42.8 [-45.7 to -39.9] g L⁻¹, P<0.001; Table 2).

iron treatment, but did not receive i.v. iron, for any reason, formed the anaemic non-treated group. This was largely for logistical or geographical reasons. After consent was obtained, and collection of baseline data and blood samples, patients were treated with a single dose i.v. iron infusion. This comprised either iron isomaltoside 1000 (Monofer®; Pharmacosmos A/S, Holbaek, Denmark) at a total dose of calculated at 20 mg kg⁻¹ or ferric carboxymaltose (Ferinject®; Vifor Pharma UK, Surrey, UK), to a maximum of 1000 mg, both by infusion over at least 15−30 minutes according to local policy. Patients were observed during and for 30 minutes after infusion (noninvasive blood pressure, ECG, and oxygen saturations). Anaemic patients who had received i.v. iron were reassessed on the day of surgery, and further laboratory data and blood samples collected.

Outcomes

The primary feasibility outcome was success in setting up an anaemia clinic in the NHS, and the primary efficacy outcome was the ability to increase Hb concentration between treatment and immediately before surgery with i.v. iron. Secondary outcomes were: blood transfusion (proportion of patients transfused, and number of units transfused, excluding patients who received a large transfusion defined as four or more units of red cells); ICU and hospital length of stay; renal function; change in Hb from before treatment to after surgery and mortality. Patients were followed up for 30 days before operation and asked about re-admission to hospital so that days-alive-and-at-home (DAH-30)²² could be calculated. DAH-30 is a composite measure that combines hospital length of stay and mortality, although we included all three outcomes measures for reference.

Analysis

For descriptive statistics, mean and standard deviation (SD) or median and inter-quartile range (IQR) and range were used for continuous variables as appropriate. Frequencies and percentages were used for categorical variables. Baseline characteristics were compared across the three groups of patients using χ^2 tests for categorical variables and F-tests (if normally distributed) or Kruskal-Wallis rank test (if not normally distributed) for continuous variables. For the primary efficacy outcome, a one-sample t-test was used to estimate the mean change in Hb along with its 95% confidence interval (95% CI) and P value. Multiple logistic regression models adjusted for important baseline predictors were used for the secondary outcome blood transfusion. The Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to compare length of stay (excluding patients who had died) and for days alive and out of hospital. One-sample t-tests were used to estimate the mean pre-post-surgery change in Hb and its 95% CI in each group of patients. The proportion of deaths and hospital readmissions were compared using a χ^2 test

Sample size was calculated based on change in Hb from baseline to pre-surgery in patients who received i.v. iron. Assuming the sp for Hb would be 12 g L⁻¹ based on national audit data,¹ we calculated that 72 patients would provide 90% power at a 5% significance level and 62 would provide 80% power (allowing for up to 10% loss to follow-up) to demonstrate a difference in the change from baseline in Hb of 10 g L⁻¹. The report was prepared according to the Strengthening

246 | Klein et al.

 $Table \ 1 \ Baseline \ characteristics. \ CABG, \ coronary \ artery \ bypass \ graft; \ EuroSCORE \ II, \ European \ System \ for \ Cardiac \ Operative \ Risk \ Evaluation \ II; \ NYHA, \ New \ York \ Heart \ Association; \ sp, \ standard \ deviation.$

	Non-anaemic (n=92)	Anaemic non-treated (n=72)	Anaemic treated (n=64)	P Value
Age, yr, mean (so)	67.0 (9.7)	69.3 (11.8)	70.2 (10.9)	0.158
Sex; men, n (%)	66 (72)	55 (76)	46 (72)	0.767
Weight, kg, mean (sp)	85.8 (17.9)	83.2 (18.0)	81.6 (17.9)	0.120
Height, cm, mean (sp)	170.0 (10.0)	168.9 (10.6)	167.6 (8.9)	0.340
BMI, kg m ⁻² , mean (sp)	29.3 (5.3)	29.2 (5.9)	29.0 (5.4)	0.929
EuroSCORE II	1.3 (0.9-2.7 [0.5-19.8])	1.7 (0.9-3.3 [0.6-15.0])	2.2 (1.0-3.4 [0.5-16.9])	0.072
Cardiac function, n (%)				
Good	66 (73)	55 (76)	48 (75)	
Moderate	24 (26)	15 (21)	15 (23)	
Poor	1 (1)	2 (3)	1 (2)	0.866
NYHA, n (%)				
1	28 (31)	23 (32)	12 (19)	
2	43 (47)	26 (37)	32 (50)	
3	20 (22)	17 (24)	19 (30)	
4	0	5 (7)	1 (2)	0.042
Creatinine, µmol L ⁻¹	84 (73–96 [56–205])	85 (72–113 [47–311])	104 (75–120 [46–192])	0.008
Medical history, n (%)				
Iron deficiency	4 (4)	9 (13)	25 (39)	<0.001
Anaemia	10 (11)	21 (29)	35 (55)	<0.001
Operation, n (%)				
CABG	44 (48)	29 (40)	24	(38)
Single valve	29 (32)	33 (46)	22	(34)
CABG + valve	12 (13)	4 (6)	9	(14)
Other	7 (8)	6 (8)	9	(14)

Table 2 Haemoglobin concentration by group and time. CI, confidence interval; Hb, haemoglobin; NA, not available; SD, standard deviation.

-	Non-anaemic (n=92)	Anaemic not treated (n=72)	Anaemic treated (n=64)
Mean (sp) Hb, g L^{-1}			
Pre-treatment	NA	NA	114.2 (9.3)
Pre-surgery	141.1 (10.4)	116.7 (10.2)	122.7 (13.3)
Postoperative	98.3 (13.6)	93.2 (10.5)	93.7 (11.9)
Mean (95% CI) change in H	b, g L ⁻¹	. ,	
Pre/post treatment	NA	NA	8.4 (5.0, 11.8)
Pre/post surgery	-42.8 (-45.7 to -39.9)	-23.4 (-26.5 to -20.3)	-29.0 (-32.4 to -25.6)

Table 3 Study outcomes, anaemic vs non-anaemic patients, excluding 23 patients who were transfused >4 units red cells. Adj OR, odds ratio for blood transfusion adjusted for sex, BMI, diabetes mellitus, and operation type; CI, confidence interval; DAOH, days alive and out of hospital; IQR, inter-quartile range.

	Non-anaemic (n=92)	Anaemic (n=136)	P Value
Transfused, n (%)	22 (26.5)	59 (48.8)	0.001
Adj OR (95% CI)		3.18 (1.60-6.31)	0.001
Units transfused, n (%)			
1-2	15 (16)	43 (32)	
3-4	7 (8)	16 (12)	0.016
Median (IQR)	0 (0-1)	1 (0-2)	0.005
Died, n (%)	3 (3.3)	5 (3.7)	0.867
Readmissions, n (%)	15 (16.3)	16 (11.8)	0.327
ITU length of stay, days,			
median (IQR)	2 (1-4)	2 (1-5)	0.571
Hospital stay, days,			
median (IQR)	8 (6-11)	9 (7-14.5)	0.014
DAOH-30, days,			
median (IQR)	21 (17–23)	20 (14–22)	0.033

Preoperative i.v. iron before cardiac surgery | 247

Table 4 Study outcomes, anaemic non-treated vs anaemic treated after exclusion of 14 patients transfused >4 units of blood. Adj OR, odds ratio adjusted for baseline haemoglobin, sex, BMI, diabetes mellitus, iron tablets, hypertension, and operation type; CI, confidence interval; DAOH, days alive and out of hospital; IQR, inter-quartile range; ITU, intensive treatment unit.

	Anaemic non-treated (n=72)	Anaemic treated ($n=64$)	P Value
Transfused, n (%) Adj OR (95% CI) Units transfused, n (%)	28 (42)	31 (56) 1.33 (0.52–3.40)	0.127 0.553
1-2	18 (25.4)	25 (39.1)	
3-4	10 (14.1)	6 (9.4)	0.107
Median (IQR)	0 (0-2)	1 (0-2)	0.082
Died, n (%)	3 (4)	2 (3)	0.747
Readmissions, n (%)	5 (7)	11 (17)	0.064
ITU length of stay, days,			
median (IQR)	2 (1-4)	3 (1-5)	0.158
Hospital stay, days,			
median (IQR)	9 (7-14)	10.5 (7-15)	0.492
DAOH-30, days,			
median (IQR)	21 (14–22)	19 (15–23)	0.768
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			

Table 5 Distribution of patient groups across centres. Data are presented as n (%).

Centre	Non-anaemic (n=92)	Anaemic non-treated (n=72)	Anaemic treated (n=64)
Blackpool	5 (5)	5 (7)	0
Cardiff	19 (21)	4 (6)	21 (33)
Castle Hill	13 (14)	10 (14)	4 (6)
Derriford	13 (14)	2 (3)	2 (3)
Essex	3 (3)	18 (25)	0
James Cook	0	2 (3)	14 (22)
Kings College	0	1 (1)	2 (3)
Liverpool	18 (20)	12 (17)	12 (19)
Manchester RI	0	1 (1)	0
Papworth	10 (11)	5 (7)	9 (14)
RI Edinburgh	11 (12)	12 (17)	0
,			

Discussion

Although feasible, it has proven difficult to detect, diagnose, and treat anaemia in cardiac surgical patients within the time frame before surgery. Only a minority of potential patients undergoing cardiac surgery in the UK were entered into a pathway involving i.v. iron in a timely manner before operation (Table 5). Hurdles for care were institutional (set up) and local (pathways). Implementation of anaemia identification and management in line with NICE guidance appears to have changed little in the past decade.²⁰ Our study to develop and i.v. iron service before operation was in keeping with the Frankfurt PBM programme results, where only 57 of 1830 patients scheduled for surgery received i.v. iron.²³ In order to set up anaemia detection and treatment pathways, organisational change is required, and this must be multifactorial and cross boundaries. Expertise and buy-in are essential from surgery, anaesthesia, haematology, pharmacy, nursing, and finance departments.

Although as a non-randomised observational study it is difficult to draw firm conclusions regarding efficacy, treating anaemic patients with iv. iron before cardiac surgery appears to be efficacious, with a statistically and clinically significant increase in Hb concentration, which is consistent with a metaanalysis on the effect of i.v. iron.¹⁵ Our work also supports the findings of the ACTA audit data that anaemic patients are more likely to be transfused and have worse outcomes than non-anaemic patients.¹ Although we did not show any effect of treating anaemia with i.v. iron on transfusion rate or other patient outcomes, this study was not powered to demonstrate such a difference and not dissimilar to results seen in a small pilot RCT.²⁴

As is often the case with observational research, the baseline characteristics of the study groups varied significantly. In this study population, anaemic patients who received i.v. iron had a significantly higher rate of pre-existing renal impairment. Renal impairment has a major influence on transfusion requirement as demonstrated in many predictive scores for transfusion risk in cardiac surgery. For example, if we were to calculate the risk of transfusion in a patient at intermediate risk of transfusion before cardiac surgery using the ACTA-PORT (perioperative risk of blood transfusion) score.²⁵ the presence of a preoperative creatinine >177 μ mol L⁻¹ would shift the predicted transfusion rate from 45% up to 60%. The higher rates of previously diagnosed anaemia (55% vs 30%) previous iron deficiency (39% vs 13%), and symptomatic angina (63% vs 39%) in our treatment group, compared with the non-treated anaemic patients, may have contributed to the outcome results.

The complex nature of cardiac surgery and multifactorial causes for coagulopathy with need for significant use of blood

 $\rm resources^{26}$ may override the positive effects of i.v. iron in the preoperative setting. Successful treatment of anaemia before cardiac surgery is possible, but there is currently no strong evidence it can improve cardiac surgical outcomes. In a more general context, it appears that i.v. iron has the ability to significantly improve Hb concentration and reduce risk of transfusion.²⁷ This has been translated into expert consensus²⁸ and practice guidelines.¹⁷ Trials examining preoperative cardiac surgical patients have been encouraging, although not definitive. One large retrospective cohort trial showed an improvement in mortality, transfusion rate, renal failure, and admission length,²⁹ and a smaller RCT suggested that an increase in [Hb] and a reduction in transfusion rates is possible.³⁰ However, another small RCT failed to demonstrate that i.v. iron can improve [Hb],³¹ making the evidence rather inconclusive and inadequate to firmly validate the widespread use of i.v. iron in this population. To date, this study is the largest of its kind that demonstrates i.v. iron is effective in treating anaemic cardiac surgical patients, within the time constraints of the preoperative period. CAVIAR-UK was not designed to be the definitive study of the effect of i.v. iron on improving clinical outcomes in this patient group, but rather designed to provide information to guide design and implementation of a subsequent randomised controlled trial, which is now underway.

These results suggest that further research is both possible and necessary to demonstrate that by effectively treating anaemia before operation, we may be able to reverse or improve some of the associated adverse outcomes. The study also demonstrates that, in the UK centres studied, there were significant deficits in infrastructure and process to allow timely diagnosis and treatment to achieve a meaningful clinical result in an appropriate time frame. CAVIAR was designed to treat patients at least 10 days before surgery as it appears that 7–9 days is required for i.v. iron to have its peak effect on plateau between 5 and 14 days.¹³ A recent RCT showed that giving i.v. iron and erythropoietin (EPO) immediately before surgery showed a reduction in transfusion, but no demonstrable patient benefit.³⁴ Greater access to anaemia treatment centres, such as multidisciplinary preoperative anaemia clinics, should facilitate prompt and effective treatment for those patients identified at risk.

By the nature of its design, this study had significant limitations. As an observational study, the likelihood of significant differences in baseline data is high, and the presence of bias and confounders is common. There were significant differences in baseline characteristics between the groups that could plausibly lead to changes in the treatment effect and measured outcomes. The study was designed to detect an increase in Hb concentration and therefore underpowered to detect outcome changes.

Authors' contributions

Grant submission: AK, CE, SA, TR Trial design: AK, CE, SA, TR Investigation: AK, JY Manuscript preparation and revision: AK, CE, JY, SA, TR Trial management: MC Data collection and preparation: MC Data analysis: TC

Declaration of interest

AK or his institution has received educational grant funding, honoraria or travel expenses from Pharmacosmos, Vifor Pharma, Massimo, Hemonetics, Hemosonics, and Fisher and Paykel. MC's salary is supported by Pharmacosmos. CE has undertaken consulting work for Pharmacosmos. SA has received research funding and honoraria from Pharmacosmos. TR reports grants, personal fees, and non-financial support from Pharmacosmos; grants, personal fees, and non-financial support from Vifor Pharma; grants, personal fees, and non-financial support from Acelity; grants, personal fees, and non-financial support from Stroke Association; grants from Mason Medical Research Foundation; grants from UCH league of Friends; and grants and non-financial support from Libresse/Bodyform.

Acknowledgements

Funded by a grant from the Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthesia and Critical Care (ACTACC), the Vascular Anaesthesia Society of Great Britain and Ireland, and the Britsh Journal of Anaesthesia, via the National Institute of Academic Anaesthesia. Additional funding for staff resources was provided by Pharmacosmos. The study was included in the NIHR Portfolio and the NIHR provided additional funds to the study centres for assistance with patient recruitment. None of the funders had any influence on study design, trial management, analysis of the data, preparation of the manuscript, or decision to submit.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bja.2019.11.023.

CAVIAR investigators by site. Appendix 1:

Royal Free Hospital	Daniel Martin
Papworth Hospital	Andrew Klein(PI)
	and James Yeates
Cardiff (University	Caroline Evans
Hospital of Wales)	
Liverpool Hospital	Seema Agarwal
Freeman Hospital	Michael Clarke
Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh	Peter Alston
Castle Hill Hospital	Ajith Vijayan
Manchester Royal Infirmary	Akbar Vohra
Essex Cardiothoracic Centre	Anirudda Pai
Brighton & Sussex	Anita Sugavanam
University Hospitals	
Guy's & St. Thomas Hospital	Jugdeep Dhesi
Royal Oldham Hospital	Damian Kelleher
Royal Cornwall Hospital	Harvey Chant
Royal Blackpool Hospital	Palanikumar
	Saravanan
Royal Bournemouth Hospital	Richard Green
University Hospitals of Leicester	Matthew Bown
Derriford Hospital	Mark Bennett
King's College Hospital	Gudrun Kunst
James Cook University Hospital	Adrian Mellor

References

- Klein AA, Collier TJ, Brar MS, et al. The incidence and importance of anaemia in patients undergoing cardiac surgery in the UK — the first Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthetists national audit. Anaesthesia 2016; 71: 627–35
- Kassebaum NJ, Jasrasaria R, Naghavi M, et al. A systematic analysis of global anemia burden from 1990 to 2010. Blood 2019; 123: 615–25
- Gaskell H, Derry S, Moore RA, Mcquay HJ. Prevalence of anaemia in older persons : systematic review. BMC Geriatr 2008; 8: 1–8
- Musallam KM, Tamim HM, Richards T, et al. Preoperative anaemia and postoperative outcomes in non-cardiac surgery: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet 2011; 378: 1396–407
- Hung M, Besser M, Sharples LD, Nair SK, Klein AA. The prevalence and association with transfusion, intensive care unit stay and mortality of pre-operative anaemia in a cohort of cardiac surgery patients. *Anaesthesia* 2011; 66: 812–8
- Baron DM, Hochrieser H, Posch M, et al. Preoperative anaemia is associated with poor clinical outcome in noncardiac surgery patients. Br J Anaesth 2014; 113: 416–23
- Hogan M, Klein A, Richards T. The impact of anaemia and intravenous iron replacement therapy on outcomes in cardiac surgery. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2014; 47: 1–9
- Williams ML, He X, Rankin JS, Slaughter MS, Gammie JS. Preoperative hematocrit is a powerful predictor of adverse outcomes in coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a report from the society of thoracic surgeons adult cardiac surgery database. Ann Thorac Surg 2013; 96: 1628–34
- Van Straten AHM, Külcü K, Ibrahim Özdemir H, Elenbaas TW, Hamad MAS. Preoperative hemoglobin level as a predictor of mortality after aortic valve replacement. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2013; 27: 716–22
- Leahy MF, Hofmann A, Towler S, et al. Improved outcomes and reduced costs associated with a health-system-wide patient blood management program: a retrospective observational study in four major adult tertiary-care hospitals. Blood Manag 2017; 57: 1347-58
- Muñoz M, Gómez-Ramírez S, Kozek-Langeneker S, et al. "Fit to fly": overcoming barriers to preoperative haemoglobin optimization in surgical patients. Br J Anaesth 2015; 115: 15–24
- Kotzé A, Harris A, Baker C, et al. British committee for standards in haematology guidelines on the identification and management of pre-operative anaemia. Br J Haematol 2015; 171: 322–31
- Hung M, Ortmann E, Besser M, et al. A prospective observational cohort study to identify the causes of anaemia and association with outcome in cardiac surgical patients. *Heart* 2015; 101: 107–12
- Tomer A, Amir B, Alon G, Hefziba G, Leonard L, Anat GG. The safety of intravenous iron preparations: systematic review and meta-analysis. Mayo Clin Proc 2015; 90: 12–23
- Clevenger B, Gurusamy K, Klein AA, Murphy GJ, Anker SD, Richards T. Systematic review and meta-analysis of iron therapy in anaemic adults without chronic kidney

disease: updated and abridged Cochrane review. Eur J Heart Fail 2016; 18: 774–85

- Muñoz M, García-Erce JA, Cuenca J, Bisbe E, Naveira E. On the role of iron therapy for reducing allogeneic blood transfusion in orthopaedic surgery. Blood Transfus 2012; 10: 8–22
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Blood transfusion. NICE Guideline; November 2015 (NG24) 2017
- NHS Blood and Transplant. National comparative audit of blood transfusion. https://hhsbtdbe.blob.core.windows.net/ umbraco-assets-corp/14905/2015-pbm-in-scheduled-surgery-audit-report.pdf. [Accessed 1 December 2019]
- NHS Blood and Transplant. National comparative audit of blood transfusion. https://nhsbtdbe.blob.core.windows.net/ umbraco-assets-corp/14919/2016-haematology-auditreport-national-results-1.pdf. [Accessed 1 December 2019]
- 20. Shander A, Van Aken H, Colomina MJ, et al. Patient blood management in Europe. Br J Anaesth 2012; 109: 55-68
- 21. Chau M, Richards T, Evans C, Butcher A, Collier T, Klein A. The UK Cardiac and Vascular Surgery Interventional Anaemia Response (CAVIAR) study: protocol for an observational cohort study to determine the impact and effect of preoperative anaemia management in cardiac and vascular surgical patients. BMJ Open 2017; 18, e014872
- Myles PS, Shulman MA, Heritier S, et al. Validation of days at home as an outcome measure after surgery: a prospective cohort study in Australia. BMJ Open 2017; 18, e015828
- 23. Meybohm P, Goehring MH, Choorapoikayil S, et al. Feasibility and efficiency of a preoperative anaemia walk-in clinic: secondary data from a prospective observational trial. Br J Anaesth 2017; 118: 625–6
- Padmanabhan H, Siau K, Nevill AM, et al. Intravenous iron does not effectively correct preoperative anaemia in cardiac surgery: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2019; 28: 447–54
- Klein AA, Collier T, Yeates J, et al. The ACTA PORT-score for predicting perioperative risk of blood transfusion for adult cardiac surgery. Br J Anaesth 2017; 119: 394–401
- Muñoz M, Gómez-Ramírez S, Campos A, Ruiz J, Liumbruno GM. Pre-operative anaemia: prevalence, consequences and approaches to management. Blood Transfus 2015; 13: 370–9
- Litton E, Xiao J, Ho KM. Safety and efficacy of intravenous iron therapy in reducing requirement for allogeneic blood transfusion: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. BMJ 2013; 347: f4822
- Muñoz M, Acheson AG, Auerbach M, et al. International consensus statement on the peri-operative management of anaemia and iron deficiency. Anaesthesia 2017; 72: 233–47
- 29. Cladellas M, Farré N, Comín-Colet J, et al. Effects of preoperative intravenous erythropoietin plus iron on outcome in anemic patients after cardiac valve replacement. Am J Cardiol 2012; 110: 1021–6
- 30. Johansson PI, Rasmussen AS, Thomsen LL. Intravenous iron isomaltoside 1000 (Monofer®) reduces postoperative anaemia in preoperatively non-anaemic patients undergoing elective or subacute coronary artery bypass graft, valve replacement or a combination thereof: a

- randomized double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial (the PROTECT trial). Vox Sang 2015; 109: 257–66 31. Padmanabhan H, Siau K, Nevill A, Luckraz H, Brookes MJ. PTU-127 Anaemia does not benefit from intravenous iron therapy in the cardiac pre-operative patients. Gut 2017; 66.
- A113 LP-4
 Blunden RW, Lloyd JV, Rudzki Z, Kimber RJ. Changes in serum ferritin levels after intravenous iron. Ann Clin Bio-chem 1981; 18: 215-7
- Bhandal N, Russell R. Intravenous versus oral iron therapy for postpartum anaemia. B/OG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol 2006; 113: 1248–52
 Spahn DR, Schoenrath F, Spahn GH, et al. Effect of ultra-short-term treatment of patients with iron deficiency or anaemia undergoing cardiac surgery: a prospective rand-omised trial. Lancet 2019; 393: 2201–12

Handling editor: Christa Boer

Appendix 4: The CAVIAR study (vascular surgery) published manuscript (*British Journal of Surgery, 2020*)

Rapid research communication

Preoperative anaemia management in patients undergoing vascular surgery

S. Nandhra^{1,2}, M. Chau³, A. A. Klein⁵, J. A. Yeates⁸, T. Collier⁴, C. Evans⁶, S. Agarwal⁷ and T. Richards⁹, on behalf of the UK Cardiac and Vascular Surgery Interventional Anaemia Response (CAVIAR) study team^{*}

¹Northern Vascular Centre, Freeman Hospital, and ²Department of Vascular Surgery, Newcastle University School of Population and Health Sciences, Newcastle upon Tyne, ³Division of Surgery and Interventional Sciences, University College London, and ⁴Department of Medical Statistics, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, ⁵Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Papworth Hospital Theatres Critical Care and Anaesthesia Services, Papworth Hospital, Cambridge, ⁶Department of Anaesthesia, University Hospital of Wales Healthcare NHS Trust, Cardiff, and ⁷Department of Anaesthesia, Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester, UK, and ⁸Department of Anaesthesia, St Vincent's Health Australia, Melbourne Victoria, and ⁹Department of Vascular Surgery, University of Western Australia, Perth, Western Australia, Australia

Correspondence to: Mr S. Nandhra Northern Vascular Centre, Freeman Hospital, Newcastle upon Tyne NE7 7DN, UK (e-mail: Sandip.nandhra@nhs.net; 🎔 @SandipNandhra)

*Members of the UK Cardiac and Vascular Surgery Interventional Anaemia Response (CAVIAR0 study team can be found under the heading Collaborators

Paper accepted 10 August 2020

Published online in Wiley Online Library (www.bjs.co.uk). DOI: 10.1002/bjs.12041

Introduction

Preoperative anaemia is associated with increased morbidity and mortality rates¹⁻³. Judicious blood transfusion practice has been encouraged, with traditional top-up use questioned by RCT evidence supporting a restrictive practice, prompting a dilemma in perioperative care to balance the risk of preoperative anaemia with the risk of blood transfusion^{4,5}. The use of intravenous iron (IVI) therapy is an alternative intervention for patients who are anaemic before operation. Historical reservation regarding IVI and the risk of anaphylaxis has been mitigated by use of contemporary non-dextran iron preparations that enable the infusion of large doses of IVI in minutes. In 2015, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines⁶ recommended the timely identification of anaemia before surgery and, in the 2019/2020



© 2020 BJS Society Ltd Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd BJS 2020; 107: 1558-1561

Intravenous iron before vascular surgery; a missed opportunity?

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) guidance⁷, the use of IVI was supported to correct preoperative anaemia and reduce postoperative blood transfusion.

The CAVIAR (UK Cardiac and Vascular Surgery Interventional Anaemia Response) study⁸ was undertaken to assess these recommendations. The aim of the study was to explore the feasibility and efficacy of introducing preoperative anaemia investigation and treatment pathways into routine National Health Service (NHS) practice in high-risk surgical patients⁹.

Methods

The CAVIAR study is a multicentre, stepped observational study of patients undergoing cardiac or vascular surgery⁹;

cardiac data have been presented separately¹⁰. The report was prepared according to the STROBE framework¹¹.

Between April 2016 and March 2018, patients undergoing vascular surgery at ten UK centres were recruited. National UK Ethics Committee approval was obtained (15/LO/1569, IRAS 188848). Patients aged 18 years or over, undergoing open or endovascular surgery, were included. Exclusion criteria were: pregnancy, renal dialysis, and lack of capacity or unwillingness to consent to the trial.

Three groups of patients were compared: non-anaemic, those with anaemia and anaemic patients treated with IVI before surgery. In the latter group, patients with anaemia underwent IVI infusion according to local criteria (ferritin level below 100 μ g/l and/or transferrin saturation less than 20 per cent) at least 10 days before surgery. Anaemia was

Table 1 Baseline variables					
	Not anaemic (n = 85)	Anaemia not treated (n = 47)	P (not anaemic versus anaemia not treated)†	Anaemia treated (n = 10)	P (not anaemic <i>versus</i> anaemia treated)†
Age (years)*	74.0(8.5)	74-4(9-0)	0.658‡	71.8(7.1)	0-427‡
Sex ratio (M : F)	67:18	40:7	0.380	7:3	0.527
Weight (kg)*	78.7(15.8)	74.8(16.9)	0.153‡	84-9(18-5)	0-249‡
Height (cm)*	170-5(8-6)	170-7(9-0)	0.726‡	172-1(7-8)	0-615‡
BMI (kg/m ²)*	27.0(4.4)	25-5(4-8)	0.047‡	28.5(5.5)	0-415‡
Smoking status					
Current smoker	20 (24)	19 (40)	0.042	3 (30)	0.653
Ex-smoker/non-smoker	65 (76)	28 (60)		7 (70)	
Creatinine (µmol/I)*	91.0(30.2)	103-1(43-4)	0.169‡	104-3(47-9)	0.607‡
eGFR (ml per min per 1.73 m ²)	67-6(18-1)	62-4(21-8)	0.161‡	49.7(13.2)	0-021‡
ASA grade			0.013		0.082
1	7 (8)	0 (0)		0 (0)	
Ш	20 (24)	8 (17)		2 (20)	
III	43 (51)	30 (64)		6 (60)	
IV	1 (1)	3 (6)		2 (20)	
Missing	14 (16)	6 (13)		0 (0)	
Previous myocardial infarction	14 (16)	8 (17)	0.935	2 (20)	0.779
Hypertension	56 (66)	34 (72)	0.447	7 (70)	0.795
Ischaemic heart disease	6 (7)	6 (13)	0.265	2 (20)	0.162
History of anaemia	6 (7)	10 (21)	0.017	4 (40)	0.001
Liver disease	0 (0)	1 (2)	0.179	0 (0)	0.645
Bleeding tendency	2 (2)	6 (13)	0.017	0 (0)	0.626
Iron deficiency	5 (6)	10 (21)	0.008	5 (50)	< 0.001
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	22 (26)	15 (32)	0.462	3 (30)	0.781
Stroke	18 (21)	8 (17)	0.567	1 (10)	0.696
Diabetes	25 (29)	13 (28)	0.832	3 (30)	0.969
Atrial fibrillation	10 (12)	9 (19)	0.249	3 (30)	0.114
Peripheral artery disease	21 (25)	24 (51)	0.002	4 (40)	0.301
Aspirin	53 (62)	24 (51)	0.569	5 (50)	0.451
Clopidogrel	14 (16)	17 (36)	0.011	4 (40)	0.074
Statin	67 (79)	35 (74)	0.569	9 (90)	0.406
Preoperative anticoagulation	5 (6)	5 (11)	0.325	2 (20)	0.108

 $Values \ in \ parentheses \ are \ percentages \ unless \ indicated \ otherwise; \ *values \ are \ mean \ (s.d.). \ ^{\star}\chi^2 \ test \ or \ Fisher's \ exact \ test, \ except. \ ^{\pm}Kruksal-Wallis \ test.$

© 2020 BJS Society Ltd Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd www.bjs.co.uk

BJS 2020; **107**: 1558–1561

S. Nandhra, M. Chau, A. A. Klein, J. A. Yeates, T. Collier, C. Evans et al.

defined according to WHO criteria, by a haemoglobin (Hb) level below 130 g/l in men and under 120 g/l in women.

Outcomes

Primary outcomes were the feasibility and efficacy of the IVI pathway. Secondary outcomes included blood transfusion (proportion of patients transfused; number of units transfused), duration of hospital stay and change in Hb from before treatment to after surgery.

Sample size

Based on national audit data, inclusion of 72 patients would provide 90 per cent power (62 patients for 80 per cent power) at the 5 per cent significance level to demonstrate a difference in the change from baseline in Hb level of mean(s.d.) $10(12)g/I^1$, allowing for up to 10 per cent loss to follow-up.

Results

Some 160 patients were recruited between May 2016 and February 2018, from ten UK vascular centres. It proved feasible to set up a preoperative IVI clinic in four of the ten hospitals. Six centres had business plans refused by the hospital Trust or commissioning body. The four successful centres established pathways only after approval for IVI on to their hospital formulary. Of the 160 patients recruited, 72 (45.0 per cent) had anaemia, of whom only 15 (21 per cent) received IVI; after exclusions, 142 patients were included in the final analysis (*Fig. 1*).

Anaemic (non-treated) patients were overall at higher surgical risk (*Table 1*). Anaemic patients who were treated with IVI had a significantly lower baseline estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) than non-anaemic patients (mean(s.d.) 49.7(13.2) versus 67.6(18.1) ml per min per 1.73 m^2 ; P = 0.021). IVI was administered to the treated group a median od 32 (i.q.r. 19–69, range 12–122) days before surgery, with a median dose of 1000 (i.q.r. 675–1000) mg. IVI resulted in a mean increase in in Hb level of 5.7 (94 per cent c.i. 4.5 to 6.9) g/l before surgery.

Secondary endpoints

Patients with preoperative anaemia (treated and untreated combined) had a higher rate of blood transfusion than those without anaemia (21-3 versus 4-7 per cent; P = 0.003) with no difference in quantity transfused (median (i.q.r.) 3 (1–5) versus 2 (1·5–3) units; P = 0.661), and a longer hospital stay (5·5 (3–17) versus 4 (3–7) days; P = 0.029). IVI did not influence the duration of hospital stay; patients whose anaemia was treated had the longest hospital stay overall (median (i.q.r.) 10·5 (7–16) days) (P = 0.009).

© 2020 BJS Society Ltd Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd The postoperative Hb level was lower in those with preoperative (untreated) anaemia than in those without anaemia before surgery (97.8 *versus* 138.6 g/l; P < 0.001), but comparable to that among patients who received preoperative IVI (P = 0.171). There was no difference in mortality, duration of intensive care stay or readmissions between the groups.

Discussion

The CAVIAR observational study, which involved ten UK vascular units, demonstrated that it was difficult to set up a dedicated identification and treatment pathway for preoperative anaemia. It does not appear to be feasible to meet NHS England commissioning targets. The use of IVI did increase Hb levels, but the data were too limited to allow comment on its effect in reducing blood transfusion in vascular surgical patients.

Limitations of this study include an apparent selection bias for inclusion in the trial. Over 7000 major vascular procedures are performed annually in the UK, and the patients receiving IVI therapy were at higher surgical risk. With small numbers recruited, it was apparent that only the sickest received intervention; preoperative IVI was administered to only 15 patients, with ten successfully followed through to surgery, approximately 6 per cent of the total recruited.

The efficacy of IVI was lower than expected, with only a small increase in Hb level compared to before surgery (mean 5.7 (95 per cent c.i. 4.5 to 6.9) g/l), but this was comparable to the increase of 8.4 (5.0 to 11.8) g/l in cardiac surgical patients¹⁰. In a meta-analysis¹² of 65 studies including 9004 patients, IVI resulted in higher Hb levels than in controls (mean difference 1.04 (95 per cent c.i. 0.52 to 1.57) g/l), but there was considerable heterogeneity $(I^2 = 93 \text{ per cent})$, with a point estimate of the mean difference in Hb levels ranging from -7 to 30 g/l. The assumption is that iron deficiency would be the predominant cause of anaemia13, whether absolute or functional, which would respond to IVI therapy. The small rise in Hb among the patients whose anaemia was treated may have been skewed by the disproportionately greater baseline eGFR in this group, this limiting the treatment effect anticipated by an isolated iron defiency anaemia.

Preoperative anaemia management is not a new concept and is one aspect highlighted by NHS Blood and Transplant in a series of programmes for better blood transfusion^{14,15}. Despite this, and recent CQUIN IVI recommendations influenced by NICE guidance, CAVIAR revealed a resistance owing to local business plans, perhaps emphasizing the constraints of NHS preoperative pathways.

www.bjs.co.uk

BJS 2020; 107: 1558-1561

1560

Intravenous iron before vascular surgery; a missed opportunity?

Patient outcomes from treatment with IVI in existing RCTs of the use of preoperative IVI were not conclusive. In patients with anaemia or iron deficiency before cardiac surgery, a combined package of interventions with IVI, including erythropoietin, vitamin B12 and folic acid, resulted in a reduced mean volume of packed red cells transfused per patient, with no difference in the number of patients transfused between groups and no impact on postoperative complications or duration of hospital stay¹⁶.

The CAVIAR trial has highlighted not only the need for well constructed clinical trials, with patient outcomes as the endpoint, but also the problem of recruitment to clinical trials in this setting¹². It is not possible to implement change without good clinical trial data and high-quality evidence. Conversely, this also brings into question the validity of CQUIN guidelines where the evidence is based on association and clinical pathways are challenging.

Collaborators

UK Cardiac and Vascular Surgery Interventional Anaemia Response (CAVIAR) study team members: G. Kunst (King's College Hospital, London); A. Mellor (James Cook University Hospital, Brighton); J. Dhesi (St. Thomas Hospital, London); M. Clarke (Freeman Hospital, Newcastle upon Tyne); R. Green (Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospital, Bournemouth); H. Chant (Royal Cornwall Hospital, Truro); D. Kelleher (Royal Oldham Hospital, Oldham); D. Martin (Royal Free Hospital, London); M. Bown (Leicester General Hospital, Leicester); A. Vohra (Manchester Royal Infirmary, Manchester).

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge grant funding from the Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthesia and Critical Care, the Vascular Anaesthesia Society of Great Britain and Ireland and the National Institute of Academic Anaesthesia. Additional funding was provided by Pharmacosmos. CAVIAR was adopted by the National Institute for Health Research Portfolio. No funder had any influence on the study design, management, analysis or manuscript preparation. *Disclosure*: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1 Musallam KM, Tamim HM, Richards T, Spahn DR, Rosendaal FR, Habbal A *et al.* Preoperative anaemia and postoperative outcomes in non-cardiac surgery: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet* 2011; 378: 1396–1407.
- Fowler AJ, Ahmad T, Phull MK, Allard S, Gillies MA, Pearse RM. Meta-analysis of the association between prooperative anaemia and mortality after surgery. *Br J Surg* 2015; 102: 1314–1324.

© 2020 BJS Society Ltd Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd

- 3 Nandhra S, Boylan L, Prentis J, Nesbitt C; Northern Vacular Centre. The influence of pre-operative anaemia on clinical outcomes following infra-inguinal bypass surgery. *Ann Vasc* Surg 2020; 66: 586–594.
- 4 Shander A, Van Aken H, Colomina MJ, Gombotz H, Hofmann A, Krauspe R *et al.* Patient blood management in Europe. *Br J Anaestb* 2012; **109**: 55–68.
- Carson JL, Stanworth SJ, Roubinian N, Fergusson DA, Triulzi D, Doree C et al. Transfusion thresholds and other strategies for guiding allogeneic red blood cell transfusion. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2016; (10)CD002042.
 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE).
- 6 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Blood Transfusion. NICE Guideline NG24; 2015. https:// www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng24 [accessed 14 August 2020].
- 7 National Health Service. 2020/21 Commissioning for Quality and Innovation; 2019. https://gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/ anaemia-cquin/ [accessed 1 July 2020].
- 8 Klein AA, Collier TJ, Brar MS, Evans C, Hallward G, Fletcher SN et al.; Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthetists (ACTA). The incidence and importance of anaemia in patients undergoing cardiac surgery in the UK – the first Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthetists national audit. Anaesthesia 2016; 71: 627–635.
- 9 Chau M, Richards T, Evans C, Butcher A, Collier T, Klein A. The UK Cardiac and Vascular Surgery Interventional Anaemia Response (CAVIAR) Study: protocol for an observational cohort study to determine the impact and effect of preoperative anaemia management in cardiac and vascular surgical patients. *BMJ Open* 2017; 7: e014872.
- 10 Klein AA, Chau M, Yeates JA, Collier T, Evans C, Agarwal S et al. Preoperative intravenous iron before cardiac surgery: a prospective multicentre feasibility study. Br J Anaesth 2020; 124: 243–250.
- 11 von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gotzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *BMJ* 2007; **335**: 806–808.
- 12 Richards T, Clevenger B, Keidan J, Collier T, Klein AA, Anker SD et al. PREVENTT: preoperative intravenous iron to treat anaemia in major surgery: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. *Trials* 2015; 16: 254.
- 13 Clevenger B, Richards T. Pre-operative anaemia. Anaesthesia 2015; 70(Suppl 1): 20–28, e6–8.
- 14 Abeysiri S, Chau M, Richards T. Perioperative anemia management. Semin Thromb Hemost 2020; 46: 8–16.
- 15 NHS Blood and Transplant. National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion (NCABT) 2018. https://hospital.blood.co .uk/audits/national-comparative-audit/ [accessed 21 May 2020].
- 16 Spahn DR, Schoenrath F, Spahn GH, Seifert B, Stein P, Theusinger OM et al. Effect of ultra-short-term treatment of patients with iron deficiency or anaemia undergoing cardiac surgery: a prospective randomised trial. *Lancet* 2019; **393**: 2201–2212.

www.bjs.co.uk

*B*JS 2020; **107**: 1558–1561